LONDON BOROUGH OF WALTHAM FOREST

CONSTITUTION

Democratic Services
20 October 2022

i

CONTENTS
A.

PART 01 - SUMMARY AND EXPLANATION

(Pages 5 10)

B.

PART 02 - ARTICLES OF THE CONSTITUTION

(Pages 11 40)

C.

PART 03 - 01 RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS

(Pages 41 58)

D.

PART 03 - 02 GENERAL SCHEME OF DELEGATION

(Pages 59 76)

E.

PART 04A - COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES

(Pages 77 108)

F.

PART 04B - COMMITTEE PROCEDURE RULES

(Pages 109 124)

G.

PART 05 - CABINET (EXECUTIVE) PROCEDURE RULES

(Pages 125 132)

H.

PART 06 - OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PROCEDURE
RULES

(Pages 133 148)

I.

PART 07 - 01 - TERMS OF REFERENCE - COUNCIL

(Pages 149 152)

J.

PART 07 - TERMS OF REFERENCE - 02 - CABINET
(EXECUTIVE)

(Pages 153 156)

K.

PART 07 - TERMS OF REFERENCE - 02A - SHAREHOLDER
COMMITTEE

(Pages 157 158)

L.

PART 07 - TERMS OF REFERENCE - 03 - AUDIT AND
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

(Pages 159 166)

M.

PART 07 - TERMS OF REFERENCE - 04 - CORPORATE
PARENTING BOARD

(Pages 167 170)

N.

PART 07 - TERMS OF REFERENCE - 05- HEALTH AND
WELLBEING BOARD

(Pages 171 174)

O.

PART 07 - TERMS OF REFERENCE - 06A LICENSING ACT
2003 AND GAMBLING COMMITTEE

(Pages 175 178)

ii

P.

PART 07 - TERMS OF REFERENCE - 06B - LICENSING ACT
2003 AND GAMBLING COMMITTEE: DELEGATION SCHEME

(Pages 179 182)

Q.

PART 07 - TERMS OF REFERENCE - 07 - LICENSING ACT
GENERAL COMMITTEE

(Pages 183 184)

R.

PART 07 - TERMS OF REFERENCE - 08 - SCRUTINY
COMMITTEES

(Pages 185 188)

S.

PART 07 - TERMS OF REFERENCE - 09 - PENSION
COMMITTEE

(Pages 189 192)

T.

PART 07 - TERMS OF REFERENCE - 10 - PLANNING
COMMITTEE

(Pages 193 196)

U.

PART 07 - TERMS OF REFERENCE - 11 - STAFFING
COMMITTEE

(Pages 197 198)

V.

PART 07 - TERMS OF REFERENCE - 12 - PUBLIC
TRANSPORT CONSULTATIVE GROUP

(Pages 199 200)

W.

PART 08 - 01 - FINANCIAL PROCEDURE RULES

(Pages 201 220)

X.

PART 08 - 02 - CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES

(Pages 221 246)

Y.

PART 08 - 03 - EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURE RULES

(Pages 247 258)

Z.

PART 08 - 04 - URGENCY PROCEDURE RULES

(Pages 259 260)

AA.

PART 08 - 05 - PROPERTY PROCEDURE RULES

(Pages 261 268)

BB.

PART 08 - 06A - CO-OPTION SCHEME

(Pages 269 272)

CC.

PART 08 - 06B - PARENT GOVERNOR PROCEDURE RULES

(Pages 273 282)

DD.

PART 08 - 07 - ACCESS TO INFORMATION RULES

(Pages 283 298)

EE.

PART 09 - 01 - COUNCILLORS' CODE OF CONDUCT

(Pages 299 328)

iii

FF.

PART 09 - 02 - COUNCILLOR/OFFICER PROTOCOL

(Pages 329 350)

GG.

PART 10 - 01 COUNCILLORS' ALLOWANCES SCHEME
2021-22

(Pages 351 366)

HH.

PART 11 - MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE

(Pages 367 368)

II.

PART 12 - MEMBER ROLES

(Pages 369 392)

JJ.

PART 13 - PROTOCOL FOR FREEDOM OF THE BOROUGH

(Pages 393 396)

KK.

PLANNING CODE OF PRACTICE

(Pages 397 414)

PLEASE NOTE THAT THE AGENDA IS AVAILABLE IN ELECTRONIC FORMAT ON THE
COUNCIL’S WEBSITE VIA THE FOLLOWING LINK:
http://democracy.walthamforest.gov.uk
IF YOU REQUIRE A HARD COPY OF ANY OF THE ABOVE REPORTS, CONTACT
democraticservices@walthamforest.gov.uk

iv

Agenda Item 1a
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 1 Summary & Explanation

Part 1 - Summary and Explanation
1.

The Council's Constitution

1.1

The London Borough of Waltham Forest’s Constitution sets out how the
Council operates, how decisions are made, and the procedures that are
followed to ensure that these are efficient, transparent and accountable to
local people. Some of these processes are required by the law, while
others are a matter for the Council to choose.

1.2

The Constitution is divided into a number of parts. Parts 1 and 2 contain
the Summary and 16 Articles, which set out the framework for the conduct
of the Council's business. The later parts contain more detailed
procedures and codes of practice.

2.

What's in the Constitution?


The framework within which the Council exercises all its duties and
powers. (Article 1).



Members of the Council (Article 2).



Citizens and the Council (Article 3).



The Full Council meeting (Article 4).



The Mayor (Article 5).



Overview and Scrutiny (Article 6).



The Executive (Leader and Cabinet) (Article 7).



Regulatory and other committees (Article 8).



Ethical standards arrangements (Article 9).



Community Councils, Forums and Area Committees (Article 10).



Joint Arrangements and Partnerships (Article 11).



Officers (Article 12).

Page 1
PART 1 Summary & Explanation
Updated April 2019

Page 5

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 1 Summary & Explanation



Decision-making (Article 13).



Finance, contracts and legal matters (Article 14).



Review and revision of the Constitution (Article 15).



Suspension, interpretation and publication of the Constitution (Article
16).

3.

How the Council operates

3.1

The Council is composed of 60 Councillors elected every four years.
Councillors are democratically accountable to residents of their ward.

3.2

The overriding duty of Councillors is to the whole community, but they
have a special duty to their constituents, including those who did not vote
for them.

3.3

Councillors have to agree to follow the Code of Conduct to ensure high
standards in the way they undertake their duties. The Council’s Monitoring
Officer guides and advises them on the Code of Conduct.

3.4

All Councillors meet together as the Council. Meetings of the Council are
normally open to the public. Members of the public can attend Council
meetings and ask questions. At Council meetings Councillors decide the
Council's key strategic policies and set the budget each year.

3.5

One of the 60 councillors is elected by the Council to be the Leader of the
Council. The Leader in turn appoints up to 9 other councillors as his/her
Cabinet, and allocates particular responsibilities to each Cabinet Member.

3.6

The Leader and Cabinet together form the Executive. It is their
responsibility to work together to achieve the Council's policies. The
Council and their Overview and Scrutiny Committees hold the Executive
to account for the performance of their duties.

Page 2
PART 1 Summary & Explanation
Updated April 2019

Page 6

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 1 Summary & Explanation

4

How decisions are made

4.1

The Executive is the part of the Council which is responsible for most dayto-day decisions. The Executive comprises the Leader and a Cabinet of
between 2 to 9 Councillors appointed by the Leader. When major
decisions are to be discussed or made, these are published in the
Leader’s Forward Plan in so far as they can be anticipated. If these major
decisions are to be discussed with Council Officers at a meeting of the
Executive, this will generally be open for the public to attend except where
personal or confidential matters are being discussed. The Executive has
to make decisions which are in line with the Council's overall policies and
budget. If it wishes to make a decision which is outside the Budget or
Policy Framework, this must be referred to the Council as a whole to
decide.

5

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee

5.1

The Council must have one or more Overview and Scrutiny Committees
(Overview and Scrutiny). Overview and Scrutiny supports the work of the
Executive and the Council as a whole. It allows Councillors and citizens to
have a greater say in Council matters by undertaking themed reviews into
matters of local concern. These lead to reports and recommendations
which advise the Executive and the Council as a whole on its policies,
budget and service delivery. Overview and Scrutiny Committee also
monitors the decisions of the executive.

5.2

Decisions made by the Executive but not yet implemented can be called in
for review by an Overview & Scrutiny Committee to consider whether the
decision is appropriate. The Overview & Scrutiny Committee may
recommend that the Executive reconsider the decision. Overview and
Scrutiny may also be consulted by the Executive or the Council on
forthcoming decisions and the development of policy.

Page 3
PART 1 Summary & Explanation
Updated April 2019

Page 7

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 1 Summary & Explanation

6

Area Committees

6.1

The Council may appoint area committees covering defined parts of the
Borough.

Area Committees may be given powers to take decisions

affecting those areas and may include the Councillors for the particular
area.

7

The Council's Staff

7.1

The Council has people working for it (called 'Officers') to give advice,
implement decisions and manage the day-to-day delivery of services.
Some Officers have a specific legal duty to ensure that the Council acts
within the law and uses its resources appropriately. A protocol governs the
relationships between Officers and Members of the Council.

8

Citizens' Rights

8.1

Citizens have a number of rights in their dealings with the Council. Some
of these are legal rights, while others depend on the Council's own
processes.

8.2

Where members of the public use specific Council services, for example
as a parent of a school pupil or as a Council tenant, they have additional
rights. These are not covered in this Constitution.

8.3

Citizens have the right to:


vote at local elections if they are registered and eligible;



contact their local Councillor about any matters of concern to them;



obtain a copy of the Constitution;



attend meetings of the Council and its committees, and participate in
them according to the Constitution, except where, for example,
personal or confidential matters are being discussed;



take part in public consultation on issues, for example on planning
applications;
Page 4

PART 1 Summary & Explanation
Updated April 2019

Page 8

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 1 Summary & Explanation



petition to request a referendum on a mayoral form of executive;



contribute to reviews by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee



find out, from the Forward Plan, what major decisions are to be or
decided by the Executive or Officers, and when;



attend meetings of the Executive where Key Decisions are being
discussed or decided;



see reports and background papers (that are not exempt or
confidential), and any record of decisions made by the Council and
Executive;



complain to the Council about failings of the services provided by the
Council or how Officers deliver such services;



complain to the Local Government Ombudsman if they think the
Council has not followed its procedures properly. However, they should
only do this after using the Council's own complaints process;



complain to the Monitoring Officer if they have evidence which they
think shows that a Councillor has not followed the Council's Code of
Conduct;



inspect the Council's accounts and make their views known to the
external auditors; and

8.4

The Council welcomes participation by its citizens in its work. For further
information on your rights as a citizen and for all the Council's activities,
please contact Waltham Forest Direct on 020 8496 3000 or visit the
Council's website at http://www.walthamforest.gov.uk/.

8.5

The Council has a number of documents about services or how they can
be obtained, which can be collected from public libraries or Council offices
throughout the Borough.

Many documents can also be found on the

Council's website.

Page 5
PART 1 Summary & Explanation
Updated April 2019

Page 9

Page intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1b
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

Part 2 – Articles of the Constitution
Articles Index
Article 1 -

The Constitution

Article 2 -

Members of the Council

Article 3 -

Citizens and the Council

Article 4 -

The Full Council

Article 5 -

The Mayor

Article 6 -

Overview and Scrutiny

Article 7 -

The Executive (Leader and Cabinet)

Article 8 -

Regulatory and other Committees

Article 9 -

Ethical Standards Arrangements

Article 10 -

Community Councils, Forums and Area Committees

Article 11 -

Joint Arrangements

Article 12 -

Officers

Article 13 -

Decision-making

Article 14 -

Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters

Article 15 -

Review and Revision of the Constitution

Article 16 -

Suspension, Interpretation & Publication of Constitution

Page 1
PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 11

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

1

ARTICLE 1 – THE CONSTITUTION

1.1

Powers of the Council

1.1.1 The Council will exercise all its powers and duties in accordance with the
law and this Constitution.

1.2

Purpose of the Constitution

1.2.1 The purpose of the Constitution is to:


enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the community in
partnership with citizens, businesses and other organisations;



support the active involvement of citizens in the process of local
authority decision-making;



help Councillors represent their constituents more effectively;



enable decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively;



provide a means of holding decision-makers to public account;



ensure that no one will review or scrutinise a decision in which they
were directly involved;



ensure that those responsible for decision-making are clearly
identifiable to local people and that they explain the reasons for
decisions;



provide a means of improving the delivery of services to the
community.

Page 2
PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 12

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

1.3

Interpretation and Review of the Constitution

1.3.1 The Council will monitor, review and amend as necessary, the
Constitution. The Council’s Monitoring Officer will provide advice on the
interpretation of the constitution and his/ her decision will be final.

2

ARTICLE 2 – MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL

2.1

Composition and eligibility

(a)

Composition

2.1.1 The Council will comprise 60 members, otherwise called Councillors.
Three Councillors will be elected by the electorate of each ward.
(b)

Eligibility

2.1.2 Any person over 18 who either lives, works or studies in the Borough and
meets the statutory eligibility requirements may stand for election as a
Councillor.

2.2

Election and terms of Councillors

2.2.1 The election of Councillors will take place every 4 years (from 2002)
normally on the first Thursday in May. The terms of office of Councillors
will start on the fourth day after being elected and will finish on the fourth
day after the date of the next regular election.

2.3

Roles and functions of all Councillors

(a)

Key roles

2.3.1 All Councillors will:
(a)

collectively approve the Budget and strategic policies;

(b)

represent their communities and bring their views into the Council’s
decision-making process, i.e. become the advocate of and for their
communities;
Page 3

PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 13

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

(c)

deal with individual casework and act as an advocate for constituents
in resolving particular concerns or grievances;

(d)

balance different interests identified within the ward or electoral
division and represent the ward or electoral division as a whole;

(e)

be involved in decision-making.

(f)

be available to represent the Council on other bodies; and

(g)

maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics, including
compliance with the Councillors’ Code of Conduct.

(b)

Rights and duties
(h)

Councillors will have such rights of access to such documents,
information, land and buildings of the Council as are necessary for
the proper discharge of their functions and in accordance with the
law.

(i)

Councillors will not disclose to anyone information which is
confidential or exempt without the consent of the Council, or divulge
information given in confidence to anyone other than a Councillor,
Officer or third party entitled by law to know it.

(j)

For these purposes, “confidential” and “exempt” information are
defined in the Access to Information Rules.

2.4

Election of the Mayor

2.4.1 The Mayor will be elected by the Councillors at the Annual Council
meeting. The term of office for the Mayor will be one year. S/he will take
office immediately upon her/his declaration of acceptance of office of
Mayor and will continue in office until her/his successor is elected, unless
s/he ceases to be Mayor.

2.5

Conduct and disqualification

Page 4
PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 14

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

2.5.1 Councillors will at all times observe the Code of Conduct and the Protocol
on Member/Officer Relations.
2.5.2 Any Councillor who fails to attend any meeting of the Council or of any
committee, joint committee or sub-committee of which they are a member
for more than six months, unless the failure to attend was due to some
reason, approved by the Council within that six month period, shall cease
to be a member of the Council.

2.6

Allowances

2.6.1 Councillors are entitled to receive allowances in accordance with the
Councillors’ Allowances Scheme.

3

ARTICLE 3 – CITIZENS AND THE COUNCIL

3.1

Citizens’ rights

3.1.1 Citizens' rights to information and to participate are explained in more
detail in the Access to Information Rules. In summary citizens have the
following rights:(a)

Voting and petitions

3.1.2 Citizens on the electoral roll for the area have the right to vote and sign a
petition to request a referendum for a directly elected Mayor form of
executive.
3.1.3 As well as residents, those who work or study in the borough may present
petitions on other matters in accordance with the Council’s Petitions
Scheme.
(b)

Information

3.1.4 Citizens have the right to:
(a)

attend meetings of the Council and its committees except where
confidential or exempt information is likely to be disclosed, and the
meeting, or part of it, is therefore held in private;
Page 5

PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 15

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

(b)

find out from the Forward Plan what key decisions will be taken by
the Executive and when. The Forward Plan is available for inspection
at the Council’s reception and on its website;

(c)

see reports and background papers, and any records of decisions
made by the Council and the Executive;

(d)

inspect the Council’s accounts and make their views known to the
external auditor;

(e)

take part in public consultation processes commenced by the
Council.

(c)

Participation

3.1.5 Citizens have the right to participate in Council and committee meetings
(in accordance with procedures set out in this Constitution) and may
contribute to reviews undertaken by the Overview and Scrutiny
Committees.
(d)

Complaints

3.1.6 Citizens have the right to complain to:
(a)

the Council under its complaints scheme;

(b)

the Local Government Ombudsman after using the Council’s own
complaints scheme;

(c)

the Council’s Monitoring Officer about a breach of the Councillors’
Code of Conduct.

Page 6
PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 16

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

3.2

Citizens’ responsibilities

3.2.1 When participating in meetings, or in dealings with the Council, citizens
must not be disruptive, violent, abusive or threatening to Councillors or
Officers and must not wilfully damage property owned by the Council,
Councillors or Officers.

4

Article 4 – The Full Council

4.1

Meanings

(a)

Policy Framework

4.1.1 The Policy Framework means the following plans and strategies required
by law to be approved by the full Council:
(a)

Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy;

(b)

Development Plan documents;

(c)

Licensing Authority Policy Statement and Statement of Licensing
Policy;

(d)

Youth Justice Plan;

(e)

Councillors’ Allowances Scheme;

(f)

Plan or strategy for the control of the Authority’s borrowing
investments or capital expenditure.

4.1.2 The Council has also decided to include the following in the Policy
Framework:
(a)

Health and Wellbeing Strategy

(b)

Sustainability and Transformation plan.

4.1.3 The Council has the power to vary the Policy Framework from time to
time, provided it does so in accordance with any statutory guidance.
Page 7
PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 17

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

(b)

Budget

4.1.4 The Budget includes the allocation of financial resources to different
services and projects, proposed contingency funds, the council tax base,
setting the council tax and decisions’ relating to the control of the Council’s
borrowing requirement, the control of its capital expenditure and the
setting of virement limits.
(c)

Housing land transfer

4.1.5 Housing land transfer means the approval or adoption of applications
(whether in draft form or not) to the Secretary of State for approval of a
programme of disposal of 500 or more properties to a person under the
Leasehold Reform, Housing and Urban Development Act 1993 or to
dispose of land used for residential purposes where approval is required
under sections 32 or 43 of the Housing Act 1985.

4.2

Functions of the Full Council

4.2.1 Only the Council will exercise the following functions:
(a)

adopting and amending the Constitution;

(b)

approving or adopting the Policy Framework, the Budget and any
application to the Secretary of State in respect of any housing land
transfer;

(c)

subject to the urgency procedure contained in the Access to
Information Procedure Rules, making decisions about any matter in
the discharge of an executive function which is covered by the
Policy Framework or the Budget where the decision maker is
minded to make it in a manner which would be contrary to the
Policy Framework or contrary to/or not wholly in accordance with
the Budget;

(d)

appointing the Leader ;

Page 8
PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 18

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

(e)

exercising powers to remove the Leader from office before
completion of his/her term of office;

(f)

agreeing and/or amending the terms of reference for committees,
deciding on their composition and making appointments to them;

(g)

appointing

representatives

to

outside

bodies

unless

the

appointment is an Executive function or has been delegated by the
Council;
(h)

adopting and varying the Councillors’ Allowances Scheme;

(i)

changing the name of the area,

(j)

conferring the title of honorary alderman or honorary alderwoman,
or awarding the Freedom of the Borough

(k)

confirming the appointment of the Head of Paid Service;

(l)

making, amending, revoking, re-enacting or adopting bylaws and
promoting or opposing the making of local legislation or personal
Bills;

(m)

all local choice functions which the Council decides should be
undertaken by itself rather than the Executive

(n)

a decision to accept an invitation to become an ‘opted in’ Authority,
for the purposes of appointing external auditors.

4.3

(o)

making or revising a Council Tax Reductions Scheme.

(p)

all other matters which, by law, must be reserved to Council.

Council meetings

4.3.1 There are four types of Council meeting:
(a)

the Annual Meeting

(b)

Ordinary Meetings

(c)

Extraordinary Meetings
Page 9

PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 19

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

(d)

Special Meetings

and they will be conducted in accordance with the Council Procedure
Rules.

4.4

Responsibility for functions

4.4.1 The Council will maintain and publish information on the responsibilities
for the Council’s functions, which are not the responsibility of the
Executive.

5

ARTICLE 5 – THE MAYOR

5.1

Role and functions of the Mayor as Chair of the Council

5.1.1 The Mayor

will be elected by the Council annually and will have the

following responsibilities when chairing meetings of the Council:
(a)

to ensure the governance of the meeting is in accordance with
the Constitution and to interpret the Constitution when necessary
with advice from their Council’s Monitoring Officer

(b)

to preside over meetings of the Council so that its business can
be carried out efficiently and with regard to the rights of
Councillors and the interests of the community;

(c)

to ensure that the Council meeting is a forum for the debate of
matters of concern to the local community and the place at which
Councillors who are not part of the Executive are able to hold the
Leader and other members of the Executive and committee chairs,
including chairs of Overview and Scrutiny Committees, to account;

(d)

to promote public involvement in the Council’s activities;

(e) to be the conscience of the Council and act in a non-partisan way.

Page 10
PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 20

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

6

Article 6 – OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY

6.1

Terms of reference

6.1.1 Overview and Scrutiny refers to all the Overview and Scrutiny functions
within the Council and is used in this Constitution as a collective term for
all individual Overview and Scrutiny Committees, sub-committees and
scrutiny panels.. Specific terms of reference for the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee(s) are found in Part 7 of this Constitution.

6.2

General role

6.2.1 Within their terms of reference, Overview & Scrutiny Committee(s) will:
(a)

review and/or scrutinise decisions made or actions taken in
connection with the discharge of any of the Council’s functions;

(b)

review and/or scrutinise the performance of external bodies subject
to scrutiny by the Council;

(c)

consider matters raised under the Councillor Call for Action
procedures.

(d)

in accordance with their remit and terms of reference, make reports
and/or recommendations to the full Council and/or the Executive
and/or any committee or joint committee in connection with the
discharge of any functions;

(e)

consider any matter affecting the area or its inhabitants;

(f)

exercise the right to call in, for reconsideration, decisions made but
not yet implemented by the Executive and/or any committee (where
exercising Executive functions), as well as pre-scrutinise any
proposed decisions published in the Forward Plan. The procedure
to be followed when the right to call-in is exercised is included in
Part 6 of this Constitution;

(g)

create time-limited panels to consider specific issues.
Page 11

PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 21

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

6.3

Statutory Officer

There shall be an officer as defined in Part 3 of the Constitution, Responsibility
for Functions, whose role is:
(a) to promote the role of the authority's overview and scrutiny committee or
committees,
(b) provide support to the authority's overview and scrutiny committee or
committees and the members of that committee or those committees,
(c) to provide support and guidance to—
(i) members of the authority,
(ii) members of the Executive of the authority, and
(iii officers of the authority,
in relation to the functions of the authority's Overview And Scrutiny Committee or
Committees.

6.4
(a)

Specific functions
Policy development and review

6.4.1 Overview & Scrutiny Committees may:
(a)

assist the Council and the Executive in the development of its
Budget and Policy Framework by in-depth analysis of policy issues;

(b)

conduct research, community and other consultation in the analysis
of policy issues and possible options;

(c)

consider and implement mechanisms to encourage and enhance
community participation in the development of policy options;

(d)

question members of the Executive and/or committees and Officers
about their views on issues and proposals affecting the area;

(e)

liaise with other external organisations operating in the area,
whether national, regional or local, to ensure that the interests of
local people are enhanced by collaborative working.
Page 12

PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 22

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

(b)

Scrutiny

6.4.2 Overview & Scrutiny Committees may:
(a)

review and scrutinise the decisions made by and the performance
of the Executive and/or committees and council officers both in
relation to individual decisions and over time;

(b)

review and scrutinise the Council’s performance in relation to its
policy objectives, performance targets and/or particular service
areas;

(c)

question members of the Executive and/or committees and officers
about their decisions and performance, whether generally in
comparison with service plans and targets over a period of time, or
in relation to particular decisions, initiatives or projects;

(d)

make recommendations to the Executive, appropriate committee.
Officer and/or the full Council arising from the outcome of the
scrutiny process;

(e)

review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in the
area and call for reports from them and attendance of appropriate
representatives to address the Overview and Scrutiny Committees
and local people about their activities and performance;

(f)
(c)

question and gather evidence from any person (with their consent).
Finance

6.4.3 Overview & Scrutiny Committees may exercise overall responsibility for
the finances made available to them.
(d)

Annual report

6.4.4 The Overview & Scrutiny Committee(s) must report annually to Council on
their work.

6.5

Proceedings of Overview and Scrutiny Committees
Page 13

PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 23

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

6.5.1 The Overview & Scrutiny Committees will conduct their proceedings in
accordance with the Overview & Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out in Part
6 of this Constitution.

7

ARTICLE 7 – THE EXECUTIVE (LEADER AND CABINET)

7.1

Role

7.1.1 The Executive will carry out all of the local authority’s functions which are
not expressly reserved as the responsibility of any other part of the local
authority, whether by law or under this Constitution.

7.2

Form and composition

7.2.1 The Council has adopted the Leader and Cabinet model of executive
governance.
7.2.2 The Executive will consist of the Council Leader together with a Cabinet of
at least 2 but not more than 9 other Councillors appointed by the Leader.
(a)

The Leader

7.2.3 The Leader will be a Councillor elected by the Council at the Annual
Council Meeting in the year of the Borough Council elections. The Leader
will hold office for the term of four years until the next post-election Annual
Council Meeting, or unless s/he resigns from the office; or s/he is removed
from office by resolution of the Council.
7.2.4 In the event of the office of Leader becoming vacant before expiration of
their Term of Office, the Council will elect a new Council Leader at its next
meeting or at a meeting called for that purpose. The new Leader will
serve for the period of office remaining (i.e. until the next post-election
Annual Council Meeting)
(b)

The Deputy Leader

7.2.5 The Leader shall appoint a Cabinet Member to serve as Deputy Leader.

Page 14
PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 24

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

7.2.6 The Deputy Leader of the Council will hold office until the end of the term
of office of the Leader unless:
(a)

s/he resigns from the office; or

(b)

s/he is no longer a councillor; or

(c)

s/he is removed from that office by the Leader

7.2.7 Where a vacancy occurs in the office of Deputy Leader, the Leader of the
Council must appoint another Cabinet Member to that role.

7.3

Other Cabinet members

7.3.1 The Leader must appoint between two and nine Cabinet members
including the Deputy Leader.
7.3.2 The Leader shall determine the terms of office of Cabinet Members, which
shall be no longer than the end of the term of office of the Leader. A
Cabinet member shall cease to hold that office if:
(a) s/he resigns from office; or
(b) s/he is no longer a Councillor; or
(c) s/he is removed from office by the Leader.

7.4

Proceedings of the Cabinet

7.4.1 Proceedings of the Cabinet shall take place in accordance with the
Executive Procedure Rules.

7.5

Responsibility for functions

7.5.1 The Leader has responsibility for the exercise of all the functions of the
Executive.
7.5.2 The Leader

may discharge any executive function or delegate their

exercise to:
(a)

the executive as a whole (Leader and Cabinet),

(b)

an individual Cabinet member,
Page 15

PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 25

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

(c)

a committee of the Cabinet,

(d)

an officer,

(e)

an area committee,

(f)

joint arrangements (Article 11)

(g)

individual non-executive members where a scheme under the Local
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 has been
established.

7.5.3 Those persons or bodies exercising executive functions may delegate
those powers so far as allowed by law.
7.5.4 A list of responsibilities for Executive functions will be maintained by the
Council’s Monitoring Officer and published on the Council’s website.

8

Article 8 – Regulatory and other committees

8.1

Regulatory and Other Committees

8.1.1 The Council will appoint certain committees to deal with statutory or
regulatory functions. Some committees may be set up as consultation or
advisory forums (i.e. without decision-making powers). A list of these
committees as amended or added to from time to time will be maintained
by the Monitoring Officer.

8.2

Audit and Governance

8.2.1 The Council will appoint one or more committees that between them will
undertake (a) the role of an Audit Committee and (b) ensure compliance in
decision-making in respect of the Council’s political management
arrangements and constitutional procedures. The latter role includes all
parts of the Council that are responsible for making decisions including full
Council, Cabinet, Officers under delegated authority, the Planning and
Licensing Committees and other Council bodies, including joint bodies
with other agencies and partnerships.
Page 16
PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 26

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

9

ARTICLE 9 – ETHICAL STANDARDS ARRANGEMENTS

9.1

Establishment

9.1.1 The Council will promote and maintain high standards of conduct by
councillors, and through the Audit and Governance Committee will
determine complaints and appeals under the Councillors’ Code of Conduct
(a) Independent person
9.1.2 The Council has made provision to appoint at least one statutory
Independent Person:


Whose views are to be sought and taken into account before
decisions are made on an allegation about a councillor’s conduct;



Whose views may be sought by a councillor or co-opted member of
the authority if that person’s behaviour is the subject of an
allegation; and



Who will be invited to attend any panel meetings to determine the
outcome of an investigation into an allegation about a councillor’s
conduct or to appeal the outcome of a previous determination and,
if present, may advise the panel and the councillor who is the
subject of the hearing or appeal.

9.1.3 A vacancy for an Independent Person must be sought by advertisement in
such manner as the authority considers is likely to bring it to the attention
of the public
9.1.4 The Council may only consider and approve candidates who have
submitted to the authority an application to fill the vacancy
9.1.5 Independent Person appointments must be approved by a majority of the
Council. Appointments will be for a term of office determined by Full
Council.

Page 17
PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 27

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

9.1.6

An Independent Person does not cease to be independent as a result of
being paid any amounts by way of allowances or expenses in connection
with performing the duties of the appointment.

9.1.7 A person is not independent if the person is
(a)

A member, co-opted member or officer of the authority, or was a
member, co-opted member or officer of the Council at any time
during the 5 years ending with the appointment; or

(b)

a relative or close friend, of a member, co-opted member or officer
of the council.

10

ARTICLE 10 – COMMUNITY COUNCILS, FORUMS and
AREA COMMITTEES

10.1 Community Councils and Forums
10.1.1 The Council may appoint and dissolve Community Councils, forums and
Area Committees as it sees fit, if it is satisfied that to do so will ensure
improved service delivery in the context of best value and more efficient,
transparent and accountable decision-making.

10.2 Form, composition and function
10.2.1 The Council will publish the details of any Community Councils, Forums
and Area Committees including:
(a)

the area they will serve;

(b)

their terms of reference;

(c)

the functions and extent of delegation to the Community Councils,
Area Committees and Forums the amount, if any, of any budget
allocated to them.

10.3 Conflicts of interest
10.3.1 If Overview and Scrutiny is scrutinising specific decisions or proposals in
relation to the business of the Community Council and/or Area Committee
Page 18
PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 28

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

Forum and of which the Councillor concerned is a member, then the
Councillor may not participate or vote at the relevant Overview & Scrutiny
committee meeting unless so permitted under the Code of Conduct or a
dispensation to do so is granted.
10.3.2 Where Overview and Scrutiny is reviewing policy generally the member
must declare their interest before the relevant agenda item is reached, but
need not withdraw.

10.4 Community Councils and Forums – Access to Information
10.4.1 The Council’s Access to Information Procedure Rules will apply to
Community Councils, Forums and Area Committees.
10.4.2 Agendas and notices for Community Council, Forum and Area
Committee’s meetings which deal with both functions of the Executive and
functions which are not the responsibility of the Executive will state clearly
which items are which.

10.5 Executive

members

on

Community

Councils,

Area

Committees and Forums
10.5.1 An Executive member may serve on a Community Council Forum and/ or
Area Committee if eligible to do so as a Ward Councillor.
10.5.2 The Leader will appoint a Member of the Executive as a (non-voting)
Cabinet Community Champion to each Community Council Forum and/ or
Area Committee.

11

ARTICLE 11 – JOINT ARRANGEMENTS & PARTNERSHIPS

11.1 Joint arrangements
11.1.1 The Council may establish joint arrangements with one or more local
authorities to exercise functions that are not Executive functions in any of
the participating authorities. Such arrangements may involve the
appointment of a joint committee with these other local authorities.
Page 19
PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 29

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

11.1.2 The Executive may establish joint arrangements with one or more local
authorities to exercise functions that are Executive functions. Such
arrangements may involve the appointment of joint committees with these
other local authorities.
11.1.3 The Executive may only appoint Executive members to a joint committee
undertaking executive functions, except in circumstances in which the joint
committee has functions for only part of the area of the authority, and that
area is smaller than two-fifths of the authority by area or population. In
such case the Executive may appoint to the joint committee any Councillor
who is a member for a ward that is wholly or partly contained within the
area. Where the joint committee comprises 5 or more Local Authorities it
is not necessary to appoint a member of the executive to the joint
committee, the appointee can be either executive or non-executive
11.1.4 Details of any joint arrangements including any delegations to joint
committees will be found in the Council’s scheme of delegations, as
amended from time to time.

11.2 Access to information
11.2.1 The Access to Information Rules apply to joint arrangements.
11.2.2 If all the members of a joint committee are members of the Executive in
each of the participating authorities then the access to information regime
for the joint committee is the same as that applied to the Executive.
11.2.3 If the joint committee contains members who are not on the Executive of
any participating authority then the access to information rules will apply.

11.3 Delegation to and from other local authorities
11.3.1 The Council may delegate non-Executive functions to another local
authority or, in certain circumstances where permitted by law, to the
Executive of another local authority.

Page 20
PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 30

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

11.3.2 The Executive may delegate Executive functions to another local authority
or the Executive of another local authority.
11.3.3 The decision whether or not to accept such a delegation from another
local authority shall be reserved to Council.

12

ARTICLE 12 – OFFICERS

12.1 Management Structure
(a)

General

12.1.1 The Full Council may engage such staff (referred to as Officers) as it
considers necessary to carry out its functions.
(b)

Chief Officers

The Head of Paid Service shall have the responsibility and the power to
amend the portfolios of Chief Officers as he/she considers necessary to
deliver the Council’s functions, vision and priorities. Such changes shall be
carried out in accordance with the relevant HR policies applicable. The
Head of Paid Service shall consult Cabinet before such changes and
report them to Full Council as soon as practicable thereafter.

(c)

Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer

12.1.2 Council officers are required to be appointed to these posts by law
undertaking specified functions. The Council has designated the following
posts as set out below.
Post

Designation

Chief Executive

Head of Paid Service

Director of Governance and Law

Monitoring Officer

Strategic Director of Finance and Chief
Governance

(Section 151 Officer)

Page 21
PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Finance

Page 31

Officer

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

(d)

Structure

12.1.3 The Head of Paid Service will maintain and publicise a description of the
overall departmental structure of the Council showing the management
structure and deployment of Officers. This is set out at Part 11 of this
Constitution.
12.1.4 The assigned portfolio of responsibilities for Chief and Deputy Chief
Officers.

12.2 Functions of the Head of Paid Service
(a)

Discharge of functions by the Council

12.2.1 The Head of Paid Service will report to Council on the manner in which the
discharge of the Council’s functions is coordinated, the number and grade
of Officers required for the discharge of functions and the organisation of
Officers.
(b)

Restrictions on functions

12.2.2 The Head of Paid Service may not be the Monitoring Officer but may hold
the post of Chief Finance Officer if a qualified accountant.

12.3 Functions of the Monitoring Officer
(a)

Maintaining the Constitution

12.3.1 The Monitoring Officer will maintain an up-to-date version of the
Constitution and will ensure that it is widely available for consultation by
Councillors, staff and the public.
(b)

Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of decision-making

12.3.2 After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and Chief Finance Officer,
the Monitoring Officer will report in writing to the Full Council, or to the
Leader or Cabinet in relation to an Executive function if s/he considers that
any proposal, decision or omission would give rise to unlawfulness or if
any decision or omission has given rise to maladministration.
Page 22
PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 32

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

12.3.3 Such a report will have the effect of stopping the proposal or decision
being implemented until the report has been considered.
(c)

Conducting investigations

12.3.4 The Monitoring Officer will conduct investigations into allegations of
misconduct by councillors and make reports or recommendations in
respect of them to a panel of the Audit and Governance Committee.
(d)

Proper Officer for access to information

12.3.5 The Monitoring Officer will ensure that Executive decisions, together with
the reasons for those decisions and relevant officer reports and
background papers are made publicly available as soon as possible.
(e)

Advising whether Executive decisions are within the Budget and
Policy Framework

12.3.6 The Monitoring Officer will advise whether decisions of the Executive are
in accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework.
(f)

Providing advice

12.3.7 The Monitoring Officer will provide advice on the scope of powers and
authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity
and budget and policy framework issues to all Councillors.
(g)

Contributing to Corporate Management

12.3.8 The Monitoring Officer will contribute to the Corporate Management of the
Council in particular through the provision of legal and governance advice.
(h)

Restrictions on posts

12.3.9 The Monitoring Officer cannot be the Chief Finance Officer or the Head of
Paid Service.

12.4 Functions of the Chief Finance Officer
(a)

Ensuring lawfulness and financial prudence of decision-making

Page 23
PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 33

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring Officer,
the Chief Finance Officer will report to the Council, or to the Executive in
relation to an Executive function, and the Council’s external auditor if s/he
considers that any proposal, decision or course of action will involve
incurring unlawful expenditure, or is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss
or deficiency or if the Council is about to enter an item of account
unlawfully.
(b)

Administration of financial affairs

12.4.1 The Chief Finance Officer will have responsibility for the administration of
the financial affairs of the Council.
(c)

Contributing to corporate management

12.4.2 The Chief Finance Officer will contribute to the corporate management of
the Council, in particular through the provision of professional financial
advice.
(d)

Providing advice

12.4.3 The Chief Finance Officer will provide advice on the scope of powers and
authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity
and Budget and Policy Framework issues to all Councillors and will
support and advise Councillors and Officers in their respective roles.
(e)

Give financial information

12.4.4 The Chief Finance Officer will provide financial information to the media,
members of the public and the community.

12.5 Duty to provide sufficient resources to the Monitoring
Officer and Chief Finance Officer
12.5.1 The Council will provide the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer
with such Officers, accommodation and other resources as are in their
opinion sufficient to allow their duties to be performed.

12.6 Conduct
Page 24
PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 34

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

12.6.1 Officers will comply with the Officers’ Code of Conduct and the Protocol
for Member-Officer Relations in this Constitution.

12.7 Employment
12.7.1 The recruitment, selection and dismissal of Officers will comply with the
Employment Procedure Rules.

13

ARTICLE 13 – DECISION-MAKING

13.1 Responsibility for decision-making
13.1.1 The Council will issue and keep an up-to-date record of which Council
body or which individual Councillor or officer has responsibility for
particular types of decisions or decisions relating to particular areas or
functions.
13.1.2 It will establish the threshold levels for key decisions

13.2 Principles of decision-making
13.2.1 All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following
principles:
(a)

proportionality (i.e. reasonableness of action);

(b)

due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers;

(c)

respect for human rights;

(d)

a presumption in favour of openness;

(e)

clarity of aims and desired outcomes;

(f)

a statement of all options considered;

(g)

a statement of the reasons for the decision.

13.3 Types of decision
(a)

Decisions reserved to full Council: Decisions relating to the functions
listed in Article 4.2 will be made by the Council and not delegated.
Page 25

PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 35

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

(b)

Key Decisions: A key decision is an Executive decision, which is likely:
(i)

to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or
working in an area comprising one or more wards in the Borough;
and / or

(ii)

to result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making
of savings which are, significant having regard to the Council’s
budget for the service or functions to which the decision relates.

Key decisions can generally be considered to be decisions which involve
one or more of the following:


Decisions involving significant expenditure as set out in the
Financial Thresholds in the Executive Procedure Rules.



Decisions having a “significant impact” on people in one or more
wards; and/or



Decisions which are politically sensitive and which the Executive
wishes to take rather than delegate to officers.

A decision maker may only make a Key Decision in accordance with the
requirements of the Executive Procedure Rules.

Decision-making by the full Council
13.3.1 Subject to the principles of natural justice and respecting human rights,
the Council meeting will follow the Council Procedure Rules, when
considering any matter.

13.4 Decision-making by the Executive
13.4.1 Subject to the principles of natural justice and respecting Human Rights,
the Executive will follow the Executive Procedures Rules when
considering any matter.

13.5 Decision-making by Overview and Scrutiny Committees

Page 26
PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 36

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

13.5.1 Subject to the principles of natural justice and respecting Human Rights,
the Overview and Scrutiny Committees will follow the Committee
Procedure Rules and Scrutiny Procedures Rules when considering any
matter.

13.6 Decision-making by other committees and sub-committees
established by the Council
13.6.1 Subject to the principles of natural justice and respect for human rights,
other Council committees and sub committees will follow the Committee
Procedure Rules.

13.7 Decision-making by Council bodies acting as tribunals
13.7.1 The Council, a Councillor or an Officer acting as a tribunal or in a quasijudicial manner or determining/considering (other than for the purposes of
giving advice) the civil rights and obligations or the criminal responsibility
of any person will follow a proper procedure which accords with the
requirements of natural justice and the right to a fair trial contained in
Article 6 of the European Convention on Human Rights.

14

ARTICLE 14 – FINANCE, CONTRACTS AND LEGAL
MATTERS

14.1 Financial management
14.1.1 The management of the Council’s financial affairs will be conducted in
accordance with the Financial Procedure Rules.

14.2 Contracts
14.2.1 Every contract made by the Council will comply with the Contracts
Procedure Rules.

14.3 Legal proceedings
14.3.1 The Director of Governance and Law is authorised to institute, defend or
participate in any legal proceedings (whether actual or contemplated) in
Page 27
PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 37

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

any case where such action is necessary to give effect to decisions of the
Council or in any case where s/he considers that such action is necessary
to protect the Council’s interests. The Director of Governance and Law
may further delegate these powers, in so far as is legally permissible.

14.4 Authentication of documents
14.4.1 Where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or proceedings
on behalf of the Council, it will be signed by the Director of Governance
and Law, or other person authorised by him/her, unless any enactment
otherwise authorises or requires, or the Council has given requisite
authority to some other person.
14.4.2 Any contract with a value exceeding £100,000 entered into on behalf of
the Council in the course of the discharge of an Executive function shall
be made in writing and under the Common Seal of the Council.

14.5 Common Seal of the Council
14.5.1 A decision of the Council, or of any part of it, will be sufficient authority for
sealing any document necessary to give effect to the decision.

The

Common Seal will be affixed also to those documents, which in the
opinion of the Director of Governance and Law or an officer authorised by
him/her, should be sealed.
14.5.2 The Director of Governance and Law (or such other person(s) authorised
by him/her) will attest the affixing of the Common Seal. An entry of every
sealing of a document shall be made and consecutively numbered in a
book kept for the purpose and shall be signed by a person who has
attested the seal.

14.6 Custody of the Seal
14.6.1 The Common Seal of the Council shall be kept in a safe place in the
custody of the Director of Governance and Law.

14.7 Authentication of documents for legal proceedings
Page 28
PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 38

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

14.7.1 Where any document will be a necessary step in legal proceedings on
behalf of the Council, it shall be signed by the Director of Governance and
Law or an officer authorised by him, unless any enactment otherwise
requires or authorises, or the Council or a Committee acting under
delegated powers gives the necessary authority to some other person for
the purpose of such proceedings.

15

ARTICLE

15

–

REVIEW

AND

REVISION

OF

THE

CONSTITUTION
15.1 Duty to monitor and review the constitution
15.1.1 A key role of the Monitoring Officer is to be aware of the strengths and
weaknesses of the Constitution adopted by the Council, and to make
recommendations to the Council’s Constitution Working Group for ways in
which it could be amended in order better to achieve the purposes set out
in Article 1. In undertaking this task, the Monitoring Officer may:
(a) attend and observe meetings of different parts of the Councillor and
Officer structure;
(b) undertake an audit trail of a sample of decisions;
(c) record and analyse issues raised with her/him by Councillors,
Officers, the public and other relevant stakeholders;
(d) without any reduction or restriction on the lawful requirements of
the role of the Monitoring Officer, s/he will work in co-ordination with
the Chief Finance Officer and the Chief Executive;
(e) compare practices in the Council with those in other comparable
authorities, or national examples of best practice;
(f) amend the Constitution to rectify any typographical or grammatical
errors or to delete or update any obsolete terms, titles or
references.

Page 29
PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 39

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 2 Articles

16

ARTICLE 16 – SUSPENSION, INTERPRETATION AND
PUBLICATION OF THE CONSTITUTION

16.1 Suspension of the Constitution
(a)

Limit to suspension

16.1.1 The Articles of this Constitution may not be suspended. The Rules
specified in (c) below may be suspended by the Council to the extent
permitted within those Rules and the law.
(b)

Procedure to suspend

16.1.2 A motion to suspend any rules will not be moved without notice unless at
least one half of the whole number of Councillors are present. The extent
and duration of suspension will be proportionate to the result to be
achieved, taking account of the purposes of the Constitution set out in
Article 1.
(c)

Rules capable of suspension

16.1.3 The Council may decide to suspend any rule, other than any rule which is
prescribed by law and cannot be so suspended.

16.2 Interpretation at Meetings
16.2.1 The ruling of the Mayor as to the construction or application of this
Constitution or as to any proceedings of the Council shall be final and
shall not be challenged at any meeting of the Council. Such interpretation
will have regard to the purposes of this Constitution contained in Article 1.

16.3 Publication
16.3.1 The Chief Executive will ensure that the Constitution is available for on the
Council’s website and for inspection at the main Council offices.
(Democratic

Services:

Tel:

020

DemocraticServices@walthamforest.gov.uk)

Page 30
PART 2 Articles
Updated April 2019

Page 40

8496

4344

Email:

Agenda Item 1c
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions

Part 3 - Responsibility for Functions
Source:
This part is required under Article 4 and Article 7 of this Constitution; Section
13, Local Government Act 2000, the Local Authorities (Functions and
Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 (as amended); The Local
Government Act 2000 (Constitutions) (England) Direction 2000 & takes into
account the Secretary of State’s Guidance, Chapter 5.

TABLE 1: Responsibility for Local Choice Functions
Regulation: These are functions which may be (but need not be) the
responsibility of an authority's executive (i.e. the Cabinet) identified in The
Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations
2000, Schedule 2, Regulation 3(1).
Explanation: These functions are sometimes called Local Choice Functions
because the Council can decide whether the Cabinet should or should not be
the decision making body.

The Council has allocated these functions as

follows:
Functions from Schedule 2 Reg 3(1)

Decision making body

1. Any function under a Local Act

The Executive

2. Determining an appeal against any decision
made by or on behalf of the authority where
there is a right of appeal to a Council

The Executive

Committee. (This excludes matters where
statutory arrangements exist).
The Council
4. Making arrangements for appeals against
exclusion of pupils
5-6. Making arrangements for admission
appeals by pupils and Governing Bodies

The Council

The Council

7-8. Do not apply because these functions
relate to

Not applicable

a Police Authority
9. Conducting best value reviews

Not applicable

Page 1
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions
Revised April 2019

Page 41

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions

Functions from Schedule 2 Reg 3(1)

Decision making body

(Repealed after 30 December 2007)
10. Any function relating to contaminated
land
11. Any function relating to the control of
pollution or the management of air quality
12. Any function relating to the abatement of
statutory nuisances
13. Any function relating to noise

The Council

The Council

The Council

The Council

nuisances
14. Powers of inspection to detect

The Council

statutory nuisances
15. Investigation of complaints of

The Council

statutory nuisances
16. Power to obtain information about
interests in land under the Town &

The Council

Country Planning Act 1990 (sec.330)
17. Power to obtain information about
persons with interests in land under
Local Government (Miscellaneous

The Council

Provisions) Act 1976
18. Highways agreements

The Council

19. Appointments to external bodies and
the revocation of such appointments.

The Council

20. The making of agreements with other local
authorities for the placing of staff at the

The Executive

disposal of those authorities
21. Does not apply as this function relates to
Harbour Authorities

Not applicable

22. Powers in respect of the Council’s Local
Area Agreement under sections 106,110,
111 and

The Executive

113 of the Local Government and Public
Involvement in Health Act 2007.

Page 2
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions
Revised April 2019

Page 42

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions

TABLE 2: Responsibility for Council Functions
Regulations: Functions which must not be the responsibility of an authority’s
executive from the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities)
(England) Regulations 2000 Schedule 1 Regulation 2(1)
Explanation: The law requires the following functions must be the
responsibility of the Council and not the Executive.
The Council can discharge these functions itself or may delegate one or more
functions to a committee or sub-committee of councillors, an officer of the
Council or another authority. The Full Council may always exercise powers it
has delegated to the other bodies or persons set out above. It may also
discharge its functions jointly with one or more other local authorities.
Delegations to Officers are listed in this Part, the Articles and the terms of
reference of committees in Part 7 of this Constitution.

Function

Decision making body

Functions relating to elections as listed in

The Council, which has made

Section D of Schedule 1 to the

delegations to Officers within this

Regulations and as may be amended by

Constitution and the Council’s scheme of

law from time to time

delegation.

Functions relating to name and status of
areas or individuals as listed in Section E
of Schedule 1 to the Regulations and as

The Council

may be amended by law from time to
time
Functions relating to making, amending,
revoking or re-enacting byelaws as listed
in section F of schedule 1 to the

The Council

Regulations.
Functions relating to promoting or
opposing local or personal Bills as listed
in Section G of Schedule 1 to the

The Council

Regulations

Page 3
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions
Revised April 2019

Page 43

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions

Functions relating to local government

The Council has delegated powers to

pensions as listed in Section H. of

the Pension Committee

schedule 1 to the Regulations
Miscellaneous functions as listed in

The Council

section I. of schedule 1 to the
Regulations and as may be amended by
law from time to time
All other non-executive functions (subject
to the arrangements listed below and

The Council being made up of all elected
Councillors and with the power to
delegate to Committees, subcommittees

elsewhere in this Constitution)

or officers.

Functions relating to town and country

The Council has delegated powers to

planning and development control as

the Planning Committee. The Committee

listed in section A. of schedule 1 to the

has made delegations to Officers, which

Regulations and as may be amended by

are included within its terms of reference

law from time to time

and the scheme of delegation.

Functions relating to licensing and

The Council has delegated powers to

registration as listed in section B. of

the Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling

schedule 1 to the Regulations and as

Act and Licensing (General)

may be amended by law from time to

Committees. The Committees have

time

made delegations to officers, which are
included within their terms of reference
and the scheme of delegation.

Functions relating to Health and Safety at

Audit and Governance Committee

work as listed in Section C of Schedule 1

insofar as issues fall within the remit /

to the Regulations and as may be

Chief Executive shall approve the Health

amended by law from time to time

and Safety Policy.

Page 4
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions
Revised April 2019

Page 44

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions

TABLE 3: Responsibility for Executive Functions
1.

The Local Government Act 2000 (as amended) provides that all
functions of a local authority, except (a) those specified by law or in this
Constitution as non-executive functions shall be the discharged by the
Executive.

2.

The Executive shall consist of an Executive Leader (the Leader)
appointed by Full Council and 2 to 9 elected members (the Cabinet)
appointed by the Leader. The Executive will be known collectively as
the Cabinet.

3.

The Leader shall appoint one Cabinet member as Deputy Leader.
The Deputy Leader will be able to exercise the powers of the Leader of
the Council if:

4.

3.1.1

the Leader is unable to act or

3.1.2

the office of Leader of the Council is vacant.

If both the Leader and Deputy Leader are both unable to act, the
Cabinet as a whole must exercise the Leader’s powers or arrange for a
member of the Cabinet to act in his/her place.

5.

The Leader shall determine how all executive powers shall be
discharged. S/he may:
(a) discharge any of those functions, or
(b) arrange for the discharge of any of those functions–
(i) by the executive collectively,
(ii) by another member of the executive,
(iii) by a committee of the executive, or
(iv) by an officer of the authority.

6.

Executive functions may also be discharged by another arrangement
allowed by law including by another authority, by an area committee or
jointly with one or more other authorities.

Page 5
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions
Revised April 2019

Page 45

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions

7.

The Director of Governance and Law will maintain and publish a record
of all arrangements made under this Part including but not limited to a
list of Cabinet members, their responsibilities and delegated powers.
Where appropriate, the Council’s scheme of delegation may set out
these arrangements.

Delegations to Officers
1.

Introduction

1.1.

For the purposes of this section, the officers to whom delegations are
made are as follows:


Chief Executive and Statutory Officers



Deputy Chief Executive and Strategic Directors and Directors



Other Staff



Proper Officers for the purposes of specific legislation (as set
out below) and as defined by section 270(3), Local Government
Act 1972.

1.2

The delegations set out below apply to those functions which have not,
by virtue of this Constitution or any other instrument, been reserved to
Council or Cabinet and any committees or sub-committees thereof.

1.3

Delegations set out in this section are in addition to any delegations
made in Part 2, the Articles, and/or Part 7, Terms of Reference, of this
Constitution.

2.

Powers of the Chief Executive

2.1

To exercise authority over the Strategic Directors, Directors and Heads
of Service, including allocating Directors’ portfolios.

2.2

To exercise the powers delegated to any Strategic Director or Director
or other members of staff so far as the law allows.

2.3

To carry out the functions of the Council for civic aid and emergency
planning and to take any action, including incurring expenditure, in
connection with an emergency or a disaster in the borough.
Page 6

PART 3 Responsibility for Functions
Revised April 2019

Page 46

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions

2.4

To undertake any other functions necessary for the carrying out of the
role of Chief Executive, within any existing legislative and policy
constraints.

3.

The Role of Deputy Chief Executive

3.1

The Chief Executive following consultation with the Leader of the
Council (and where there is a joint administration of two or more
political groups with the Deputy Leader) may appoint one of the
Strategic Directors to the role of deputy chief executive on such terms
and conditions including remuneration, as the Chief Executive sees fit.

3.2

The Deputy Chief Executive shall:

3.2.1 Undertake any duties delegated to him/her by the Chief Executive
3.2.2 Perform the duties of the Chief Executive set out in this Constitution
either:
3.2.2.1

Upon the instruction of the Chief Executive; or

3.2.2.2

When the Chief Executive is absent from his/her duties
for whatever reason for a period of 5 consecutive working
days or more.

During such times, the Deputy Chief

Executive shall undertake any of the powers of the Chief
Executive set out in this Constitution, except where the
Constitution

already

provides

for

deputising

arrangements (for example Proper Officer Functions)
3.3

The Chief Executive may terminate any appointment under paragraph
3.1 without notice following consultation with the Leader (and where
there is a joint administration with the Deputy Leader).

3.4

The Chief Executive shall record in writing any arrangements made
under this section and provide copies to:

3.4.1 The Monitoring Officer, Chief Finance Officer and Strategic Directors,
and Directors;
Page 7
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions
Revised April 2019

Page 47

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions

3.4.2 The Leader and Deputy Leader.

4.

Powers of Strategic Directors and Directors

4.1

The Strategic Directors and Directors of the Council and their areas of
responsibility are referred to in Article 12 of this Constitution. In this
Constitution, the term Strategic Director and Director includes any
officer who reports directly to the Chief Executive.

4.2

All Strategic Directors and Directors are delegated all those powers
necessary to act within the assigned portfolio of responsibilities, as set
out in Article 12 and Part II of this Constitution.

Note that this

delegation is subject to the general provisions and limitations set out in
this Constitution.
4.3

A Strategic Director or Director may further delegate or authorise any
of the powers delegated to him or her under this Constitution or any
other applicable scheme of delegation, in so far as is legally
permissible and in so far as not already delegated by virtue of this
Constitution. A formal scheme of delegation or authorisation will be
maintained within each Directorate. Any such scheme of delegation or
authorisation must be recorded in writing; and made available to the
Monitoring Officer who may thereby access the record of all
delegations,

5.

Powers of staff

5.1

All staff shall be delegated all those powers necessary to carry out
those functions specified in their respective role profiles, subject to the
general provisions and limitations set out in this Constitution.

General provisions and limitations
5.2

Apart from those powers set out below which have been generally or
specifically delegated to staff, any remaining functions which have not
been, under this or any other current scheme of delegations,
specifically reserved to Council, Cabinet or any committees or subcommittees thereof are delegated to officers.

5.3

Staff shall exercise powers under this scheme in compliance with:
Page 8

PART 3 Responsibility for Functions
Revised April 2019

Page 48

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions



The rules of procedure set out in Part 8 of this Constitution;



Corporate policies and strategies,; and



Any additional conditions imposed either by the Council or by
statute or any statutory code of conduct.

5.4

The exercise of the powers delegated under this Constitution or any
other scheme of delegation to or by staff involving the incurring of
expenditure is subject to there being sufficient approved provision
within their budget to cover that expenditure.

5.5

Each Strategic Director or Director shall have all the powers and duties
delegated to the Heads of Service or other staff within his/her portfolio,
who are assigned to him or her, so far as is legally permissible.

6.

Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer

6.1

The functions of the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer are
set out in Articles 12 and 14. So far as not specified by legislation, the
Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer are delegated all powers
necessary to carry out their statutory functions.

Proper Officer Functions
1.

Meaning of Proper Officer Functions

1.1

The Council has approved and adopted the appointment of the
following officers as proper officers, as described in the following
specified sections of the relevant Acts of Parliament or regulations.
Proper officer is defined for most legislation by s.270 (3) Local
Government Act 1972 as an officer appointed for that purpose by that
body or for that area, as the case may be.

1.2

The deputy proper officer is given in brackets after the proper officer.
The deputy proper officer is appointed to act where the proper officer is
absent and/or unable to act for any reason.

Where neither the

designated proper officer nor the designated deputy proper officer is
able to act, or if there is no specified designated proper officer or
Page 9
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions
Revised April 2019

Page 49

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions

deputy proper officer, the Chief Executive may designate an
appropriate person to act as proper officer or deputy proper officer. If
the Chief Executive is unable to act, this power shall be delegated to
the Director of Governance and Law or, if the Director of Governance
and Law is unavailable, to the Deputy Monitoring Officer.

Local Government Act 1972
Section

Description

Proper Officer

83(1) – (4)

Officer to whom persons elected to any of the
following offices of the Council shall make
declaration of acceptance of office: Mayor,
Deputy Mayor, Councillor

Director of
Governance and
Law (Chief
Executive)

84

Officer to whom a person elected to any office
under the Council may give written notice or
resignation

Director of
Governance and
Law (Chief
Executive)

88(2)

Officer who may convene a meeting of the
Council for the election to fill a vacancy

Chief Executive
(Deputy Chief
Executive)

89(1)(b)

Officer who may receive notice in writing of a
casual vacancy in the office of Councillor from two
local Government electors

Chief Executive
(Director of
Governance and
Law)

100B(2)

Officer who may think fit to exclude from reports
open to inspection parts relating to items during
which the meeting is likely not to be open to the
public

Director of
Governance and
Law

100B(7)(c)

Officer who may think fit to exclude from reports
open to inspection parts relating to items during
which the meeting is likely not to be open to the
public

Director of
Governance and
Law

100C(2)

Officer responsible for preparing a written
summary of those parts of the committee
proceedings which disclose exempt information

Director of
Governance and
Law

100D(1)(a)
and (5)(a)

Officer responsible for identifying background
papers and compiling list of such documents

Director of
Governance and
Law

100F(2)

Officer making decision as to documents
disclosing exempt information which are not
required to be open to inspection by council
members

Director of
Governance and
Law (Chief
Executive)

115

Officer to whom all officers shall pay monies
received by them and due to the local authority

Strategic
Director,
Finance and

Page 10
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions
Revised April 2019

Page 50

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions

Section

Description

Proper Officer
Governance

146(1)

Officer authorised to produce a statutory
declaration specifying securities and verifying
name change of authority

Strategic
Director,
Finance and
Governance

204(3)

Officer to whom notice of application for a
Justices Licence under Schedule 1 of the
Licensing Act 1964 should be given

Chief Executive
or Director of
Governance and
Law

210(6) and
(7)

Officer in whom power in respect of a charity will
vest as at 1 April 1974

Director of
Governance and
Law

225(1)

Officer with whom documents may be deposited
pursuant to law to make notes or endorsements
and give acknowledgements or receipts.

Director of
Governance and
Law

229(4) and
(5)

Officer who shall certify that a document is a
photographic copy of a document in the custody
of the Council

Director of
Governance and
Law

234(1)

Officer who may authenticate documents

Director of
Governance and
Law

Para 4(2)(b)
of Part 1 of
Schedule
12

Officer who may sign a summons to council
meetings

Chief Executive
(Deputy Chief
Executive)

Para 4(2)(b)
of Part 1 of
Schedule
12

Officer who may receive notice from a member of
address to which a summons to a meeting is to
be sent

Chief Executive
(Director of
Governance)

Local Government Act 1974
Section

Description

Proper Officer

30 (5)

Officer responsible for arranging publication in
newspapers of notice of Local Commissioner’s
report on investigation of a complaint

Director of
Governance and
Law

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976
Section

Description

Proper Officer

41

Officer responsible for certifying copies of
resolutions, minutes and other documents

Director of
Governance and
Law

Buildings Act 1984
Page 11
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions
Revised April 2019

Page 51

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions

London Local Authorities Act 2000, as amended
Section

Description

Proper Officer

78 (8) BA
1984

Officer responsible for taking immediate action in
relation to dangerous buildings

45 LLA
2000

Officer responsible for taking action immediate
action in relation to dangerous structures.

Head of Building
Control
(Strategic
Director, Neighbourhoods and
Commercial)

Local Government Finance Act 1988
Section

Description

Proper Officer

114

Officer responsible for making financial report to
the authority

Strategic
Director,
Finance and
Governance

Page 12
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions
Revised April 2019

Page 52

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions

Local Government
Regulations 1990

(Committees

and

Political

Groups)

Section

Description

Proper Officer

8 (1) and
(5)

Officer to whom notice is delivered about the
constitution of a political group, or the change of
name of a political group

9 and 10

Officer to whom notice is delivered about a
Councillor’s membership of, or cessation of
membership of, a political group

13

Officer to whom the wishes of a political group are
expressed

14

Officer responsible for notifying a political group
about allocations and vacations of seats

Chief Executive
(Director of
Governance and
Law)
Chief Executive
(Director of
Governance and
Law)
Chief Executive
(Director of
Governance and
Law)
Director of
Governance and
Law

The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Access to
Information) (England) Regulations 2000
Section

Description

Proper Officer

3 (1)

Officer responsible for producing a written
statement of all executive decisions made at a
public or private meeting of Cabinet, including the
information specified in regulation 3 (2).

Chief Executive
(Director of
Governance
and Law)

5 (1)

Officer responsible for ensuring that a copy of the
following documents is available for public
inspection:

Chief Executive
(Director of
Governance
and Law)



the written statement referred to in
regulation 3 above



part or all of any report considered by the
decision maker and relevant to the
decision made

Page 13
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions
Revised April 2019

Page 53

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions

6

Officer responsible for compiling a list of
background papers to the report referred to in
regulation 5 above. This officer is the proper
officer referred to in rule 8 of the Access to
Information Procedure Rules set out in Part 8 of
this Constitution

Chief Executive
(Director of
Governance and
Law)

12 (2)

Officer who may exclude whole or part of any
report provided for public inspection under
regulation 11 (1), where the part excluded relates
to a matter for which the proper officer considers
a meeting is not likely to be open to the public.
This officer is the proper officer referred to in rule
11 of the Access to Information Procedure Rules
set out in Part 8 of this Constitution

Chief Executive
(Director of
Governance and
Law)

11 (7) (c)

Officer who may supply to a newspaper a copy of
any document supplied to Cabinet members, if he
or she thinks fit.

12 (1)

Officer responsible for publishing the information
relating to key decisions specified in regulation 12
(1). This officer is the proper officer referred to in
rule 14 of the Access to Information Procedure
Rules set out in Part 8 of this Constitution.

Chief Executive
(Director of
Governance and
Law)
Director of
Governance and
Law

15 (1)

Officer responsible for doing the following where
the inclusion of a matter on the forward plan is
impracticable and the matter would be a key
decision:


giving notice to the Chair of the relevant
overview and scrutiny committee



making that notice available for public
inspection

Director of
Governance and
Law

This officer is the proper officer referred to in rule
15 of the Access to Information Procedure Rules
set out in Part 8 of this Constitution
17 (3) and
(4)

Officer responsible for determining whether
compliance with regulations 17 (1) or 17 (2) would
involve the disclosure of either exempt
information or advice provided by a political
advisor or assistant

Director of
Governance and
Law

21 (4) (a)
and (b)

Officer who may form an opinion as to whether a
document contains or is likely to contain
confidential information, exempt information or the
advice of a political advisor or assistant

Director of
Governance and
Law

Page 14
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions
Revised April 2019

Page 54

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions

The Local Authorities (Referendums)
Directions) (England) Regulations 2000

(Petitions

and

Section

Description

Proper Officer

4 (2)

Officer who publishes the number that is equal to
5 per cent of the number of local government
electors for the authority’s area

Electoral
Registration
Officer

The Local Authorities
Regulations 2000

(Standing

Orders)

(England)

Section

Description

Proper Officer

Paras 5 and
6 of Part II
of Schedule
1

Officer for receiving notification of proposed
appointment of certain officers, notifying
executive members of that proposed appointment
and for receiving and notifying of objections to the
proposed appointment. This officer is the proper
officer referred to in rule 8 of the Officer
Employment Procedure Rules set out in Part 8 of
this Constitution

Chief Executive

The Local Democracy,
Construction Act 2009

Economic

Development

and

Section

Description

Proper Officer

s.9FB of the
Local
Governmen
t Act 2000
(having
been
incorporateed into that
Act by the
Localism
Act 2011).

To promote the role of the authority's overview
and scrutiny committee or committees,
(b) provide support to the authority's overview
and scrutiny committee or committees and the
members of that committee or those committees,
(c) to provide support and guidance to—
(i) members of the authority,
(ii) members of the executive of the
authority, and
(iii officers of the authority,
in relation to the functions of the authority's
overview and scrutiny committee or committees.

Scrutiny Officer

Page 15
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions
Revised April 2019

Page 55

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions

Proper officer functions referred to in guidelines issued by
the Secretary of State under section 38 of the Local
Government Act 2000 (Part 8 of this Constitution)
Section

Description

Proper Officer

17 Access
to
Information
Procedure
Rules

Officer who may, when requested to do so on
behalf of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee,
require Cabinet to submit a report to the Council
within such reasonable time as the relevant
Overview and Scrutiny Committee specifies

Director of
Governance and
Law

2.5
Executive
Procedure
Rules

Officer who may place an item on the agenda of
the next available meeting of the Cabinet for
consideration

The Monitoring
Officer and/or
the Chief
Financial Officer
in pursuance of
their statutory
duties. In other
circumstances,
where any two
of the Head of
Paid Service,
Chief Financial
Officer and
Monitoring
Officer are of
the opinion that
a meeting of the
Executive needs
to be called to
consider a
matter that
requires a
decision, they
may jointly
include an item
on the agenda
of an Executive
meeting.

The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings
and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012

Page 16
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions
Revised April 2019

Page 56

Section
7 (2)

Description

Proper Officer

Constitution
of Waltham
If the proper officer thinks fit, there
may beof London Borough
Director
of Forest
PART 3 Responsibility
for Functions
excluded from the copy of any report provided
Governance
and
pursuant to paragraph (1) the whole, or any part,
Law
of the report which relates only to matters during
which, in the proper officer’s opinion, the meeting
is likely to be a private meeting.
7 (c)
If the proper officer thinks fit, to provide to a
Director of
member of the pulic or newspaper, in the case of Governance and
any item on an agenda, a copy of any
Law
documentin addition to a report supplied to
members of the executive in connection with the
item
10 (1)
Proper officer to inform the chair of the relevant
Director of
overview and scrutiny committee or, if there is no Governance and
such person, each member of the relevant
Law
overview and scrutiny committee by notice in
writing, of the matter about which the decision is
to be made under General Exeception (Acccess
to Information Procedure Rule 15), and to make
available a notice of the decision to be taken.
11 (1)
Decision maker to obtain agreement from the
Relevant
chair of the relevant overview and scrutiny
decision maker
committee oras specified in their absence ,to the
taking of decision under Special Urgency
(Acccess to Information Procedure Rule 16), and
to make available a notice of the decision to be
taken.
12 (1)
As soon as reasonably practicable after any
Director of
meeting of a decision-making body at which an
Governance and
executive decision was made, the proper officer,
Law
or if the proper officer was not present at the
meeting, the person presiding, must ensure that a
written statement is produced for every executive
decision made which includes the information
specifiedin 12 (2) of the Regulations.
13 (1)
As soon as reasonably practicable after an
Director of
individual member has made an executive
Governance and
decision, that member must produce or instruct
Law
the proper officer to produce a written statement
of that executive decision which includes the
information specified in paragraph 13 (2) of the
Regulations,
14 (1)
14.—(1) Subject to regulation 20, after a meeting Director of
of a decision-making body at which an executive
Governance and
decision has been made, or after an individual
Law
member or an officer has made an executive
decision the proper officer must ensure that a
copy of— (a) any records prepared in accordance
with regulations 12 or 13; and (b) any report
considered at the meeting or, as the case may
be, considered by the individual member or
officer and relevant to a decision recorded in
accordance with regulations 12 or 13 or, where
only part of the report is relevant to such a
decision, that part, must be available for
inspection by members of the public, as soon as
is reasonably practicable, at the offices of the
relevant local authority,Page
and on
17that authority’s
PART 3 Responsibilitywebsite,
for Functions
if it has one.
Revised April 2019
Page
57the background Director of
15 (a)
Proper officerto complie
a list of
papers to a report and include it in the report.
Governance and
Law

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions

16

20

Opinions in relation to the additional rights of
access to documents for members of local
authorities.
Opinions in relation to the confidential
information, exempt information and advice of a
political adviser or assistant.

Page 18
PART 3 Responsibility for Functions
Revised April 2019

Page 58

Director of
Governance and
Law
Director of
Governance and
Law

Agenda Item 1d
London Borough of Waltham Forest
Scheme of Delegation

GENERAL SCHEME OF DELEGATION
1.

INTRODUCTION

1.1

Principles
This scheme of delegation (the Scheme) is based on the following principles:


Decisions need to be taken as near to the point of service delivery as
possible;



Managers and staff need to be empowered but accountable and
responsible;


1.2

Delegated powers must be exercised in accordance with the Council’s
Constitution including all Procedure Rules in Part 8, any legislative
responsibilities and/or relevant Council policies and procedures;



Managers and staff must have authority to act in line with their levels of
responsibility within the organisation;



All existing and newly appointed managers and staff must be advised in
writing of their personal levels of delegated authority by their Directorate
(this can be by provision of copies of the relevant documentation);



Service Heads must ensure that this Scheme is fully implemented,
monitored and reviewed and any changes required are reported to the
Director of Governance.

Scope
1.2.1 The Scheme is additional to any delegations to officers contained in the
Council’s Constitution. This Scheme is not part of the Council’s Constitution.
1.2.2 The Scheme covers delegations for executive and non-executive functions
within the areas of finance, personnel, contracts, committee work, partnerships
and legal proceedings.
1.2.3 It applies to all services and officers within the Council without exception.
1.2.4 Cabinet or Council must approve variations to this Scheme depending on
whether the functions delegated and to be varied are executive or nonexecutive functions under the Local Government Act 2000.
1.2.5 The Scheme will be superseded in any case where a Council or Cabinet
decision expressly delegates any of the powers in this Scheme to a specific
officer or officers whether for a single event, decision or transaction or
permanently.
-1–

Last agreed by Council 23 April 2021

Page 59

London Borough of Waltham Forest
Scheme of Delegation

1.3

Personal Conduct
1.3.1 Managers and staff are expected to act with the highest integrity and must not
put the Authority’s interests or assets at risk. They must not allow their private
interests to conflict with their work responsibilities and they must comply with
the requirements of the Code of Conduct. All staff are expected to know the
principles of the scheme and the specific requirements set out below.
1.3.2 All staff authorised under this Scheme are expected to know and must comply
with Council procedures and the law.

2.

SCHEDULE OF DESIGNATIONS
Level

Post

A

Chief Executive and Strategic Directors

B

Directors, Director of Governance and Law

C

Group Managers/Unit Managers

D

Team Managers/Cost Centre Managers

E

Other posts with limited responsibilities

2.1

Level A-D officers may exercise the powers delegated to officers at a lower
category within their Directorate or service, as the case may be.

2.2

The Chief Executive may exercise any of the powers delegated to officers in this
Scheme, save where prohibited by law.

2.3

In the absence, for whatever reason, of an officer with delegated powers under this
Scheme, his/her powers may be exercised by any post holder within his/her
service or directorate within a higher category or to any officer designated to
perform the duties of the absent post holder.

2.4

Level A officers are responsible for maintaining and regularly reviewing a
Directorate scheme of delegations, which identifies each officer in the above
categories. A copy of the Directorate’s Scheme of Delegation must be provided to
the Chief Finance Officer and Director of Governance and Law.

2.5

Level A and B officers may further delegate their powers under this Scheme to
officers within their Directorate/Service but must ensure that any such delegation
is in writing and is subsequently included in the Directorate’s scheme of
delegations and the Director of Governance and Law is notified in writing.

3.

PUBLICATION OF OFFICER DECISIONS
-2–

Last agreed by Council 23 April 2021

Page 60

London Borough of Waltham Forest
Scheme of Delegation

3.1

Mandatory Publication of Officer Decisions

3.2

To comply with the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Access to
Information ) (England) Regulations 2012 (the Regulations), the following
decisions must be published in accordance with this rule:
3.2.1 Decisions made following a specific delegation from the executive in a
meeting (whether from the Cabinet collectively, a Cabinet committee or an
individual portfolio holder);
3.2.2 Subject to paragraphs 3.7 and 3.8 below, other delegated decisions where,
due to the circumstances of the decision, it would be beneficial to publish
the decision in accordance with this rule. Reasons for publication under this
sub-section may be due to the sensitivity or importance of the decision or
its impact on the Council, service users and/or residents. Advice should be
sought from Democratic Services before making this decision.

3.3

Where a decision must be published, the form at Appendix A must be completed
and be made available for public inspection and put on the Council’s website as
soon as is practicable after the decision. Democratic Services can advise on the
specific process of publication and an electric form or a copy of any notice must
be sent to Democratic Services as soon as the decision is made.

3.4

Where an officer decision is also a key decision, the additional publication
requirements for key decisions must be complied with (see the Access to
Information Rules, Part 8, Constitution).

3.5

A copy of the decision notice must be held for six years from the date of the
decision and background documents must be held for four years.

3.6

Exemptions from Publication

3.7

This rule applies only to decisions delegated from the Executive and so does not
apply to the following categories of decision:
3.7.1 Delegations from Council, overview and scrutiny, statutory and ordinary
committees. This will include but is not limited to management decisions in
respect of terms and conditions of employment and individual employees
(but decisions about restructures are executive decisions and must be
published), and enforcement and regulatory decisions in respect of
individual applications, licences and activities;
3.7.2 Decisions made in performing statutory functions, e.g. “proper officer” roles,
monitoring officer, chief finance officer and head of paid service. NB this
applies only to the statutory functions of any posts, not all their duties.

3.8

The presumption is that all decisions not covered by this Rule must be published
unless an exemption applies. There is no requirement, however, to publish
-3–

Last agreed by Council 23 April 2021

Page 61

London Borough of Waltham Forest
Scheme of Delegation

confidential and exempt information as defined by the Regulations and as set out
in the Access to Information Rules in Part 8 of the Council’s Constitution. This may
apply to the whole or part of the record of a decision and officers should note that
there are very specific definitions of “confidential” and “exempt” information.
3.9

Delegations

3.10

The power to determine whether or not information should be published in
accordance with paragraph 3.8 is delegated to the Director of Governance and
Law (including his/her nominee).

3.11

All proper officer functions under the Regulations are delegated to the Director of
Governance and Law (including his/her nominee).

3.12

Any duties or powers in the Regulations to take any steps to publish decisions or
other information may also be discharged by the Director of Governance and Law
(including his/her nominee).

3.13

The power to determine whether or not an individual executive member should be
granted a dispensation in respect of any conflict of interest they have declared in
respect of the decision is delegated by the head of paid service to the monitoring
officer or his/her nominee (rigs. 12(2), 13(2)(e) and (4)(e)). Dispensations can only
be granted on the grounds set out in the Council’s Code of Conduct.

4.

FINANCE

4.1

Monitoring and Control of Budgets
4.1.1 All managers are expected to provide prudent financial performance and
ensure probity within their areas of responsibility.
4.1.2 Level B officers are responsible for maintaining a schedule of posts and
financial responsibilities for staff in their own areas. Copies of the schedule
must be forwarded to the Director of Financial Services.
4.1.3 Officers responsible for budget heads must monitor performance against
their budget on a minimum monthly basis. Where the income or
expenditure generated by a budget is crucial to the day-to-day operation of
services, more frequent monitoring is expected.
4.1.4 Level B officers are responsible for keeping within and managing allocated
budgets, immediately reporting any problems to the Executive or Strategic
Director.

4.2

Capital Budget
4.2.1 The award of contracts within a capital scheme is dealt with in Section 7.

-4–
Last agreed by Council 23 April 2021

Page 62

London Borough of Waltham Forest
Scheme of Delegation

4.2.2 Level B officers can agree work to be carried out on a capital scheme in
progress if the total cost of the additional work does not exceed £50,000
and there is budgetary provision.
4.3

Virements
4.3.1 Level A officers can vire budget provision up to £500,000 from any
expenditure or income heading within the service to another.
4.3.2 Level B officers can vire budget provision up to £100,000 from any
expenditure or income heading within the service to another.
4.3.3 Level C & D officers can vire budget provision up to £10,000 from any
expenditure or income heading within their areas to another.

4.4

Raising of Official Orders (excluding works contracts)
4.4.1 Level B officers must provide an up to date list of officers within their service
authorised to raise orders.
4.4.2 Level A & B officers can raise orders up to £100,000.
4.4.3 Level C officers can raise orders up to £50,000.
4.4.4 Level D officers can raise orders up to £10,000.
4.4.5 Other officers can raise orders up to £250.00.

4.5

Authorisation of Payments
4.5.1 Level A officers have unlimited authority to authorise payments.
4.5.2 Level B officers can authorise payments up to £100,000.
4.5.3 Level C officers can authorise payments up to £50,000.
4.5.4 Level D officers can authorise payments up to £10,000.

4.6

Income
4.6.1 Level C officers can request bills and invoices in relation to their service to
be raised.

4.7

Writing Off Debts Other than Non Domestic Rates
4.7.1 Level B officers can write off debts:
4.7.1.1

up to £50,000 in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer.

4.7.1.2

over £50,000 in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer
and relevant Portfolio Holder.

5.

ASSET MANAGEMENT

5.1

Control of Assets, Stocks and Stores, including ITC
-5–

Last agreed by Council 23 April 2021

Page 63

London Borough of Waltham Forest
Scheme of Delegation

5.1.1 Level C officers are responsible for the control of assets, stocks and stores
and maintaining inventories of all holdings.
5.1.2 Inventories for stocks and stores must be held regardless of the value of
items. For physical assets, inventories must be maintained where the value
of each item is over £500.
5.1.3 Level C officers must undertake an annual stock take.
5.2

Disposal of Assets, including IT (except Land and Buildings)
5.2.1 Level B Officers can approve:
5.2.1.1

the disposal of all materials, plant, machinery fittings,
equipment, stock or stores under their control up to a value of
£20,000 per disposal;

5.2.1.2

disposals over the value of £20,000 and up to £50,000 in
consultation with the Chief Finance Officer; and

5.2.1.3

in cases where the likely income from any disposal exceeds
£20,000 the arrangements for such disposal must be by
completion process.

5.2.2 Level A officers may approve disposals valued at £50,000 and over.
5.3

Land and buildings
5.3.1 The management, acquisition and disposal of land and buildings are subject
to the Property Procedure Rules, Part 8, Constitution.

6.

HR ISSUES

6.1

Creation of New Posts
6.1.1 Level C officers can create new posts subject to the availability of ongoing
revenue funding and that post, or one significantly similar to it, not having
been deleted within the previous 6 months as part of any service
restructure.

6.2

Grading of Posts
6.2.1 Level C officers must approve all job evaluation requests before being
formally processed through the HR service.

6.3

Recruitment
6.3.1 Level D officers can decide to fill and appoint to vacant posts or provide
temporary staff.

6.4

Organisational Structure Change
-6–

Last agreed by Council 23 April 2021

Page 64

London Borough of Waltham Forest
Scheme of Delegation

6.4.1 Level A officers may approve any restructuring within their Directorate.
6.4.2 The Chief Executive may approve restructuring of more than one
Directorate.
6.4.3 A restructure that directly affects all directorates (beyond a minimal impact
on a directorate or directorates) remains the responsibility of Cabinet.
6.4.4 The Cabinet must agree changes to the senior management structure
(defined as the structure for posts at first and second tier and above).
6.4.5 Procedural requirements apply to individual officer appointments,
particularly at senior level. Please refer to the Officer Employment
Procedure Rules in Part 8 of the Council’s Constitution.
6.4.6 Authority is delegated to the Director of Governance and Law to agree
changes to Part 11 of the Constitution – Management Structure below
Strategic Director as and when they occur, and other changes to the
Constitution as a result of changes to job titles. (Council, 22 April 2021).
6.5

Authorisation of Overtime Claims
6.5.1 Level D officers can authorise overtime claims which do not exceed 35
hours in any financial year.
6.5.2 Level C officers can authorise overtime claims in excess of 35 hours in any
financial year.

6.6

Honoraria/Acting Up Allowances
6.6.1 Level C officers can approve the payment of such allowances.

6.7

Approval of Special Allowances and Ex-Gratia Payments
6.7.1 Level C officers can approve the payment of special allowances and exgratia payments where there is provision for them within employees’ terms
and conditions of employment.
6.7.2 Level B officers can approve the reimbursement of relocation expenses.

6.8

Changes to Salary Levels
6.8.1 Level C officers can authorise or agree salary changes for any individual
within their Unit where these comply with individuals’ terms and conditions
of employment.

6.9

Early Retirements – Redundancy/Efficiency/Ill Health
6.9.1 Level C officers have responsibility for the day-to-day conduct of cases
falling into these categories.
-7–

Last agreed by Council 23 April 2021

Page 65

London Borough of Waltham Forest
Scheme of Delegation

6.9.2 The Strategic Director, Corporate Development and the Chief Finance
Officer must authorise redundancy and efficiency retirements for those
employees aged over 55 years and graded PO8 and above and/or awarded
more than 6 2/3rds added years.
6.9.3 Level B officers can authorise all other basic redundancy and retirements,
excluding efficiency cases.
6.9.4 Level A officers can authorise efficiency cases following agreement by the
Strategic Director, Corporate Development and the Chief Finance Officer.
6.10

Sickness and Extensions of Sick Pay
6.10.1 Level B officers can authorise extension of sick pay after consultation with
the relevant senior HR professional.
6.10.2 Level D officers are responsible for the management of sickness absence
issues and monitoring arrangements for the staff they manage.

6.11

Job Sharing
6.11.1 Level C officers can determine any issues arising from the implementation
of the Council’s Job Sharing Scheme, including suitability of a post for job
sharing.

6.12

Trade Union Duties
6.12.1 Level C officers can determine any issues arising from the implementation
of the Council’s scheme such as time off for trade union duties.

6.13

Leave – Paid/Unpaid
6.13.1 Level C officers can approve requests for Special Leave either Paid/Unpaid.
6.13.2 Level D officers can approve annual leave and additional holidays under
Section 3.12 of the Terms and Conditions booklet.

6.14

Misconduct/Capability & Grievance Procedures
6.14.1 Level C officers can decide to dismiss, relegate in grade or compulsorily
transfer.
6.14.2 All managers and supervisors can conduct investigations within the
Procedure and can take action following the investigation other than the
actions above.

6.15

Training
6.15.1 Level D officers are responsible for training issues and monitoring
arrangements for the staff they manage.

6.16

Flexi-Time Scheme (including time off in lieu)
-8–

Last agreed by Council 23 April 2021

Page 66

London Borough of Waltham Forest
Scheme of Delegation

6.16.1 Level D officers are responsible for ensuring compliance with the Council’s
scheme and monitoring arrangements as far as they relate to the staff they
manage.
6.17

Appraisals
6.17.1 Level D officers are responsible for the operation of the Council’s scheme
and monitoring arrangements for the staff they manage.

6.18

Probationary Assessment Process
6.18.1 Level D officers are responsible for the probationary assessment process.

6.19

Health and Safety Issues
6.19.1 Level D officers are responsible for health and safety issues and monitoring
arrangements for the staff they manage.

6.20

Appeals
6.20.1 Where there is a right of appeal under any Council procedure, it will be dealt
with by an officer of the next highest delegation under this Scheme (unless
the contract of employment or appropriate personnel procedure specifies
otherwise).

6.21

Other provisions
6.21.1 Level C officers can determine other disciplinary matters within the contract
of employment.

7.

PROCUREMENT AND CONTRACTS

7.1

The Council’s procurement of works, goods and services is governed in detail by
the Contract Procedure Rules (Part 8 of the Council’s Constitution). All managers
must familiarise themselves with the contents and requirements of these Rules.
Acceptance of Tenders or Quotes
7.1.1 Subject to CPR rules 12.1, 3 & 4 and paragraph 8.5.2 below:
7.1.1.1

Level A officers can accept tenders or quotes up to
£1,000,000 save that for contracts valued over £500,000
approval must also be obtained from the Chief Executive,
Chief Finance Officer or the Monitoring Officer.

7.1.1.2

Level B officers can accept tenders or quotes up to £250,000.

7.1.1.3

Level C officers can accept tenders or quotes up to £50,000.
-9–

Last agreed by Council 23 April 2021

Page 67

London Borough of Waltham Forest
Scheme of Delegation

7.1.1.4

Level D officers can accept tenders or quotes up to £10,000.

7.1.2 The delegations contained in paragraph 8.5.1 are subject to the following
caveats:
7.1.2.1

Every Director will undertake an annual review of their officers
at levels B – D in their Directorate to agree their competence
to perform the delegations commensurate with the seniority of
their post. Assessment will be made in accordance with each
officer’s experience, training in procurement issues and any
current concerns that the Director has on their ability to
comply with the CPR. The Chief Executive will undertake the
annual review in respect of other Level A officers.

7.1.2.2

Before exercising delegated powers under paragraph 8.5.1
officers must have first undertaken procurement training
either as specified by their Director or as provided by the
Council’s training unit. Directors may exempt officers from this
proviso on the basis of existing knowledge or experience.
Exemptions may be for any period of up to one year.

7.1.2.3

Records of the annual reviews undertaken must be provided
to Corporate Procurement.

7.1.3 Subject to Article 14.4.2 of the Constitution officers authorised to accept
tenders are also authorised to sign the contract, except where the contract
is over £100,000 relating to an Executive function, when it must be made
under seal.
7.2

Post Tender Negotiations
7.2.1 Level A and B postholders can give written authority to enter into post tender
negotiations, subject to CPR Rule 16, only where permissible under EU/UK
Procurement Regulations and following consultation with the Director of
Supply Chain.

7.3

Termination of Contracts
7.3.1 Subject to CPR Rules, and subject to consultation with Legal Services in
each individual case, authority to decide whether a contract should be
terminated prior to its expiry may be exercised for contracts of different
values by officers at the levels set out in Rule 8.5.1 above.
7.3.2 Decisions to terminate contracts in accordance with 8.7.1 made by Level A
or B officers must be published in accordance with Section 3.
7.3.3 19.
- 10 –

Last agreed by Council 23 April 2021

Page 68

London Borough of Waltham Forest
Scheme of Delegation

8.

COMMITTEE PROCESS

8.1

Democratic Services Staff
8.1.1 The following requirements do not apply to Democratic Services Officers
and Scrutiny Officers as far as they relate to the need for them to carry out
the normal duties and responsibilities of their posts.

8.2

Agenda Items
8.2.1 Level A & B officers can submit committee agenda items.

8.3

Report Authors
8.3.1 Level B officers are responsible for ensuring that committee reports are
prepared in accordance with the committee timetable.
8.3.2 Level B officers are responsible for the quality as well as the content of the
reports and that all implications are sought, received and incorporated into
reports.

8.4

Final Clearance of Reports
8.4.1 Level B officers are responsible for final clearance of all reports.

8.5

Withdrawal of Reports from Agenda
8.5.1 Level B officers can withdraw committee reports from agendas – with
approval by Portfolio Lead Member/Committee Chair.

8.6

Attendance at Committee Briefings & Committee meetings
8.6.1 Level B officers are responsible for ensuring appropriate attendance at
committee briefings and meetings.

9.

PARTNERSHIPS

9.1

Partnerships include any non-commercial and/ or non-contractual relationship
between the Council and one or more external bodies with a joint working formal
arrangement where there is agreement to co-operate in achieving a common goal.

9.2

Where not a key decision, Level A officers are responsible for the agreement to
enter into partnerships covered by 10.1 where there is significant risk or finance
involved and ensuring there are adequate governance arrangements in place.

9.3

Subject to 10.4, where the primary contact with a partnership or partners is within
their directorate, Level A officers are responsible for:
9.3.1 the Council’s day-to-day relations with partnerships;
9.3.2 ensuring that appropriate governance and risk management arrangements
are in place for each partnership;
- 11 –

Last agreed by Council 23 April 2021

Page 69

London Borough of Waltham Forest
Scheme of Delegation

9.3.3 ensuring that appropriate approvals are obtained before any negotiations
are commenced in relation to work with external bodies;
9.3.4 ensuring that work carried out by third parties (for instance Council-owned
Trading Companies) for the Council is approved and covered by a suitable
contract or agreement so that the responsibilities of each party are clear;
and
9.3.5 supporting the Chief Finance Officer in fulfilling his/her duties under 10.4
below.
9.4

The Chief Executive is accountable for the matters set out at 10.2 for partnerships
that have corporate wide implications, including the Local Strategic Partnership.

9.5

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for:
9.5.1 Promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct with regard to
financial administration in partnerships throughout the Council;
9.5.2 Ensuring that the accounting arrangements to be adopted relating to
partnerships and joint ventures are proper;
9.5.3 The overall corporate governance arrangements and legal issues when
arranging contracts with external bodies, in consultation with the Monitoring
Officer;
9.5.4 The Chief Finance Officer must ensure that the financial implications and
risks have been fully appraised before agreements are entered into with
external bodies.

10.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS & MATTERS

10.1

The Director of Governance and Law (who is also the Monitoring Officer) has the
following delegated powers in respect of legal proceedings and matters under
Article 14 of the Constitution (Article 14):
10.1.1 to institute, defend or participate in any legal proceedings, whether
contemplated or actual, in any case where such action is necessary to give
effect to decisions of the Council or in any case where the Director of
Governance and Law considers that such action is necessary to protect the
Council’s interests;
10.1.2 to sign documents necessary to any legal procedure or proceedings on
behalf of the Council;
10.1.3 to determine which documents should be sealed using the Common Seal
and to attest to any sealing; and

- 12 –
Last agreed by Council 23 April 2021

Page 70

London Borough of Waltham Forest
Scheme of Delegation

10.1.4 to authenticate any document which is a necessary step in legal
proceedings on behalf of the Council.
The full wording of each delegated power is set out at Article 14.
10.2

The delegations within this section do not affect other specific delegations made
by the Executive, Council or a Council Committee in respect of legal proceedings
and other legal matters.

10.3 Delegations to Legal Services
The following further delegations are made:
10.3.1 In the absence of the Director of Governance and Law, the powers in
Article 14 are delegated to the Deputy Monitoring Officer.
10.3.2 Heads of Law may undertake all the powers set out in Article 14 for all
matters falling within the responsibility of Legal Services.
10.3.3 Senior Lawyers may so far as such activities fall within the ordinary duties
of their post, institute, defend or participate in:
10.3.3.1 all civil proceedings
10.3.3.2 proceedings by or against a current or former employee or
employees of the authority or any other proceedings in the
employment tribunals;
10.3.3.3 civil and/or criminal proceedings in the Magistrates’ Court and/or
Crown Court;
10.3.3.4 any legal proceedings in respect of the Council’s housing stock and
its other property including appeals under relevant legislation;
10.3.3.5 any childcare, education, adult protection proceedings and mental
health proceedings; and
10.3.3.6 appeals or cross appeals of any court or tribunal decisions.

10.3.4 All employees who undertake legal casework as part of their duties within
Legal Services may have conduct of any legal proceedings allocated to them
and institute, defend or participate in:
- 13 –
Last agreed by Council 23 April 2021

Page 71

London Borough of Waltham Forest
Scheme of Delegation

10.3.4.1 civil proceedings up to a value of £150,000;
10.3.4.2 all other civil proceedings in the County or High Court;
10.3.4.3 proceedings by or against a current or former employee or
employees of the authority or any other proceedings in the
employment tribunals;
10.3.4.4 civil and/or criminal proceedings in the Magistrates’ and/or Crown
Court;
10.3.4.5 any legal proceedings in respect of the Council’s housing stock and
its other property including appeals under relevant legislation; and
10.3.4.6 any childcare, education, adult protection proceedings and mental
health proceedings.
10.3.4.7 Notwithstanding the delegation at 10.4.4.5 any officer holding the
position of Rent Assistant, Income Maximisation Officer, Income
Services Manager, Income Maximisation Manager, Mechanical and
Electrical Administrator, Gas Supervisor, Electrical Supervisor,
Head of Mechanical & Electrical Services may institute, participate
and appear in Court in respect of proceedings in the County Court
for possession cases for rent arrears, and mesne profits or
damages and before the Magistrates in relation to applications for
entry to enable the Council to carry out its landlord gas inspection
obligations.
10.3.5 All the delegations set out above:
10.3.5.1 include the power to do anything as part of the conduct of
proceedings or any other legal matter,
10.3.5.2 are taken on behalf of the Director of Governance and Law but
10.3.5.3 may not be further delegated to other officers.
10.4

Instructions to Legal Services

10.4.1 Level A-D officers may instruct Legal Services to institute, defend or
participate in any legal proceedings or undertake any legal matter falling
- 14 –
Last agreed by Council 23 April 2021

Page 72

London Borough of Waltham Forest
Scheme of Delegation

within their level of responsibility within their service area and/or Directorate
as determined by this Scheme of Delegation or elsewhere.
10.4.2 The powers at 10.4.1 include the power do anything or sign or authorise any
decision or document required by law before the commencement of
proceedings.
10.4.3 Level A-D officers have power to instruct Legal Services to settle, withdraw or
otherwise terminate any legal proceedings falling within their level of
responsibility within their service area and/or Directorate as determined by
this Scheme of Delegation or elsewhere.
10.5

Council Tax, National Non-Domestic Rates and Housing Benefit Recovery

10.5.1 The Director of Governance and Law is delegated the power to authorise
officers to appear in Courts, at Inquiries and before Tribunals and Committees
under section 223 of the Local Government Act 1972 and any other
applicable legislation.
10.5.2 Notwithstanding the delegation at 10.5.1, any officer holding one of the
following posts is authorised to institute, defend, participate appear in court in
respect of any proceedings relating to the recovery of Council Tax and
National Non-Domestic Rates, Housing Benefit Appeals and Recovery:
Director of Financial Services
Head of Revenues and Benefits
Unit Head Revenues
Revenue Team Managers
Court Enforcement/Insolvency Officer
Revenues Officer
Unit Head Benefits
Support Functions Unit Manager/Appeals and Complaints Manager
Appeals and Complaints Officers

- 15 –
Last agreed by Council 23 April 2021

Page 73

London Borough of Waltham Forest
Scheme of Delegation

11.4.1 All the delegations set out above in 10.5.1 and 10.5.2 include the power to
do anything or authorise any decision or document as part of the conduct
of proceedings.

11.

DISCLOSURE AND BARRING SERVICE (DBS) CHECKS FOR
COUNCILLORS

11.1

The Director of Governance and Law has authority to manage the Council’s
Scheme for Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS)for Members (agreed by
Council on 1 March 2012) including but not limited to the receipt of DSB
disclosures and the taking of appropriate action.

- 16 –
Last agreed by Council 23 April 2021

Page 74

London Borough of Waltham Forest
Scheme of Delegation

APPENDIX A

Notice of Executive Decision taken by an Officer
Published in Accordance with The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and
Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 (“the Regulations”)
Title:
Key?
Urgent?
Decision Maker:
Decision Date:
Published:
For Call-in?
Call-in Expiry:
Purpose:
Decision Taken:
Reason:
Alternative
Options
Considered:
DOCUMENTS
List of
documents
submitted to the
Decision-Maker1:
Details of any
None
exempt2 or
confidential
or
information3:
In the opinion of the [proper officer title], this report and one or more
of its appendices is exempt from publication in accordance with
paragraph [paragraph number] of Schedule 12A of the Local
Government Act 1972 (as amended): [reasons report is exempt –
seek advice from Legal & Democratic Services before publishing]
Background
Papers Used:
Conflicts of
interest declared
- 17 –
Last agreed by Council 23 April 2021

Page 75

London Borough of Waltham Forest
Scheme of Delegation

by any executive
member
consulted by the
decision-maker:
Dispensations
granted in
respect of above
conflicts of
interest:
________________
1

Nothing in the Regulations authorises or requires documents relating to that decision to be disclosed to
the public, or made available for public inspection where the documents contain confidential information
or where the disclosure of the documents would give rise to the disclosure of exempt information or the
advice of a political adviser or assistant. (Regulations 20(3)(a) and (b))
2 “Exempt information” has the meaning given by section 100I of the Local Government Act 1972 (exempt
information and power to vary Schedule 12A) (Regulation 2)
3 “Confidential information” means information provided to the local authority by a government department
on terms
(however expressed) which forbid the disclosure of the information to the public; or information the
disclosure of which to the public is prohibited by or under any enactment or by the order of a court, and in
either case, a reference to the obligation of confidence is to be construed accordingly” (Regulation 2).

- 18 –
Last agreed by Council 23 April 2021

Page 76

Agenda Item 1e
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

PART 4a - COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES
Note: Meetings of the Council may be Annual, Ordinary, Special or Extraordinary as
set out below, and the rules apply according to the type of meeting.

1.

ANNUAL MEETING OF THE COUNCIL

1.1

Timing and business

1.1.1

In a year when there is an ordinary election of Councillors, the Annual Meeting
will take place within 21 days immediately following the date of retirement of
the outgoing Councillors. The Annual Meeting following an ordinary council
election shall consider the following business in the following order:
(i)

To elect a councillor to serve as Mayor of the borough for the ensuing
year.

(ii)

To approve the minutes of the last meeting (as appropriate);

(iii)

To receive any announcements from the newly-elected Mayor and/or
Chief Executive;

(iv)

To receive a report from the Chief Executive on the outcome of the
Election, the membership and size of political groups, the Councillors
appointed by their groups as the party leaders, deputy leaders and
party whips, and the schedule of Motions to Council for the civic year;

(v)

To elect a councillor to serve as Leader of the Council for a term of
four years;

(vi)

To receive a report (either verbal or written) from the newly elected
Leader setting out:
(a)

the appointment of a Deputy Leader;

(b)

the appointment of between 2 and 9 Councillors as members of
the Cabinet;

(c)

the allocation of Cabinet Portfolios;

Page 1
PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 77

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

(d)

the delegation of executive powers as permitted by Part 3 of the
Council’s Constitution;

(vii)

To receive a report from the Leader on his/her priorities for the
forthcoming year.

(viii)

To appoint at least one Overview & Scrutiny Committee, as required
by the Local Government Act 2000.

(ix)

To appoint such other committees as the Council considers
appropriate to discharge the authority’s functions that are neither
reserved exclusively to the Full Council nor are Executive functions
(as set out in Part 3 of this Constitution) and appoint the membership
of those committees in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 1.3.

(x)

To agree a Substitute Member Scheme in accordance with paragraph
5 of these Procedure Rules for inclusion in the Committee Procedure
Rules (Part 4b).;

(xi)

To agree the Scheme Of Delegation or such part of it as the
Constitution determines it is for the Council to agree (as set out in Part
3 of this Constitution);

(xii)

To finalise the programme of Ordinary Meetings of the Council for the
year, incorporating any consequential amendments arising from
Council’s decision on the establishment of committees for the civic
year;

(xiii)

To appoint representatives to serve on other bodies/ organisations
outside of the authority;

(xiv)
1.1.2

To consider any business set out in the Notice convening the meeting.

In years without ordinary elections, the business conducted at the Annual
Council Meeting will be as set out in paragraph 1.1.1 above except:

Page 2
PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 78

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

(a)

that the report at paragraph (iv) will only be necessary if there has
been a change in membership or office-holder of any party not
previously reported to Council;

(b)

the election of a Leader of the Council (paragraph (v)) will only be
necessary if the post is vacant at that time; and

(c)

the following shall be substituted for sub-paragraph (vi):
(vi)

To receive a report from the Leader of the Council as to
the Executive’s priorities and the membership of the
Cabinet, portfolio responsibilities and delegated powers
for the ensuing year.

1.1.3

Councillors’ Question Time and Public Speaking Rights will not take place in
meetings convened under this section.

1.2

Statements at the Annual Council Meeting

1.2.1

The normal rules of debate shall apply to business conducted at the Annual
Council meeting with the following exceptions:
Agenda item (i)
(i)

The incoming Mayor may address the Council following his/her
election (5 minutes);

(ii)

The newly-elected Mayor may call for a vote of thanks for the outgoing
Mayor, followed by a speech by the outgoing Mayor (10 minutes);

Agenda item (vii)
(iii)

The Leader of the Council may speak on his/her priorities and issues
for the ensuing year;

(iv)

If a statement is made by the Leader of the Council, the Leaders of
other political groups then may also make statements.

1.3

Selection of Councillors on Committees and Outside Bodies

1.3.1

At the Annual Meeting, the Council meeting will:
Page 3

PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 79

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

(i)

decide which committees to establish for the municipal year;

(ii)

decide the size and terms of reference for those committees;

(iii)

decide the allocation of seats to political groups in accordance with
the political balance rules;

(iv)

receive nominations of Councillors to serve on each committee and
outside body;

(v)

appoint to those committees and outside bodies except where
appointment to those bodies has been delegated by the Council or is
exercisable only by the Executive; and

(vi)

as appropriate, appoint and review the appointment of Co-opted
Members to serve on committees and sub-committees.

2.

ORDINARY MEETINGS

2.1

Ordinary Meetings of the Council will take place in accordance with a
programme decided at the Council's Annual Meeting. Ordinary Meetings will
have an agenda similar to the example listed below:
(i)

elect a person to preside if the Mayor is not present;

(ii)

approve the minutes of the last meeting;

(iii)

receive any declarations of interest from Councillors;

(iv)

receive any announcements from the Mayor, Leader, members of the
Cabinet or the Chief Executive: announcements other than from the
Mayor shall be limited to 3 minutes;

(v)

receive public statements or petitions in accordance with paragraph
11 of these Procedure Rules;

(vi)

receive questions and answers in accordance with paragraph 12 of
these Procedure Rules;

(vii)

debate motions submitted under paragraph 13 of these Procedure
Rules;
Page 4

PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 80

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

(viii)

receive reports if any from Officers, the Executive, and / or the
Council's committees;

(ix)

agree annual work programme(s) for Overview and Scrutiny
Committee(s);

(x)

at the discretion of the Mayor, receive reports from Overview and
Scrutiny Committees;

(xi)

receive reports about and receive questions and answers on the
business of joint arrangements and external organisations;

(xii)

deal with any outstanding business from the last Council meeting;

(xiii)

consider any other business specified in the summons to the meeting;

(xiv)

at the second ordinary meeting of the civic year, if the Leader of the
Council requests (made to the Director of Governance and Law or
his/her nominee), to receive the Leader’s Autumn Statement on
annual progress on key issues and priorities, and a provisional update
to the Medium Term Financial Strategy. If an Autumn Statement is
made by the Leader of the Council, the leader of any other political
groups then may also make a statement, following which the Leader
of the Council may exercise a right of reply; and

(xv)

at the third ordinary meeting of the civic year, to approve a draft
programme of Ordinary Meetings of the Council for the year, to be
finalised at the next Annual Meeting.

3.

EXTRAORDINARY MEETINGS

3.1

Calling Extraordinary Meetings

3.1.1

Those listed below may request the Chief Executive to call Council meetings
in addition to Ordinary Meetings:
(i)

the Council by resolution;

(ii)

the Mayor;
Page 5

PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 81

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

(iii)

any 5 members of the Council if they have signed a requisition
presented to the Mayor and s/he refused to call a meeting or has
failed to call a meeting within 7 days of the presentation of the
requisition;

(iv)
3.1.2

the Monitoring Officer.

Except in respect of (i) above, those requesting an extraordinary meeting
must do so in writing, and must state the business to be conducted at the
extraordinary meeting.

The agenda for the extraordinary meeting shall

specify the business to be conducted.
3.1.3

Where an extraordinary meeting has been convened following requisition by
5 or more councillors, any two or more of those councillors may submit a
motion for debate relating to the business specified in the requisition.
Section 13 (Notices of Motion) of these Procedure Rules shall apply to
motions submitted for debate at an Extraordinary Meeting except that (a)
only one motion shall be accepted for the meeting, (b) notice of the motion
must be signed by at least two of those councillors requisitioning the meeting
and no other signatures shall be required, (c) notice of the motion must be
submitted to the Chief Executive at least two working days before the
meeting, and (d) the motion will not count for the purposes of Procedural
Rule 13.1 (rotation of party motions).

3.1.4

The agenda for an Extraordinary Meeting may include Appointments and
Urgent Business as permitted under the Local Government Act 1972, in
addition to the business specified in the requisition/ request for an
Extraordinary meeting.

3.1.5

The provisions for members of the public to ask questions and present
petitions under paragraph 11 of these Procedure Rules shall apply to
Extraordinary meetings, except that public speaking and petitions must relate
to the business on the agenda.

Page 6
PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 82

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

4.

SPECIAL MEETINGS

4.1

Special meetings of the Council are those meetings that are called for the
purpose of considering one or more specified issues (for example, the
setting of Council Tax).

4.2

Special meetings will generally consist of those items specified on points (i),
(ii), (iii), (iv), (v) (viii) and (xi) of the example agenda for ordinary meetings
contained in paragraph 2.1 of this Constitution.

4.3

The provisions for members of the public to ask questions and submit
petitions under paragraph 11 of these Procedure Rules shall apply to special
meetings, except that public speaking and petitions must relate to the
business on the agenda.

5.

APPOINTMENT OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS

5.1

The Council will agree at its Annual Meeting a Substitute Member Scheme
for inclusion in the Committee Procedure Rules.

6.

TIME AND PLACE OF MEETINGS

6.1

The time and place of meetings will be determined by the Proper Officer
(Chief Executive) and notified in the summons.

7.

NOTICE OF AND SUMMONS TO MEETINGS

7.1

The Proper Officer (Chief Executive) will give notice to the public of the time
and place of any meeting in accordance with the Access to Information
Rules. At least 5 clear days before a meeting, the Proper Officer (Chief
Executive) will send a summons to every Member of the Council. The
summons will give the date, time and place of each meeting and specify the
business to be transacted, and will be accompanied by such reports as are
available.

8.

MAYOR

Page 7
PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 83

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

8.1

The person presiding at the meeting may exercise any power or duty of the
Mayor.

9.

QUORUM

9.1

The quorum of a meeting shall be one-quarter of the membership eligible to
vote or the nearest whole number above one-quarter. During any meeting if
the Mayor counts the number of Members present and declares there is not
a quorum present and unless a quorum is restored within a period
considered reasonable by the Mayor, then the meeting will adjourn or be
brought to an end. Remaining business will be considered at a time and
date fixed by the Mayor. If s/he does not fix a date, the remaining business
will be considered at the next ordinary meeting.

10.

DURATION OF MEETING

10.1

Interruption of the meeting

10.1.1

If the business of the meeting has not been concluded within 3 hours
(including any period of adjournment), the Mayor must interrupt the meeting
and call for the vote immediately on the item under discussion. The vote will
then be taken in the usual way without any further discussion. All Procedure
Rules bar those relating to Disorderly Conduct and voting will be suspended.

10.2

Motions and recommendations not dealt with

10.2.1

If there are other motions or recommendations on the agenda that have not
been dealt with within the 3 hour time limit, they are deemed formally moved
and seconded (together with any amendments). No speeches will be allowed
on these items and the vote will be taken in the usual way.

10.3

Recorded vote (or Poll Vote)

10.3.1

If a recorded vote is called for during this process it will be taken immediately
using electronic voting where available.

10.4

Motions which may be moved
Page 8

PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 84

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

10.4.1

During the process set out in Rules 10.1-10.3 above, the only other motions
which may be moved are that a matter be withdrawn or that a matter be
delegated or referred to an appropriate body or individual for decision or
report.

10.5

Close of the meeting

10.5.1

When all motions and recommendations have been dealt with, the Mayor will
declare the meeting closed.

Page 9
PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 85

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

11.

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION AT COUNCIL MEETINGS

11.1

General

11.1.1

An item for Public Statements shall be included on the agenda for ordinary
meetings of the Full Council to enable members of the public who live, work
or study in the borough to make statements and present petitions at
Meetings of the Council. Public speaking will normally take place during the
Public Statements agenda item; however, the Mayor may, at his or her
discretion, invite the speaker to make a statement at any other part of the
meeting where there is a relevant item on the agenda.

11.1.2

Additionally, speakers from outside the borough may be invited to address
the Council on matters relevant to the borough, with the agreement of the
Mayor in consultation with the Group Whips.

11.1.3

Public Speaking Time will not take up more than 15 minutes in total of a
Council meeting. Each speaker will be limited to a 3 minute statement. The
arrangements set out in paragraphs 11.2 to 11.10 below shall apply in
respect of public statements.

11.1.4

In addition the Council will maintain a Petitions Scheme under which
petitions containing a minimum number of signatories as specified in the
scheme shall be debated at Full Council.

The procedures set out in

paragraph 11.11 below shall apply in such cases.

11.2

Order of statements

11.2.1

Statements will normally be made in the order in which notice was received.
except that the Mayor may reorder or group together related statements.

11.3

Notice of statements

11.3.1

A statement can only be made if a notice and the subject of the statement is
delivered to the Mayor no later than 12.00 noon on the working day before
the Council meeting. The notice must give the name and address of the
speaker and must specify the issue the statement will be about.
Page 10

PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 86

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

11.4

Number of statements

11.4.1

At any one meeting no person may submit more than one statement and no
more than one such statement may be made on behalf of a single
organisation.

11.5

Scope of statements

11.5.1

The Mayor, as Chair of the Council meeting may reject a statement or
request a speaker to stop speaking if the statement:
(i)

is not about a matter for which the local authority has a responsibility
or which affects the Borough;

(ii)

is defamatory, frivolous or offensive;

(iii)

is substantially the same matter which has been put at a meeting of
the Council in the past six months;

(iv)

requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information.

11.6

Record of statements

11.6.1

The fact a statement has been made will be recorded in the minutes of the
Council meeting.

11.7

Making the statement at the meeting

11.7.1

The Mayor will invite the speaker to make their statement. If a speaker who
has submitted a written statement is unable to be present, they may ask the
Mayor to make the statement on their behalf.

11.7.2

The Mayor may, at his or her discretion, make the statement on the
speaker's behalf and may indicate that a written reply will be given.

11.7.3

The Mayor may decide, in the absence of the speaker, that the statement will
not be dealt with.

11.8

Reference of statement to the Cabinet or a committee

Page 11
PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 87

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

11.8.1

No discussion will take place on any statement, but the Leader of the Council
or the relevant Portfolio-Holder or nominee may respond orally at the
meeting for a maximum of 3 minutes, or subsequently in writing to the
speaker. Any member may move that a matter raised by a statement be
referred to the Cabinet or the appropriate committee or sub-committee. Once
seconded, such a motion will be voted on without discussion.

11.9

Written answers

11.9.1

Any statement which cannot be dealt with during Public Speaking Time
because of lack of time will be dealt with by a written answer from the
appropriate Cabinet Portfolio Holder.

11.9.2

All Members shall receive a copy of the statement and the reply from the
Portfolio Holder.

11.10

Petitions and Deputations

11.10.1 Members of the public may present petitions (comprising 10 or more
signatures) at Council meetings or may ask to be received as a deputation.
Such presentations will be part of Public Speaking Time and subject to the
same rules of notice and arrangements as detailed in paragraphs 11.1 to
11.9.

11.11

Council Debates of Petitions under the Petitions Scheme

11.11.1 Under the Council’s Petition Scheme, the following arrangements will apply
where a petition is to be debated at a Council meeting:
11.11.2 A representative of the petition organisers may address the Council on the
topic concerned for 3 minutes.
11.11.3 The Leader of the Council and / or another executive member (nominated by
the Leader) will respond and move an appropriate motion for debate which
may propose either:
(i)

subject to (v), to give effect to the petition either in whole or in part;

(ii)

to not to take the action requested;
Page 12

PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 88

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

(iii)

to commission any further consideration or investigation of the matter,
e.g. reference to the relevant overview and scrutiny committee; and/or

(iv)

any other decision within its terms of reference in relation to the
subject matter of the petition;

(v)

Where the petition relates to a matter which must be decided by the
Executive, the Council may not give effect to the petition but may
make recommendations to the executive in respect of the matter,
including for it to give effect to the petition.

(vi)

Another executive member will second the motion at 11.11.3 (or any
other member nominated by the Leader).

11.11.4 The Rules of Debate at Rule 14 will apply to petition debates including that
speeches must relate directly to the subject matter of the petition, and time
limits.

11.12

Reporting on Proceedings by the Public

11.12.1 These are mandatory standing orders under The Local Authorities
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2012 and The Openness of Local Government Bodies
Regulations 2014.
11.12.2 Decision-making bodies are required to permit any person attending a
meeting of such a body to report on the proceedings.
11.12.3 For the purposes of this rule, report on proceedings is defined as:
(i)

filming, photographing or making an audio recording of proceedings at
a meeting;

(ii)

using any other means for enabling persons not present to see or
hear proceedings at a meeting as it takes place or later; and

(iii)

reporting or providing commentary on proceedings at a meeting, orally
or in writing, so that the report or commentary is available as the
meeting takes place or later to persons not present.
Page 13

PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 89

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

11.12.4 Any person who attends a meeting for the purpose of reporting on the
meeting may use any communication method, including the internet, to
publish, post or otherwise share the results of that person’s reporting
activities. Publication and dissemination may take place at the time of the
meeting or occur after the meeting.
11.12.5 The public must be excluded from a meeting during an item of business
whenever—
(i)

it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the
nature of the proceedings, that if members of the public were present
during that item, confidential information would be disclosed to them in
breach of the obligation of confidence;

(ii)

the decision-making body concerned passes a resolution to exclude
the public during that item where it is likely, in view of the nature of the
item of business, that if members of the public were present during
that item, exempt information would be disclosed to them; or

(iii)

a lawful power is used to exclude a member or members of the public
in order to maintain orderly conduct or prevent misbehaviour at a
meeting.

11.12.6 A resolution under Rule 11.12.5(ii) must:
(i)

Identify the proceedings, or the part of the proceedings to which it
applies, and

(ii)

state, by reference to the descriptions in Schedule 12A of the 1972
Act (access to information: exempt information), the description of
exempt information giving rise to the exclusion of the public.

11.12.7 The public may only be excluded under Rule 11.12.5(i) or (ii) for the part or
parts of the meeting during which it is likely that confidential information or
exempt information would be disclosed.
11.12.8 Without prejudice to any power of exclusion to suppress or prevent
disorderly conduct or other misbehaviour at a meeting, the decision-making
Page 14
PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 90

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

body is not to have the power to exclude members of the public from a
meeting while it is open to the public.
11.12.9 Where any person is excluded from a meeting under rules 11.12.5-11.12.8, a
decision making body may also prevent any person from reporting
proceedings using methods:
(i)

which can be used without that person’s presence at the meeting, and

(ii)

which enable persons not present at the meeting to see or hear the
proceedings at the meeting as it takes place or later.

11.12.10 While the meeting is open to the public, any person attending the meeting for
the purpose of reporting the proceedings is, so far as practicable, to be
afforded reasonable facilities for taking their report.
11.12.11 The public part of the meeting may be webcast.

11.13

Participation by the Youth Independent Advisory Group, Waltham
Forest Young Advisors and Children in Care Council

11.13.1 The Youth Independent Advisory Group (YIAG), Waltham Forest Young
Advisors (YA) and/or Children in Care Council (CICC) may nominate a
spokesperson or spokespeople to address Council on issues relevant to their
work. Statements must be made in accordance with Rules 11.1-11.9, but will
be in addition to the overall Public Speaking Time limit set out in Rule 11.1,
up to a maximum of 15 further minutes.

12.

COUNCILLORS’ QUESTIONS

12.1.1

Councillors may submit and / or ask questions of Executive Members about
matters relevant to their portfolio and / or about their annual report at an
ordinary Council meeting in accordance with these rules.

12.1.2

At each Ordinary Council Meeting, at least one Member of the Executive and
one Junior Cabinet Member may present a written annual report on work
relating to their respective portfolios and may speak to up to 3 minutes on
their report.
Page 15

PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 91

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

12.1.3

A councillor may ask questions of an Executive or Junior Executive Member
on the content of their report. Questions may be asked in writing for a written
reply or orally for an oral reply.

12.1.4

The Leader will determine the order in which Executive Members will present
their annual reports at ordinary council meetings over the municipal year.

12.1.5

Executive Members’ reports must be submitted to the Chief Executive no
later than noon eight calendar days prior to the meeting for publication
with the agenda, unless the Mayor agrees there is good reason for a delay.

12.1.6

No more than 45 minutes in total will be taken up with Councillors’ questions.
The Mayor will determine, having regard to notices received of questions to
be asked and following consultation with the party whips as appropriate, the
allocation of time between written and oral questions and between party
groups. If it appears likely that the number of questions will exceed the time
allocation, the Mayor will endeavour to divide the available time
proportionately between the party groups.

12.2

Written Questions

12.2.1

Written questions to Executive Members and / or on annual reports of the
Executive at the relevant meeting must be submitted to the Chief Executive
by 5.30 pm on the third working day prior to the meeting.

Written

questions together with written replies will be circulated with the Order Paper.
12.2.2

At the Council meeting, written questions and replies will be taken as read.

12.2.3

The councillor who asked the question may ask one supplementary question
for response at the meeting.

12.2.4

Where the information for a reply cannot be obtained in time for the meeting
the councillor responsible for answering a written question may reply in
writing after the meeting, in which case the response will be copied to all
councillors.

Page 16
PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 92

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

12.2.5

A copy of the written questions and the written replies given shall be
appended to the minutes of the meeting.

12.3

Oral Questions

12.3.1

Councillors may indicate to the Mayor at the meeting if they wish to ask an
oral question. No notice of the question nor the topic will be required, but the
question must be about a matter for which the Council has a responsibility or
which affects the borough. An oral question may not be asked on the same
topic as a written question by the councillor who submitted that written
question.

12.3.2

After the question has been put, the Mayor will call on an appropriate
councillor to respond.

The original questioner may then ask a

supplementary question on the matter concerned for a further oral reply.
12.3.3

Other oral questions (if any) will then be taken until there are no further
questions or all the time allocated for questions has been taken up.

12.3.4

A summary indicating the matters raised in the oral questions, the councillor
asking each question and the Councillor replying shall be recorded in the
minutes of the meeting.

13.

NOTICES OF MOTIONS

13.1

There shall be one Notice of Motion at any ordinary meeting of the Council.
Entitlement to submit a Notice of Motion will be rotated among political
groups, and the schedule of Motions will be agreed at the Annual Council
Meeting.

13.2

Notice

13.2.1

Notice of every motion, other than a motion under Rule 14 (motions which
may be moved without notice), must be in writing and signed by at least 2
councillors, at least one of whom must be the Leader, Deputy Leader or
party whip of the relevant political group (signifying the name of mover and
seconder of the Motion who need not be the signatories) and be delivered to
Page 17

PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 93

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

the Proper Officer (Chief Executive) at least 8 working days before the day of
the Council meeting. It shall be dated, numbered in the order in which it is
received and entered in a book which shall be open to the inspection of
every councillor.

13.3

Motion set out in agenda

13.3.1

If a motion set out in the summons is not moved by the Councillor who gave
notice or by another Councillor acting on their behalf, it shall, unless
postponed by consent of the Council, be treated as withdrawn and shall not
be moved without fresh notice.

13.3.2

Written amendments to the motion set out in the agenda must be submitted
to Democratic Services no later than 12 noon one calendar day before
the meeting for publication with the Order Paper, and must be made in
accordance with Rule 15.6.

13.4

Scope

13.4.1

Motions must be about matters for which the Council has statutory
responsibility and that affect the community. No motion of which notice has
been given under Rules 13.1 to 13.3, shall be considered at the Annual
Meeting of the Council.

13.4.2

It shall be the duty of the Chief Executive, after consultation with the Mayor,
to refuse to accept any motion which s/he deems to be illegal, scurrilous,
improper or out of order and it shall be the duty of the Chief Executive at the
direction of the Mayor to exclude all quotations, extracts or other matters
which would not form a necessary part of the resolution should the motion be
adopted.

13.5

Motions Affecting Persons Employed by the Council

13.5.1

If any matter arises at a meeting to which the Local Government Act 1972
applies by virtue of Section 100 (A) (2) as to the appointment, promotion,
dismissal, salary, superannuation, or conditions of service or as to the
conduct of any person employed by the Council, such matter shall not be the
Page 18

PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 94

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

subject of discussion until the Council or relevant Committee as the case
may be, has decided whether or not the power to exclude the public under
Section 100 (A) (2) of the Local Government Act 1972 shall be exercised.

13.6

Time

13.6.1

Discussion of any motion of which notice has been given under Rule 13.1 to
13.5 shall not exceed 45 minutes in duration.

13.7

Reporting back on motions agreed at a previous meeting

13.7.1

As part of the Announcements agenda item, the Leader, relevant Cabinet
member or the Chief Executive will report back on motions agreed at a
previous meeting.

14.

MOTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE

14.1

The following motions may be moved without notice:
(i)

to appoint a chair of the meeting at which the motion is moved;

(ii)

in relation to the accuracy of the minutes;

(iii)

to change the order of business in the agenda;

(iv)

to refer something to an appropriate body or individual;

(v)

to appoint a committee or member arising from an item on the
summons for the meeting;

(vi)

to receive reports or adoption of recommendations of committees or
officers and any resolutions following from them;

(vii)

to withdraw a motion;

(viii)

to amend a motion;

(ix)

to proceed to the next business;

(x)

that the question be now put;

(xi)

to adjourn a debate;

Page 19
PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 95

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

(xii)

to adjourn a meeting;

(xiii)

to suspend a particular Council Procedure Rule in accordance with
Rule 24.1;

(xiv)

to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to
Information Rules;

(xv)

to not hear further a Councillor named under Rule 22.3 or to exclude
them from the meeting under Rule 22.4;

(xvi)

to give the consent of the Council where its consent is required by this
Constitution;

(xvii) to resolve itself into committee.

15.

RULES OF DEBATE

15.1

No speeches until motion seconded

15.1.1

No speeches may be made after a councillor has moved a proposal and
explained the purpose of it until the motion has been seconded.

15.2

Right to require motion in writing

15.2.1

Unless notice of the motion has already been given, the Mayor may require it
to be written down and handed to him/her before it is discussed.

15.3

Seconder's speech

15.3.1

When seconding a motion or amendment, a Councillor may reserve their
speech until later in the debate.

15.4

Content and length of speeches

15.4.1

Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or to a personal
explanation or point of order. No speech may exceed three minutes except
that of the proposer of a motion and the seconder of a motion, who may
speak for five minutes.

Page 20
PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 96

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

15.4.2

This rule does not apply to the Council Leader in moving the Report
recommending the Council Tax and the related speeches of the leader of
any other political group, or where a different (or no) time restriction is
specified in the Procedure Rules.

15.4.3

If the Leader elects to make an Autumn Statement as set out in 2(xiv) above,
there is no time limit on the Leader’s speech and the leader of any other
political group may speak in response for 10 minutes. There will be no
debate on the Statement and the Leader has a right of reply of 3 minutes.

15.5

When a Councillor may speak again

15.5.1

A Councillor who has spoken on a motion may not speak again whilst it is
the subject of debate, except:
(i)

to speak once on an amendment moved by another Councillor;

(ii)

to move a further amendment if the motion has been amended since
s/he last spoke;

(iii)

if her/his first speech was on an amendment moved by another
Councillor, to speak on the main issue (whether or not the amendment
on which s/he spoke was carried);

(iv)

in exercise of a right of reply;

(v)

on a point of order;

(vi)

by way of personal explanation;

(vii)

to ask a question of the mover of the motion or amendment if in the
opinion of the Mayor the question will facilitate the debate.

15.6

Amendments to motions

15.6.1

An amendment to a motion must be relevant to the motion and will either be:
(i)

to refer the matter to an appropriate body or individual for
consideration or reconsideration;

(ii)

to leave out words;
Page 21

PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 97

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

(iii)

to leave out words and insert or add others;

(iv)

to insert or add words.

as long as the effect of (ii) to (iv) is not to negate the motion.
15.6.2

Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one time. No
further amendment may be moved until the amendment under discussion
has been disposed of.

15.6.3

As an exception to paragraph 15.6.2 above, where the Mayor considers that
it will assist the conduct of the debate and business of the meeting, s/he may
rule that more than one amendment may be moved and discussed at any
one time. In making such a ruling, the Mayor will seek the advice of the Chief
Executive and/or the Monitoring Officer.

15.6.4

If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the original motion may
be moved.

15.6.5

If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes the place of the
original motion. This becomes the substantive motion to which any further
amendments are moved.

15.6.6

After an amendment has been carried, the Mayor may read out or require a
copy of the amended motion to be circulated before accepting any further
amendments, or if there are none, put the amended motion to the vote.

15.7

Council Budget and Council Tax

15.7.1

Amendments to any budget proposals recommended or moved by the
Executive relating to the level of Council Tax and/or the Council budget for
the following year (other than minor amendments) may only be moved and
seconded if notice is given to the Chief Executive as indicated below.

15.7.2

Notice must be given by 5.30 pm on the third working day before the Council
meeting,

or

the

day

following

publication

recommendations, whichever is the later.

Page 22
PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 98

of

the

Executive’s

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

15.7.3

Similarly, the Leader of the Council (or mover of the Executive’s
recommendations), may not alter the Executive’s recommendations at or
prior to the Council meeting, unless 3 working days’ notice has been given of
the proposed alteration, except for minor alterations.

15.7.4

Minor amendments/alterations which do not require notification under this
Procedure Rule are ones which:
(a)

would not alter the Executive’s recommendation as to the level of
Council tax; or

(b)

would not constitute a key decision, as defined in Part 5 of the
Constitution, if it were to be considered outside the budget
approval process, or

(c)

the Director of Finance advises that the amendment would not
cause an unlawful budget to be set.

15.7.5

Where notice of a proposed amendment or alteration is given under
paragraphs 15.7.2 or 15.7.3, the officers will advise within one working day
on its acceptability; if the proposed amendment/ alteration is advised not to
be permissible for legal reasons the councillors submitting the proposed
amendment will be permitted a further one working day to revise and resubmit their amendment/ alteration.

15.7.6

Changes made by/at a Full Council meeting to the council budget and
council tax may be subject to review subsequently, if the Monitoring Officer
considers that there are legal, financial or other relevant implications which
have not been sufficiently considered.

15.7.7

All votes on the setting of the Council Budget and Council Tax (including any
amendments, alterations or “alternative budgets”) will be recorded as set out
in paragraph 18.6.

15.8

Alteration of motion

Page 23
PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 99

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

15.8.1

A motion on the agenda of which notice has been given notice, may be
altered by the mover of the motion with the consent of the meeting. The
meeting's consent will be signified without discussion and must be given
prior to the motion (with the proposed alterations) being moved and
seconded.

15.8.2

A Councillor may alter a motion which s/he has moved without notice with
the consent of both the meeting and the seconder. The meeting's consent
will be signified without discussion.

15.8.3

Only alterations which could be made as an amendment may be made.

15.9

Withdrawal of motion

15.9.1

A Councillor may withdraw a motion which s/he has moved with the consent
of both the meeting and the seconder.

The meeting's consent will be

signified without discussion. No Councillor may speak on the motion after the
mover has asked permission to withdraw it unless permission is refused.

15.10

Right of reply

15.10.1 The mover of a motion has a right to reply at the end of the debate on the
motion, immediately before it is put to the vote.
15.10.2 If an amendment is moved, the mover of the original motion has the right of
reply at the close of the debate on the amendment, but may not otherwise
speak on it.
15.10.3 The mover of the amendment has no right of reply to the debate on her/his
amendment.

15.11

Motions which may be moved during debate

15.11.1 When a motion is under debate, no other motion may be moved except the
following procedural motions:
(i)

to withdraw a motion;

(ii)

to amend a motion;
Page 24

PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 100

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

(iii)

to proceed to the next business;

(iv)

that the question be now put;

(v)

to adjourn a debate;

(vi)

to adjourn a meeting;

(vii)

to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to
Information Rules;

(viii)

to not hear further a Councillor named under Rule 22.3 or to exclude
them from the meeting under Rule 22.4

15.12

Closure motions

15.12.1 A Councillor may move, without comment, the following motions at the end of
a speech of another member:
(i)

to proceed to the next business;

(ii)

that the question be now put;

(iii)

to adjourn a debate; and/or

(iv)

to adjourn a meeting.

15.12.2 If a motion to proceed to next business is moved and seconded and the
Mayor thinks the item has been sufficiently discussed, s/he will put the
procedural motion to the vote. If the procedural motion is carried the Mayor
will give the mover of the original motion a right of reply, and then move to
next business.
15.12.3 If a motion that the question be now put is moved and seconded and the
Mayor thinks the item has been sufficiently discussed, s/he will put the
procedural motion to the vote. If it is passed s/he will give the mover of the
original motion a right of reply before putting her/his motion to the vote.
15.12.4 If a motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting is moved and
seconded and the Mayor thinks the item has not been sufficiently discussed
and cannot reasonably be sufficiently discussed on that occasion, s/he will
Page 25
PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 101

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

put the procedural motion to the vote. If the procedural motion is carried the
debate or meeting as appropriate shall be adjourned without giving the
mover of the original motion the right of reply.

15.13

Point of order

15.13.1 A Councillor may raise a point of order at any time. The Mayor will hear them
immediately. A point of order may only relate to an alleged breach of these
Council Rules of Procedure or the law. The Councillor must indicate the
Rule or law and the way in which s/he considers it has been broken. The
ruling of the Mayor on the matter will be final.

15.14

Personal explanation

15.14.1 A Councillor may make a personal explanation at any time. A personal
explanation may only relate to some material part of an earlier speech by the
Councillor which may appear to have been misunderstood in the present
debate. The Mayor’s ruling on the admissibility of a personal explanation will
be final.

16.

STATE OF THE BOROUGH DEBATE

16.1

Calling of Debate

16.1.1

The Leader may call a State of the Borough Debate annually on a date and
in a form to be agreed with the Mayor.

16.1.2

The Leader may choose to hold workshops and other events prior to/during
the State of Borough Debate.

16.2

Results of the Debate

16.2.1

A note or report of the Debate will be:
(i)

disseminated as appropriate within the community and to agencies
and organisations in the area;

(ii)

published on the Council’s website;

Page 26
PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 102

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

(iii)

considered by the Leader in proposing the Budget and Policy
Framework to the Council for the coming year.

17.

PREVIOUS DECISIONS AND MOTIONS

17.1

Motion to rescind a previous decision

17.1.1

A motion to rescind a decision made at a meeting of Council within the past
6 months may not be moved unless the notice of motion is signed either by
the Leader of the Council or by at least 5 Councillors (including the
councillors required to be signatories under Procedure rule 13.2.1).

17.2

Motion similar to one previously rejected

17.2.1

A motion or amendment in similar terms to one that has been rejected at a
meeting of Council in the past 6 months may not be moved unless the notice
of motion or amendment is signed either by the Leader of the Council or by
at least five Councillors (including the councillors required to be signatories
under Procedure rule 13.2.1).

18.

VOTING

18.1

Majority

18.1.1

Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, any matter will be decided by a
simple majority of those Councillors voting and present in the room at the
time the question was put

18.1.2

.Whether as provided below, a vote is taken by affirmation, show of hands,
electronically or roll-call, the Mayor will call for those in favour, those against
and any abstentions.

18.2

The Mayor's casting vote

18.2.1

If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the Mayor will have a
second or casting vote. There will be no restriction on how the Mayor
chooses to exercise a casting vote.

18.3

Show of hands
Page 27

PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 103

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

18.3.1

Unless a recorded vote (Poll vote) is demanded under Rule 18.4 or required
under Rule 18.6, the Mayor will take the vote by show of hands, or if there is
no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting.

18.4

Recorded vote (Poll vote)

18.4.1

If five Councillors present at the meeting demand it, the names for and
against the motion or amendment or abstaining from voting will be recorded
electronically where the facilities exist, or taken down in writing, and entered
into the minutes. A demand for a recorded vote will override a demand for a
vote by show of hands.

18.5

Right to require individual vote to be recorded

18.5.1

This is a mandatory standing order under the Local Authorities (Standing
Orders) Regulations 1993/222 Schedule 2.

18.5.2

Where any Councillor requests it immediately after the vote is taken, their
vote will be so recorded in the minutes to show whether they voted for or
against the motion or abstained from voting.

18.6

Recorded vote (Poll vote) on Council Budget and Council Tax

18.6.1

This is a mandatory standing order under The Local Authorities (Standing
Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2014.

18.6.2

Immediately after any vote is taken at a budget decision meeting of an
authority there will be recorded in the minutes the names of the persons who
cast a vote for or against the decision or who abstained from voting. This
includes any decision relating to the making of the calculation of the precept
including alterations and amendments.

18.7

Voting on appointments

18.7.1

If there are more than 2 Members or other persons nominated for any
position to be filled and there is not a majority of votes in favour of one
member / person, then the name of the Member / person with the least

Page 28
PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 104

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

number of votes will be removed from the list and a new vote taken. The
process will continue until there is a majority of votes for one person.
18.7.2

Where there are 2 or more appointments to be made to a body and more
nominations than there are places to be filled, a vote will be taken on each
vacancy individually following the above process.

19.

MINUTES

19.1

Signing the minutes

19.1.1

The Mayor will sign the minutes of the proceedings at the next suitable
meeting. The Mayor will move that the minutes of the previous meeting be
signed as a correct record. The minutes may be challenged only as to their
accuracy before they are signed.

20.

RECORD OF ATTENDANCE

20.1

A record of all Councillors present during the whole or part of a meeting will
be included in the minutes of the meeting.

21.

EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC

21.1

Members of the public and press may only be excluded either in accordance
with the Access to Information Rules in Part 8 of this Constitution or Rule 23
(Disturbance by Public).

22.

COUNCILLORS' CONDUCT

22.1

A Councillor shall not speak unless called by the Mayor. When speaking a
Councillor should normally stand and must address the meeting through the
Mayor. Other Councillors must remain seated and orderly whilst a Councillor
is speaking except to indicate if they wish to make a point of order or a point
of personal explanation or, following another councillor’s speech, to move a
procedural motion.

22.2

Mayor standing

Page 29
PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 105

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

22.2.1

When the Mayor stands during a debate, any Councillor speaking at the time
must stop and sit down. The meeting must be silent.

22.3

Councillor not to be heard further

22.3.1

If a Councillor persistently disregards the ruling of the Mayor by behaving
improperly or offensively or deliberately obstructs business, the Mayor may
move that the Councillor be not heard further. If seconded, the motion will be
voted on without discussion.

22.4

Councillor to leave the meeting

22.4.1

If the Councillor continues to behave improperly after such a motion is
carried, the Mayor may move that either the Councillor leaves the meeting or
that the meeting is adjourned for a specified period. If seconded, the motion
will be voted on without discussion.

22.5

General disturbance

22.5.1

If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, the
Mayor may adjourn the meeting for as long as s/he thinks necessary.

23.

DISTURBANCE BY PUBLIC

23.1

Removal of member of the public

23.1.1

If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Mayor will warn the
person concerned. If they continue to interrupt, the Mayor will order their
removal from the meeting room.

23.2

Clearance of part of meeting room

23.2.1

If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the
public, the Mayor may call for that part to be cleared.

24.

SUSPENSION AND AMENDMENT OF COUNCIL PROCEDURE
RULES

24.1

Suspension
Page 30

PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 106

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

24.1.1

All of these Council Rules of Procedure except Rules 18.5, 18.6 relating to
recorded voting, and 19.1 relating to signing the minutes may be suspended
by motion supported by a simple majority of those present. Suspension can
only be for the duration of the meeting.

24.2

Procedure to suspend (Article 16.1.2 of Part 1 of the Constitution)

24.2.1

A motion to suspend any rules will not be moved without notice unless at
least one half of the whole number of Councillors are present. The extent
and duration of suspension will be proportionate to the result to be achieved,
taking account of the purposes of the Constitution set out in Article 1 and
reproduced below:
(Article 1.2.1) The purpose of the Constitution is to:


enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the community in
partnership with citizens, businesses and other organisations;



support the active involvement of citizens in the process of local
authority decision-making;



help Councillors represent their constituents more effectively;



enable decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively;



create a powerful and effective means of holding decision-makers to
public account;



ensure that no one will review or scrutinise a decision in which they
were directly involved;



ensure that those responsible for decision making are clearly
identifiable to local people and that they explain the reasons for
decisions;



provide a means of improving the delivery of services to the
community.

24.3

Amendment

Page 31
PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 107

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4a Council Procedure Rules

24.3.1

Any motion to add to, vary or revoke these Council Rules of Procedure will,
when proposed and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the
next Ordinary Meeting of the Council.

25.

APPLICATION TO THE EXECUTIVE & COMMITTEES

25.1

All of the above rules apply to meetings of full Council.

25.2

None of the above rules apply to executive meetings (There are separate
Procedure rules for Executive meetings, contained in Part 5 of the Council’s
Constitution).

25.3

Rules relating to procedure at committee meetings are contained in Part 4b
of the Constitution.

26.

NOTIFICATION OF CANCELLATION OF MEETING

26.1

The Proper Officer (Chief Executive) after consultation with the Mayor may
issue, owing to exceptional circumstances, a Public Notice of Cancellation of
Meeting. The Notice must state reasons for cancellation.

Page 32
PART 4b Council Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 108

Agenda Item 1f
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules

PART 4b - COMMITTEE PROCEDURE RULES
1.

ORDINARY MEETINGS

1.1

Meetings of committees of the Council will take place in accordance with a
programme decided at the Council's Annual Meeting. Meetings will have an
agenda similar to the example listed below:
(i)

elect a person to preside if the Chair or Vice-Chair are not present;

(ii)

approve the minutes of the last meeting;

(iii)

receive any declarations of interest from Councillors;

(iv)

receive public statements or petitions in accordance with paragraph 9
of these Procedure Rules;

(v)

receive references from Council, the Executive or other committees or
boards;

(vi)

receive reports if any from Officers, the Executive, and / or the
Council's committees;

(vii)

deal with any outstanding business from the last meeting;

(viii)

consider any other business specified in the summons to the meeting;
or any supplementary items that the Chair considers urgent. (No other
business as defined here (sometimes known as “AOB”) may be
taken).

2.

EXTRAORDINARY MEETINGS

2.1

Calling Extraordinary Meetings

2.1.1

Those listed below may request the Chief Executive to call a committee
meeting in addition to Ordinary Meetings:
(i)

the Council by resolution;

(ii)

the Monitoring Officer;

Page 1
PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules
Agreed April 2019

Page 109

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules

2.1.2

(iii)

the Chair of the committee;

(iv)

the relevant Strategic Director.

Except in respect of (i) and (ii) above, those requesting an extraordinary
meeting must do so in writing, and must state the business to be conducted
at the extraordinary meeting. The agenda for the extraordinary meeting shall
specify the business to be conducted.

2.1.3

The provisions for members of the public to ask questions and present
petitions under paragraph 9 of these Procedure Rules shall apply to
Extraordinary meetings, except that public speaking and petitions must relate
to the business on the agenda.

3.

SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS

3.1

The Council will agree at its Annual Meeting a Substitute Member Scheme,
as set out below.

3.2

Powers and duties

3.2.1

Substitute Members will have all the powers and duties of any ordinary
Member of the committee but will not be able to exercise any special powers
or duties exercisable by the person they are substituting or replacing.

3.2.2

Where neither the Chair nor Vice-Chair are present but are substituted, the
meeting will elect a person to preside from those present entitled to vote.

3.2.3

A member of the Executive or a Junior Cabinet Member may not be a
substitute Member on a Scrutiny Committee or the Audit and Governance
Committee.

3.3

Substitution

3.3.1

Substitute Members may attend meetings in that capacity only:
(i)

to take the place of the ordinary Member for whom they are the
designated substitute or to cover a vacancy on the Committee;

Page 2
PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules
Agreed April 2019

Page 110

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules

(ii)

where the ordinary Member will be absent for the whole of the
meeting;

(iii)

after the Monitoring Officer (or his/her nominee) has been notified in
writing, which may be by text, by the Member who is to be substituted,
or by the relevant party leader or whip, in advance of the meeting of
the intended substitution;

(iv)

where they have received the appropriate training if that is a
requirement for ordinary Members of the Committee.

4.

TIME AND PLACE OF MEETINGS

4.1

The time and place of meetings will be determined by the Proper Officer
(Chief Executive) and notified in the summons.

5.

NOTICE OF AND SUMMONS TO MEETINGS

5.1

The Proper Officer (Chief Executive) will give notice to the public of the time
and place of any meeting in accordance with the Access to Information
Rules. At least 5 clear working days before a meeting, the Proper Officer
(Chief Executive) will send a summons to every Member of the Committee.
The summons will give the date, time and place of each meeting and specify
the business to be transacted, and will be accompanied by such reports as
are available.

5.2

The agenda, reports and minutes of the previous meeting will be published
on the Council’s website in accordance with the Access to Information Rules,
and made available at the Council’s main offices via the Democratic Services
team (democraticservices@walthamforest.gov.uk )

6.

CHAIRS OF MEETINGS

6.1

The person presiding at the meeting in the absence of the Chair may
exercise any power or duty of the appointed Chair. Where the Chair is
absent, the Vice-Chair if present must preside.

Page 3
PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules
Agreed April 2019

Page 111

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules

7.

QUORUM

7.1

The quorum of a committee meeting shall be one half of the membership
eligible to vote or the nearest whole number above one half, with a minimum
of three.

7.2

If there is no quorum at the scheduled start of the meeting, 15 minutes may
elapse to establish the whereabouts of any absent Members or to arrange
the appointment of substitutes. If after 15 minutes, no quorum is present or
likely to be present within a reasonable time, the Chief Executive’s
representative may declare the meeting adjourned to a new date or sine die.

7.3

During any meeting if the Chair or Democratic Services Officer counts the
number of members present and declares there is not a quorum present and
unless a quorum is restored within a period considered reasonable by the
Chair, then the meeting will adjourn or be brought to an end. Remaining
business will be considered at the next available meeting.

8.

DURATION OF MEETING

8.1

Interruption of the meeting

8.1.1

If the business of the meeting has not been concluded within 3 hours
(including any period of adjournment), the Chair must interrupt the meeting
and call for a conclusion of the item under discussion. Any vote will then be
taken in the usual way without any further discussion. All Procedure Rules
bar those relating to Disorderly Conduct and voting will be suspended.

8.2

Motions and recommendations not dealt with

8.2.1

If there are other motions or recommendations on the agenda that have not
been dealt with within the 3 hour time limit, they are deemed formally moved
and seconded (together with any amendments). No speeches or questions
will be allowed on these items and the vote will be taken in the usual way.

8.3

Recorded vote (or Poll Vote)

Page 4
PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules
Agreed April 2019

Page 112

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules

8.3.1

If a recorded vote is called for during this process it will be taken immediately
using electronic voting where available.

8.4

Motions which may be moved

8.4.1

During the process set out in Rules 8.1-8.3 above, the only other motions
which may be moved are that a matter be withdrawn or that a matter be
delegated or referred to an appropriate body or individual for decision or
report.

8.5

Close of the meeting

8.5.1

When all motions and recommendations have been dealt with, the Chair will
declare the meeting closed.

9.

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION AT COMMMITTEE MEETINGS

9.1

General

9.1.1

While committee meetings take place in public, they are not public meetings.
Therefore an item for Public Participation will be included on the agenda for
meetings of Overview and Scrutiny Committees to enable members of the
public to make statements and present petitions at Meetings of the Council.
Public speaking will normally take place during the Public Statements
agenda item; however, the Chair may, at his or her discretion, invite the
speaker to make a statement at any other part of the meeting where there is
a relevant item on the agenda.

9.1.2

Residents and people who live or study in Waltham Forest may request to
speak. The request should be submitted to Democratic Services no later
than noon the day before the meeting. The speaker must give their name
and address or location, and specify the issue the statement will be about.
This may be done in writing, in person or on the telephone.

9.1.3

Additionally, speakers from outside the borough may be invited to address
the Committee on matters relevant to the Committee’s work, with the
agreement of the Chair.
Page 5

PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules
Agreed April 2019

Page 113

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules

9.1.4

Public Speaking Time will not take up more than 15 minutes in total of a
Committee meeting. Each speaker may be limited to a 3 minute statement.
The arrangements set out in paragraphs 9.2 to 9.7 below shall apply in
respect of public statements.

9.1.5

An item for Public Participation will be not included on the agenda for
meetings of other Committees of the Council. However, the Chair may, at
his or her discretion, allow a member of the public or other interested party to
make a statement at any other part of the meeting where there is a relevant
item on the agenda.

9.1.6

Separate rules apply for the Planning Committee and Licensing SubCommittees.

9.2

Order of statements

9.2.1

Statements may be grouped at the discretion of the Chair.

9.3

Notice of statements

9.3.1

A statement can only be made if a notice and the subject of the statement is
delivered to Democratic Services no later than 12.00 noon on the working
day before the Council meeting.

9.4

Number of statements

9.4.1

At any one meeting no person may submit more than one statement and no
more than one such statement may be made on behalf of a single
organisation.

9.5

Scope of statements

9.5.1

The Chair may reject a statement or request a speaker to stop speaking if
the statement:
(i)

is not about a matter for which the local authority has a responsibility
or which affects the Borough;

(ii)

is defamatory, frivolous or offensive;
Page 6

PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules
Agreed April 2019

Page 114

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules

(iii)

is substantially the same matter which has been put at a meeting in
the past six months;

(iv)

requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information; relates to
an individual case or is contrary to data protection regulations.

9.6

Response to statements

9.6.1

The Chair may invite an officer, Cabinet Member or other relevant attendee
to respond to statements orally or in writing. A copy of any written response
will be circulated to the committee for information

9.7

Record of statements

9.7.1

The fact a statement has been made will be recorded in the minutes of the
meeting.

9.8

Petitions and Deputations

9.8.1

Members of the public may present petitions at Committee meetings or may
ask to be received as a deputation. Such presentations will be part of Public
Speaking Time and subject to the same rules of notice and arrangements as
detailed in Rules 9.1 to 9.7.

9.9

Reporting on Proceedings by the Public

9.9.1

These are mandatory standing orders under The Local Authorities
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2012 and The Openness of Local Government Bodies
Regulations 2014.

9.9.2

Decision-making bodies are required to permit any person attending a
meeting of such a body to report on the proceedings.

9.9.3

For the purposes of this rule, report on proceedings is defined as:
(i)

filming, photographing or making an audio recording of proceedings at
a meeting;

(ii)

using any other means for enabling persons not present to see or
hear proceedings at a meeting as it takes place or later; and
Page 7

PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules
Agreed April 2019

Page 115

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules

(iii)

reporting or providing commentary on proceedings at a meeting, orally
or in writing, so that the report or commentary is available as the
meeting takes place or later to persons not present.

9.9.4

Any person who attends a meeting for the purpose of reporting on the
meeting may use any communication method, including the internet, to
publish, post or otherwise share the results of that person’s reporting
activities. Publication and dissemination may take place at the time of the
meeting or occur after the meeting .

9.9.5

The public must be excluded from a meeting during an item of business
whenever—
(i)

it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the
nature of the proceedings, that if members of the public were present
during that item, confidential information would be disclosed to them in
breach of the obligation of confidence;

(ii)

the decision-making body concerned passes a resolution to exclude
the public during that item where it is likely, in view of the nature of the
item of business, that if members of the public were present during
that item, exempt information would be disclosed to them; or

(iii)

a lawful power is used to exclude a member or members of the public
in order to maintain orderly conduct or prevent misbehaviour at a
meeting.

9.9.6

A resolution under Rule 9.9.5 must:
(i)

Identify the proceedings, or the part of the proceedings to which it
applies, and

(ii)

state, by reference to the descriptions in Schedule 12A of the 1972
Act (access to information: exempt information), the description of
exempt information giving rise to the exclusion of the public.

Page 8
PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules
Agreed April 2019

Page 116

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules

9.9.7

The public may only be excluded under Rule 9.9.5 for the part or parts of the
meeting during which it is likely that confidential information or exempt
information would be disclosed.

9.9.8

Without prejudice to any power of exclusion to suppress or prevent disorderly
conduct or other misbehaviour at a meeting, the decision-making body is not
to have the power to exclude members of the public from a meeting while it
is open to the public.

9.9.9

Where any person is excluded from a meeting under the Rules, a decision
making body may also prevent any person from reporting proceedings using
methods:
(i)

which can be used without that person’s presence at the meeting, and

(ii)

which enable persons not present at the meeting to see or hear the
proceedings at the meeting as it takes place or later.

9.9.10

While the meeting is open to the public, any person attending the meeting for
the purpose of reporting the proceedings is, so far as practicable, to be
afforded reasonable facilities for taking their report.

9.10

Participation by the Youth Independent Advisory Group, Waltham
Forest Young Advisors and Children in Care Council

9.10.1

The Youth Independent Advisory Group (YIAG), Waltham Forest Young
Advisors (YA) and/or Children in Care Council (CICC) may nominate a
spokesperson or spokespeople to address a Committee on issues relevant
to their work. Statements must be made in accordance with Rules 9.2 to 9.7,
but will be in addition to the overall Public Speaking Time limit set out in Rule
9.1, up to a maximum of 15 further minutes.

9.11

Matters Affecting Persons Employed by the Council

9.11.1

If any matter arises at a meeting to which the Local Government Act 1972
applies by virtue of Section 100 (A) (2) as to the appointment, promotion,
dismissal, salary, superannuation, or conditions of service or as to the
conduct of any person employed by the Council, such matter shall not be the
Page 9

PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules
Agreed April 2019

Page 117

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules

subject of discussion until the Committee has decided whether or not the
power to exclude the public under Section 100 (A) (2) of the Local
Government Act 1972 shall be exercised.

10.

RULES OF DEBATE

10.1

No speeches until motion seconded

10.1.1

Committee meetings are intended to provide a more informal setting than full
Council meetings, where policy and proposals can be explored in more
details, questions asked and information exchanged.

However, it is

expected that meetings and dialogue will take place in an atmosphere of
courtesy and respect.

Where it becomes necessary for the conduct of

business, the Chair may decide to apply the Rules of Debate as set out in
the Council Procedure Rules (Part 4a), in part or in whole.
10.1.2

All statements and questions must be addressed through the Chair.

10.2

Content of speeches

10.2.1

Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or to a personal
explanation or point of order.

10.3

Point of order

10.3.1

A Councillor may raise a point of order at any time. The Chair will hear them
immediately. A point of order may only relate to an alleged breach of these
Council Rules of Procedure or the law. The Councillor must indicate the
Rule or law and the way in which s/he considers it has been broken. The
ruling of the Chair on the matter will be final.

10.4

Personal explanation

10.4.1

A Councillor may make a personal explanation at any time. A personal
explanation may only relate to some material part of an earlier speech by the
Councillor which may appear to have been misunderstood in the present
debate. The Chair’s ruling on the admissibility of a personal explanation will
be final.
Page 10

PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules
Agreed April 2019

Page 118

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules

11.

VOTING

11.1

Majority

11.1.1

Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, any matter will be decided by a
simple majority of those Councillors (and any co-opted Members eligible to
vote on the matter) voting and present in the room at the time the question
was put.

11.2

The Chair's casting vote

11.2.1

If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the Chair will have a
second or casting vote. There is no restriction on how the Chair chooses to
exercise a casting vote.

11.3

Show of hands

11.3.1

Unless a recorded vote (Poll vote) is demanded under Rule 11.4 or required
under Rule 11.6, the Chair will take the vote by show of hands, or if there is
no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting.

11.4

Recorded vote (Poll vote)

11.4.1

If two Councillors present at the meeting demand it, the names for and
against the motion or amendment or abstaining from voting will be recorded
electronically where the facilities exist, or taken down in writing, and entered
into the minutes. A demand for a recorded vote will override a demand for a
vote by show of hands.

11.5

Right to require individual vote to be recorded

11.5.1

This is a mandatory standing order under the Local Authorities (Standing
Orders) Regulations 1993/222 Schedule 2.

11.5.2

Where any Councillor requests it immediately after the vote is taken, their
vote will be so recorded in the minutes to show whether they voted for or
against the motion or abstained from voting.

11.6

Voting on appointments
Page 11

PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules
Agreed April 2019

Page 119

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules

11.6.1

If there are more than 2 Members or other persons nominated for any
position to be filled and there is not a majority of votes in favour of one
member / person, then the name of the Member / person with the least
number of votes will be removed from the list and a new vote taken. The
process will continue until there is a majority of votes for one person.

11.6.2

Where there are 2 or more appointments to be made to a body and more
nominations than there are places to be filled, a vote will be taken on each
vacancy individually following the above process.

12.

MINUTES

12.1

Signing the minutes

12.1.1

The Chair will sign the minutes of the proceedings at the next suitable
meeting. The Chair will move that the minutes of the previous meeting be
signed as a correct record. The minutes may be challenged only as to their
accuracy before they are signed. ‘Matters arising’ may not be considered.

13.

RECORD OF ATTENDANCE

13.1

A record of all Councillors present during the whole or part of a meeting will
be included in the minutes of the meeting.

14.

EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC

14.1

Members of the public and press may only be excluded either in accordance
with the Access to Information Rules in Part 8 of this Constitution or Rule 23
(Disturbance by Public).

15.

COUNCILLORS' CONDUCT

15.1

A Councillor should not speak until invited by the Chair. When speaking a
Councillor must address the meeting through the Chair. Other Councillors
must remain seated and orderly while a Councillor is speaking except to
indicate if they wish to make a point of order or a point of personal

Page 12
PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules
Agreed April 2019

Page 120

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules

explanation or, following another councillor’s speech, to move a procedural
motion.

15.2

Chair standing or using gavel

15.2.1

If the Chair stands or uses the gavel during a debate, any Councillor
speaking at the time must stop. The meeting must be silent.

15.3

Councillor not to be heard further

15.3.1

If a Councillor persistently disregards the ruling of the Chair by behaving
improperly or offensively or deliberately obstructs business, the Chair may
move that the Councillor be not heard further. If seconded, the motion will be
voted on without discussion.

15.4

Councillor to leave the meeting

15.4.1

If the Councillor continues to behave improperly after such a motion is
carried, the Chair may move that either the Councillor leaves the meeting or
that the meeting is adjourned for a specified period. If seconded, the motion
will be voted on without discussion.

15.5

General disturbance

15.5.1

If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, the
Chair may adjourn the meeting for as long as s/he thinks necessary.

16.

DISTURBANCE BY PUBLIC

16.1

Removal of member of the public

16.1.1

If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Chair will warn the
person concerned. If they continue to interrupt, the Chair will order their
removal from the meeting room.

16.2

Clearance of part of meeting room
Page 13

PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules
Agreed April 2019

Page 121

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules

16.2.1

If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the
public, the Chair may call for that part to be cleared.

17.

SUSPENSION

AND

AMENDMENT

OF

COMMITTEE

PROCEDURE RULES
17.1

Suspension

17.1.1

All of these Committee Rules of Procedure except Rule 11 relating to
recorded voting, and Rule 12 relating to signing the minutes may be
suspended by motion supported by a simple majority of those present.
Suspension can only be for the duration of the meeting.

17.2

Procedure to suspend (Article 16.1.2 of Part 1 of the Constitution)

17.2.1

A motion to suspend any rules will not be moved without notice unless a
quorum is present. The extent and duration of suspension will be
proportionate to the result to be achieved, taking account of the purposes of
the Constitution set out in Article 1 and reproduced below:
(Article 1.2.1) The purpose of the Constitution is to:


enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the community in
partnership with citizens, businesses and other organisations;



support the active involvement of citizens in the process of local
authority decision-making;



help Councillors represent their constituents more effectively;



enable decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively;



create a powerful and effective means of holding decision-makers to
public account;



ensure that no one will review or scrutinise a decision in which they
were directly involved;

Page 14
PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules
Agreed April 2019

Page 122

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules



ensure that those responsible for decision making are clearly
identifiable to local people and that they explain the reasons for
decisions;



provide a means of improving the delivery of services to the
community.

18.

APPLICATION TO THE EXECUTIVE

18.1

None of the above rules apply to executive meetings (There are separate
Procedure rules for Executive meetings, contained in Part 5 of the Council’s
Constitution).

19.

NOTIFICATION OF CANCELLATION OF MEETING

19.1

The Proper Officer (Chief Executive) after consultation with the Chair may
cancel a committee meeting. Members will be informed of the reasons for
cancellation.

Page 15
PART 4b Committee Procedure Rules
Agreed April 2019

Page 123

Page intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1g
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 5 Executive Procedure Rules

Part 5 - Executive Procedure Rules
1.

HOW DOES THE EXECUTIVE OPERATE?

1.1

Who may make Executive decisions?

1.1.1 The Leader determines the arrangements for the discharge of executive
functions: see Part 3 of this Constitution. The arrangements currently
provide for executive functions to be discharged by:
i)

The Leader;

ii)

Cabinet as a whole;

iii)

Individual Cabinet Members;

iv)

a committee of the Cabinet;

v)

Officers of the Council;

vi)

Any other arrangement allowed by law.

1.1.2 The Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet or Officer exercising delegated
executive powers may further delegate these powers as allowed by law.
1.1.3 The Substitution Scheme within the Committee Procedure Rules (Part 4b
of the Constitution) shall apply to committees of the Cabinet as if they
were committees of the Council, except that the substitution may only be
made by a Member of the Executive.
1.2

Scheme of delegation of executive functions
The Director of Governance and Law will maintain a Scheme of delegation
of Executive functions as determined by the Leader. The scheme of
delegation will contain the details required in Article 7 and will be set out in
Part 3 of this Constitution.

1.3

Conflicts of Interest
(a)

The Council’s Code of Conduct for Members applies to all
executive decisions discharged by elected members. Officers are
Page 1

PART 5 Executive Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 125

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 5 Executive Procedure Rules

subject to the relevant Officer code of conduct applying to them at
the time the decision is made.
(b)

Where the Leader has a pecuniary interest in a matter requiring an
executive decision which s/he has not delegated in accordance with
this Constitution, the Leader will, upon advice from the Council’s
Monitoring Officer, arrange for the decision to be delegated.

(c)

Where an executive function is delegated to a committee of the
executive, an individual Member or an Officer, and should a conflict
of interest arise, then the function will be exercised in the first
instance by the person or body by whom the delegation was made.

1.4

Meetings of the Executive
(a)

The Leader will convene meetings of the Cabinet as s/he considers
appropriate, and may cancel or reschedule meetings as may be
necessary.

(b)

The Proper Officer (Chief Executive) may convene Cabinet
meetings in accordance with paragraph 2.5.1 of these Procedure
Rules and other Executive meetings as required.

(c)

Cabinet meetings will normally be held at Waltham Forest Town
Hall, Forest Road E.17 and will commence at 2.00pm, unless
determined otherwise.

(d)

Meetings for individual Portfolio-holder decisions or meetings of
Cabinet Committees will be convened by the Proper Officer (Chief
Executive).

1.5

Executive Meetings will be open to the media and public unless the
business under consideration is exempt or confidential as determined by
the Access to Information Rules. Notice of each meeting will be given and
the agenda and papers for each meeting will comply with the Access to
Information Rules. Quorum

Page 2
PART 5 Executive Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 126

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 5 Executive Procedure Rules

1.5.1 The quorum for a meeting of the Cabinet shall be five of the members
eligible to vote.
1.5.2 Decisions taken by the Cabinet
(a)

Decisions which have been delegated to the Cabinet as a whole
will be taken at a meeting convened in accordance with the
Access to Information Rules in Part 8 of this Constitution. Such
decisions will be based upon consideration of all relevant factors
including advice from appropriate Officers.

(b)

Where executive decisions are delegated to a committee of the
Cabinet, the rules applying to executive decisions taken by them
shall be the same as those applying to the Cabinet as a whole.

(c)

Recommendations to Council - Any recommendation referred to
Council for approval will be included on the Council summons.
Any associated report will be included within the Council minute
book. The recommendation will normally be submitted to the next
Ordinary Council Meeting following the meeting of the Cabinet at
which the recommendation was framed.

2.

HOW ARE CABINET MEETINGS CONDUCTED?

2.1

Chair
2.1.1

The Leader will chair meetings of the Cabinet or, in his/her
absence the Deputy Leader, or, in his/her absence as well, a
person appointed by the Leader or, if not, by those present shall
chair.

2.1.2

The Leader may chair meetings of committees of the Cabinet at
which s/he is present, or may appoint another person to do so.

2.2

Attendance
2.2.1

These details are set out in this Constitution’s Access to
Information Rules.
Page 3

PART 5 Executive Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 127

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 5 Executive Procedure Rules

2.3

The Conduct of Business at Cabinet Meetings
2.3.1

At each meeting of the Cabinet the following business will be
conducted:
i)

approval of the record of decisions of the last meeting;

ii)

declarations of interests, if any;

iii)

matters referred to the Cabinet (whether by an Overview and
Scrutiny Committee or by the Council) for reconsideration by
the Cabinet in accordance with the provisions contained in
the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules or the Budget
and Policy Framework Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of
this Constitution;

iv)

consideration of reports from Overview and Scrutiny
Committee, including the Executive’s response to scrutiny
committees’ recommendations; and

v)

reports requiring Key Decisions as set out in the Access to
Information Procedure Rules in Part 8 of this Constitution.

vi)
2.4

Any other business specified on the agenda.

Consultation
2.4.1

All reports to the Cabinet from any member of the Cabinet or an
Officer on proposals relating to the Budget and Policy Framework
must contain details of the nature and extent of consultation with
stakeholders and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and the
outcome of that consultation. Reports on other matters will set out
the details and outcome of consultation as appropriate. The level
of consultation required will be appropriate to the nature of the
matter under consideration.

2.5

Who can put items on the executive agenda?

Page 4
PART 5 Executive Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 128

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 5 Executive Procedure Rules

2.5.1

The Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Financial Officer may
include an item for consideration on the agenda of the Cabinet
and may require the Proper Officer to call such a meeting in
pursuance of their statutory duties.

2.5.2

In other circumstances, where two of the statutory officer, namely
the Head of Paid Service, Chief Financial Officer and Monitoring
Officer are of the opinion that a meeting of the Cabinet needs to
be called to consider a matter that requires a decision, they may
jointly include an item on the agenda of a Cabinet meeting. If
there is no meeting of the Cabinet within an appropriate timescale
to deal with the issue in question, then they may require a
meeting to be convened at which the matter will be considered.

2.5.3

The Leader may put on the agenda of any Cabinet meeting any
matter which s/he wishes, whether or not authority has been
delegated to the executive, a committee of it or any Councillor or
Officer in respect of that matter.

When placing items on the

agenda of the Cabinet, the Leader will take into account all
relevant

considerations

including

advice

from

appropriate

Officers.

3.

NOTICE OF KEY DECISIONS
3.1.1

Twenty-eight clear days’ public notice will be made of any matters
which the Leader has reason to believe will be a Key Decision (on
an executive function), which will be taken by himself or herself or
under delegated powers by Cabinet, a Cabinet Committee,
individual Cabinet members, or under joint arrangements (if set
up) or under any other lawful arrangement.

3.1.2

A Key Decision is a decision in respect of an executive function
which is likely to:

Page 5
PART 5 Executive Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 129

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 5 Executive Procedure Rules

3.1.2.1 be significant in terms of its effect on communities living
or working in an area comprising one or more wards in
the borough or
3.1.2.2 result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the
making of savings which are, significant having regard to
the Council’s budget for the service or functions which
the decisions relate.
3.1.3

The financial thresholds that will determine these are set out at
3.3 below.

3.1.4

The Leader may include such notice within a Forward Plan, which
may also include non-statutory notice about future decisions.

3.2

Key Decisions without notice
3.2.1

Sometimes 28 clear days’ public notice of a Key Decision will not
be made because it has already been taken under the Rules of
General Exception and Special Urgency (see Part 8). These
Rules allow decisions to be taken if they are urgent.

3.3

Financial Thresholds
3.3.1

Executive decisions with financial implications at or above the
thresholds set out below will be Key Decisions.

The Chief

Finance Officer and Director of Governance will keep the
thresholds under review and advise the Leader on whether to
recommend to Full Council any changes to the thresholds.
Heading

Revenue

Area
Award of contracts for goods,
works and services or requiring
waiving of Contract Procedure
Rules above the thresholds set
out in Part 8 of the Constitution.
Decisions involving significant
risk, significant externalisation of
services, politically sensitive
issues

Page 6
PART 5 Executive Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 130

Threshold
Estimated total contract value of
£1M or above

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 5 Executive Procedure Rules

Virements
1. Decisions affecting the
capital programme
2. Annual capital programme

Capital

Above £500,000, both one-off and
cumulative.
Estimated value over £1M

Agreement of annual programme

For the avoidance of doubt,
properties acquired or disposed
of for investment purposes only
in accordance with the
Investment Property Portfolio
Policy are not part of the capital
programme, are delegated in
accordance with the Financial
Procedure Rules and are not
key decisions.

Page 7
PART 5 Executive Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 131

Page intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1h
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 6 Overview & Scrutiny Procedure Rules

Part 6 - Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules
1.

MEMBERSHIP & STRUCTURE

1.1

As set out in Article 6.1 in Part 2 of this Constitution, Overview and
Scrutiny refers to all the overview and scrutiny functions within the Council
and is used as a collective term for all individual Overview and Scrutiny
Committees, sub-committees and scrutiny panels established by the
Council.

1.2

The Council will appoint at least one Overview and Scrutiny Committee to
carry out the functions of Overview and Scrutiny, as set out in Article 6.

1.3

The Council will appoint the Chairs and Vice Chairs of each Overview and
Scrutiny Committee and the other Council members of each committee,
except as set out in 1.4 and 1.5 below.

1.4

No Members of the Executive or Junior Cabinet Members may sit on any
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

1.5

The Chair of Audit and Governance Committee may not sit on any
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

1.6

No Councillor may be involved in scrutinising a decision in which s/he has
been directly involved.
CO-OPTED MEMBERS

1.7

All individual Committees whose functions wholly or partly include
education must appoint the following representatives who may vote on
education matters only:

1.8

1.7.1

1 Church of England diocese representative;

1.7.2

1 Roman Catholic diocese representative;

1.7.3

parent governor representatives;

Co-opted members may be appointed to any Overview and Scrutiny
Committee upon nomination and approval by members of that Committee,

Page 1
PART 6 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 133

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 6 Overview & Scrutiny Procedure Rules

to be reported to the next available meeting of the Council for information;
and confirmed, or terminated, at each Annual Meeting of the Council.
(Note: the Council may change the membership of its committees at any
time)
1.9

Members appointed as co-opted Members will have voting rights as set
out in the Council’s Voting Rights of Co-opted Members’ Scheme, if and
when such a Scheme is agreed.

1.10

The Councillors’ Code of Conduct applies to voting co-opted Members.
Non-voting

co-opted

members

are

expected

to

abide

by

the

Councillor/Officer Protocol as if they were councillors.
STATUTORY OFFICER
1.11

As specified in Article 6.3 of the Constitution, there shall be an officer as
defined in Part 3 of the Constitution, Responsibility for Functions, whose
role is:
1.11.1

to promote the role of the authority's overview and scrutiny
committee or committees,

1.11.2

to provide support to the authority's overview and scrutiny
committee or committees and the members of that committee or
those committees,

1.11.3

to provide support and guidance to—
(i) members of the authority,
(ii) members of the Executive of the authority, and
(iii) officers of the authority,
in relation to the functions of the authority's overview and scrutiny
committee or committees.

Page 2
PART 6 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 134

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 6 Overview & Scrutiny Procedure Rules

2.

MEETINGS

2.1

There shall be at least 5 ordinary meetings of each Overview and Scrutiny
Committee in each year.

In addition, extraordinary meetings may be

called from time to time as and when appropriate.
2.2

A meeting may be called by:
2.2.1

The Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee; or

2.2.2

Any 3 members of the relevant Committee; or

2.2.3

The Proper Officer (Chief Executive) if s/he considers it
necessary or appropriate.

2.3

The Committee Procedure Rules set out in Part 4b of this Constitution
apply to Overview and Scrutiny meetings. In the event of any conflict,
these Procedure Rules shall be followed.

3.

CHAIR

3.1

The Chair of each Overview and Scrutiny Committee must be one of its
Councillor members and may be from an opposition party.
.

4.

WORK PROGRAMME AND AGENDA

4.1

The annual work programmes for each Overview and Scrutiny Committee
will be proposed by the relevant committee following consultation with the
relevant director(s) and portfolio holder(s), and agreed by the full Council.

4.2

The Chair of Audit and Governance Committee will call formal twice-yearly
meetings of all Scrutiny Chairs, who will prepare and publish a report on
the work of the committees since their establishment / previous report.
The Chair of Audit and Governance Committee may also require
Overview and Scrutiny Chairs to be held to account for their Committee at
public Council meetings.

Page 3
PART 6 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 135

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 6 Overview & Scrutiny Procedure Rules

4.3

Any member of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee is entitled
to give notice to the Proper Officer (Director of Law and Governance) that
s/he wishes an item relevant to the functions of that Overview and
Scrutiny Committee to be included on the agenda for the next available
meeting. (See Councillor Call for Action procedures agreed by Audit and
Governance Committee on 25 June 2009)

5.

POLICY REVIEW AND DEVELOPMENT

5.1

Subject to 5.2 below, an Overview and Scrutiny Committee may:
5.1.1

Consider and make recommendations to Cabinet on any other
matters that are consistent with their Terms of Reference (Part 7
of this Constitution);

5.1.2

Hold enquiries, conduct themed reviews, and investigate the
available options for future direction in policy development and
may appoint advisers and assessors to assist them in this
process;

5.1.3

Do anything which is reasonable to assist or inform its
deliberations, including site visits, conduct public surveys, hold
public meetings, and commission research;

5.1.4

Ask witnesses to attend to address them on any matter under
consideration and pay to any advisers, assessors and witnesses
a reasonable fee and expenses for doing so.

5.2

Overview and Scrutiny Committees shall have regard to available budgets
and resources when exercising these powers.

6.

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY REPORTS

6.1

The Overview and Scrutiny Committees will prepare formal reports
including its recommendations, reasons for these recommendations, and
the relevant financial, legal and other implications arising therefrom.

Page 4
PART 6 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 136

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 6 Overview & Scrutiny Procedure Rules

6.2

Reports will be submitted to the Chief Executive for consideration by the
Cabinet or the Council, as appropriate.

6.3

If any Overview and Scrutiny Committee cannot agree on a final report, to
allow the matter to proceed, a minority report may be prepared and
submitted for consideration alongside the majority report.

6.4

The Council or Cabinet shall consider the report of the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee within 2 meetings of its submission to the Chief
Executive.

7.

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
RIGHTS OF ACCESS TO INFORMATION

7.1

Overview and Scrutiny members have additional rights to documents and
to notice of meetings.

MEMBERS’

These rights are set out in the Access to

Information Procedure Rules in Part 8 of this Constitution.
7.2

Nothing in this paragraph prevents more detailed liaison between the
Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny as appropriate depending on the
particular matter under consideration.

8.

ACCOUNTABILITY OF MEMBERS AND OFFICERS

8.1

In respect of any matter it is entitled to scrutinise, any Overview and
Scrutiny Committee (including sub-committees and panels) may require
any Cabinet Member, Officer, or if appropriate, Junior Cabinet Member to
attend before it to explain any decision or series of decisions;

8.2

It is the duty of those persons to attend if so required.

8.3

With respect to Officers, where possible the following should be called to
provide evidence: Strategic or Corporate Directors, Divisional or Assistant
Directors or Heads of Service, Unit and Group Managers, Team Leaders
or other Officers with management responsibilities.

8.4

Where any Councillor or Officer referred to above is required to attend an
Overview and Scrutiny Committee or a panel meeting, the Chair will
inform the Chief Executive.

Page 5
PART 6 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 137

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 6 Overview & Scrutiny Procedure Rules

8.5

The Chief Executive shall inform the Councillor or Officer in writing giving
at least 5 working days’ notice of the meeting at which s/he is required to
attend. The notice will state the nature of the item on which s/he is
required to attend to give account and whether any papers are required to
be produced for the committee.

8.6

Where the account to be given will require the production of a report, then
the Councillor or Officer concerned will be given sufficient notice to allow
for preparation of reasonable documentation.

8.7

Where, due to exceptional circumstances, the Councillor or Officer is
unable to attend on the required date, then the relevant Scrutiny
Committee shall consult with the Councillor or Officer in arranging an
alternative date for attendance to take place within 10 days of the date of
the meeting originally scheduled to hear the evidence.

9.

ATTENDANCE BY OTHERS

9.1

Overview and Scrutiny Committees may invite people other than those
people referred to in paragraph 8 above to address it, discuss issues of
interest to the Committee or of local concern and/or answer questions.
Such attendance is entirely optional for the invitee, except when required
under legislation.

10.

CALL-IN
Principles of call-in

10.1

Call-in is the exercise of Overview and Scrutiny’s statutory power to
review an Executive decision which has been made but not implemented.
Decisions that are called in cannot be implemented until the call-in
procedure is complete.

10.2

In this section, an Executive decision includes decisions made by the full
Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet, a Portfolio Holder or a key decision
ordinarily made by any of the former, which is delegated to an Officer.

Page 6
PART 6 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 138

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 6 Overview & Scrutiny Procedure Rules

10.3

Call-In is an important power, which must be respected by both
Councillors and Officers. The following principles apply to the exercise of
call-in.
10.3.1

All Cabinet decisions are subject to call-in, except where
provided for by these Rules.

10.3.2

Only an Executive decision may be called in. Where a Cabinet
decision simply refers a report to Full Council for decision, such
decision may not be called in.

10.3.3

A decision may only be called in once.

10.3.4

The Urgency provisions which prohibit call-in will only be used in
cases of genuine urgency (see Rule 10.13 below):

10.3.5

Call-in will only be used for the purposes of effective scrutiny.

10.3.6

The call-in and Urgency provisions shall be monitored annually,
and a report submitted to full Council with proposals for review if
necessary.

Right to call in
10.4

Once made, Cabinet and other key decisions shall be published on the
Council’s website within 2 working days.

The person responsible for

publishing the decision will send all Councillors links to the records of all
such decisions within the same timescale.
10.5

The published decision will bear its publication date and will specify that
the decision on the expiry of 5 working days after the publication of the
decision and may then be implemented after 5.00 p.m. on that day, unless
called in under these provisions.
Valid call-in requests

10.6

The Director of Governance and Law shall call in a decision for scrutiny if
s/he receives a valid call-in request. Before exercising any powers under
these Rules, the Director of Governance and Law will consult with and

Page 7
PART 6 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 139

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 6 Overview & Scrutiny Procedure Rules

take into account the views of the Chair of the relevant Overview and
Scrutiny Committee.
10.7

A valid call-in request is one which:
10.7.1

is submitted in writing by any four members of the Council during
the period between publication and the expiry of 5 working days,
that is to say before 5.00 p.m. on the date specified on the
decision notice ; and

10.7.2

gives reasons in writing for call-in and outlines the alternative
course of action, or recommendations proposed; and

10.7.3

the Director of Governance and Law deems it a valid use of the
call-in process, (see the factors in 10.9 below).

10.8

Does not relate to a decision which is deemed urgent (in accordance with
paragraph 10.13 of these Rules).

10.9

For the purposes of 10.7.3 above, in determining whether a request is an
appropriate use of the Call-In process, the Director of Governance and
Law may consider the following factors:
10.9.1

Whether any Overview and Scrutiny Committee, or panel has
considered the matter as part of pre-decision scrutiny.

10.9.2

Whether there has been any substantive change in the nature of
the decisions being made since the pre-decision scrutiny of the
proposals.

10.9.3

Whether the recommendations or alternative course of action or
recommendations in the call-In request have been previously
considered and rejected in whole or part as part of pre-decision
scrutiny.

10.9.4

Where the Executive changes or indicates that it will change its
decision, thereby making a call-in unnecessary or premature,

Page 8
PART 6 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 140

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 6 Overview & Scrutiny Procedure Rules

provided that this is to the satisfaction of those Members making
the request.
10.9.5

Any other relevant factor.

10.10 The Director of Governance and Law may seek clarification of the call-in
request from the Councillors concerned.
10.11 Where the Director of Governance and Law determines that a request for
call-in is not valid, s/he may alternatively report the matter to the Audit and
Governance Committee if s/he considers the request raises matters of
legal or financial compliance which fall within its terms of reference.
10.12 The Director of Governance and Law may, when considering a request for
call-in, refer the matter directly to the full Council if s/he is satisfied that the
request falls within the terms of 10.18.1 or 10.18.2.
Urgent decisions
10.13 The call-in procedures set out in these Rules do not apply where the
decision taken is urgent. An urgent decision is one which, in the opinion
of the Director of Governance and Law, following consultation with the
Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the relevant
decision-maker or body:
10.13.1 is made under the urgency procedures in the Council’s
Constitution (see Rules 15 and 16, Access to Information
Procedure Rules, Part 8 of the Constitution); or
10.13.2 Where any delay likely to be caused by the call-in process would
be likely to expose the Council, its Members or the public to a
significant level of risk, loss, damage or significant disadvantage.
Call-in procedure
10.14 On receipt of a valid call-in request, the Director of Governance and Law
will:

Page 9
PART 6 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 141

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 6 Overview & Scrutiny Procedure Rules

10.14.1 notify the decision-taker and the Chief Executive; and
10.14.2 if the request for call-in states that the reason for call-in is that
the decision is outside the budget and policy framework, refer it
to the Monitoring Officer/Chief Financial Officer for a report to be
prepared to the next meeting of the relevant Overview and
Scrutiny Committee.
10.15 Once notified of a call-in, the Chief Executive will:
10.15.1 refer the matter to the next meeting of the most relevant
Overview and Scrutiny Committee if that is within 7 working days
of the receipt of the request for call-in; or
10.15.2 Convene an extraordinary meeting of the most relevant Overview
and Scrutiny Committee to take place as soon as reasonably
practicable (subject to the Access to Information provisions); or
10.15.3 If the Committee does not meet as set out in 10.15.1 to 10.15.2,
refer the matter to the next available meeting of the most relevant
Overview and Scrutiny Committee but only with the consent of
the decision-taker (or the Leader in the case of a Cabinet
decision), the Chair of that Overview and Scrutiny Committee
and in consultation with the councillors requesting the call-in;
10.16 Call-in may apply to one or more decisions made in respect of a particular
matter (e.g. an agenda item contains a number of decisions). Where
more than one decision is made on a matter, the call-in of one decision
need not delay the implementation of any other decisions not called in.
Consideration by scrutiny
10.17 Having considered the decision, an Overview and Scrutiny Committee
may:
10.17.1 refer it back to the original decision-maker or body for
reconsideration, setting out in writing the nature of its concerns
(see Rule 10.20); or
Page 10
PART 6 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 142

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 6 Overview & Scrutiny Procedure Rules

10.17.2 refer the matter to full Council (see Rule 10.18 and 10.21 10.25); or
10.17.3 confirm the original decision.
10.18

An Overview and Scrutiny Committee may refer a matter to Council if, in
their opinion:
10.18.1 it is contrary to Policy Framework; or
10.18.2 it is contrary/not wholly consistent with Budget Framework; or
10.18.3 the Overview and Scrutiny Committee disagrees with Monitoring
Officer/Chief Finance Officer’s view that the decision is legally
and/or financially compliant.

10.19 If the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee does not meet in
accordance with 10.15 above or does meet but does not refer the matter
back to the decision making person or body, the decision shall take effect
on the date of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting or the latest
date when it should have taken place in accordance with 10.15.
Decisions referred back to the decision-maker
10.20 If a decision is referred to the original decision-making body or individual,
the decision maker shall reconsider the matter, taking into account any
recommendations of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and make a
final decision on the matter within 7 working days of the referral by the
Scrutiny Committee or at its next scheduled meeting.
Decisions referred to Council
10.21 If the called-in decision is referred to Council, the Cabinet will have 5
working days in which to respond and the Council shall not consider it
within that period. When the Council does meet to consider the matter, it
will also consider the response of the Cabinet on the matter. If it is not
possible for the Cabinet to meet in the required timeframe, the Leader, in

Page 11
PART 6 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 143

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 6 Overview & Scrutiny Procedure Rules

consultation with the relevant Portfolio Holder may respond on behalf of
the Cabinet.
10.22 Where a matter has been called in and referred to Council, the Council
must meet within 10 working days to consider the matter, or the matter
must be included on the summons to the next Ordinary Council Meeting
whichever is the earlier (subject to the Access to Information provisions).
10.23 After consideration, the Council may:
10.23.1 endorse the decision as falling within the existing budget and
policy framework. In this case, no further action is required, save
that the decision of the Council will be minuted and circulated to
all councillors in the normal way;
10.23.2 amend the Budget and Policy Framework to encompass the
decision and agree to the decision with immediate effect. In this
case, no further action is required, save that the Council decision
will be minuted and circulated to all councillors in the normal way;
or
10.23.3 where the Council finds that the decision is contrary to the Policy
framework or contrary to or not wholly consistent with the
Budget, and does not amend the Budget or Policy Framework to
accommodate it, require the decision-maker to reconsider the
matter together with the advice of either the Monitoring Officer or
the Chief Finance Officer, and any recommendations made by
the Council.
10.24 Where the Council refers the matter to the original decision-making body
or individual, the decision maker shall reconsider the matter, taking into
account any recommendations of the Council and any appropriate advice
from the Monitoring Officer or Chief Finance Officer, and make a final
decision on the matter within 5 days working of the referral by the Council.
Where the Cabinet as a whole or a committee of it took the decision, a
Page 12
PART 6 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 144

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 6 Overview & Scrutiny Procedure Rules

meeting will be convened to reconsider within 14 working days of the
referral by the Council or referred to the next Cabinet meeting if held
within this time limit.
10.25 If the Council does not meet, or if it does but does not refer the decision
back to the decision making body or person, the decision will become
effective on the date of the Council meeting or expiry of the period in
which the Council meeting should have been held according to these
rules, whichever is the earlier.

11.

PROCEDURE AT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MEETINGS

11.1

At any meeting, Overview and Scrutiny Committees shall consider the
business specified in Committee Procedure Rules, and:
11.1.1

consideration of any matter referred for a decision in relation to
call-in of a decision;

11.1.2

responses of the Cabinet to reports of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee;

11.1.3

progress on annual work programme and submission of reports
to the meeting of Scrutiny Chairs called by the Chair of Audit and
Governance Committee; and

11.2

Where any Overview and Scrutiny Committee receives evidence from
Members, Officers or other invitees, such meetings shall be conducted in
accordance with the following principles:
11.2.1

that the investigation be conducted fairly and all members of the
committee/panel be given the opportunity to ask questions of
attendees, and to contribute and speak;

11.2.2

those assisting the committee/panel by giving evidence be
treated with respect and courtesy; and

11.2.3

that the investigation be conducted so as to maximise the
efficiency of the investigation or analysis.

Page 13
PART 6 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 145

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 6 Overview & Scrutiny Procedure Rules

11.3

The Councillor-Officer Protocol (see Constitution, Part 9) shall also apply
to the attendance of Officers to give evidence.

11.4

Following any investigation or review, the relevant Overview and Scrutiny
Committee shall prepare a report, for submission to the Cabinet and/or
Council as appropriate and shall make its report and findings public.

12.

SCRUTINY AND THE PARTY WHIP

12.1

This Council believes that the aims and principles of independent and
effective scrutiny of Executive functions mean that the use of the Party
Whip is inappropriate to any agenda item and vote of any Overview and
Scrutiny Committee. In the event that a member of any Overview and
Scrutiny Committee is subject to a Party Whip on any agenda item, the
following rules will apply.

12.2

The councillor must declare the existence, and nature, of the whip before
the commencement of discussion on that matter. The declaration, and the
detail of the whipping arrangements, shall be recorded in the minutes of
that meeting.

12.3

For the purposes of this section, a “party whip” is defined as any
instruction given by or on behalf of any political group to any Councillor
who is a member of that group as to how that Councillor shall speak or
vote on any matter before the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or panel
of the Committee), or the application of or threat to apply any sanction by
the group in respect of that Councillor should s/he speak or vote in any
particular manner.

13.

ATTENDANCE OF OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
CHAIRS AT CABINET MEETINGS

13.1

Reports and references will be received from the relevant Overview and
Scrutiny Committee. Chairs will be invited to attend Cabinet and
participate in the discussion about particular items of concern.

Page 14
PART 6 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 146

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 6 Overview & Scrutiny Procedure Rules

13.2

The decisions and discussions of the Cabinet will be reflected in the
Cabinet minutes and summarised in a letter in the Leader’s name to the
relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chair with a copy to the
members of that Overview & Scrutiny Committee.

Page 15
PART 6 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 147

Page intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1i
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

Part 7 - Terms of Reference
COUNCIL
All elected Councillors
The Mayor will chair meetings of the Council.

In his/her absence a chair

of the meeting will be elected from the councilors present.
Purpose
1.

To elect a Mayor of the borough for the ensuing year at each
Annual Council Meeting (or at a subsequent Council meeting in the
event of the office becoming vacant before expiry of the term of
office).

2.

At the annual Meeting following an ordinary council election, to
elect a councillor to serve as Leader of the Council for a term of 4
years (or at a subsequent meeting in the event of the office
becoming vacant before expiry of the term of office).

3.

To approve, with or without amendment, the Council's budget and
the Council Tax for the Borough recommended to it by the Cabinet.

4.

To approve, make, vary, or alter the Council’s Constitution.

5.

To approve at the Annual Meeting the procedures for and the
appointment of Scrutiny Committees and such other bodies as the
Council may decide to discharge the Council's functions.

6.

To appoint the Chairs and Vice-Chairs of Committees and to
determine their memberships.

7.

To delegate functions to Council officers.

8.

To promote or oppose proposed legislation in the Houses of
Parliament.

9.

To confer Freedom of the Borough and Civic Awards.

Page 1
Part 7 Terms of Reference- Council
Updated April 2019

Page 149

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

10.

To approve the Councillors' Allowances Scheme.

11.

To make, vary, alter, revoke, or repeal byelaws.

12.

To decide, as required by Local Government Act 2000, on the
following policies and any other appropriate statutory plan following
consultation with Cabinet and any other relevant body:

Policy or Plan

Relevant Law

Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy

Sections 5 and 6, Part 2 and Schedule
8 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998

Development plan documents

Section 15 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004

Licensing Authority Policy Statement
and Statement of Licensing Policy
Plan or Strategy for the control of the
Authority’s borrowing, investments or
capital expenditure

Section 349, Gambling Act 2005 and
Section 5, Licensing Act 2003
The Local Authorities (Functions and
Responsibilities) (England)
Regulations 2000
Section 40 of the Crime and Disorder
Act 1998
The joint Health and Wellbeing
strategy as required by the Local
Government and Public Involvement in
Health Act 2007 as amended by the
Health and Social Care Act 2012. The
Sustainability and Transformation Plan
as required by the NHS shared
planning guidance and such other
significant plans as the Council’s
Health and Wellbeing Board may
unanimously recommend are joint
plans for the purposes of the policy
framework.

Youth Justice Plan

Joint Plans with the Health Authority

Note:

The Health and Safety Policy, is delegated to the Audit and

Governance Committee. Approval of other plans and strategies of the
Council are delegated to Cabinet.
13.

To decide on those statutory plans and/or policies not included in
the list at paragraph 12 but which the Chief Executive, in

Page 2
Part 7 Terms of Reference- Council
Updated April 2019

Page 150

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

consultation with the Director of Governance & Law and the Leader
of the Council, deems to be major policies in terms of their
implications and/or impact on the borough or part of it.

The

Council’s decision will be made following consultation with Cabinet
and any other relevant body.
14.

To deal with matters relating to elections, including considering
proposals relating to status and the variation of boundaries,
electoral divisions, wards and polling districts.

15.

To determine whether any decision of the Cabinet, not yet
implemented and referred to it by a Scrutiny Committee as part of
the Call-In process, should be reconsidered by the Cabinet in
accordance with the Call-In procedure.

16.

To receive Annual Progress Reports from the Scrutiny Committees
and to question them about the performance of their duties.

17.

To authorise applications to the Secretary of State for the transfer
of housing land or stock owned by the Council, if it is for more than
500 dwellings.

18.

To determine recommendations from Committees.

19.

To determine such other matters that the Council may from time to
time reserve to itself or any other matters required by statute to be
decided by Council.

20.

To consider questions, motions, petitions and deputations in
accordance with procedures set out in the Constitution's Part 4
Council Procedure Rules.

21.

To provide an opportunity for members of the public to make
statements about Council policy.

Page 3
Part 7 Terms of Reference- Council
Updated April 2019

Page 151

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

22.

To carry out any other functions required by statute to be
discharged by the Council.

23.

To deal with all matters relating to the variation or transfer of
Council powers.

24.

To approve the Council’s Treasury Policy Statement

25.

To approve the appointment of the Head of Paid Service.

26.

To receive reports from the Monitoring Officer on Urgent Key
Decisions under rule 16 of the Access to Information Rules in Part
8 of this Constitution.

Meeting Arrangements
Unless determined otherwise by the Council, there shall be 4 ordinary
meetings of the Full Council in a municipal year, an Annual Meeting and a
special meeting to determine the council budget. The meetings are subject
to the provisions of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act,
1985, which legally bind the Council regarding public access to reports
and meetings.
The quorum shall be one-quarter of the membership eligible to vote or the
nearest whole number above one-quarter.
In the event of an equality of votes on any issue the Chair of the meeting
shall have a second or casting vote.
The minutes will be available to members of the public on request at the
reception Desk of Waltham Forest Town Hall, Forest Road, Walthamstow,
through any of Waltham Forest's public libraries and the Council’s website
at www.walthamforest.gov.uk .

Page 4
Part 7 Terms of Reference- Council
Updated April 2019

Page 152

Agenda Item 1j
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

CABINET
Membership
Leader of the Council and up to 9 other councillors appointed by her/him
including the Deputy Leader.
Political proportionality does not apply.
The Leader may also appoint councillors as Junior Cabinet Members to
assist Cabinet in proposing, formulating and advising upon Council policy
under the guidance of the appropriate Portfolio Holder. These councillors
are not Members of the Cabinet and do not have voting rights or decisionmaking powers.
Purpose
1.

To propose the annual budget to Council for approval.

2.

To ensure full consultation with the public, review committees and
other members of the Council on policies and strategies.

3.

To implement, within approved budgets, agreed plans and policies
of the Council.

4.

To oversee expenditure within budget heads and limits approved by
the Council.

5.

To provide political leadership to enable the Council to promote the
economic, social and environmental well being of the Borough.

6.

To exercise collective responsibility for the Council and its
performance.

7.

To lead the Council's contribution towards the community planning
process and the preparation of plans and strategies.

8.

To set strategies for partnership with external stakeholders in
Waltham

Forest,

in

particular

to

convene

local

strategic

partnerships which should then be responsible for the development
and delivery of community strategies.

Page 1
Part 7 Terms of Reference- Cabinet
Updated April 2019

Page 153

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

9.

To develop strategies for fostering internal partnerships and
shaping corporate direction.

10.

To approve the senior management structure of Waltham Forest
Council.

11.

In matters of urgency, except for planning applications and
statutory functions which are not the responsibility of the Cabinet,
to decide on any matter relating to the function of the Council.

12.

To receive recommendations from a Scrutiny Committee.

13.

To oversee implementation of the Councillors' Allowance Scheme.

14.

To establish appropriate arrangements for formal consultations with
trade unions and teacher associations.

15.

To determine grant allocation priorities for appropriate external
organisations.

16.

To discharge all functions of the Authority which are not required by
legislation to be discharged by any other body, subject to any
Regulations made by the Secretary of State. These functions are
listed in the Constitution at Part 3 Responsibility for Functions.

17.

To publish a four-month work programme every month called the
Forward Plan.

Meeting Arrangements
Meetings are subject to the provisions of the Access to Information
Procedure Rules.
There may be no substitute or deputy voting cabinet members, although
other Members may be invited to attend Cabinet meetings for individual
items.
The quorum shall be any 5 members eligible to vote.

Page 2
Part 7 Terms of Reference- Cabinet
Updated April 2019

Page 154

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

A record of the Cabinet’s decisions will be published on the Council’s
website on the day of the meeting or as soon as practicable thereafter;
and the day of publication shall count for the purpose of calculating the
expiry of call-in.
The minutes will be subsequently be made available on the Council's
website at www.walthamforest.gov.uk.

Page 3
Part 7 Terms of Reference- Cabinet
Updated April 2019

Page 155

Page intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1k
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

SHAREHOLDER COMMITEE
TERMS OF REFERENCE
Membership
The committee is a committee of the Executive and the same rules of
procedure apply to its meetings as apply to the Cabinet. Voting members
therefore must be Cabinet members.
A Chair and at least two other voting members will be appointed by
Cabinet and reported to the next meeting of the Council for information.
The Cabinet members on the committee should represent portfolios
relating to the companies of which the Council is a shareholder.
The quorum shall be two thirds of the membership or three members,
whichever is the larger.

Purpose
1.

To represent the Council’s interests as shareholder in wholly owned
and other companies.

2.

To ensure that the companies act in the interests of the Borough as
shareholder and contribute to the Council’s objectives.

3.

To consider and approve any proposed or amended company
documentation including memorandum and articles of association
and shareholder agreements.

4.

To undertake the actions, activities and responsibilities provided for
and required by any legislative requirement or any shareholders
agreement.

5.

To provide, or withhold, consent as appropriate on those matters
requiring shareholder consent as defined in the shareholders
agreement.

6.

To review and agree the annual Business Plan prepared by the
Company. The Business Plan will include:
a.

An updated programme of activity for the forthcoming year.

Page 1
Part 7 Terms of Reference- Shareholder Committee
Updated February 2019

Page 157

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

b.

An updated financial plan for the forthcoming year including
cash-flow, identifying income and expenditure, and forecast
for drawdown of finance or assets provided by the Council.

c.

In the case of development companies: details of proposed
future development and investment pipeline.

7.

Monitor performance and financial delivery against the business
plan.

8.

Review and agree any proposals to undertake activities outside of
the Borough.

9.

Make recommendations to Cabinet for any investment in/asset
transfers or lending to companies.

10.

Delegate specific functions to officers of the council to increase
commercial flexibility.

Meeting Arrangements
Meetings are subject to the provisions of the Local Government (Access to
Information) Act, 1985, which legally bind the Local Authority regarding
public access to reports and meetings.
The minutes will be available through the Council's website at
www.walthamforest.gov.uk.

Page 2
Part 7 Terms of Reference- Shareholder Committee
Updated February 2019

Page 158

Agenda Item 1l
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 – Terms of Reference

Part 7 – Terms of Reference

AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
TERMS OF REFERENCE
Statement of Purpose
The function of the Audit & Governance Committee is:
(a)

to provide independent review and assurance of the robustness of and
compliance with the Council’s corporate governance procedures,
including procedural propriety in respect of decision-making and the
Council’s Constitution; and .

(b)

to provide independent review and assurance of the robustness of, and
compliance with, the Council’s financial management and controls and
risk management.

(c)

to ensure the Council meets its duty to promote and maintain high
standards of conduct by members and co-opted members of the
authority under s.27 (1) of the Localism Act 2011 and to determine
complaints and appeals under the Councillors’ Code of Conduct, as set
out in the Code of Conduct Complaints Procedure in Part 9 of the
Council’s Constitution (see 18 and 19 below).

The Committee serves as an important advisory body to the Full Council,
responsible for ensuring that risks to the Council are minimised on matters
falling within its terms of reference and recommending changes to
procedures and processes to maintain and promote effective governance .
The Committee has delegated authority to approve the Council’s accounts,
capital outturn, treasury management arrangements and the annual
governance statement. The Committee is also responsible for overseeing
the financial reporting and auditing processes.
Membership
The Council will appoint up to 9 councillors to the Committee
1. The Committee will appoint a non-voting co-opted member for no more
than two consecutive four-year terms, who may receive an allowance

Audit & Governance Cttee Terms of Reference
Updated April 2021

Page 159

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 – Terms of Reference

Part 7 – Terms of Reference
as agreed under the Members’ Allowance Scheme. The Committee
will not be inquorate without the co-opted Member.
2. The Committee may from time to time appoint such external non-voting
co-opted members with relevant knowledge of governance, financial
and/or audit processes, as it considers appropriate.
3. The membership may not include an Executive member or Junior
Cabinet Member
4. The Committee’s Chair cannot be a member of any Scrutiny
committee.

FUNCTIONS
Good Governance
1. To ensure compliance in decision-making in respect of the Council's
political management arrangements. This function includes all parts of the
Council that are responsible for making decisions including full Council,
Cabinet, Portfolio Lead Members, Committees, officers under delegated
authority, and other Council bodies, including joint bodies with other
agencies. (The function includes prospective as well as actual decisions).
2. To receive reports from the Monitoring Officer relating to:
a) Governance compliance and assurance including information
governance;
b) Maladministration;
c) Standards;
d) Policy framework issues; and
e) Access to information issues.
3. To receive the annual letter of the Local Government Ombudsman, reports
of the Housing Ombudsman, and complaints monitoring reports.
4. To have responsibility for corporate health and safety in line with guidance
from the Health and Safety Executive.
5. To monitor and receive assurance for the delivery of elections and
electoral registration including statutory polling district and place reviews.

Audit & Governance Cttee Terms of Reference
Updated April 2021

Page 160

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 – Terms of Reference

Part 7 – Terms of Reference
6. To appoint, from time to time, Member-officer working groups on a cross
party basis.
7. To receive, consider and recommend to the full Council, as appropriate,
amendments to the Council’s Constitution and related protocols and
procedures, which may be on the advice of a Constitution Working Group
as appointed under paragraph 7 above.
8. To report to the full Council annually on the Committee’s performance in
relation to the terms of reference and the effectiveness of the committee in
meeting its purpose.
9. To be satisfied that the authority’s assurance statements, including the
Annual Governance Statement, properly reflect the risk environment and
supporting assurances, taking into account internal audit’s opinion on the
overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s framework of
governance, risk management and control..
10. To consider the Council’s arrangements to secure value for money and
review assurances and assessments on the effectiveness of these
arrangements.
11. To review the Council’s whistle blowing policy.
12. To review matters referred to it by the Chief Executive or another Council
body.
13. To review policies and compliance related to the Council’s procedure rules
and scheme of delegation.
Internal Audit
14. To be consulted on Internal Audit’s strategy and approach, as detailed in
the Internal Audit Charter, to ensure it meets and supports the Council’s
strategic direction.
15. To review proposals made in relation to the appointment of external
providers of internal audit services and to make recommendations.

Audit & Governance Cttee Terms of Reference
Updated April 2021

Page 161

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 – Terms of Reference

Part 7 – Terms of Reference
16. To review the risk-based internal audit plan, including internal audit’s
resource requirements, the approach to using other sources of assurance
and any work required to place reliance upon those sources.
17. To approve or note significant interim changes to the risk-based internal
audit plan and resource requirements
18. To make appropriate enquiries of both management and the Chief Internal
Auditor to determine if there are any inappropriate scope or resource
limitations.
19. To consider reports from the Chief Internal Auditor on internal audit’s
performance during the year, including the performance of external
providers of internal audit services. These may include:
a) Updates on the work of internal audit including key findings, issues
of concern and action in hand as a result of internal audit work;
b) Monitoring of management action and escalation.
c) Reports on instances where the internal audit function does not
conform to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and Local
Government Application Note, considering whether the nonconformance is significant enough that it must be included in the
Annual Governance Statement.
20. To consider the Chief Internal Auditor’s annual report and opinion
a) The statement of the level of conformance with the Public Sector
Internal Audit Standards and Local Government Application Note
and the results of the Quality Assurance and Improvement
Programme that supports the statement – these will indicate the
reliability of the conclusions of internal audit.
b) The opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the
Council’s framework of governance, risk management and control
together with the summary of the work supporting the opinion –

Audit & Governance Cttee Terms of Reference
Updated April 2021

Page 162

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 – Terms of Reference

Part 7 – Terms of Reference
these will assist he committee in reviewing the Annual Governance
Statement.
21. To consider summaries of specific internal audit reports as requested, and
where recommendations have not been implemented.
22. To contribute to the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme and
in particular, to the external quality assessment of internal audit that takes
place at least once every five years.
23. To consider a report on the effectiveness of internal audit to support the
Annual Governance statement where required to do so by the Accounts
and Audit Regulations.
External Audit
24. To consider the external auditor’s annual letter, relevant reports, and the
report to those charged with governance.
25. To consider specific reports as agreed with the external auditor.
26. To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure
it gives value for money.
27. To commission work from internal and external audit.
28. To advise and recommend on the effectiveness of relationships between
external and internal audit and other inspection agencies or relevant
bodies.
Risk Management and Control Environment
29. To consider the effectiveness of the authority’s risk management
arrangements, the control environment and associated anti-fraud and anticorruption arrangements. In particular, to ensure that action is taken as
appropriate on risk-related issues identified by auditors and inspectors.
30. To monitor the effective development and operation of risk management in
the Council.

Audit & Governance Cttee Terms of Reference
Updated April 2021

Page 163

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 – Terms of Reference

Part 7 – Terms of Reference
31. To monitor progress in addressing risk-related issues reported to the
committee.
32. To consider reports on the effectiveness of internal controls and monitor
the implementation of agreed actions.
33. To review the assessment of fraud risks and potential harm to the council
from fraud and corruption.
34. To monitor the counter-fraud strategy, actions and resources.
Review of Financial Statements
35. To review the annual statement of accounts. Specifically, to consider
whether appropriate accounting policies have been followed and whether
there are concerns arising from the financial statements or from the audit
that need to be brought to the attention of the Council.
36. Consider the external auditor’s report to those charged with governance
on issues arising from the audit of the accounts.
37.
Treasury Management
38. To act as the committee responsible for ensuring effective scrutiny of the
treasury management strategy and policies.
39. To review the treasury management policy and procedures to be satisfied
that controls are sufficient.
40. To review the treasury risk profile and adequacy of treasury risk
management processes.
41. To review assurances on treasury management including internal and
external audit reports and opinions.
Standards
42. The Committee will act as a pool of members to sit on sub-committees
established for the purpose of determining complaints under the

Audit & Governance Cttee Terms of Reference
Updated April 2021

Page 164

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 – Terms of Reference

Part 7 – Terms of Reference
Councillors’ Code of Conduct and Complaints Procedure set out in Part 9
of the Constitution.
43. Sub-Committees will consist of normally 3 members (excluding
independent members) and must be politically balanced.

Due to the

strict timetables in the Complaints Procedure, Sub-Committees will be
established by Director of Governance and Law in accordance with the
nominations by the relevant political groups.

Audit & Governance Cttee Terms of Reference
Updated April 2021

Page 165

Page intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1m
Constitution of the London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 – Terms of Reference

Part 7 – Terms of Reference

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD
1.

Purpose

To make sure that the whole Council and relevant partner agencies commit to
excellent standards of corporate parenting, to deliver the pledge to children in care,
and to develop and implement the Corporate Parenting Strategy.
2.

Key Responsibilities and Priorities

2.1

To creatively identify resources for Corporate Parenting and use these to
good effect, in order to achieve sustained outcomes for children in care and
care leavers which prepare them towards and for adulthood.

2.2

To set high expectations and aspirations and establish stable relationships
and a sense of belonging for all children in care.

2.3

To seek improved long term outcomes for children in care and their families –
for their happiness; well-being; educational success; and future prospects.

2.4

To ensure warm, welcoming and safe accommodation, preferably within
Waltham Forest or as near to the borough as is practicable, including moves
on into appropriate housing.

2.5

To make sure that the voice of the child and young person in care influences
both policy and the services that they receive, and that young people are
engaged with any action intended to develop, assess and improve services or
to recruit key staff members.

2.6

To develop an informed view of Council and non-Council provision and
services through a wide range of approaches which may include but is not
confined to a programme of work and meetings and events, visits, direct
engagement with children and Council officers, feedback from Board
members, case studies and liaison with the relevant Scrutiny Committees.

2.7

To oversee and monitor the key performance indicators for the health,
wellbeing and educational outcomes of looked after children, and to hold to
account those agencies responsible for providing services to looked after
children, with regard to the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and
Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 and other relevant
regulations and guidance and in liaison with the Waltham Forest Safeguarding
Children Board, Health Scrutiny Committee and the Health and Wellbeing
Board in the discharge of their scrutiny functions in relation to health.

Page 1
Part 7 Terms of Reference- Council
Updated July 2017

Page 167

Constitution of the London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 – Terms of Reference

2.8

To consider the outcomes of regulatory visits and inspection reports on
provision for children in care and to receive regular reports on:
2.8.1 The work of the adoption and fostering services;
2.8.2 The work of social work teams and other professionals
2.8.3 The Virtual School
2.8.4 Work experience schemes and the development of opportunities for
children and young people, including those not in employment,
education or training;
2.8.5 provision for leaving care, housing and training for care leavers up to
age 25; and
2.8.6 work with those in the Secure Estate.

2.9

To ensure that relevant key plans, strategies and associated resources
identify and make explicit the contribution that they make to targets agreed for
improvement.

2.10 To celebrate the achievements of looked after children and their carers.
2.11 To ensure that children looked after by the local authority are offered the
protection of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child, 2 September
1990.
2.12 To establish and maintain specific task groups as necessary to make
recommendations to the Board.
2.13 To give consideration to the effect of Council decisions on children and young
people, and to make recommendations to the Cabinet as appropriate.
2.14 To produce an annual report to the Council.
3.

Membership and Meetings

3.1

The Corporate Parenting Board is appointed at the Council annual meeting,
and the Council may vary its membership from time to time. The Board may
co-opt voting and non-voting members who are not members of the Council.

3.2

The Corporate Parenting Board meets approximately every two months. It is
not subject to the provisions of the Local Government Act 1972 or the Local
Government and Housing Act 1979 although the agenda and minutes will be
normally circulated at least five working days prior to the meeting.

Page 2
Part 7 Terms of Reference- Council
Updated July 2017

Page 168

Constitution of the London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 – Terms of Reference

Standing Membership (voting):

3.3



Portfolio Lead Member for Children and Young People (Chair)



Relevant Lead Member for Health and Well Being



A member of the Children and Families Scrutiny Committee



A member of the Health Scrutiny Committee



At least one Councillor nominated by the majority group



At least one Councillor nominated by the minority group



Chair and Vice-Chair of the Children in Care Council



Representative of Foster Carers (to be elected by registered Waltham
Forest foster carers and appointed for a term of two years from the
date of election)

Others who have a key contribution in delivering the Corporate Parenting
Strategy may be either co-opted (or invited as appropriate) by the Board from
time to time (non-voting) without reference to Council. These may include
representatives from:


NHS including Waltham Forest Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)



North East London NHS Foundation Trust (NELFT) including Child and
Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS)



Healthwatch



Metropolitan Police



Youth Justice



Waltham Forest Safeguarding Children Board



The Voluntary Sector



Virtual School

3.4 The conduct of co-opted members is governed by the Member-Officer
Protocol (Part 9 of the Constitution). It is expected that representatives of
other agencies will be appointed and act on a professional and accountable
basis.
Page 3
Part 7 Terms of Reference- Council
Updated July 2017

Page 169

Constitution of the London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 – Terms of Reference

4.

Governance

4.1

The Corporate Parenting Board is accountable to the Cabinet and will submit
an annual report to full Council. It will establish arrangements for sharing
information with relevant Scrutiny Committees (especially Children and Young
People, and Health), the Health and Wellbeing Board, the Children in Care
Council and the Fostering and Adoption panels.

4.2

The Board is not a committee of the Council under s.101 of the Local
Government Act 1972 and has no delegated powers. It is not subject to the
rules under the 1972 Act and Part 8 of the Council’s Constitution requiring
public access to agendas and meetings. However, agendas and reports may
be subject to access by request under the Freedom of Information Act 2000
unless an exemption applies to specifically requested information. The
political balance rules under ss.15-17 of the Local Government and Housing
Act 1989 do not apply to the membership of the Board.

4.3

The quorum is one quarter of the councillor membership or the nearest whole
number above one-quarter.

4.4

All Councillors are corporate parents and are encouraged to attend meetings
of the Board at the invitation of the Chair. Substitution arrangements apply
and are as set out in section 5 of the Council Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the
Council’s Constitution. Executive Members may be substituted only by the
Leader or other Cabinet Members and not by non-executive members.

4.5

The Board is administered by Democratic Services, who will ensure the timely
production of agenda and minutes.

Page 4
Part 7 Terms of Reference- Council
Updated July 2017

Page 170

Agenda Item 1n
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

Part 7 - Terms of Reference

WALTHAM FOREST HEALTH AND WELLBEING
BOARD
Statement of intent:
The purpose of the Health and Wellbeing Board is to improve the health and
well-being of Waltham Forest residents. The Board does this by helping to
shape the strategic direction of its multi-agency partnership and by proactively
tackling the barriers and challenges to delivering progress on its evidencebased ‘wicked’ priority issues.
1.

Name

1.1 The Board will be known as the Waltham Forest Health and Wellbeing
Board (‘the Board’).
2.

Membership

2.1 Board members are appointed through Full Council and consist of senior
leaders from the health and care sector with sufficient seniority and
influence for decision-making. Membership is as follows:
















Chair (see below, 5.1)
Strategic Director, Families, LBWF
Elected member – Portfolio Lead, Adult Services
Elected member – Portfolio Lead, Children’s Services
Elected member – Portfolio Lead, Health
Director of Integrated Commissioning
At least one representative from the Clinical Commissioning
Group
Director of Public Health
Representative, Housing, LBWF
Representative, Adult Social Care, LBWF
Director, Regeneration & Growth
Manager, Healthwatch Waltham Forest
Representative, Barts NHS Trust
Representative, NELFT
Other members appointed by the Chair of the Board after
consultation with the Board

2.2 Whenever there is a newly nominated appointee, their name, title and
contact details must be provided to Democratic Services ten days before
either the Annual General Meeting of the Council or before an ordinary
Council meeting.
2.3 Members are to provide a named Board deputy who they will brief to
attend for any Board meetings that they are unable to.
Page 1
Part 7 Terms of Reference – Health and Wellbeing Board
Adopted March 2013, Revised by Council October 2019

Page 171

2.4 Members are expected to adhere to the Waltham Forest Strategic
Partnership Boards and Subgroups: Principles for members.
3.

Legal Status

3.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board is a committee of the Council and will
adhere to the Constitutional requirements of the Council affecting

committees, unless alternative provision is made within these terms
of reference or the law.
4.

Voting Rights and Quorum

4.1 Unless Council decides otherwise, all Board members will be treated as
voting members of the Board.
4.2 The quorum is seven members including, as a minimum, a representative
of the London Borough of Waltham Forest Council and a representative
of the Waltham Forest Clinical Commissioning Group.
5.

Chair and Vice Chair

5.1 The Chair of the Board shall be the Leader of the Council or their
nominated representative who may be appointed from within the standing
membership or as an addition to it. The Vice-Chair of the Board shall be
a senior representative from the Waltham Forest Clinical Commissioning
Group.
6.

Frequency of meetings

6.1 The Board shall schedule meetings at least four times a year.
7.

Delegation of Powers

7.1 The Board may establish sub committees to discharge any functions of
the Board or to advise the Board in respect of its functions.
8.

Functions of the Board

8.1 To exercise the functions of a local authority and its partner clinical
commissioning group under sections 116 and 116A of the Local
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, relating to joint
strategic needs assessments, and the joint health and wellbeing strategy.
8.2 To exercise the statutory functions of a Health and Wellbeing Board in
relation to the carrying out and publication of pharmaceutical needs
assessments.
8.3 To encourage creative, professional, integrated partnership working
between health and social care services as well as other related
agencies and stakeholders.

Page 172

8.4 To exercise any other Council functions, which the Council has
determined should be exercised by the Board on its behalf, in
accordance with section 196(2) of the Health and Social Care Act 2012
including:


Overseeing the development of local commissioning plans and,
where necessary, initiating discussions with the NHS Commissioning
Board (NHS England) if an agreed concern exists.



Leading cultural and behavioural change to support a joint approach
to meeting local need.



Holding all partners to account for their role in the delivery of joint
commissioning and overall stewardship of the health and wellbeing
outcomes for residents.

8.4 To periodically review the Board’s terms of reference.

Page 173

Page intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1o
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

Part 7 – Terms of Reference

LICENSING ACT 2003 & GAMBLING COMMITTEE
Membership
The Licensing Act 2003 (the “2003” Act) & Gambling Act 2005 (the “2005”Act)
Committee (the “Committee”) will consist of a pool of between 10 and 15
Members (unless otherwise provided by legislation) to be appointed at Council.
From this pool, the Committee’s Sub-Committees will be drawn, consisting of 3
Members in accordance with Section 9 of the 2003 Act and Section 154 of the
2005 Act.
The quorum of Sub-Committees will be 3 members.

General
1.

The Committee is established under section 6 of the 2003 Act to
discharge the Council’s licensing functions under the 2003 and 2005 Act.

2.

The Committee may delegate any of its functions to one or more subcommittees or to an officer, subject to statutory restrictions and/or Scheme
of Delegation agreed by Full Council (see also 11-14 below).

3.

The Committee may review the Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy
under the 2003 Act and Statement of Gambling Principles under the 2005
Act and may recommend changes to Full Council.

4.

No Sub-Committee Member shall consider applications affecting his/her
Ward or in which he/she has a pecuniary interest by the Council’s
Constitution, part 9: Member Code of Conduct.

5.

The Committee Procedure Rules (Council’s Constitution, part 4b) shall be
waived at Committee meetings. Such meetings shall be conducted in
accordance with the appropriate legislation and procedures.

Page 1
Part 7 Terms of Reference- Licensing Act 2003 & Gambling Act Committee
Updated April 2019

Page 175

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

Part 7 – Terms of Reference
6.

All words and phrases used in these Terms of Reference have the
meaning given to them by the relevant Act or regulations made
thereunder.

Licence & Gambling Applications
7.

The Committee will determine the following:
7.1 Personal licence applications where a relevant objection is made;
7.2 Whether to suspend or revoke a personal licence
7.3 premises licence applications where:
7.3.1 a relevant representation is received in respect of:
7.3.1.1

premises licences;

7.3.1.2

club premises certificates;

7.3.1.3

provisional statements;

7.3.1.4

full variation to premises licences;

7.3.1.5

variation to club premises licences.

7.3.1.6

Permits for unlicensed family entertainment centre

7.3.1.7

Prize gaming permits

7.3.1.8

Alcohol licensed premises gaming machine permits
(where applications have been received for five or more such
machines)

7.3.1.9

Club gaming machine permits

Page 2
Part 7 Terms of Reference- Licensing Act 2003 & Gambling Act Committee
Updated April 2019

Page 176

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

Part 7 – Terms of Reference
7.3.1.10 Temporary use notices
7.3.1.11 Small society lotteries registration

7.3.2 The police have made recommendations opposing an application:
7.3.2.1

to vary designated premises supervisor;

7.3.2.2

Where

the

police

or

Secretary

of

State

have

made

recommendations opposing an application
7.3.2.3

for transfer of premises licences;

7.3.2.4

for interim authorities.

7.4 Applications to review premises licences and/or club premises certificates
and cancellation of club gaming/machine permits.
7.5 The consideration of objections to a temporary event notice.
7.6 The decision to give a counter notice to a temporary use notice under
the 2005 Act .

Consultation
8.

The Committee will determine whether the Council will object to an
application for any licence, consent or certificate made to another local
authority, where the Council is a consultee.

Page 3
Part 7 Terms of Reference- Licensing Act 2003 & Gambling Act Committee
Updated April 2019

Page 177

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

Part 7 – Terms of Reference

Irrelevant, Frivolous or Vexatious Representations &
Objections
9.

The Strategic Director Neighbourhoods and Commercial will determine
whether a representation or objection is irrelevant, frivolous or vexatious,
or is otherwise not “relevant” as defined by the 2003 Act.

10.

The Committee will determine whether representations are vexatious,
frivolous or will certainly not influence the authority’s determination of the
application, as defined by the 2005 Act.

Delegation of Powers
11.

The above functions delegated to the Committee may be exercised by the
Committee as a whole, or by a sub-committee.

12.

The Strategic Director Neighbourhoods and Commercial is authorised to:
undertake all other Council functions under the 2003 & 2005 Act; and
delegate any of his/her functions to officers, as s/he thinks; subject to any
scheme of delegation agreed by Full Council or this Committee.13.

Page 4
Part 7 Terms of Reference- Licensing Act 2003 & Gambling Act Committee
Updated April 2019

Page 178

Agenda Item 1p
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 7 Licensing and Gambling Scheme of Delegation

Part 7 – Terms of Reference

Licensing & Gambling Scheme of Delegation
This Scheme of Delegation lists the delegations made by Full Council under
the Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling Act 2005 in respect of its powers under
those acts.
Matter to be dealt
with
Final approval of
Statement of
Licensing Policy
and Statement of
Gambling
Principles

Full Council

Committee / Subcommittee

x

Review of
Licensing Policy
and Statement of
Gambling
Principles

Policy not to
permit casinos

Officers

X
(full committee
only)
x

Fee setting
(where
appropriate)

X
(Director)

Applications for
premises licence
and club
premises
certificates

Where
representations are
received and not
withdrawn

Where
representations are
not received or are
withdrawn

Application for a
variation to a
licence or club
premises
certificates

Where
representations are
received and not
withdrawn

Where
representations are
not received or are
withdrawn

Review of
premises licence
or club premises
certificates

x

Page 1
Part 7Part 7 Licensing and Gambling Scheme of Delegation

Updated April 2019

Page 179

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 7 Licensing and Gambling Scheme of Delegation

Part 7 – Terms of Reference
Matter to be dealt
with

Full Council

Committee / Subcommittee

Officers

Application for a
transfer of a
licence

Where
representations are
received and not
withdrawn

Where
representations are
not received or are
withdrawn

Application for a
provisional
statement

Where
representations are
received and not
withdrawn

Where
representations are
not received or are
withdrawn

Application for
club gaming/club
machine permits

Where objections
are made and not
withdrawn

Where objections
are not received or
are withdrawn

Cancellation of
club gaming/club
machine permits

x

Applications for
other permits

Where objections
are made and not
withdrawn

Cancellation of
licensed premises
gaming machines

Where objections
are not received or
are withdrawn
x

Applications for
small scale
lotteries
registration

Where objections
are made and not
withdrawn

Where objections
are not made or
are withdrawn

Application for
variation of
designated
premises
supervisor

Where police
objection and not
withdrawn

Where police
objections are not
received or are
withdrawn

Application for
interim authority

Where police
objection and not
withdrawn

Where police
objections are not
received or are
withdrawn

Page 2
Part 7Part 7 Licensing and Gambling Scheme of Delegation

Updated April 2019

Page 180

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 7 Licensing and Gambling Scheme of Delegation

Part 7 – Terms of Reference
Matter to be dealt
with

Full Council

Committee / Subcommittee

Officers

Application for
personal licence

Where police
objections or
applicant has
unspent
convictions

Where police
objections are not
received or no
unspent
convictions

Application for
Temporary Event
Notice

Where there are
police objections

x

Application for
temporary use
notice

Decision whether
to issue counter
notice

Receipt and initial
consideration

Decision to give a
counter notice to
a temporary use
notice

x

Determination of
irrelevant,
frivolous or
vexatious or
otherwise not
“relevant”
objections under
the 2003 Act

x

Determination of
vexatious or
frivolous
representations
or
representations
which will
certainly not
influence the
authority under
the 2005 Act

x

X
(so far as it is
lawful to do so)

Delegations to Specific Officers under the Licensing Act 2003 &
Gambling Act 2005
Page 3
Part 7Part 7 Licensing and Gambling Scheme of Delegation

Updated April 2019

Page 181

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 7 Licensing and Gambling Scheme of Delegation

Part 7 – Terms of Reference
These delegations are to be read in conjunction with the table above and the
Licensing Act and Gambling Act Committee terms of reference.
1. To carry out all functions delegated to officers unless specified otherwise
in this Scheme:
a. Team Manager, Licensing;
b. Service Manager – Regulatory Services; and
c. Strategic Director Neighbourhoods and Commercial
2. To set all fees:
a. Strategic Director Neighbourhoods and Commercial
3. To exercise all powers of inspection, entry and enforcement:
a. Team Manager, Licensing;
b. Service Manager – Regulatory Services and
c. Licensing Enforcement Officers.
Where an officer’s job title changes, the delegated powers above will
automatically transfer to any new post(s) which discharges the functions of
the replaced post in whole or part pending the amendment of this Scheme to
reflect the changes.

Agreed by full Council on 25 April 2019.

Page 4
Part 7Part 7 Licensing and Gambling Scheme of Delegation

Updated April 2019

Page 182

Agenda Item 1q
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

Part 7 – Terms of Reference

LICENSING (GENERAL) COMMITTEE
Membership
The Licensing (General) Committee will consist of a pool of between 10
and 15 Members (unless otherwise provided by legislation) to be
appointed at Council.

From this pool, Licensing (General) Sub-

Committees will be drawn and consist of not less than 3 Members.
The quorum will be half of the membership eligible to vote or the nearest
whole number above a half. For sub-committees, the quorum will be 3
members.

Summary
1.

The Licensing (General) Committee exercises all of the Council’s
functions under Part III of the London Local Authorities Act 1990
(the “1990 Act” in relation to street trading), together with the
functions relating to licensing and registration as listed in section B
of

schedule

1

Responsibilities)

to

the

(England)

Local

Authorities

Regulations

(Functions

2000

(the

and

“2000”

Regulations) and as may be amended by law from time to time.
2.

The Licensing (General) Committee may delegate any of its
functions to one or more Licensing (General) Sub-Committees.

3.

In undertaking its responsibilities the Committee is precluded from
policy formulation, which is in the domain of the Council or the
relevant portfolio holder.

4.

No

Committee

or

Sub-Committee

Member

shall

consider

applications affecting his/her Ward or in which he/she has a
pecuniary interest as defined by the Council’s Constitution, part 9:
Member Code of Conduct

Page 1
Part 7 Terms of Reference- Licensing (General) Committee
Updated April 20191

Page 183

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

Part 7 – Terms of Reference
5.
All words and phrases used in these Terms of Reference will have
the meaning given to them by the relevant Act or regulations made
thereunder.

Powers
Licence Applications
6

Application for a licence, consent or certificate in respect of, sex
entertainment venues, or any other activity regulated under the
1990 Act and/or 2000 Regulations and as may be amended by law
from time to time, in circumstances where:
6.1.1 there is a relevant objection to the application; or
following receipt of a representation, the Strategic Director
Neighbourhoods and Commercial feels that because of its
nature, the application should be referred to the Licensing
(General) Committee.
6.1.2 Application for a street trading licence in circumstances
where there is an appeal against the Officer’s decision to:

(a)

refuse an application; or

(b)

revoke a street trading licence.

7.

Delegation of Powers to Officers
7 The Strategic Director Neighbourhoods and Commercial is authorised
to undertake all other functions under the 1990 Act and the 2000
Regulations and as may be amended by law from time to time. The
Director is further authorised to delegate any of the above functions to
appropriate Officers, as s/he thinks fit.

Page 2
Part 7 Terms of Reference- Licensing (General) Committee
Updated April 20191

Page 184

Agenda Item 1r
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

Part 7 – Terms of Reference

SCRUTINY
SCRUTINY COMMITTEES
The Council will appoint and determine the remit of at least one Scrutiny
Committee.
1.

Purpose

2.1

To scrutinise the budget-setting process, co-ordinate and allocate
time limited panels, agree and co-ordinate with the relevant
director(s) and portfolio holder(s) an annual work programme for
agreement by full Council, review and advise scrutiny members on
the Cabinet Forward Plan and to consider public consultation
exercises and petitions.

2.2

To monitor and review the policies and practices of and services
provided by the Council, its partners and contractors within the remit
of the Committee.

2.3

To investigate how successfully Council policies deliver these
services

and

development.

to

make

recommendations

on

future

policy

To do this by scrutinising the effectiveness and

appropriateness of Council policies, by focusing on the outcomes of
policy, performance and service delivery and their impact on service
users.
2.4

To scrutinise decisions of Cabinet that affect matters falling within the
remit of each Committee.

2.5

To undertake particular reviews of services within the Committee’s
remit as may be requested from time to time by Council or Cabinet
and to make reports or recommendations to Council or Cabinet on
matters which affect these services in the Borough’s areas.

2.6

To monitor and evaluate performance and receive reports on matters
relevant to the achievement of the five key outcomes of the Children

Page 1
Part 7 Terms of Reference- Overview & Scrutiny Committee
Last updated October 2016

Page 185

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

Part 7 – Terms of Reference
Act 2004 (stay safe, be healthy, enjoy and achieve, achieve
economic well-being, make a positive contribution) by the Council
and its partner organisations.
2.7

To make reference where appropriate to the Health and Social Care
Act 2012.

2.8

To consider matters relating to Early Years and education, where
appropriate.

2.9

In order to do so, a Scrutiny Committee may:
2.9.1

Call for and receive reports on matters within the remit of
the Committee;

2.9.2

Require Members of the Cabinet and officers within all
tiers of management to attend the Committee and provide
written and oral evidence;

2.9.3

Invite witnesses from within and from outside the Council
to provide written and/or oral evidence;

2.9.4

Make recommendations on policy, practice and service
provision to the Cabinet and Council; and

2.9.5

Establish time-limited scrutiny panels in pursuit of the
purposes of the Committee.

2.10

To establish and oversee arrangements for the

implementation of the Councillor Call for Action process
under the Local Government and Public Involvement in
Health Act 2007 as amended by the Localism Act 2011 (now
contained in Part 1A of the Local Government Act 2000)

Page 2
Part 7 Terms of Reference- Overview & Scrutiny Committee
Last updated October 2016

Page 186

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

Part 7 – Terms of Reference

Page 3
Part 7 Terms of Reference- Overview & Scrutiny Committee
Last updated October 2016

Page 187

Page intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1s
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

Part 7 – Terms of Reference

PENSION COMMITTEE – TERMS OF REFERENCE
1.

Introduction

As a statutory pension scheme the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS)
does not have trustees as such. Decisions are required to be made by each
Administering Authority which in the case of the Waltham Forest Pension Fund is
the Council of the London Borough of Waltham Forest. The decision making
process is carried out via the Pension Committee. The elected Members who sit
on the Pension Fund Committee act on behalf of the beneficiaries of the LGPS
and in this way have a similar role to trustees in primarily protecting the benefits
of the LGPS members, overseeing the direction of investments, monitoring of
liabilities and scheme administration.

2.

Membership and Meeting Arrangements

2.1

The Committee will comprise councillors, including a Chair and Vice-Chair
appointed by the Council.

2.2

The Committee may appoint observers to attend and participate but not to vote in
meetings, in order to represent employing authorities and scheme members.
Observers shall be appointed on a four-yearly basis and may include retired
scheme members.

2.3

The Committee may appoint expert independent advisors from time to time, who
shall be entitled to reasonable remuneration, subject to annual review.

2.4

2.5

The Committee may recognise observers from:


Recognised trade unions



Employers within the Waltham Forest Pension Scheme



Staff and pensioners

Meetings will be scheduled on a quarterly basis. The Director of Governance and
Law, after consultation with the Strategic Director of Finance and Governance,
and the Chair or Vice-Chair of the Committee, may cancel, re-schedule or call
additional meetings as required.

2.6

Members of the Pension Committee will be offered appropriate training, in
accordance with a training policy agreed by the Committee in order to discharge
their duties effectively, especially with regard to investment matters and

Pension Cttee – Terms of Reference
Rewritten April 2019

Page 189

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

Part 7 – Terms of Reference
interpretation of advice.

A record of the training received will be kept by

Democratic Services.

3.

Functions

3.1

The Committee has responsibility delegated by the Council for functions relating
to local government pensions as listed in Section H of Schedule 1 of the Local
Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 (Part 3 of
the Constitution: Responsibility for Functions, Table 2).

3.2

The Committee is responsible for ensuring that the Fund is properly operated in
accordance with all relevant legislation and best practice as advised by the
Pensions Regulator, including both financial and administration matters. This will
include, but is not limited to:
3.2.1 benefits administration;
3.2.2 managing the Discretions policies;
3.2.3 resolving Internal Disputes;
3.2.4 communications with members;
3.2.5 communication and engagement with employers;
3.2.6 monitoring risks;
3.2.7 record keeping;
3.2.8 publishing of scheme information as required; and
3.2.9 approving the Council's Pension Fund Annual Report and Financial
Statements and to consider any reports produced by the Strategic
Director of Enabling in accordance with the duty to make
arrangements for the proper administration of the financial affairs of
the Council's Pension Fund (“the Fund”), but not in respect of the
formulation of a plan or strategy which is a function of the Cabinet
(and subject to final approval by the Council) or detailed operational
matters which are within the purview of the Cabinet and for taking
whatever action is necessary to ensure compliance with both the
Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations (“the Regulations”)
(as amended from time to time) and best practice.

Pension Cttee – Terms of Reference
Rewritten April 2019

Page 190

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

Part 7 – Terms of Reference
3.3
The Committee will carry out the duties set out in the Regulations, in
relation to the actuarial valuations of the Fund and in relation to any other
decisions about the amount the employers need to pay.
3.4

The Committee will assess the covenant of scheme employers, ensure
that employer contributions are set accordingly and other relevant
regulations are adhered to.

3.5

The Committee will determine the overall investment strategy in
accordance with the Regulations, ensuring that the Fund is invested in
suitable types of investments and is sufficiently diversified having regard to
its investment objectives. These include:
3.4.1 determining the Statement of Investment Principles;
3.4.2 ensuring adequate monitoring and compliance with the overall
investment strategy and the Statement of Investment Principles;
3.4.3 appointing investment managers and any external service providers
and advisors felt to be necessary; and,
3.4.4 maintaining effective arrangements for reviewing on a regular basis
investment manager performance against established benchmarks
and being satisfied as to manager expertise and the quality of their
internal systems.

3.6

Nomination of the shareholder representative and deputising
arrangements to represent the Fund’s share in the London Collective
Investment Vehicle. The Audit and Governance Committee is satisfied
that this role might be held by an officer.

3.7

The Committee will work closely with the Waltham Forest Pension
Board (the Board) to ensure the scheme is administered efficiently and
effectively and will share with the Board reports and documents to enable
the Board to achieve meet its remit. The Council will receive reports from
each Board meeting and as the Board deems necessary. In turn the
Council will consider any reports the Board may produce in the course of
their duties and respond accordingly within a reasonable period of time.

Pension Cttee – Terms of Reference
Rewritten April 2019

Page 191

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

Part 7 – Terms of Reference
3.8
In support of this working relationship any member of the Committee may
attend Board meetings and Board members may attend Committee
meetings.
3.9

As part of the good governance of the Scheme, the Committee will work
with, receive and consider reports from the Board. The Board is not a
decision making body and it will be for the Committee to ensure that the
appropriate actions are undertaken as required.

3.10 The Committee will ensure that the Fund works with the relevant admitted
bodies as required and that a discretions policy is properly maintained and
administered.

Pension Cttee – Terms of Reference
Rewritten April 2019

Page 192

Agenda Item 1t
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

PLANNING COMMITTEE
Membership
5 members to be appointed by Full Council.

Delegated Powers
The Planning Committee shall have the following powers:
1. Save as set out in 2 below, where an application in respect of:


Planning (excluding applications for Lawful

Development

Certificates which will be determined by officers under delegated
powers unless the application was submitted by a Councillor or
an officer of the Council or on their behalf – see below),


Advertising,



Conservation areas,



Listed buildings,



Tree and hedgerow protection,



Hazardous substances,



Enforcement,



Any other functions contained in the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990, Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas)
Act 1990 or the Planning (Hazardous Substances) Act 1990 and
related legislation,

satisfies one or more of the following criteria, it shall be referred to the
Planning Committee:
 Where it is requested by a member of the ward in which
the development is located or a neighbouring ward that
the Planning Committee consider a planning application
and the Head of Development Management and Building
Control in consultation with the Chair of the Planning
Committee agrees that the application should be
Page 1
Part 7- Terms of Reference- Planning Committee
Updated July 2017

Page 193

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

determined by the Planning Committee taking into
consideration the ward member’s or neighbouring ward
member’s reasons for making the request;

 Where the following types of development are involved:


development of 150 residential units or more,



development over 30 metres in height,



inappropriate development on Green Belt or
Metropolitan Open Land, or



development (other than development which only
comprises the provision of residential units)
involving the erection of a building or buildings with
a total floorspace of more than 15,000 square
metres;

 Where the Council is the developer and the application
involves development that includes the erection of any
building or a material change of use;

 Where the Council is not the developer but would be
involved in a financial liability;

 Where an application is recommended for approval with
five or more objections from local residents and the Head
of

Development Management and Building Control in

consultation with the Chair of the Planning Committee is
of the view that there is significant interest from local
residents;

 Where an application is made where a Councillor or an
officer is the agent;
Page 2
Part 7- Terms of Reference- Planning Committee
Updated July 2017

Page 194

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

 Where any application is submitted by or on behalf of a
Councillor or by or on behalf of any officer of the Council
(or their spouse/partner) including applications for Lawful
Development Certificates; or

 Where the Head of Development Management and
Building Control in consultation with the Chair of the
Planning Committee consider that an application should
be referred to the Planning Committee for consideration.
2. The Planning Committee has no delegated power to approve
Development Plan Documents or joint arrangements under section 2831 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. Full Council
must exercise these powers.
3. To make recommendations to Cabinet in relation to the allocation of
Historic Building Grants that are above the financial threshold for Key
Decisions.
4. To authorise the allocation of Historic Building Grants that are below
the financial threshold for Key Decisions but above £1000.00
5. Notwithstanding the above, prior notification applications shall not be
referred to the Planning Committee where insufficient time is available
to enable Committee consideration prior to the determination deadline.
Where there is an urgent need for a decision to be taken outside the
normal cycle of meetings, every practical effort shall be made to
arrange an extraordinary meeting of the Planning Committee.
However, if there is insufficient time for this to be done, authority to
consider such applications is delegated to the Head of Development
Management and Building Control, in consultation with the Chair of the
Planning Committee, and the Vice Chair.

Page 3
Part 7- Terms of Reference- Planning Committee
Updated July 2017

Page 195

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

Delegation to Officers
6. The Executive Director of Regeneration and Growth is authorised to
undertake all other functions in relation to the above matters and
functions, subject to paragraph 2 and the Director of Governance or his
representative being satisfied with the evidence before the service of
any Notices.
7. The Executive Director of Regeneration & Growth is authorised to
delegate any of the above functions delegated to her/him in this
Constitution to other officers.

Page 4
Part 7- Terms of Reference- Planning Committee
Updated July 2017

Page 196

Agenda Item 1u
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

Part 7 – Terms of Reference

STAFFING COMMITTEE
The Council will appoint and determine the remit of the Staffing
Committee.
1.

Membership

1.1

The Staffing Committee will comprise ten councillors, appointed by
Council. Appointment and disciplinary panels must include an
executive member (see 1.3 below) who, if required, will be
appointed as a substitute member of the Committee.

1.2

There will be no standing Staffing Committee Chair.

1.3

Appointment and other employment panels will normally consist of
5 councillors and be chaired by the relevant Cabinet member or the
Leader.

1.4

If the post in respect of which a Staffing Committee panel is to meet
is likely to report to more than one Cabinet member, the Leader will
determine which portfolio holder will serve on and Chair the panel.

2.

Purpose

2.1

To determine matters relating to the Council’s responsibilities as an
employer, where a member-level decision is required and can be
delegated to a committee, including the overall framework of terms
and conditions of employment for employees.

2.2

To consider applications and make appointments to senior posts
(or to appoint sub-committees for that purpose), or to make
recommendations to Full Council, as required under the
Employment Procedure Rules set out in Part 8 of the Constitution.

2.3

To hear any appeal or other staffing matter requiring member level
decision or appoint a sub-committee to fulfil the role.

3.

Meeting Arrangements

3.1

The Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 8 of the
Constitution apply.

Page 1
Part 7 Terms of Reference- Staffing Committee
Approved June 2014

Page 197

Page intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1v
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

Part 7 – Terms of Reference

PUBLIC TRANSPORT CONSULTATIVE
GROUP
TERMS OF REFERENCE
1.

The Public Transport Consultative Group (the Group) is concerned
with the medium- and long-term public transport requirements of
those who live and work in the Borough.

2.

The Group comprises representatives from the Council and Public
Transport Authorities and Operators.

3.

Discussions may cover traffic management, sustainability and
connectivity as far as they affect public transport operations. The
Chair is appointed by the Council from among the Council’s
representatives.

4.

The Group may extend a standing invitation to such individuals and
groups it considers appropriate, consistent with its aims.

Public Access
5.

The following public access rules apply:
a. Wherever possible, agendas and reports will be made
publicly available on the Council’s website at least 5 clear
days in advance of the meeting at which they will be
considered.
b. Meetings will be held in public.
c. The Group may grant speaking rights to any member of the
Council or the public who wishes to address the Group on
matters within its remit. The same provisions of the Access
to Information Procedure Rules for committees of the
Council relating to exempt and confidential information as
set out in Part 8 of the Constitution apply

Page 1
Part 7 Terms of Reference - Public Transport Liaison Group
Agreed by Council: October 2019

Page 199

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 7 Terms of Reference

Part 7 – Terms of Reference
d. The Group reserves the right to exclude one or more
members of the public if they disturb or interrupt the meeting.

MEMBERSHIP
1. 5 Council Members appointed by the Council
2. Invitees to be agreed by the Group at the next meeting following
the Annual Meeting of the Council and names placed on the
Standing Invitee List.
3. A Member may attend a meeting in a substitute capacity by
arrangement with an ordinary Member where the ordinary Member
will be absent for the whole of the meeting. The arrangement is
based on trust and Committee Procedure Rules requiring
notification in writing of the intended substitution do not apply.
4. The Standing Invitee List is maintained by the Strategic Director,
Economic Growth or his nominee, and may be reviewed from time
to time.
5. The following will also be notified of meetings and papers made
available:
 The Portfolio Lead Member relevant to the matter under
discussion
 The relevant Scrutiny Committee Chair
 The relevant opposition spokesperson
Membership is non-voting and the Council expects the Group to work
consensually and respectfully

DELEGATED POWERS
None. The Group is a forum for residents, transport operators and the
Council, although it is not a committee of the Council within the meaning
of the Local Government Acts.
Page 2
Part 7 Terms of Reference - Public Transport Liaison Group
Agreed by Council: October 2019

Page 200

Agenda Item 1w
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Financial Procedure Rules

Part 8 – Financial Procedure Rules
Contents
1.

Status of Financial Procedure Rules

2.

Other Financial Accountabilities

3.

Financial Planning and Budgeting

4.

Imprest Accounts

5.

Banking and Payment Arrangements

6.

Risk Management and Insurance

7.

Internal Control

8.

Assets

9.

Procurement and Contracts

10. Treasury Management
11. Systems and Procedures
12. Income and Expenditure
13. Taxation
14. External Co-operation
15. Retention of Records
16. Devolution of Financial Management

1
Page 1
Part 8 Financial Procedure Rules
Updated Oct 2017

Page 201

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Financial Procedure Rules

1.

Status of Financial Procedure Rules

1.1

The Financial Procedure Rules provide the framework for managing the Council’s
financial affairs. They apply to every Member and to all workers including interims
and consultants. Failure to abide by the Financial Procedure Rules may lead to
action under the disciplinary procedure.

1.2

All Members and staff have a general responsibility for taking reasonable action to
provide for the security of the assets under their control. They are also responsible
for ensuring that the use of these resources is legal, is properly authorised, provides
value for money and achieves best value.

1.3

The Financial Procedure Rules do not directly apply to maintained schools and Pupil
Referral Units (PRUs). Schools must adopt their own financial policy and procedures
based on the principles within the Financial Procedure Rules and taking account of
more specific guidance issued by the Director of Finance.

1.4

The Financial Procedure Rules identify the financial responsibilities of all staff and
elected Members, and in particular;









the full Council;
the Cabinet;
the Leader;
the Audit and Governance Committee;
the Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive);
the Chief Financial Officer – Section 151 Officer (Director of Finance);
the Monitoring Officer (Director of Governance);
the Chief Audit Executive (Head of Internal Audit;
Directors, Divisional / Assistant Directors, , Heads of Service and other Budget
Holders;

1.5

The Director of Finance is responsible for the maintenance and regular review of the
Financial Procedure Rules., The Director of Finance has delegated authority for any
additions or changes to them.

1.6

The Director of Finance is responsible for issuing advice and guidance to underpin
the Financial Procedure Rules to which Members, Officers and others acting on
behalf of the Council are required to have regard.

1.7

The Director of Finance is also responsible for reporting, where appropriate,
breaches of Financial Procedure Rules to the Council and/or to Cabinet.

1.8

The Financial Procedure Rules are supported by a detailed Financial Control Manual,
setting out how the Financial Procedure Rules will be implemented. All staff and
Members must ensure that they read and follow these procedures.

Financial Control Framework
1.9

The financial administration framework of the Council is organised in accordance with
Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, requiring that every local Authority in
England and Wales should “make arrangements for the proper administration of their
financial affairs and shall secure that one of their Officers has responsibility for the
administration of those affairs.” The framework comprises:
 Constitution: The principal rules governing the Council’s affairs, including
financial affairs and the delegation of authority to Members and Officers.

1
Page 1
Part 8 Financial Procedure Rules
Updated Oct 2017

Page 202

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Financial Procedure Rules

 Financial Procedure Rules: Forms part of the Council’s Constitution, to
provide a framework for its financial procedures.
 Financial Control Manual: Sets out controls and responsibilities of all staff
and Members
 The General Scheme of Delegation: Sets out the Council’s decision making
framework
 Medium Term Financial Strategy: Sets out the Council’s medium term plans
for managing its finances
 Contracts Procedure Rules: Forms part of the Council’s Constitution, to
provide a framework for its procurement procedures.
 Procurement Manual: Sets out the processes to be used for the different
types of procurement
 Property Procedure Rules: Forms part of the Council’s Constitution, to
provide a framework for its property procedures
 Capital Strategy: Sets out the processes and decision making framework for
capital expenditure
 Programme and Project Management Framework: Sets out the framework
for managing projects and programmes
The financial administration framework of the Council must also adhere to the
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. These regulations impose a range of duties in
respect of internal control which:
 facilitates the exercise of their functions; and the achievement of their aims and
objectives;
 ensures the financial and operational management of the Authority is effective;
 includes effective arrangements for the management of risk.
The Regulations also make provision, in relation to each type of authority, for their
accounting records and control systems; including how they are to be:
 prepared and certified by the authorities Director of Finance
 approved by full Council or a committee
 published; including publication on the authorities website

Financial Delegation Levels
1.10

The Financial Delegation Levels form part of the General Scheme of Delegation and
sets out the financial authorisation limits for staff. The Scheme of Delegation is
administered by the Director of Governance, in conjunction with the Director of
Finance. The Audit and Governance Committee must approve all amendments to
the scheme.

2.

Other Financial Accountabilities
Virements

2.1

Virement is the term used to transfer (or vire) budgetary provision from one budget
heading to another. All virements must be approved according to the authorisation
matrix and must not be fragmented to circumvent those thresholds:-

2
Page 2
Part 8 Financial Procedure Rules
Updated Oct 2017

Page 203

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Financial Procedure Rules

Authorisation
Matrix

<£10,000
Level D

£10,000£100,000

£100,000£500,000

Level C

Level B

>£500,000
Level A

Treatment of year-end balances
2.3

Under and overspending on budget headings has to be agreed by the Chief
Executive and the Director of Finance, prior to being approved by Cabinet as part of
the revenue outturn for the year. Where there is a sound business case to carry
forward an underspend to the next financial year it can only be approved as part of
this process.

Accounting policies
2.4

The Director of Finance is responsible for selecting the Council’s accounting
procedures, records and policies, including any changes to those policies, and
ensuring that they are applied accurately and consistently.

The Annual Statement of Accounts
2.5

The Director of Finance is responsible for ensuring that the annual statement of
accounts is prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting in the United Kingdom. The Audit and Governance Committee is
responsible for approving the annual statement of accounts.

2.6

The Director of Governance is responsible for overseeing the preparation and
publication of an Annual Governance Statement (AGS), following an annual review of
the Council’s systems of internal control and governance, and ensuring that it
conforms to the CIPFA/SOLACE guidance. The AGS forms part of the Council’s
annual financial statements and is signed by the Chief Executive and the Leader, prior
to being approved by the Audit and Governance Committee.

Trading Accounts
2.7

A trading account is established where there are significant operations being
delivered on a commercial basis. Trading accounts are established to match income
with expenditure and allow for the carry forward of losses and surpluses over a set
time period. They are not set up where there is a simple recharge of costs between
services.

2.8

It is the responsibility of the Director of Finance to advise on the establishment and
operation of trading accounts.

3.

Financial Planning and Budgeting

3.1

This section deals with the frameworks and processes by which the financial situation
of the Council is planned, controlled and reported. The Strategic Budget process can
be summarised as below:
The full Council is responsible for agreeing the Council’s policy framework and
budget, which will be proposed by the Cabinet at the council tax setting meeting at
the end of February.

3
Page 3
Part 8 Financial Procedure Rules
Updated Oct 2017

Page 204

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Financial Procedure Rules

In terms of financial planning, the key elements are:






the medium term financial strategy;
the budget;
the capital strategy;
the capital programme; and
The Council tax resolution.

Policy Framework
3.2

The Chief Executive is responsible for proposing the Corporate Plan to the Leader
and Cabinet for consideration before its submission to the full Council for approval.
The Corporate Plan sets out how the Council will achieve its organisational
objectives.

3.3

Each year, each Director should ensure that there is a service plan for their
department in the format required by the Council.

3.4

Each budget holder must obtain approval from their Director for the quantum and
standard of the services to be delivered by his/her service area in the next financial
year, which would be detailed in the service plan and supported by the budget.

Budgeting
3.5

Each year, the Director of Finance produces budget guidance, which sets out the
budget preparation process. The Director of Finance is responsible for ensuring that
the council sets a balanced and sustainable revenue budget on an annual basis and
considers the medium term requirements. In addition the Council has a five year
rolling capital programme which is updated annually and matched against available
capital resources. The draft budget includes allocations to different services and
projects, proposed taxation levels and recommends appropriate levels of contingency
and reserves to manage and mitigate risks. It is the responsibility of all Directors to
ensure that budget estimates for their services reflect their agreed service plans and
priorities of the Council.

3.6

On the advice of the Director of Finance, Cabinet will propose the overarching budget
framework to Full Council for their consideration and approval. Full Council may
amend the budget or ask the Leader and Cabinet to reconsider it before approving it
and setting the council tax for the forthcoming year.

3.7

The Director of Finance will issue details of the agreed Council budget to Directors
following approval by Full Council. Each Director will be expected to formally sign
that they accept their detailed budget and spending will remain within their overall
budget allocation.

3.8

The Director of Finance will provide a detailed budget book in April each year. The
total for the Directorate budget book must equal the budget agreed by Full Council.
Where budget headings are over spending, Directors should propose appropriate
management action to ensure spending remains within their overall budget
allocation.

Financial Management Process
3.9

The Director of Finance is responsible for the financial management process enabling
capital and revenue budgets to be monitored effectively.

4
Page 4
Part 8 Financial Procedure Rules
Updated Oct 2017

Page 205

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Financial Procedure Rules

3.10

The Director of Finance is responsible for monitoring and controlling expenditure
against budget allocations and reports the actual position in comparison to the
budget, projected out-turn position and any proposed action to be taken by
departments to deal with any variances. The revenue monitoring report is presented
to Management Board and Cabinet on a monthly basis

3.11

Directors are responsible for:


controlling income and expenditure within their area and monitoring
performance, taking account of financial information provided by the Director of
Finance and / or their own systems;
 reporting monthly, in accordance with the agreed corporate format and
timetable, on variances within their own areas;
 taking any action necessary to avoid exceeding their budget allocation and
alerting the Director of Finance if this cannot be achieved;
 ensure that fees and charges are reviewed annually as a minimum and
changes reflected through the budget planning process

Maintenance of Balances, Provisions and Reserves
3.12

It is the responsibility of the Director of Finance to advise the Leader and Cabinet
and/or the full Council on prudent levels of balances, provisions and reserves for the
Council. The Director of Finance will review the level and purpose of all provisions
and reserves on an annual basis.

3.13

The Director of Finance has the delegated authority to use the Budget Strategy
Reserve for the purposes agreed by Cabinet, and can use any other balances,
provisions and reserves for the management of the Council’s overall budget.

3.14

Where Directors and Heads of service propose to use service related reserves they
will need to set out their proposals in a business case that must be submitted to the
Director of Finance for approval before the reserves can be allocated for use.

Capital Expenditure
3.15

Capital expenditure refers to expenditure used to purchase, develop, construct or add
value to current assets, where those assets have a useful life extending beyond one
year and is outside of the revenue expenditure required for the normal running of the
Council. Capital expenditure can be financed from many different sources such as
government grants, external funding agencies, receipts from the sale of capital
assets, section 106 agreements, and borrowing.

3.16

The Council manages it capital expenditure through a rolling five-year capital
programme that is underpinned by the Capital Strategy. The capital strategy sets out
how Waltham Forest allocates finances and manages the delivery of its investments
to secure the long-term strategy for growth and development in the borough and
achieve its key priorities and objectives. The Capital Strategy also sets out the
governance arrangements for the capital programme.

3.17

Before capital schemes can commence they are subjected to a five stage gateway
process prior to being submitted to the Cabinet and full Council who must agree the
inclusion of the scheme in the capital programme. Cabinet approves the capital
programme on an annual basis including any necessary carry forward of budgets
where there is slippage in the delivery of capital schemes

5
Page 5
Part 8 Financial Procedure Rules
Updated Oct 2017

Page 206

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Financial Procedure Rules

3.18

All Directors are responsible for managing the capital schemes in their service areas
within the resources available. Where services forecast an underspend in a capital
scheme (as opposed to slippage) this should be reported to the Director of Finance
and the surplus funding released back to corporate resources to support the overall
capital programme. Where there is forecast to be an overspend that cannot be
contained within the capital funding allocated in the programme, the relevant Director
should identify funding through their revenue budget to address the overspend.

3.19

Capital expenditure against the scheme budgets is reported to Cabinet on a quarterly
basis, together with progress against the programme and reasons for significant
variances and how these will be addressed. Cabinet must approve changes to the
capital programme budget, together with how they are to be financed.

4.

Imprest Accounts

4.1

Imprest accounts may consist of a cash holding which is reimbursed or a bank
account where expenditure is paid by cheque.

4.2

The Director of Finance will provide imprest accounts as appropriate for such officers
that need them.

4.3

The responsible budget holder and/or account holder will be responsible for ensuring
that imprest accounts are maintained in the manner prescribed in the Finance Control
Manual. The Chief Operating Officer is responsible for providing the Director of
Finance with assurance that all imprest accounts have been maintained in the
manner prescribed in the Finance Control Manual.

5.

Banking Arrangements and Cheques

5.1

All arrangements with the Council’s bankers concerning the Council’s bank accounts
will be made through the Director of Finance. At least two authorised signatories
approved by the Director of Finance must make the opening of new bank accounts.

5.2

All bank accounts should be reconciled with the financial ledger at least at the end of
each month.

5.3

Cheque books and cheque stationery will be ordered via the relevant supplier only on
authority from the Director of Finance who will make adequate arrangements for their
safe custody and use. Sheets are sequentially numbered and a recording system
retains details of those used and any that are spoilt to ensure a complete record.

5.4

Cheques on the Council’s accounts will bear the facsimile signature of or be signed
by the Director of Finance or as delegated by the Director of Finance. Under no
circumstances should an account be opened in the name of an individual officer.

5.5

Where funds are held on behalf of third parties, Directors will arrange for their secure
administration, approved by the Director of Finance, and shall ensure that written
records of all transactions are maintained.

6.

Risk Management and Insurance

6.1

The Council is committed to establishing an effective risk management framework
and culture to enable management at all levels to deliver their objectives in the light of
those risks. The Director of Finance has responsibility for establishing and delivering
corporate risk management arrangements across the Council.

6
Page 6
Part 8 Financial Procedure Rules
Updated Oct 2017

Page 207

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Financial Procedure Rules

6.2

The Director of Finance is responsible for preparing the Council’s risk management
policy statement and strategy, and for promoting them throughout the Council.

6.3

The Audit and Governance Committee is responsible for reviewing the Council’s risk
management policy statement and strategy and is responsible for reviewing the
effectiveness of risk management via a quarterly review of the high level risks on the
Council’s risk register.

6.4

At a departmental level, Directors and Heads of Service should ensure that risk
assessments are conducted followed by appropriate work to manage the risks
identified and to monitor current and emerging risks.

6.5

The Director of Finance shall periodically review all insurance cover in consultation
with other Directors and Heads of Services who shall provide such information as
may be required.

6.6

Directors shall promptly notify the Director of Finance of all new risks and any
alterations, terminations, loss or liabilities that affect existing insurances.

6.7

Directors shall consult the Director of Finance and the Director of Governance in
respect of the terms of any indemnity, which the Council is required to obtain or
provide.

6.8

For further guidance on Risk Management, please consult the Risk Management
Strategy

7.

Internal Control

7.1

Internal control refers to the systems of controls devised by management to help
ensure that the Council’s objectives are achieved in a manner that promotes
economical, efficient and effective use of resources, and its assets and interests are
safeguarded.

7.2

The Director of Finance is responsible for advising on effective systems of internal
control. These arrangements need to ensure compliance with all applicable statutes
and regulations, and other relevant statements of best practice. They should ensure
that public funds are properly safeguarded and used economically, efficiently, and in
accordance with the statutory and other authorities that govern their use.

7.3

Directors are responsible for establishing sound arrangements for planning,
appraising, authorising and controlling their operations in order to achieve continuous
improvement, economy, efficiency and effectiveness, for achieving their financial
performance targets, and safeguarding Council resources.

7.4

Directors are also responsible for informing the Head of Internal Audit of any serious
break down of internal control and frauds in their services. The Head of Internal Audit
is responsible for keeping the Director of Finance advised of any serious break down
of internal control and frauds and advising on the proposed course of action to
resolve the issues raised.

Audit Requirements
External Audit and Inspection
7.5

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd is responsible for appointing external auditors
to each local authority in accordance with the powers contained in the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014.

7
Page 7
Part 8 Financial Procedure Rules
Updated Oct 2017

Page 208

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Financial Procedure Rules

7.6

From time to time, the Council may be subject to audit, inspection or investigation by
external bodies that have statutory rights of access, such as HM Revenue and
Customs.

Internal Audit
7.7

The Director of Finance is responsible for arranging an adequate and effective
internal audit to examine the accounting records and systems of internal control of the
Council. The Director of Finance is also responsible, for ensuring that internal audit is
adequately resourced.

7.8

Directors, Divisional / Assistant Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for
ensuring that all agreed actions arising from internal audit recommendations are
implemented within agreed timescales.

7.9

The Head of Internal Audit is responsible for ensuring that the Internal audit service
conforms to the requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (2013),
the Internal Audit Charter and Strategic Statement on Internal Audit, and fulfills its
responsibilities under the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.

7.10

The Head of Internal Audit is also responsible for ensuring that sufficient work has
been undertaken to form an opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Council’s internal control, governance and risk management arrangements.

7.11

The Head of Internal Audit will advise the Director of Finance, the Governance Board
and the Audit and Governance Committee of instances where agreed audit
recommendations have not been implemented.

7.12

The Internal Audit function has unrestricted access to all Council records and
information, both manual and computerised, cash, stores and other Council property
or assets it considers necessary to fulfil its responsibilities.

7.13

Internal Audit also has unrestricted access to enter Council property and has
unrestricted access to all locations and officers where necessary, on demand and
without prior notice. Internal Audit’s rights of access to other bodies funded by the
Council should be set out in the conditions of funding.

7.14

Contracts let for the provision of services and works on behalf of the Council must
ensure that the Council’s internal and external auditors have right of access to any of
the contractor’s / delivery partner’s records associated with the supply of goods or
provision of services to the Council.

Preventing Fraud and Corruption
7.15

The Director of Finance is responsible for:
 advising the Cabinet and Directors on the maintenance and implementation of
an anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy
 associated arrangements for appropriate treatment and registration, by
employees and members, of relevant interests, gifts and hospitality.

7.16

All Council Members and employees are personally responsible for ensuring integrity in
the conduct of the Council’s business and in particular by ensuring that they (and any
subordinates) are aware and abide by:
 The Council’s anti-fraud and anti-corruption policies and procedures

8
Page 8
Part 8 Financial Procedure Rules
Updated Oct 2017

Page 209

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Financial Procedure Rules






7.17

The whistleblowing policy
The Council’s Code of Conduct
The Anti-Money Laundering Policy
The correct reporting procedures to alert the Head of Internal Audit or the
Director of Governance of any suspected breaches of the afore-mentioned
policies

Director of Finance and Directors are responsible for:
 Ensuring that managers have adequate systems of internal control to prevent
or detect fraudulent activity
 Immediately notifying the Head of Internal Audit of any suspected fraud, theft,
irregularity, improper use or misappropriation of the Council’s property or
resources.

8.

Assets
Property Assets

8.1

The Head of Corporate Asset Management is responsible for ensuring that the
acquisition, transfer and disposal of the Council’s property assets and leases are
undertaken in accordance with the Council’s Property Procedure Rules. The
Property Procedure Rules form part of the Council’s Constitution.

8.2

The Head of Corporate Asset Management has delegated authority to deal with
the acquisition, transfer and disposal of the Council’s property assets and leases
unless the transaction is regarded as a key decision for the Authority or where
the property is acquired or disposed of for investment purposes only in
accordance with the Investment Property Portfolio Policy. Where the acquisition,
transfer or disposal is a key decision the transaction must be approved by
Cabinet, in accordance with Article 13 of the Constitution and the financial
thresholds for key decisions set out in Part 5 of the Constitution. Where the
property is acquired or disposed of for investment purposes only the transaction
must be approved by the Director of Finance in accordance with the Investment
Property Portfolio Policy and these Financial Procedure Rules.

8.3

The Head of Corporate Asset Management must notify the Director of Finance before
entering into any lease to ensure that the correct accounting treatment can be applied
to the lease.

8.4

For further guidance on Assets please consult the Property Procedure Rules.

Heritage Assets
8.5

Heritage assets are defined as assets that are held and maintained principally for
their contribution to knowledge and culture. The Council recognises war memorials,
civic regalia and its historic artefacts and museum stocks under this category.
Directors are responsible for the management and safe keeping of all heritage assets
that fall under the control of their directorate.

9
Page 9
Part 8 Financial Procedure Rules
Updated Oct 2017

Page 210

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Financial Procedure Rules

8.6

Directors are responsible for ensuring that heritage asset registers are maintained for
their respective directorates or, in the case of museum stocks, for each
establishment that holds the heritage asset, including those assets that are held in
storage.

8.7

Heritage assets must be recorded on the asset registers when they are acquired by
the Council. The heritage asset registers must be updated as changes occur with
respect to the location, value and condition of the heritage asset.

8.8

Any additions, disposals or transfers of heritage assets must be made in accordance
with the Councils Constitution, General Scheme of Delegation, and Financial Control
Manual. Directors must inform the Director of Finance of any such additions,
disposals or transfers so that the Council’s insurance portfolio is maintained up to
date and appropriate insurance cover is in place.

8.9

Directors are responsible for ensuring that periodic stock checks of the heritage
assets are undertaken, usually on an annual; basis. In conjunction with the Director
of Finance, Directors must also arrange for the periodic valuation of their heritage
assets to ensure that they are correctly valued for accounting and insurance
purposes.

Other Assets
8.10

Other assets are all assets that are not deemed to be property or heritage assets.
Directors are responsible for ensuring that asset registers are maintained for their
respective directorates and establishments, and assets are recorded on the asset
registers when the Council acquires them. The asset registers must be updated as
changes occur with respect to the location and condition of the heritage asset, and
periodic asset checks are undertaken, usually on an annual basis.

8.11

Any additions, disposals or transfers of assets must be made in accordance with the
Councils Constitution, General Scheme of Delegation, and Financial Control Manual.
Directors must inform the Director of Finance of any such additions, disposals or
transfers so that the Council’s insurance portfolio is maintained up to date and
appropriate insurance cover is in place.

9.

Procurement and Contracts
Procurement Using Official Orders

9.1

Directors are responsible for ensuring that all purchases of goods and services
comply with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules and the Council’s Financial
Control Manual. Directors should also ensure that officers make use of existing
Council contracts for supplies and services before commencing new procurements.

9.2

Directors are also responsible for ensuring that all goods and services purchased are
for the benefit of the Council, and are ordered only by appropriate persons. They are
also responsible for ensuring that orders are authorised by an appropriate person
and are correctly recorded.

Procurement Cards
9.3

The Council uses three types of purchasing cards: - Government Procurement
Cards, Pre-paid Cards, and Precision Payment virtual cards.

10
Page 10
Part 8 Financial Procedure Rules
Updated Oct 2017

Page 211

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Financial Procedure Rules

9.4

Government Procurement Cards are issued directly to authorised employees for the
procurement of goods and services (generally high volume, low value transactions).
Controls are in place to exclude specific transaction types and to control the value of
individual transactions and monthly spend. The authorising manager must agree
individual transactions. The authorising manager is also responsible for ensuring that
valid VAT receipts / invoices have been obtained and the transactions are allocated
to an appropriate cost code.

9.5

Pre-paid Cards are purchasing cards that have been pre-loaded with a monetary
value and are primarily used to replace low value cash transactions that would
ordinarily have been processed through petty cash.
Like the Government
Procurement Cards, officers can only use the cards for approved transactions, which
must be agreed by the authorising manager, and they are also responsible for
ensuring that valid VAT receipts / invoices have been obtained and the transactions
are allocated to an appropriate cost code.

9.6

Precision Payment is a virtual procurement card pre-approved on-line. A unique card
number is created for each transaction or a specific set of transactions, with
automatic reconciliation against a unique account number / cost code.

9.7

Business Support (Accounts Payable) are responsible for maintaining the rules
relating to the use of Government Procurement cards, Pre-Paid cards, and Precision
Payment virtual-cards; processing applications for cards; providing training and
undertaking monthly reconciliation activities.
The Chief Operating Officer is
responsible for providing the Director of Finance with assurance that all Government
Procurement cards, Pre-Paid cards, and Precision Payment virtual-cards have been
used in accordance with the Council’s Financial Control Manual and other relevant
procedures.

9.8

Staff are responsible for applying for purchasing cards through the appropriate
channel; ensuring compliance with Council policies and procedures for the correct
use of the cards and ensuring valid VAT receipts and/or invoices are obtained for all
transactions. The Authorising Manager is responsible for authorising transactions,
monitoring the use of the cards, and coding transactions.

Contracts
9.9

Corporate Procurement will maintain a contracts register in the form of electronic
copies of all contracts issued and entered into by the Council.

9.10

All procurement must be carried out in accordance with the Council’s Contract
Procedure Rules (CPRs). The CPRs detail the processes and approvals required for
entering into contracts including:








9.11

The use of the Council’s e-tendering portal
When to obtain quotes/tenders
Approval to proceed for high value procurements through the Strategic Board
Awarding contracts
Form of contracts
Variations
Waivers and exceptions

Failure to comply with the CPRs may result in disciplinary action. For further
guidance on Procurement & Contracts please consult the Contract Procedure Rules.

11
Page 11
Part 8 Financial Procedure Rules
Updated Oct 2017

Page 212

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Financial Procedure Rules

10.

Treasury Management

10.1

The Council has adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy
(CIPFA) Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the Public Sector 2011 Edition.
The Council has also agreed its own Investment Property Portfolio Policy.

10.2

The full Council is responsible for approving the Treasury Management policy
statement setting out the matters detailed in CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury
Management in Public Services. The Cabinet proposes the policy statement to the
full Council. The Director of Finance has delegated responsibility for implementing
and monitoring the statement.

10.3

All money, which the Council physically holds, is controlled by the Officer designated
for the purposes of Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, for the Council’s
purposes this is the Director of Finance.

10.4

The Director of Finance is responsible for reporting a proposed Treasury
Management Strategy for the coming financial year to Cabinet and Council at or
before the start of each financial year. Adoption of the strategy is by full Council.

10.5 All Council decisions on borrowing, investment or financing are delegated to the Director
of Finance who is required to act in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for
Treasury Management in the Public Sector 2011 Edition. The acquisition or disposal of
property for investment purposes only are delegated to the Director of Finance and/or
the Chief Executive in consultation with the Leader of the Council in accordance with the
financial thresholds set out in the Investment Property Portfolio Policy.
10.6

The Director of Finance is responsible for reporting to the Audit and Governance
Committee on the activities of the treasury management operation and on the
exercise of his delegated treasury management powers.
One such report will comprise an annual report on treasury management for
presentation by 30th September of the succeeding financial year.

Leasing Arrangements and PFI/PPP Funding Arrangements
10.7

Before entering into any finance or operating lease, or lease rental agreement, or
PFI/PPP arrangements, Directors must obtain agreement from the Director of
Finance to ensure that the arrangement is financially advantageous to the Council.
Directors should take appropriate legal advice from the Council’s Solicitor and
Corporate Finance to ensure that they meet the revised guidance for finance and
operating leases under IFRIC4, as this may alter the treatment of the income.

11.

Systems and Procedures

11.1

Sound systems and procedures are essential to an effective framework of
accountability and control.

11.2

The Director of Finance is responsible for the operation of the Council’s accounting
systems, the form of accounts and the supporting financial records. Any changes
made by Directors to the existing financial systems or the establishment of new
systems must be approved by the Director of Finance. However, Directors are
responsible for the proper operation of financial processes in their own departments.

12
Page 12
Part 8 Financial Procedure Rules
Updated Oct 2017

Page 213

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Financial Procedure Rules

11.3

Any changes to agreed procedures by Directors to meet their own specific service
needs should be agreed with the Head of Finance for that department.

11.4

Directors must ensure that, where appropriate, computer and other systems are
registered in accordance with data protection legislation. Directors must ensure that
members of staff are aware of their responsibilities under Data Protection and
Freedom of Information legislation and the Computer Misuse Act.

11.5

The Government Transparency Code requires all councils to publish data each
month on all payments over £500 and payment/credit card transactions of any value.
The Chief Operating Officer is responsible for ensuring that the Council conforms to
the code and the data is published on the Council’s web site. For reasons of privacy,
personal information is omitted from the published data; these include payments to
individuals including foster carers, children and adult carers, staff salaries and
pensions.

12.

Income and Expenditure

12.1

The Scheme of Delegation identifies staff authorised to act in respect of placing
orders for goods and service, making payments, and income collection, together with
the limits of their authority.

12.2

It is the responsibility of all Directors to ensure that the scheme of delegation is
operating effectively within their area and the responsibility of all staff on the scheme
to ensure that they operate within the limits defined by the Scheme.

Income
12.3

The Cabinet, having regard to the advice of the relevant Director and the Director of
Finance, is responsible for determining charges for Council services and for writing off
sums due to the Council above the level set out in the scheme of delegation. The
Cabinet is also responsible for delegating authority to officers to write off lesser value
sums due to the Council and to vary the income of the Council within prescribed
limits.

12.4

It is the responsibility of Directors to ensure that all charges for Council services are
reviewed at least once a year having regard to their appropriateness in relation to
relevant Council policies.

12.5

It is also the responsibility of all Directors to ensure that all income due to the Council
is identified, charged correctly, and administered in accordance with the Council’s
Financial Control Manual. They must ensure that effective action is taken to pursue
non-payment within defined timescales and formal approval for debt write-off is
obtained without delay.

Expenditure
12.6

Directors are responsible for ensuring that all procurement that has been undertaken
complies with the Contract Procedure Rules and Financial Control Manual. Directors
are also responsible for ensuring that payments are not made unless goods have
been received by the Council, for Council purposes, and are to the correct price,
quantity and quality standards. They are also responsible for ensuring that all
payments are made to the correct person, for the correct amount and are properly
recorded, regardless of the payment method.

13
Page 13
Part 8 Financial Procedure Rules
Updated Oct 2017

Page 214

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Financial Procedure Rules

12.7

All staff with payment responsibilities must ensure that they read and abide by the
Council’s Financial Control Manual.

12.8

For further guidance on expenditure please consult the Financial Control Manual.

Payments to Employees and Members
12.9

The Chief Operating Officer is responsible for making all payments of salaries and
wages to all employees, including payments for overtime, and for payment of
allowances to Members. The Chief Operating Officer is also responsible for
providing the Director of Finance with assurance that all such payments have been
made in accordance with the Council’s Financial Control Manual and are accurately
recorded in the Council’s financial systems.

13.

Taxation

13.1

The Director of Finance is responsible for advising the Chief Executive, Directors, the
Leader and Cabinet, and full Council, in the light of guidance issued by appropriate
bodies and relevant legislation as it applies, on all taxation issues that affect the
Council.

13.2

All Directors and their service Budget Holders are responsible for ensuring that the
appropriate controls and procedures are operated within the department or relevant
service areas in relation to taxation issues. Budget holders must ensure that they
retain all necessary documentation to allow the Council to reclaim VAT where
applicable.

13.3

The Director of Finance is responsible for maintaining the Council’s tax records,
making all tax payments, receiving tax credits and submitting tax returns to HM
Revenue and Customs by their due date as appropriate.

13.4

All Directors are responsible for ensuring that any ‘off payroll’ labour used by their
directorates have made proper arrangements for the payment of taxation and
national insurance contributions to HM Revenue and Customs. The Chief Operating
Officer is responsible for providing the Director of Finance with assurance that
Directors have appropriate controls are in place to ensure this happens and to
safeguard the Council from the liability for any outstanding taxes, interest or penalties
should these individuals fail to meet their obligations to HM Revenue and Customs.

14.

External Co-operation

14.1

The Council provides a distinctive Leadership role for the community and brings
together the contributions of the various stakeholders. It must also act to achieve the
promotion or improvement of the economic, social or environmental well-being of its
area.

Partnerships
14.2

The Cabinet is responsible for approving delegations for executive functions,
including frameworks for partnerships. The Cabinet is the focus for forming
partnerships with other local public, private, voluntary and community sector
organisations to address local needs.

14.3

The Cabinet may delegate executive functions, including those relating to
partnerships, to Officers. These are set out in the scheme of delegation that forms

14
Page 14
Part 8 Financial Procedure Rules
Updated Oct 2017

Page 215

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Financial Procedure Rules

part of the Council’s constitution. Where functions are delegated, the Cabinet remains
accountable for them to the full Council.
14.4

The Director of Finance is responsible for promoting and maintaining the same high
standards of conduct with regard to financial administration in partnerships that apply
throughout the Council. The Director of Finance must also ensure that the accounting
arrangements to be adopted relating to partnerships and joint ventures are proper
and conform to all relevant legislation, regulations and guidance.

14.5

The Director of Finance and the Director of Governance must consider the overall
corporate governance arrangements and legal issues when arranging contracts with
external bodies. They must also ensure that all risks have been fully appraised and
appropriate arrangements are in place to manage the residual risks before
agreements are entered into with external bodies.

14.6

Directors are responsible for ensuring that appropriate approvals are obtained before
any negotiations are commenced in relation to work with external bodies.

External Funding
14.7

External funding describes any funding that does not come from core government
grants, Council taxes, business rates, or fees, charges and contributions. This type of
funding generally comes from European, national and regional bodies, and is
allocated on a predominantly competitive basis.

14.8

It is the responsibility of Directors to ensure that: external funding bids are robust and will maximise income streams for the
Authority;
 any match funding required from the Council has been agreed in accordance
with the Council’s scheme of delegation and the Financial Control Manual;
 the External Funding Officer is informed of all bids for external funding prior to
submission of the bid;
 all returns and requests for draw down of funds are submitted promptly and
within the time scales set by the funding body;
 the Head of Internal Audit has been informed of all external funding streams
that will require an audit during the financial year and sufficient resources have
been set aside to meet the cost of those audits.

14.9

The Director of Finance is responsible for ensuring that all external funding notified by
the funding bodies is received and properly recorded in the Council’s accounts.

Work for Third Parties
14.10

The Cabinet is responsible for approving the contractual arrangements for any work
for third parties or external bodies, which are key decisions under the Council’s
Constitution.

Work by Third Parties
14.11

Directors must ensure that work carried out by third parties for the Council is
approved in accordance with the Council’s scheme of delegation, and covered by a
suitable contract or agreement so that the responsibilities of each party are clear.
Financial and legal advice should be sought at an early stage from the Director of
Finance and the Director of Governance respectively. This will ensure that the
organisation only carries out work that is within the relevant legal powers, and that

15
Page 15
Part 8 Financial Procedure Rules
Updated Oct 2017

Page 216

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Financial Procedure Rules

financial issues such as responsibility for managing budgets, insurance and taxation
are properly considered.

15.

Retention of Records

15.1

Records held locally in establishments shall be retained in accordance with approved
local information management schemes, which in turn must meet the Council’s
standards.

15.2

Directors are responsible for ensuring that financial records are carefully and
systematically filed and retained, in line with the approved local management
information schemes that meets relevant statutory requirements, and are available for
inspection by the Director of Finance, Internal Audit, external auditor or other external
agencies (e.g. HM Revenue and Customs).

15.3

The advised minimum periods for the retention of financial records are set out in the
Retention Guidelines for Local Authorities. The list is not exhaustive and, where there
is uncertainty, the Information Manager must be sought. Periods referred to for the
majority of financial records are six year plus the current financial year.
Financial records should be retained in accordance with the Financial Records
Retention Schedule.

15.4

The Director of Finance and the Director of Governance shall have access to
documents as deemed necessary.

16.

Devolution of Financial Management

16.1

Financial management covers all financial accountabilities in relation to the running of
the Council, including the policy framework and budget.

The Full Council, Cabinet and Members
16.2

The roles and responsibilities of these bodies are set out in the Articles Part 3 of the
Constitution.

The Statutory Officers
16.3

The Chief Executive is responsible for the corporate and overall strategic
management of the authority as a whole. He must report to and provide information
for the executive, the full Council, and other committees. The Chief Executive is
responsible for establishing a framework for management direction, style and
standards and for monitoring the performance of the organisation. The Chief
Executive is also responsible, together with the Director of Governance, for the
system of record keeping in relation to all the full Council’s decisions.

16.4

The Director of Governance is responsible for promoting and maintaining high
standards of financial conduct and for reporting any actual or potential breaches of
the law or maladministration to the full Council. The Director of Governance is also
responsible for maintaining an up to date constitution.

16.5

The Director of Governance (together with the Director of Finance) is responsible for
advising full Council about whether a decision is likely to be considered contrary or
not wholly in accordance with the budget or the policy framework.

16.6

The Director of Finance is the Council’s Section 151 Officer (under Section 151 of the
Local Government Act 1972) and has statutory duties in relation to the financial

16
Page 16
Part 8 Financial Procedure Rules
Updated Oct 2017

Page 217

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Financial Procedure Rules

administration and stewardship of the authority. This statutory responsibility cannot
be overridden.
16.7

To ensure that all financial implications of all reports are agreed and approved with
the Heads of Finance prior to their submission to the Cabinet, Council Leadership
Team or other bodies within and external to the Council.

16.8

To ensure that all appropriate financial controls and systems are in place where not
specified above.

16.9

The Director of Finance is responsible, in relation to these regulations for:
 the proper administration of the Council’s financial affairs; and in accordance
with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015
 setting and monitoring compliance with financial management standards;
 amendments to the Financial Procedure Rules;
 advising on the corporate financial position and on the key financial control
necessary to secure sound financial management;
 providing financial information;
 approval of financial schemes of delegation;
 preparing the revenue budget and capital programme;
 Treasury management;
 Internal Audit;
 Anti-Fraud;
 Risk Management;
 Insurance

16.10

Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 requires the Director of
Finance to report to the full Council, the Cabinet and the External Auditor of the
Council if one of its Officers:
 has made, or is about to make, a decision which involves incurring unlawful
expenditure;
 has taken, or is about to take, an unlawful action which has resulted or would
result in a loss or deficit to the Council;
 is about to make an unlawful entry in the Council’s accounts.

16.11

Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 also requires:
 the Director of Finance to nominate a properly qualified member of staff to
deputise should he or she be unable to perform the duties under Section 114
personally – this is the Deputy Chief Finance Officer or in their absence a
suitably qualified person;
 the Council to provide the Director of Finance with sufficient staff,
accommodation and other resources, including legal advice where this is
necessary, to carry out the duties under Section 114.

16.12

Directors are responsible for ensuring that Cabinet and Committee Members are
advised of the financial implications of all proposals and that the financial implications
have been agreed by the Director of Finance.

16.13

It is the responsibility of Directors to consult with the Director of Finance and seek
approval on any matter liable to affect the Council’s finances materially, before any
commitments are incurred.

17
Page 17
Part 8 Financial Procedure Rules
Updated Oct 2017

Page 218

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Financial Procedure Rules

16.14

The Strategic Advisers for the services should report to the Director of Finance and
where appropriate to the service Directors:
 any unlawful expenditure immediately it is realised that it is about to take place
or has taken place;
 any area where a loss or deficiency is about to occur;
 any concerns as regards the slow or non-banking of cash immediately;
 any significant loss of stock or concerns to the Director of Finance immediately;
 any other matter of financial significance.

16.15

The Budget Holder is responsible for managing the budget and the financial affairs of
the service area.
The responsibilities of the role include:
 compliance with all financial and contract procedures
 ensuring there are adequate risk management arrangements in accordance
with the council’s risk management strategy
 ensuring there are adequate governance arrangements reporting suspected
fraud, corruption and irregularities using the correct reporting procedures
 leading the production of revenue and capital programme budgets for the
service area ensuring all plans have appropriate and necessary budget
provision;
 ensuring plans and realistic prudent profiled budgets exist for the delivery of the
Medium Term Financial Strategy and to report year to date variances and
forecast outturn adverse or favourable variances immediately they exist;
 ensuring that appropriate financial controls exist and are maintained properly
within the service area and report on any deficiencies to the Strategic Adviser;
 providing appropriate financial information to the Strategic Adviser and their
respective teams in a timely, accurate and appropriate form and level of detail;
 actively seeking additional income or savings opportunities, including grant and
new financing opportunities, and reporting to the Strategic Adviser;
 ensuring that appropriate financial controls exist and are applied within the
service area and report on any deficiencies to the Strategic Adviser;
 ensuring that the appropriate financial controls are in place to ensure that all
the Council’s cash is paid into its bank accounts quickly and efficiently;
 ensuring value for money is obtained for the whole Council when undertaking
any procurement activity
 reconciling all cash received by the service area on a regular basis (at least
monthly);
 ensuring all monies due to the council are recorded accurately and recovered
promptly;
 ensuring that all accounts payable are settled within 30 days unless special
terms have been agreed by Director of Finance

16.16

The Budget Holder should report to their Strategic Adviser:
 any unlawful or inappropriate expenditure immediately it is realised that is
about to take place or has taken place;
 any area where a loss or deficiency is about to occur;
 any concerns as regards the slow or non-banking of cash immediately;
 any significant loss of stock or concerns immediately.

18
Page 18
Part 8 Financial Procedure Rules
Updated Oct 2017

Page 219

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Financial Procedure Rules

16.17

To confidentially advise the Director of Finance, Internal Audit or the Director of
Governance of any fraudulent activity and other losses through error and
mismanagement by any party connected with or employed by the Council.

16.18

To ensure that all financial implications of all reports are agreed and approved with
the Strategic Adviser prior to their submission to the Cabinet, a Committee, Council
Leadership Team or other bodies within and external to the Council.
To ensure that all appropriate financial controls and systems are in place where not
specified above.

19
Page 19
Part 8 Financial Procedure Rules
Updated Oct 2017

Page 220

Agenda Item 1x
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules

Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules
1.

Scope

Officer responsibilities
1.1

These Contract Procedure Rules (‘CPR’) apply to the procurement of goods,
services and works by the Council. They are intended to ensure:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

certainty in Contract terms;
consistency in the application of the law and Council policy;
probity;
Value for Money.

1.2

Contract Procedure Rules are made under section 135 of the Local Government
Act 1972.

1.3

Officers responsible for procuring goods, services or works must comply with
these CPR, Financial Procedure Rules and all UK legislative requirements.

1.4

CPR 1.3 shall apply to Agents and Consultants in the same way that it applies
to Officers. However, Officers shall bear ultimate responsibility for ensuring
Agents and Consultants comply with this requirement.

1.5

References to posts in these CPR are references to designated postholders and
the authorised deputies or delegates of these postholders, in accordance with
the General Scheme of Delegation (set out in part 3 of the Council’s
Constitution).

1.6

Officers must comply with these CPR in full, except where a valid waiver has
been obtained in accordance with CPR 6 or a Contract falls outside the scope
of these CPR. Failure to do so may constitute misconduct leading to disciplinary
action. If any Officer witnesses or identifies a failure to comply with these CPR,
they should raise it with their manager or report it confidentially under the
Council’s ‘Whistle Blowing Policy’.

1.7

Officers are reminded that the following parts of the Code of Conduct for
Employees (the ‘Code of Conduct’) apply to all Procurement Processes,
Contract awards and Contract Management:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)
(h)

4.3 – Relationships with contractors;
7 – Personal interests;
8 – Equalities;
9 – Separation of roles in tendering;
10 – Corruption;
11 – Use of financial resources;
12 – Gifts and hospitality;
13 – Sponsorship – giving and receiving.

Page 1
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules
February 2022

Page 221

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules

1.8

It is every Officer’s responsibility to be aware of and act in accordance with the
Code of Conduct. If in doubt, Officers must seek advice from their manager or
Human Resources. All Officers engaged in a Procurement Process shall comply
with the Code of Conduct and must not invite, accept or offer any gift or reward
in connection with the award or performance of a Contract. High standards of
conduct are obligatory. Corrupt behaviour will lead to dismissal and is a crime
under the Bribery Act 2010 and section 117 of the Local Government Act 1972.

1.9

No Contract shall be awarded, nor Quotation/Tender invited, unless the
expenditure involved has been included in approved capital or revenue budgets
or has been otherwise approved by or on behalf of the Council.

1.10

Prior to commencing a Procurement Process, Officers must:
(a)
(b)

check with a Procurement Officer whether a suitable Contract already
exists;
seek all necessary technical, procurement, legal and financial advice.

Interpretation
1.11

The Director of Governance and Law shall make all decisions relating to the
interpretation of these Rules.

The Public Contracts Regulations
1.12

Contracts with a value estimated to be equal to or greater than the relevant
Regulations Threshold, and Procurement Processes for the award of such
Contracts, are subject to the Public Contracts Regulations.

1.13

Regulations Thresholds vary from time-to-time. Officers unaware of current
Regulations Thresholds must verify these with a Procurement Officer prior to
commencing any Procurement Process.

Acceptance and awarding of grants
1.14

Where a proposed Contract is to be financed, wholly or partly, by a grant offered
by any organisation or person external to the Council, Officers must comply with
any conditions attaching to the grant prior to accepting the grant or commencing
any Procurement Process.

1.15

Where it is proposed to award a grant of a value exceeding the relevant
Regulations Threshold to any organisation or person external to the Council,
the Written advice of a Legal Officer must be obtained prior to awarding the
grant (even where previously approved standard conditions of grant are used)
in order to determine whether the grant may be a Contract subject to the Public
Contracts Regulations.

Page 2
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules
February 2022

Page 222

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules

Exclusions
1.16

These CPR do not apply to:
(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)
(e)
(f)

(g)
(h)

1.17

contracts of employment which make an individual a direct employee of
the Council. This shall not include Contracts for the provision of agency
staff or consultants;
Contracts solely for the acquisition, disposal, lease or rental of land,
existing buildings or other immovable property (such Contracts shall be
subject to Property Procedure Rules). However, some property
transactions may be subject to these CPR or the Public Contracts
Regulations, in particular where goods, services or works are connected
with the transaction. The advice of a Legal Officer must be sought prior to
awarding a Contract in these cases;
Contracts solely for the disposal of assets other than land, buildings or
other immovable property (such Contracts shall be subject to Financial
Procedure Rules);
unconditional grants awarded by the Council;
the instruction of barristers or solicitors;
specialist professional services necessary for legal proceedings, including,
but not necessarily limited to, expert witnesses, experts, mediators,
adjudicators, arbitrators and costs draftsmen;
the award of Contracts for which competition is prevented by government
or statutory control;
Contracts awarded to a wholly owned company established by the Council
in accordance with regulation 12 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015
(Teckal/Hamburg).

For the avoidance of doubt, unless a proposed Contract relates to one or more
of the exclusions specified in CPR 1.16, Officers must assume that the Contract
is subject to the full extent of these CPR. Where in doubt, Officers must seek
the advice of a Procurement Officer prior to commencing any Procurement
Process.

Partnerships/ shared services
1.18

Only Cabinet, a Council Committee or a Decision Maker may make a decision
to enter into a Contract on behalf of the Council.

1.19

Unless any third-party organisation with a separate legal identity from the
Council has delegated authority to act on the Council’s behalf:
(a)

(b)

that third-party organisation shall only make recommendations to the
Council in respect of a Procurement Process and/or the award of a
Contract; and
all decisions concerning the conduct of that Procurement Process and/or
the award of the Contract shall be made by Cabinet, a Council Committee
or a Decision Maker as required by and in accordance with these CPR.

Page 3
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules
February 2022

Page 223

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules

2.

Contract Value Bands and valuing Contracts

2.1

The procedures applicable to Procurement Processes are determined by
Contract Value Bands (‘Bands’):
Band

Contract Value

1

Up to £9,999

2

£10,000 to any amount below the relevant Regulations Threshold

3

Regulations Threshold and over

2.2

When valuing Contracts, Officers shall take into account the total estimated
value of the Contract over its full period, including any optional extension
periods, excluding VAT. Framework Agreements and Dynamic Purchasing
Systems shall be valued as a single Contract.

2.3

Officers are not permitted to subdivide Contracts with the intention of amending
or preventing the application of these CPR or the Public Contract Regulations.

3.

Officers with delegated authority to make decisions in
relation to these CPR (‘Decision Makers’)

3.1

Officers with delegated authority to make decisions in relation to these CPR
(‘Decision Makers’) are as follows:

Band

Maximum Contract value

Decision Maker

1

Up to £9,999

The responsible Team Manager or
Cost Centre Manager

2

£10,000 to any amount below the
Regulations Threshold

The responsible Divisional or
Assistant Director

Regulations Threshold and over –
up to £4,999,999

The responsible Divisional or
Assistant Director

£5,000,000 and over

The responsible Executive Director

3

3.2

However, Officers shall only be deemed to have delegated authority to make
decisions in relation to CPR where they have complied in full with CPR,
including any requirement to obtain the approval of a Cabinet Member/s or
Cabinet or another Officer.

Page 4
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules
February 2022

Page 224

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules

4.

Procurement notification form

4.1

In advance of any Procurement Process for the award of a Contract in Band 2,
Officers shall submit a ‘procurement notification form’ in accordance with current
guidance issued by the Director of Procurement. This requirement does not
apply to any Procurement Process that:
(a)
(b)

5.

has been referred to the Director of Procurement for inclusion in an Annual
Procurement Plan in accordance with CPR 5.3; or
is the subject of a Waiver application approved in accordance with CPR
6).

Approval to commence a Procurement Process

Annual Procurement Plan
5.1

In March of each year, the Director of Procurement shall submit an Annual
Procurement Plan to Cabinet for approval. The Annual Procurement Plan shall
set out relevant details of all Procurement Processes the Council proposes to
commence in the forthcoming financial year for Contracts with a value estimated
to be equal to or greater than following amounts:
Type of Contract

Amount

Goods or services

Regulations Threshold

Works

£1,000,000

5.2

In September of each year, the Director of Procurement shall submit a report to
Cabinet setting out any updates to the Annual Procurement Plan that have
become necessary in the preceding six months.

5.3

Each year, every Council directorate shall submit a report to the Director of
Procurement by no later than 31 January, providing relevant details of all
proposed Procurement Processes they require to be included in the Annual
Procurement Plan. Directorates shall submit a further report to the Director of
Procurement by no later than 31 July, providing details of any updates to the
Annual Procurement Plan that have become necessary in the preceding six
months.

5.4

The Director of Procurement shall review the Annual Procurement Plan, and
any updates to the Annual Procurement Plan, prior to them being submitted to
Cabinet for approval in accordance with CPR 5.1 and 5.2.

5.5

For the purposes of CPR 5.1 and 5.3, ‘relevant details’ of each Procurement
Process include:
(a)
(b)

name of Decision Maker;
Contract title and brief description of Contract;

Page 5
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules
February 2022

Page 225

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules

(c)
(d)
5.6

estimated Contract start and end dates and details of any optional
extension periods;
estimated Contract value (annual value and total value).

Procurement Processes for the award of Contracts with a value estimated to be
at or above the relevant threshold specified in CPR 5.1 that were for any reason
not included in the Annual Procurement Plan, shall be permitted to commence
provided that the remining provisions of CPR 5 have, where applicable, been
complied with. However, where the Procurement Process is subject to CPR 5.9
or 5.10, the Decision Maker shall, in seeking the approval of the Cabinet
Member or Cabinet, inform the Cabinet Member or Cabinet of the reasons why
the Procurement Process was not included in the Annual Procurement Plan.

Strategic Commissioning Board
5.7

A business case in a Standard Form must be submitted to and approved by
Strategic Commissioning Board prior to the commencement of any
Procurement Process for the award of a Contract/s with a value estimated to
equal to or greater than the following amounts:
Type of Contract

Amount

Goods or services

Regulations Threshold

Works

£1,000,000

Cabinet Member or Cabinet approval
5.8

Where applicable, CPR 5.9 and 5.10 shall be complied with regardless of
whether a Procurement Process has, where required by CPR 5.1, been
included in the Annual Procurement Plan.

5.9

For any Contract/s with a value estimated to be between £1,000,000 and
£4,999,999, the Decision Maker must obtain the approval of the relevant
Cabinet Member/s prior to commencing a Procurement Process. For this
purpose, the approval of the relevant Cabinet Member/s may be sought prior to
the approval of the business case by Strategic Commissioning Board in
accordance with CPR 5.7. However, the Cabinet Member/s may require the
Decision Maker to obtain the approval of Cabinet prior to commencing a
Procurement Process. For this purpose, Cabinet approval shall only be sought
following the approval of the business case by Strategic Commissioning Board
in accordance with CPR 5.7.

5.10

For any Contract/s with a value estimated to be equal to or greater than
£5,000,000, the Decision Maker must obtain the approval of Cabinet prior to
commencing a Procurement Process. For this purpose, Cabinet approval shall
only be sought following the approval of the business case by Strategic
Commissioning Board in accordance with CPR 5.7.

Page 6
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules
February 2022

Page 226

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules

6.

Waivers

6.1

The Director of Procurement may, in exceptional circumstances, waive one or
more CPR after consideration of a Waiver Application.

6.2

Where seeking a waiver of one or more CPR, the Decision Maker shall submit
a Waiver Application to the Director of Procurement in accordance with current
guidance issued by Director of Procurement. The Waiver Application must at a
minimum specify:
(a)
(b)
(c)

the CPR to be waived;
reasons for the proposed waiver/s; and
evidence that the waiver/s will provide Value for Money.

6.3

The following CPR cannot be waived: 1.1 to 1.13 and 1.16 to 1.19, 2 (Contract
Value Bands and valuing Contracts), 3 (Officers with delegated authority to
make decisions in relation to these CPR (‘Decision Makers’)), 5.1, 5.2, 5.4, 5.5,
5.6, 5.8, 5.9 and 5.10, 6 (Waivers), 10.8, 12.1, 17.1 and 17.13, 20.2, 21.5 and
21.7.

6.4

After consideration of a Waiver Application, the Director of Procurement shall
respond in Writing to the Decision Maker and either:
(a)
(b)

approve the Waiver Application;
decline the Waiver Application.

6.5

Officers shall not be permitted to implement the waiver/s proposed in a Waiver
Application until the Director of Procurement has responded to the Waiver
Application in accordance with CPR 6.4.

6.6

Under no circumstances shall the Director of Procurement provide a verbal
response to a Waiver Application.

6.7

Where a Waiver of one or more CPR is approved by the Director of Procurement
in accordance with CPR 6, all CPR other than those waived shall remain in full
force and effect.

6.8

The Council is unable to waive any requirement of the Public Contracts
Regulations. However, the Decision Maker must seek the Written advice of the
Director of Procurement and the Director of Governance and Law prior to
performing any action/s which may be in breach of these regulations.

6.9

Where a Waiver Application requests a waiver of any part of CPR 19 (Terms
and conditions, signing and sealing of Contracts) or CPR 20 (Suspension and
termination of Contracts, and claims from Contractors), the Director of
Procurement shall refer the Waiver Application to the Director of Governance
and Law for advice prior to responding to the Waiver Application.

Page 7
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules
February 2022

Page 227

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules

7.

Duration of Contracts, Framework Agreements and
Dynamic Purchasing Systems

7.1

No Contract (excluding Framework Agreements and Dynamic Purchasing
Systems) shall be awarded for a period exceeding five years without the prior
Written approval of the Director of Procurement (the submission of a Waiver
Application is not required for this purpose).

7.2

No Framework Agreement or Dynamic Purchasing System shall be awarded for
a period exceeding four years without the prior Written approval of the Director
of Procurement (the submission of a Waiver Application is not required for this
purpose).

8.

Preliminary market consultations

8.1

Before commencing a Procurement Process, Officers may consult with
prospective Suppliers for the purpose of undertaking market analysis, informing
the preparation of the Procurement Process (including the preparation of the
Procurement Documents) and informing Suppliers of the Council’s plans and
requirements.

8.2

For the purposes of CPR 8.1, any advice sought or accepted from prospective
Suppliers may only be used in the planning and conduct of a Procurement
Process provided that it does not have a discriminatory effect or distort
competition.

9.

Procurement Documents

9.1

All Quotations shall be invited using the Council’s standard Invitation to Quote.
Exceptions must be agreed in Writing by the Director of Procurement prior to
Quotations being invited (the submission of a Waiver Application is not required
for this purpose).

9.2

All Tenders shall be invited using the Council’s standard Invitation to Tender.
Exceptions must be agreed in Writing by the Director of Procurement prior to
Tenders being invited (the submission of a Waiver Application is not required
for this purpose).

9.3

Procurement Documentation shall always include a copy of the Council’s
relevant terms and conditions.

10. Competition requirements
Exemptions from competitive Procurement Processes
10.1

The obtaining of competitive Quotations or Tenders (in particular, the provisions
of CPR 10.7 to 10.10, and 10.13) is not required when undertaking a
Procurement Process for:

Page 8
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules
February 2022

Page 228

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules

(a)
(b)

(c)
(d)

(e)

(f)
(g)

goods/services/works where procured under an existing Contract, subject
to the Contract and the use of it being compliant with these CPR;
goods or services required in connection with existing equipment
(including software) of a proprietary nature where no suitable alternative
supplier exists;
a unique work of art or artistic performance;
the award of a Special Educational Needs or Social Care Contract where,
in the opinion of the Decision Maker following Written consultation with the
Director of Procurement, the award of the Contract to a particular Supplier
would provide Value for Money or is required to meet obligations under
relevant legislation;
the purchase of professional membership fees, or any training specifically
required to attain or renew a professional membership where the
organisation bestowing such membership requires the engagement of a
particular Supplier/s;
the payment of corporate membership fees to professional bodies;
the award of Contracts in situations of genuine emergency, in particular
where the Council is required to procure goods, services or works in order
to protect life or property or prevent serious disruption to services to the
public. Situations arising from a lack of planning and/or internal process
delays do not constitute emergencies.

Electronic Procurement System
10.2

All Procurement Processes for the award of Contracts in Band 2 and Band 3
shall be undertaken using the Council’s Electronic Procurement System.
Exceptions must be agreed in Writing by the Director of Procurement prior to
Quotations/Tenders being invited (the submission of a Waiver Application is not
required for this purpose).

10.3

CPR 10.2 does not apply to Procurement Processes for:
(a)

(b)

Call-Off Contracts awarded on a ‘direct award’ basis. For the purposes of
this CPR 10.3(a), ‘direct award’ shall mean a process whereby a Call-Off
Contract is awarded without reopening competition amongst the Suppliers
party to a Framework Agreement or Dynamic Purchasing System;
anything referred to in CPR 10.1.

Contracts within Band 1
10.4

At least one (1) Quotation must be received. For this purpose, an Invitation to
Quote shall be sent to at least one Supplier. Where practicable, a Quotation
from a Local Supplier must be sought.

10.5

Officers may choose to openly advertise the Invitation to Quote.

10.6

Where seeking one Quotation only, Officers must be able to demonstrate that
Value for Money has been obtained by maintaining appropriate records in
accordance with CPR 23.

Page 9
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules
February 2022

Page 229

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules

Contracts within Band 2
10.7

Competition requirements depend on whether a proposed Contract is for goods,
services or works, and estimated Contract value. These requirements are as
follows:

Contract
type

Goods or
services

Estimated
Contract value

£10,000 to
£49,999

Minimum competition requirements
At least three (3) Quotations must be obtained.
For this purpose, an Invitation to Quote shall be
sent to at least three Suppliers. All such
Suppliers must be contacted prior to the
commencement of the Procurement Process to
establish their interest in submitting a Quotation.
Where practicable, a Quotation from at least one
Local Supplier must be sought.
Officers may choose to openly advertise the
Invitation to Quote.

Goods or
services

Works

£50,000 to
Regulations
Threshold for
goods/services

£10,000 to
£499,999

An Invitation to Quote shall be openly advertised.

At least three (3) Quotations must be obtained.
For this purpose, an Invitation to Quote shall be
sent to at least three Suppliers. All such
Suppliers must be contacted prior to the
commencement of the Procurement Process to
establish their interest in submitting a Quotation.
Where practicable, a Quotation from at least one
Local Supplier must be sought.
Officers may choose to openly advertise the
Invitation to Quote.

Works

£500,000 to
Regulations
Threshold for
works

Page 10
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules
February 2022

An Invitation to Quote shall be openly advertised.

Page 230

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules

10.8

For Contracts with a value equal to or exceeding £25,000, where the Invitation
to Quote is openly advertised, the Invitation to Quote must be:
(a)
(b)

10.9

advertised on Contracts Finder, regardless of any other means of
advertising used; and
advertised on Contracts Finder within 24 hours of the time when it first
advertised it in any other way.

All Dynamic Purchasing Systems in Band 1 and 2 shall be openly advertised,
irrespective of estimated value. Dynamic Purchasing Systems shall be
advertised on Contracts Finder, regardless of any other means of advertising
used. For the avoidance of doubt, this CPR 10.9 refers to Dynamic Purchasing
Systems, not Call-Off Contracts.

10.10 Where CPR 10.7 requires that at least three Quotations must be obtained and
fewer than this number of Quotations are received, the Decision Maker must
obtain the Written approval of the Director of Procurement prior to awarding a
Contract (the submission of a Waiver Application is not required for this
purpose).
10.11 Subject to CPR 11.2, the requirements of CPR 10.7 do not apply to the award
of Call-Off Contracts.
10.12 The time limit for the return of Quotations shall not be less than seven (7)
calendar days from the date the Invitation to Quote is made available to
Suppliers or, where applicable, the Invitation to Quote is advertised. In any
event, the time limit for the return of Quotations shall allow reasonable time for
Quotations to be prepared and submitted, taking into account the complexity of
the subject-matter of the Contract.
10.13 All Procurement Documentation shall be made available to all Bidders at the
same time.
Contracts within Band 3
10.14 Tenders shall be sought in accordance with the Public Contracts Regulations.
Local Suppliers
10.15 For the purposes of CPR 10.4 and 10.7, a ‘Local Supplier’ shall mean a supplier
who performs any part of a Contract from premises with an address in the
London Borough of Waltham Forest.
10.16 Where no suitable Local Supplier exists, Officers shall have discretion to change
the definition of Local Supplier to mean a supplier based in one or more of the
following London Boroughs: Enfield, Hackney, Haringey, Newham or
Redbridge.

Page 11
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules
February 2022

Page 231

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules

11. Framework Agreements and Dynamic Purchasing
Systems
General principles
11.1

Officers are permitted to award a Contract under a Framework Agreement or
Dynamic Purchasing System awarded by another public body, provided that:
(a)

(b)

11.2

use of the Framework Agreement/ Dynamic Purchasing System is legally
compliant and likely to offer Value for Money, and has been approved in
Writing by a Procurement Officer prior to the commencement of the
Procurement Process; and
the Council has the right to use the Framework Agreement/ Dynamic
Purchasing System.

Call-Off Contracts shall be awarded strictly in accordance with the procedures
specified in the Framework Agreement or Dynamic Purchasing system. It is the
responsibility of the Officer awarding the Call-Off Contract to ensure the correct
procedures are followed, seeking the advice of a Procurement Officer and/or a
Legal Officer as necessary.

Dynamic Purchasing Systems
11.3

A Dynamic Purchasing System (‘DPS’) shall be identical to a Framework
Agreement, except that any Supplier may apply for admittance to a DPS
throughout the full period of its operation by satisfying defined Supplier
Qualification Criteria.

11.4

A DPS may be divided into different categories of goods/services/works (i.e.
lots). In such cases, it is permissible to stipulate Supplier Qualification Criteria
appropriate to each category.

11.5

At the time of inviting Tenders or Quotations under a DPS, Officers shall ensure
that all applications for admittance to the DPS received by that time have been
processed and all applicants have been notified of whether or not they have
been admitted to the DPS.

11.6

Officers shall, in Writing, invite all Suppliers admitted to a DPS to respond to
any Invitation to Tender/ Invitation to Quote issued under a DPS. Where a DPS
has been divided into lots, Officers shall invite all Suppliers admitted to the lot/s
corresponding to the procurement to submit a Quotation/Tender.

12. Supplier suitability
12.1

No Procurement Process for the award of a Contract with a value below the
relevant Regulations Threshold shall include a pre-qualification stage. For the
purposes of this CPR 12.1, a ‘pre-qualification stage’ shall mean a stage within
a Procurement Process during which Bidders are assessed against Supplier

Page 12
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules
February 2022

Page 232

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules

Qualification Criteria with the purpose of shortlisting a smaller number of
Bidders who are to proceed to a later stage of the Procurement Process.
12.2

Notwithstanding CPR 12.1, Officers shall ensure that all Suppliers have been
suitably assessed prior to being awarded a Contract. Suppliers shall be
assessed against appropriate Supplier Qualification Criteria relating to one or
more of the following:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

suitability to pursue a professional activity;
economic and financial standing;
technical and professional ability;
Social Value.

12.3

In Procurement Processes for Contracts with a value below the relevant
Regulations Threshold, CPR 12.2 may be complied with by applying minimum
standards or thresholds, which shall be specified in the Procurement
Documents.

12.4

All Contracts must require the Contractor to maintain the Council’s minimum
insurance requirements for the duration of the Contract. These requirements
will depend on the risks associated with the Contract and must be approved by
the Council’s Insurance Manager prior to the commencement of the
Procurement Process.

12.5

Prior to awarding a Contract to a Supplier, Officers are required to obtain Written
evidence of the Supplier’s insurance cover. Where required, Officers shall seek
the advice of the Insurance Manager.

13. Award Criteria
13.1

Award Criteria shall be the criteria used to assess Tenders, Quotations or the
terms of a Framework Agreement. These criteria may include one or more subcriteria. For the purposes of CPR 13, ‘Award Criteria’ shall be understood to
mean both the Award Criteria and any corresponding sub-criteria.

13.2

All Award Criteria shall be assigned a relative weighting expressed as a
percentage.

13.3

Award Criteria, including their relative weightings, shall be established prior to
the commencement of a Procurement Process and must be stated in full in the
Procurement Documents. Under no circumstances shall the Award Criteria be
changed following the Submission Date.

13.4

The award of Contracts shall be based solely on the Award Criteria specified in
the Procurement Documents.

13.5

Award Criteria must be appropriate to the procurement and designed to secure
an outcome that will provide Value for Money for the Council, and shall be one
or more of:

Page 13
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules
February 2022

Page 233

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules

(a)
(b)
(c)

lowest cost, lowest price or highest return (if payment is to be received
by the Council);
quality;
Social Value, as required by CPR 14.

14. Social Value
14.1

Officers shall have regard to:
(a)
(b)

any current guidance in relation to CPR 14 issued by the Director of
Procurement;
the Council’s Social Value Policy.

14.2

Officers are not required to comply with CPR 14 where doing so would prevent
compliance with CPR 11.2.

14.3

The Award Criteria used for the award of Contracts in Band 3 must include
Social Value, which shall carry a minimum 10% weighting.

14.4

For Contracts in Band 2, Officers may voluntarily include measures to assess
and secure Social Value. Such measures may include:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

particular requirements or minimum standards within the technical
specifications or Contract conditions;
appropriate Supplier Qualification Criteria;
appropriate Award Criteria;
awarding a Contract in the form of separate lots.

14.5

For the purposes of CPR 14.3 and 14.4, Officers must only consider measures
that are relevant and proportionate to the subject matter of the Contract.

14.6

The Council has committed to ensuring the London Living Wage (‘LLW’) is paid
as a minimum to staff employed by the Council’s Contractors and SubContractors in the delivery of certain Contracts.

14.7

Officers must seek advice from a Procurement Officer as to the applicability of
LLW to a particular Contract prior to commencing a Procurement Process for
the award that Contract.

14.8

For Contracts of a value equal to or greater than the amounts specified in CPR
5.1, Officers must specify in the business case submitted to Strategic
Procurement Board:
(a)
(b)
(c)

whether LLW will be paid under the proposed Contract;
that the financial modelling has been done to support payment of LLW;
if LLW is not to be paid, the reasons supporting this.

Page 14
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules
February 2022

Page 234

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules

15. Opening of Quotations and Tenders
15.1

Where Quotations or Tenders are not invited via the Electronic Procurement
System, Officers must:
(a)
(b)
(c)

comply with this CPR 15.1 except in cases where only one Quotation or
Tender is sought;
prior to the Submission Date, agree in Writing with a Procurement Officer
a process for opening such Quotations/Tenders;
ensure that such Quotations/Tenders are kept in a safe and secure place
at all times and not opened until after the Submission Date.

15.2

No Tender or Quotation for a Contract in Band 1 or 2 received after the
Submission Date shall be accepted without the prior Written agreement of the
Director of Procurement (the submission of a Waiver Application is not required
for this purpose).

15.3

No Tender or Quotation for a Contract Band 3 received after the Submission
Date shall be accepted without the prior Written agreement of the Director of
Procurement and the Director of Governance and Law (the submission of a
Waiver Application is not required for this purpose).

15.4

Quotations and Tenders received by any method other than by the method
specified in the Procurement Documents shall be rejected.

15.5

The procedures set out in CPR 15 also apply to the opening of Supplier
Qualification Documents where Suppliers are required to submit these
separately from a Tender or Quotation.

16. Clarification of Quotations and Tenders
16.1

Where information or documentation contained in a Quotation or Tender is
incomplete, or where specific documents are missing, Officers may require the
Bidder to submit or complete the applicable information or documentation.
However, Bidders shall not be permitted to submit any missing information or
documentation that is subject to the Award Criteria (such as but not limited to
pricing schedules and method statements).

16.2

No opportunity shall be given to amend any information contained in a Tender
or Quotation where the information concerned is subject to the Award Criteria,
other than where due to a demonstrable arithmetical or interpretive error
attributable to the Bidder.

16.3

In all Procurement Processes undertaken using the Electronic Procurement
System, all clarifications must be issued and received via the Electronic
Procurement System.

16.4

Any changes made to the Procurement Documents following the time at which
an Invitation to Quote/ Invitation to Tender is made available to Suppliers shall

Page 15
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules
February 2022

Page 235

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules

be communicated in Writing to Bidders prior to the Submission Date. Where
significant changes are made to the Procurement Documents, consideration
shall be given to extending the Submission Date by a period of time sufficient
to give Bidders reasonable opportunity to prepare responsive
Quotations/Tenders.

17. Evaluation of Quotations and Tenders and award of
Contracts
17.1

The confidentiality of Quotations and Tenders must be preserved at all times
and information about one Bidder's Quotation/Tender must not be given to
another Bidder.

Evaluation of Quotations and Tenders in Band 1
17.2

Quotations shall be evaluated in accordance with Award Criteria. Procedures
for the evaluation of Quotations shall be determined with the aim of ensuring
that Value for Money is obtained.

17.3

The award of any Contract in Band 1 shall be subject to the prior Written
approval of the responsible Cost Centre Manager/s.

Evaluation of Quotations and Tenders in Band 2
17.4

Quotations and Tenders shall be evaluated in accordance with Award Criteria,
which shall be specified in the Procurement Documents.

17.5

Prior to the award of a Contract, a Contract Award Report in a standard form
shall be drafted by the Decision Maker and sent to a Procurement Officer
(however, it is not a requirement that the Procurement Officer shall approve the
Contract Award Report).

Evaluation of Quotations and Tenders in Band 3
17.6

Quotations and Tenders shall be evaluated in accordance with Award Criteria,
which shall be specified in the Procurement Documents.

17.7

Prior to the award of a Contract, a Contract Award Report in a Standard Form
shall be drafted by the Decision Maker for Written approval by:
(a)
(b)
(c)

17.8

Director of Procurement;
Head of Finance;
Director of Governance and Law.

The Decision Maker shall obtain approval of the Contract Award Report as
required by CPR 17.7 prior to awarding a Contract.

Page 16
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules
February 2022

Page 236

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules

Evaluation of Framework Agreements, Dynamic Purchasing Systems and CallOff Contracts
17.9

The evaluation of Quotations and Tenders for Framework Agreements and
Dynamic Purchasing Systems awarded by the Council shall be in compliance
with CPR 17.

17.10 The evaluation of Quotations and Tenders invited under a Framework
Agreement or Dynamic Purchasing System (‘Call-Off Contracts’) shall be in
compliance with CPR 17.
17.11 The evaluation of any pre-existing terms (for example, pricing) which form part
of a Framework Agreement, for the purpose of awarding a Call-Off Contract
based on those terms, shall be in compliance with CPR 17.
17.12 For the purposes of CPR 17.10, where it is anticipated that a series of Call-Off
Contracts are to be awarded over the term of a Framework Agreement or
Dynamic Purchasing System, it is permissible for a single Contract Award
Report to authorise the award of all such Contracts provided that the Contract
Award Report is in compliance with the relevant provisions of CPR 17.
Publication of Contract awards
17.13 After a Contract has been awarded, Officers must:
(a)
(b)

where Contract value exceeds £5000, publish details of the Contract in the
Council’s contract register, via the Electronic Procurement System; and
where Contract value exceeds £25,000, publish details of the Contract on
Contracts Finder.

18. Notifying successful and unsuccessful Bidders
18.1

Following approval of a Contract Award Report in accordance with CPR 17, all
Bidders shall be notified in Writing of the outcome of the Procurement Process.
This shall not include any Bidders that have already been excluded from the
Procurement Process.

19. Terms and conditions, signing and sealing of Contracts
19.1

Subject to CPR 19.7, no work shall commence until the Contract is signed by
all parties and, where required by CPR 19.5, sealed.

19.2

Every Contract shall be based on terms and conditions in a form approved by a
Legal Officer. No modifications to these terms and conditions shall be made
(whether during the course of a Procurement Process or after the Contract has
been awarded) without prior Written consultation with a Legal Officer. This shall
include any modifications proposed by Bidders or Contractors.

Page 17
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules
February 2022

Page 237

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules

19.3

Contracts of a value of up to £100,000 shall be prepared and signed by the
Decision Maker.

19.4

Contacts of a value exceeding £100,000 shall be prepared by a Legal Officer.

19.5

A Contract must be made under the common seal of the Council where:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

the Contract is of a value equal to or exceeding £1,000,000; or
irrespective of Contract value, the Council wishes to enforce the Contract
for a period of more than 6 years; or
irrespective of value, the Contract is for works using JCT or NEC terms
and conditions; or
the value of the consideration paid or received under the Contract is a
nominal value that does not reflect the value of the goods, services or
works.

19.6

Call-Off Contracts, whether awarded under a Framework Agreement or
Dynamic Purchasing System established by the Council or an external
organisation, shall be signed and sealed in accordance with CPR 19.

19.7

In exceptional circumstances, where a Bidder is required to provide goods,
services or works prior to entering into a Contract with the Council, a ‘letter of
intent’ may be used in lieu. A letter of intent shall not be used without the prior
Written agreement of the Director of Governance and Law and until an award
decision has been made in accordance with CPR 17.

Electronic signatures and seals
19.8

In accordance with the Electronic Identification and Trust Services for Electronic
Transactions Regulation 2016 (2016 No.696) (‘the eIDAS Regulation’) and
section 7 of the Electronic Communications Act 2000, electronic as well as
physical signatures and seals may be affixed to a Contract.

19.9

Electronic seal stamps could be used as an alternative to physical sealing of
Contracts provided the Director of Governance and Law has authorised such
execution.

19.10 For electronic signatures to be used by a Supplier they must be accompanied
by an authority email from two directors confirming the identity of the person
signing, their position as directors for the company concerned alongside
confirmation that they have the authority to sign on behalf of the Contractor. The
signatory must be able to be identified from the electronic signature.

Page 18
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules
February 2022

Page 238

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules

20. Suspension and termination of Contracts, and claims
from Contractors
Suspension and termination of Contracts
20.1

No Contract with a value exceeding the relevant Regulations Threshold shall be
suspended or terminated without prior Written consultation with the Director of
Procurement and the Director of Governance and Law.

Claims from Contractors
20.2

Claims from Contractors in respect of matters not clearly within the terms of any
Contract shall be referred to the Director of Governance and Law for
consideration of the Council’s legal liability before any settlement is made. Any
payments in respect of such claims shall be subject to the following approval
procedures:
Value of claim

Approval procedure

Up to £999,999

Decision Maker to approve payment under delegated
authority.

£1,000,000 to £4,999,999

Decision Maker to obtain the Written approval of the
relevant Cabinet Member/s. The Cabinet Member/s
may instead require the Decision Maker to obtain the
approval of Cabinet.

£5,000,000 and above

Decision Maker to obtain Cabinet approval.

21. Variations to Contracts and extensions to Contracts
Variations to Contracts
21.1

Contracts may be varied without the need to undertake a new Procurement
Process so as to allow the procurement of additional goods, services or works
from the original Contractor (‘Contract Variations’), where all of the following
conditions are fulfilled:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)

(f)

a budget has been allocated for any additional expenditure;
the Contract Variation does not alter the overall nature of the Contract;
the Decision Maker is able to demonstrate that the Contract Variation
provides Value for Money;
the value of the additional goods, services or works do not exceed 50% of
the value of the original Contract;
where it is proposed to extend the duration of a Contract (and the Contract
is not subject to CPR 21.8), the length of the extension is for a period no
greater than 12 months;
the Contract Variation does not entail any material variations to the
Contract conditions.

Page 19
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules
February 2022

Page 239

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules

21.2

Contract Variations permitted by this CPR 21 may be authorised by the Decision
Maker without the need to comply with CPR 6 (Waivers).

21.3

Where a Contract is subject to successive Contract Variations:
(a)
(b)

the cumulative value of the additional goods, services or works to be
procured shall not exceed 50% of the value of the original Contract;
the cumulative duration of any extensions to the duration of the Contract
does not exceed 12 months.

21.4

CPR 21 does not apply to Contracts with a value above Regulations Thresholds.
Prior to implementing Contract Variations in relation to such Contracts, the
Decision Maker must seek the Written advice of the Director of Procurement
and the Director of Governance and Law.

21.5

Officers are not permitted to implement any Contract Variation that has the
effect of increasing the value of a Contract beyond the relevant Regulations
Threshold. Where in doubt, Officers shall in Writing seek the advice of a Legal
Officer and a Procurement Officer.

21.6

Any proposed Contract Variation that would of itself be of a value equal to or
greater than the amounts specified in CPR 5.7 shall be subject to approval by
Strategic Commissioning Board.

21.7

A decision to implement a Contract Variation of a value equal to or greater than
£1,000,000, or that has the effect of increasing the value of a Contract to an
amount equal to or greater than £1,000,000 shall be subject to the approval of
the relevant Cabinet Member/s and/or Cabinet, in accordance with CPR 5.9 and
5.10. Where in doubt, Officers shall in Writing seek the advice of a Legal Officer
and a Procurement Officer.

Contract extension options
21.8

Where a Contract includes an explicit option to extend its duration for a specified
period of time, the Decision Maker may exercise this option provided all of
following conditions are met:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

the extension is for the same goods, services or works described in the
Contract;
the length of the extension is no longer than permitted by the Contract;
the financial terms for the extension are the same as those specified in the
Contract;
for Contracts of a value equal to or greater than the amounts specified in
CPR 5.7, the decision to extend has been approved by Strategic
Commissioning Board.

22. Contract management
22.1

Decision Makers shall assign a Contract Manager/s to all new Contracts.

Page 20
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules
February 2022

Page 240

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules

22.2

Contract Managers must follow all current guidance on Contract Management
issued by the Director of Procurement.

23. Record keeping
23.1

All records shall be retained in accordance with the Procurement Retention
Schedule.

Page 21
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules
February 2022

Page 241

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules

Definitions
Terms listed below shall have the corresponding definitions meanings assigned to
them. The term ‘person’ shall include persons and any body of persons, corporate or
non-corporate.
Term

Definition

‘Agent’

Any person acting on the Council’s behalf.

‘Award Criteria’

The criteria, which may include one or more subcriteria, used to assess Tenders, Quotations or the
terms of a Framework Agreement.

‘Bidder’

A Supplier who has, or is seeking to, submit a
Tender or Quotation to the Council.

‘Cabinet’

The Cabinet of the London Borough of Waltham
Forest.

‘Cabinet Member’

A member of the Cabinet of the London Borough of
Waltham Forest.

‘Call-Off Contract’

A Contract awarded under a Framework Agreement
or Dynamic Purchasing System.

‘Consultant’

A person engaged to advise the Council.

‘Contract’

A legally binding agreement between the Council and
one or more third parties for the supply of goods,
provision of services or execution of works (or a
combination of these). Unless otherwise stated, the
term ‘Contract’ shall also refer to a Framework
Agreement and a Dynamic Purchasing System.

‘Contract Award Report’

A report in a Standard Form setting out details of a
Procurement Process undertaken and a proposal to
award a Contract to one or more Suppliers.

‘Contract Management’

The process undertaken by Contract Managers to
ensure that risk and cost are managed within the
terms of a Contract and that the intended outcomes
of the Contract are delivered.

‘Contract Manager’

An Officer assigned by the Decision Maker to
undertake Contract Management.

‘Contractor’

Any person awarded a Contract by the Council.

‘Contracts Finder’

www.gov.uk/contracts-finder

Page 22
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules
February 2022

Page 242

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules

‘Contract Value Bands’/
‘Bands’

Contract value ranges as defined in CPR 2 for the
purpose of determining the procedures relating to
each Procurement Process.

‘The Council’

The Council of the London Borough of Waltham
Forest.

‘Council Committee’

A committee established by the Council which has
functions of the Council delegated to it. This
definition includes sub-committees.

‘Decision Maker’

As defined in CPR 3.

‘Director of Governance
and Law’

The person designated by the Council to act in this
role.

‘Director of Procurement’

The person designated by the Council to act in this
role.

‘Dynamic Purchasing
System’

A procurement system that is identical to a
Framework Agreement, except that it shall be open
throughout the full period of its operation to any
Supplier that satisfies defined Supplier Qualification
Criteria. Dynamic Purchasing Systems shall be
awarded and operated in accordance with CPR 11.3
to 11.6.

‘Electronic Procurement
System’

An electronic system for inviting and receiving
Tenders and Quotations, approved for use by the
Director of Procurement.

‘Framework Agreement’

An agreement between the Council or another public
body, and one or more Suppliers, which establishes
the terms under which the Suppliers may enter into
one or more Contracts with the Council in the period
during which the Framework Agreement applies.

‘Head of Finance’

The person designated by the Council to act in this
role.

‘Invitation to Tender’

A set of Procurement Documents, in a Standard
Form, constituting a formal invitation from the Council
to one or more suppliers to submit a legally binding
Tender.

‘Invitation to Quote’

A set of Procurement Documents, in a Standard
form, constituting a formal invitation from the Council
to one or more suppliers, to submit a legally binding
Quotation.

‘Legal Officer’

A representative of the Director of Governance and
Law.

‘Local Supplier’

As defined in CPR 10.15 and 10.16.

Page 23
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules
February 2022

Page 243

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules

‘Member’

An elected member of the Council of the London
Borough of Waltham Forest.

‘Officers’

An employee of the Council. For the purposes these
CPR, ‘Officers’ shall have the same meaning as
‘Members’.

‘Procurement Documents’/
‘Procurement
Documentation’

The documents constituting an Invitation to Quote or
an Invitation to Tender. This shall include Supplier
Qualification Documents.

‘Procurement Officer’

A representative of the Director of Procurement.

‘Procurement Process’

A process undertaken in accordance with these CPR
with the intention of awarding a Contract. For the
purposes of these CPR, a Procurement Process
shall be deemed to have started at the time an
Invitation to Tender/ Invitation to Quote is advertised,
or at the time an Invitation to Tender/ Invitation to
Quote is sent to participating suppliers (whichever is
sooner). A Procurement Process shall be deemed to
have concluded at the time a Contract is signed by
all parties (and, where required by CPR 19.5,
sealed), in accordance with CPR 19.1. The activities
described in CPR 8 (preliminary market
consultations) are not deemed to form part of a
Procurement Process.

‘Public Contracts
Regulations’

The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (as
amended) or The Concession Contract Regulations
2016.

‘Quotation’

An offer submitted to the Council by a Bidder in
response to an Invitation to Quote.

‘Regulations Thresholds’

The threshold amounts applicable to Contracts for
goods, services and works as specified in regulation
5 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, and
concession Contracts as specified in regulation 9 of
the Concession Contracts Regulations 2016.
Contracts with a value estimated to be equal to or
greater than the relevant Regulations Threshold, and
Procurement Processes for the award of such
Contracts, are subject to the applicable regulations.

‘Supplier Qualification
Criteria’/ ‘Supplier
Qualification Questions’

Questions designated for the purpose of assessing
the suitability of Suppliers to be invited to submit a
submit a Tender or Quotation or to be awarded a
Contract, more particularly defined in CPR 12.2.

‘Supplier Qualification
Documents’

Documents consisting of Supplier Qualification
Questions.

Page 24
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules
February 2022

Page 244

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules

‘Social Value’

Economic, environmental and social benefits (or any
combination of these).

‘Standard Form’

In a form approved by the Director of Procurement.

‘Sub-Committee’

A sub-committee established by the Council or by a
Committee, which has functions delegated to it by
the Council or a Committee.

‘Submission Date’

The last time and date by which Quotations or
Tenders may be submitted.

‘Supplier’

Any person who offers the supply of goods, the
provision of services or the execution of works.

‘Tender’

An offer submitted to the Council by a Bidder in
response to an Invitation to Tender.

‘Value for Money’

The optimum balance of cost, quality and risk and
Social Value.

‘Waiver Application’

An application to waive one or more CPR submitted
in accordance with CPR 6 (Waivers).

‘Written’/ ‘in Writing’

Information conveyed in hard-copy (paper) or
electronically transmitted documents (including, but
not necessarily limited to, email and e-forms). This
shall not include the transmission of information via
mobile telephone text messages and e-messaging
services such as, but not limited to, Microsoft Skype
and Microsoft Teams.

Page 25
Part 8 – Contract Procedure Rules
February 2022

Page 245

Page intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1y
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Employment Procedure Rules

Part 8
Employment Procedure Rules
1.

Definitions

1.1.

For the purposes of these rules officers are categorised as “Other Officers”
and “Chief Officers” which are further defined as follows:

1.2.

Statutory Chief Officers
1.2.1. Head of Paid Service (LGHA 1989, s 4)
1.2.2. Monitoring Officer (LGHA 1989, s 5)
1.2.3. Chief Finance Officer (LGA 1972, s151)
1.2.4. Director of Children’s Services (Children Act 2004, s 18)
1.2.5. Director of Public Health (National Health Service Act 2006, s
73A(1))
1.2.6. Director of Adult Social Services (Local Authority Social Services
Act 1970, s 6(A1))
1.2.7. Other statutory Chief Officers within the meaning of section 2(6) of
the Local Government and Housing Act 1989; and
1.2.8. Any interim appointments to these posts.

1.3.

Non-statutory Chief Officers
1.3.1. An officer who reports directly to the Head of Paid Service and is
paid a Chief Officer Grade as defined in the Council’s annual Pay
Policy Statement
1.3.2. Other non-statutory Chief Officers within the meaning of section 2
of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989; and
1.3.3. Any interim appointments to these posts.

1.4.

Deputy Chief Officers
1.4.1. An officer who reports directly to a direct report of the Head of Paid
Service (tier two of the Council’s Management Structure as

Page 1
Part 8 Employment Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 247

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Employment Procedure Rules

appended to the Constitution at Part 11) and is paid a Chief Officer
Grade as defined in the Council’s annual Pay Policy Statement; and
1.4.2. Other Deputy Chief Officers within the meaning of section 2 of the
Local Government and Housing Act 1989; or
1.4.3. An officer identified in Appendix A to these rules; and
1.4.4. Any interim appointments to these posts.
1.5.

Other Officers
1.5.1. All other officers not described above.

2.

Recruitment and appointment

2.1.

Declarations
2.1.1. The Council will draw up a statement requiring any candidate for
appointment as an Officer to state in writing whether they are
related to an existing Councillor or Officer of the Council; or the
partner or ex-partner of such a person.
2.1.2. No candidate so related to a Councillor or an Officer will be
appointed without the authority of the relevant Chief Officer or an
Officer nominated by him/her.

2.2.

Seeking councillors support for appointment
2.2.1. Subject to paragraph 2.2.3 below, the Council will disqualify any
applicant who directly or indirectly seeks the support of any
Councillor for any appointment with the Council. The content of this
paragraph will be included in any recruitment information.
2.2.2. Subject to paragraph 2.2.3 below, no Councillor will seek support
for any person for any appointment with the Council.
2.2.3. Nothing in paragraphs 2.1.1 and 2.1.2 above will preclude a
Councillor from giving a written reference for a candidate for
submission with an application for appointment.

Page 2
Part 8 Employment Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 248

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Employment Procedure Rules

2.3.

Chief Officer posts covered by these Rules
2.3.1. Except where stated in these rules, Parts 3 to 9 apply to statutory
Chief Officers, non-statutory Chief Officers and Deputy Chief
Officers.

For the purposes of these rules, these posts will be

referred to as “Chief Officer Posts”. The current list of posts is set
out at Appendix A but failure to include on this list a post that is at
the same level will not exclude it from the provisions of these rules.

3.

Recruitment

3.1.

Where the Council proposes to recruit and appoint to a Chief Officer Post
and it is not proposed that the appointment be made exclusively from
among their existing Officers, the Council will:
3.1.1. draw up a statement specifying:
3.1.1.1. the duties of the post concerned; and
3.1.1.2. any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person to
be appointed;
3.1.1.3. make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a
way as is likely to bring it to the attention of persons who
are qualified to apply for it; and
3.1.1.4. make arrangements for a copy of the statement mentioned
in paragraph (1) to be sent to any person on request.
3.1.2. The Head of Paid Service is responsible for keeping this list up to
date in the light of changes to the Council’s organisational structure.

4.

Staffing Committee

4.1.

The Council has appointed a Staffing Committee (the Committee) to
exercise all of its powers in relation to the appointment, discipline,
grievances and dismissal of Chief Officer Posts, where not restricted or
prohibited by law. References to the Committee include a sub-committee
of the Committee established by it to carry out its functions.

Page 3
Part 8 Employment Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 249

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Employment Procedure Rules

4.2.

The Committee must include at least one Member of the Cabinet. Where
the Committee is considering the appointment or the dismissal of any
Officer (excluding the dismissal of a Statutory Officer – see below), the
Committee must also include at least one member of an Overview and
Scrutiny Committee.

5.

Appointment of Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service)

5.1.

The full Council will determine whether to approve the appointment of the
Head of Paid Service following a recommendation by the Staffing
Committee.

5.2.

The Council may only make or approve a Head of Paid Service
appointment, where no well-founded objection has been made by any
member of the Cabinet (see Part 9).

6.

Appointment to other Chief Officer Posts

6.1.

The Staffing Committee has delegated authority to appoint all other Chief
Officer Posts, but an offer of employment shall only be made where no
material or well-founded objection from a Member of Cabinet has been
received (see part 9).

6.2.

Officers not covered by these Rules: Other than statutory assistants to
political groups and some fixed-term acting appointments, all other
appointments are the responsibility of the Chief Executive, as Head of
Paid Service or her/his nominees, and may not be made by Councillors.
(The Council’s General Scheme of Delegation sets out the delegation of
these powers).

6.2.1. Assistants to political groups. Appointment of an assistant to a political
group shall be made in accordance with the wishes of that political group.
Note: The Council is not able to make any political assistant appointment
until the Council has allocated posts to all political groups which qualify for
one.

The Council is required to consider the allocation of a political

assistant to a political group in accordance with the relevant regulations.
Page 4
Part 8 Employment Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 250

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Employment Procedure Rules

Non-qualifying groups are not allowed political assistants. More than one
advisor per group is not permitted.
6.2.2. Fixed-term acting appointments. These rules will not apply where an
appointment is required for a limited time to perform the duties of a Deputy
Chief Officer in the event of a vacancy or long-term absence (known as
“acting”), and it is proposed that the appointment be made exclusively
from among their existing Officers. These rules will apply should the acting
appointment be for a statutory or non-statutory Chief Officer.

7.

Disciplinary action against and dismissal of the Head of
Paid Service, Monitoring Officer or Chief Finance Officer
(“the statutory officers”).

7.1.

The Staffing Committee has power to decide whether to investigate any
allegation of misconduct by a statutory officer, all matters relating to the
conduct of the investigation and may suspend the statutory officer on full
pay whilst any investigation and/or any subsequent disciplinary process
takes place.

7.2.

The Committee will consider the investigation report, any other evidence it
considers relevant and the officer will have an opportunity to state their
case.

7.3.

The Committee will consider whether disciplinary action is needed and, if
so, the appropriate sanction. Where the proposed sanction is less than
dismissal, the Committee will instruct officers to implement any sanctions.

7.4.

Where the Committee proposes dismissal:
7.4.1. a Statutory Officer Independent Panel (the Panel comprised of at
least two persons appointed under s28(7) of the Localism Act 2011)
which will receive its advice, views or recommendations.
7.4.2. The Panel will consider the dismissal and may give its advice, views
or recommendations to Full Council;

Page 5
Part 8 Employment Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 251

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Employment Procedure Rules

7.4.3. The Panel must be established at least 20 working days before the
full Council meeting.
7.4.4. Full Council will decide whether or not to approve the dismissal
taking into account: the investigation and its conclusions; the
Panel’s

advice,

views

and/or

recommendations;

and

any

representations by the relevant officer.

8.

Disciplinary action against and dismissal of other Chief
Officers (“non-statutory officers”)

8.1.

The Staffing Committee has power to decide whether to investigate any
allegation of misconduct by a non-statutory Chief Officer, all matters
relating to the conduct of the investigation and may suspend the statutory
officer on full pay whilst any investigation and/or any determine any
subsequent disciplinary process that takes place.

8.2.

The Committee has power to impose any sanction up to and including
dismissal, subject to Section 9 below.

8.3.

Where required, the Committee will consider an appeal against a
disciplinary sanction or dismissal of a non-statutory Chief officer as
defined in these rules.

9.

Cabinet Objections to Appointments or Dismissals

9.1.

Where a committee makes the decision to appoint or dismiss a Chief
Officer Post any Cabinet member has the right to object before an
appointment is made or a notice of dismissal is given.

9.2.

The Chief Executive will inform all Cabinet members about the proposed
appointment or dismissal in writing. The Chief Executive will advise:
9.2.1. The name of the person who is the subject of the proposed
appointment or dismissal
9.2.2. Any other particulars relevant to the appointment or dismissal which
the Panel has notified to the Chief Executive

Page 6
Part 8 Employment Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 252

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Employment Procedure Rules

9.2.3. That objections must be received within five working days; and
9.2.4. That any objections must be made to the Leader of the Cabinet.
9.3.

The appointment or dismissal can only be made if:
9.3.1. There is no objection from the Members of the Cabinet within five
working days; or
9.3.2. An objection is received and considered by the Panel but is not
considered to be material or well founded.

10.

Organisational Restructuring

10.1. Responsibilities for restructuring are found in the Council’s General
Scheme of Delegation.
10.2. Restructuring within a single directorate is the responsibility of the relevant
Director.
10.3. Restructuring involving more than one directorate in a material way (to be
determined by the Director of Governance and Law) is the responsibility of
the Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service)
10.4. Restructuring that affects all directorates in a material way (to be
determined by the Director of Governance and Law) is the responsibility of
Cabinet and Cabinet must also approve any changes to the senior
management structure (see Cabinet Terms of Reference).

11.

Annual Pay Policy Statement

11.1. Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Council to prepare and
publish a pay policy statement for the following financial year. The
statement will set out the authority’s policies relating to remuneration of
chief officers and its lowest paid officers; and the relationship between the
remuneration of its chief officers and that of its employees who are not
chief officers.
Page 7
Part 8 Employment Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 253

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Employment Procedure Rules

11.2. The annual pay policy statement will be adopted by Council before the end
of March of each year. The Council has the power to amend the statement
in-year.

Page 8
Part 8 Employment Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 254

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Employment Procedure Rules

APPENDIX A

Categorisation of Chief Officer graded posts for the purpose of
these rules

Category
Statutory Chief Officers
(Staffing Committee
make permanent and
temporary
appointments)
Non-statutory Chief
Officers
(Staffing Committee
make permanent and
temporary
appointments)

Deputy Chief Officers
(Staffing Committee
make permanent
appointments; Head of
Paid service makes
temporary
appointments)

Page 9
Part 8 Employment Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Post
 Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service)
 Strategic Director, Finance and Governance (Chief
Finance Officer)
 Director, Governance and Law (Monitoring Officer)
 Deputy Chief Executive (Director of Children’s
Services and Director of Adult Social Services)
 Director, Public Health
 Strategic Director, Corporate Development
 Strategic Director, Economic Growth
 Strategic Director, Neighbourhood and Commercial
Services

Reporting to the Deputy Chief Executive:
 Director, Care and Support
 Director, Connected Communities
 Director, Housing
 Director, Integrated Commissioning
 Director, Wellbeing and Independence
Reporting to the Strategic Director, Economic Growth
 Director, Property and Asset Management
 Director, Regeneration and Growth
Reporting to the Strategic Director, Neighbourhoods
and Commercial Services
 Director, Commercial Innovation
 Director, Customer Service and Business Support
 Director, Highways and Parking
 Director, Neighbourhoods

Page 255

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Employment Procedure Rules

Reporting to the Strategic Director, Finance and
Governance
 Director, Financial Management
 Director, Return on Investment
 Director, Supply Chain
 Assistant Director, Internal Audit and Anti-Fraud
Reporting to the Strategic Director, Corporate
Development
 Director, Communications and Communities
 Director, Digital and ICT
 Director, Transformation and HR

Other Officers
(Head of Paid Service
makes permanent and
temporary
appointments)

Within the directorate of the Deputy Chief Executive:
 Director, Disability Enablement
 Director, Housing Solutions
 Director, Learning
 Assistant Director, Commissioning
 Assistant Director, Corporate Parenting
 Assistant Director, Housing Strategy and
Development
 Assistant Director, Operations
 Assistant Director, Quality Assurance
 Assistant Director, Safeguarding and Family
Support
 Assistant Director, Transformation and Integration
 Public Health Consultant x 2
Within the directorate of the Strategic Director,
Economic Growth
 Director, Capital Delivery
 Director, Strategic Planning and Development
 Assistant Director, Investment and Delivery
 Assistant Director, Property
Within the directorate of the Strategic Director,
Neighbourhoods and Commercial Services
 N/A
Within the directorate of the Strategic Director,
Finance and Governance
 HM Coroner
Within the directorate of the Strategic Director,
Corporate Development

Page 10
Part 8 Employment Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 256

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Employment Procedure Rules

 Assistant Director, Technology Innovation
 Creative Director, Borough of Culture

Page 11
Part 8 Employment Procedure Rules
Updated April 2019

Page 257

Page intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1z
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Urgency Procedure Rules

Part 8 - Urgency Procedures
1.

In situations of urgency, where a decision is required to be made by
Council, Cabinet, a committee or sub-committee or other decision
making body that cannot wait until the next meeting of that body, and it
is not possible to hold an urgent meeting of that body, such a decision
should be made with reference to the following delegations.


It is necessary to comply with the provisions of paragraph 16
(Special Urgency) of the Access to Information Rules if the decision
is a key decision.



If that decision is a decision of a type usually made by the Cabinet
or a committee thereof, the Leader of the Council, in consultation
with the Portfolio Holder, the Chief Executive and/or any relevant
officers, is delegated the power to exercise the functions of that
decision making body, subject to paragraph 1.2 below;



If it is impossible or impractical in the circumstances for the Leader
of the Council to exercise this delegated power, the power is
delegated to the relevant portfolio holder, in consultation with the
Chief Executive and/or any relevant officers;



If it is impossible or impractical for the relevant portfolio holder to
exercise this delegated power, the power is delegated to the Chief
Executive to be exercised upon advice from the Monitoring Officer.



If that decision is a decision of Council that cannot be delegated to
Cabinet, the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader of the
Cabinet, or relevant portfolio holder, and upon relevant advice, is
delegated the power to make decisions or take actions on behalf of
the Council.



If that decision is a decision of Council in relation to planning
applications, the Executive Director of Environment & Regeneration
Services, in consultation with the Chief Executive, if appropriate, is

Page 1
Part 8 Urgency Procedure Rules
Last printed October 2016reviewed April 2018

Page 259

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Urgency Procedure Rules

delegated the power to make decisions or take actions on behalf of
the Council.
1.2

These powers should only be used in exceptional circumstances and in
cases of urgency. Any such exercise of this urgency power must be
reported to the next available meeting of Cabinet/Council. It should be
noted that the Call-In procedure should not apply to decisions made under
the urgency power.

1.3

Decisions are generally urgent where:


the Council, or constituents will be exposed to a significant level of
risk should the decision not be taken; and/or



the decision can be considered of pressing importance requiring
expeditions

action

to

prevent

loss,

damage

or

significant

disadvantages to Council, its members or its constituents.
1.4

A decision will not be considered urgent where it has simply been omitted
from inclusion in the Council’s agenda on a particular occasion.

Page 2
Part 8 Urgency Procedure Rules
Last printed October 2016reviewed April 2018

Page 260

Agenda Item 1aa
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Property Procedure Rules

Part 8 - Property Procedure Rules
1

Management of the Council’s Property Assets.

1.1.

In these Rules, property means any land and/or buildings in which the Council
has a legal or equitable interest.

1.2.

The Head of Property is delegated all the Council’s powers necessary to acquire,
dispose of and manage Council property in accordance with these Rules, subject
to the following:
1.2.1. The Executive must approve property disposals, acquisitions and other
decisions that are key decisions in accordance with Article 13 of the
Constitution and the Council’s financial thresholds for key decisions in Part
5 of the Constitution;
1.2.2. Decisions on the acquisition or disposal of property for investment
purposes only in accordance with the Council’s Investment Property
Portfolio Policy are delegated to the Strategic Director of Finance and the
Chief Executive in consultation with the leader of the Council as
appropriate under the Financial Procedure Rules.
1.1.1. the Council’s General Scheme of Delegation;
1.1.2. the management of residential housing stock is excluded;
1.1.3. the management of highways is excluded; and
1.1.4. any other statutory requirement.

1.3

In these Rules, the ‘Head of Property’ means the Chief Officer with responsibility
for the management of the Council’s property portfolio.

1.4

The Head of Property may delegate his/her functions under these Rules to one or
more Council officers but must record any delegations in writing providing a copy
to the Director of Governance.
Ownership and use of Council property

1.5

The Council owns all Council property assets corporately. Council services or
other occupiers of Council property do so as tenants of the Council managed by
officers in accordance with the Strategic Asset Management Plan (SAMP).

1.6

The Capital Strategy and Asset Management Group (CSAMG) is a senior officer
governance body with the remit to be the Council’s advisory body for the
Council’s capital strategy and all property asset management.
Strategic Asset Management Plan (SAMP)

1
Updated April 2021

Page 261

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Property Procedure Rules

1.7

The Head of Property is responsible for preparation of the Council’s SAMP, in
conjunction with relevant services.

1.8

The overarching SAMP will set out the basis on which the service or partners
occupy premises.
Schools Asset Plan

1.9

The Deputy Chief Executive for Families is responsible for the Schools Asset
Plan. This plan must align with the Council’s SAMP as far as is practicable.

1.10

The head teacher and governing body are responsible for fulfilling the role of
‘responsible custodians’ of school premises. This includes but is not limited to
ensuring that the site and buildings are managed in an appropriate manner and
identifying the future premises needs of the school through the school
development plan.

1.11

Individual local authority maintained (community) schools are responsible for the
management of assets set out in the Council’s Local Management Scheme and
in relevant legislation, with responsibility resting with the governing body and
head teacher although absolute responsibility remains with the local authority.

1.12

For voluntary controlled and voluntary aided schools, the diocesan board/trust
and the governing body are responsible for management of assets.

1.13

The governing bodies of academies and free schools have responsibility for
managing their assets.
Termination of service use of Council property

1.14

The relevant Head of Service must give as much notice as possible and not less
than three months’ notice of termination of the use of any Council property. The
Service remains responsible for all running and other costs of the property,
including security costs, during the notice period. The Service must allow the
Head of Property to market the property if it is to be disposed of and allow access
to prospective future users to view the property.

1.15

All vacant properties referred to the Head of Property will be reviewed and if
suitable for re-use, appropriate recommendations made to the SAMP Steering
Group CSAMG in line with Corporate objectives.

1.16

All vacant / surplus properties will be reviewed, and a regular review of all Council
assets will be carried out as part of the Strategic Asset Management Planning
process.

1.17

Use of Council assets and property will be based on the optimum use subject to
business case based upon delivery of corporate objectives and financial
sustainability.
Public Notices

2
Updated April 2021

Page 262

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Property Procedure Rules

1.18

The Head of Property has power to issue any public notice required by statute or
otherwise in respect of Council property.

2.

Disposal of Property

2.1

The Head of Property is delegated all the Council’s powers to dispose of its
property, subject to 1.2 and where otherwise expressly stated in these Rules.

2.2

All disposals must be for best consideration and advertised on the open market,
except where provided by these Rules.

2.3

The Head of Property may, with the agreement of the Director of Finance,
dispose of property for less than best consideration in accordance with Section
123 of the Local Government Act 1972 or other statutory provision and taking into
account any Council policy relating to property disposals.

2.4

Prior to the disposal of property, the Head of Property will consult with CSAMG or
its successor group by submitting an options report which will include
recommendations. The options report will include:
2.4.1 the most appropriate method of disposal;
2.4.2 whether a development or planning brief should be prepared and included
in the sale documents; and
2.4.3 whether the disposal is for less than best consideration and the grounds
for this. The Head of Property will make the final decision but the Director
of Finance will be consulted on the report and agree any disposal where
2.3 applies.

2.5

Where a disposal is by public auction, the property must not be sold at less than
the reserve price agreed by the Head of Property and the appointed auctioneer.

2.6

Where the disposal is by private treaty, the asking price must be not less than the
Head of Property valuation or the agent's valuation, if one is appointed.

2.7

Where the disposal is by competitive tender, the following steps must be taken:
2.7.1 The property must be advertised and placed in at least one Newspaper,
journal or electronic media likely to be read by persons interested in the
property and at least two newspapers and/or journals or electronic media
which are likely to be read by persons involved in property or
development.
2.7.2 The advertisement must describe the property, state where further details
can be obtained and invite tenders giving a closing date for receipt of
tenders at least 14 days later.
2.7.3 The receipt and opening of tenders must be carried out in accordance with
the Contract Procedure Rules.

3
Updated April 2021

Page 263

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Property Procedure Rules

2.7.4 If the Head of Property is of the opinion that a tender other than the
highest should be accepted, Rule 2.3 applies.
2.7.5 If the Head of Property thinks that no tender represents the best price
which can reasonably be obtained, he or she must consider re-tendering
the property concerned, or other method of disposal.
2.7.6 If the highest tender is received late or does not comply with these Rules
or the Council Procedure Rules, the Assistant Director Procurement and
Commissioning will decide the appropriate course of action, upon advice
from the Director of Governance.
Negotiations
2.8

A written record of any negotiations must be made for the acquisition or disposal
of an interest in property. The Head of Property must approve terms provisionally
agreed by the negotiators.

3

Acquisition of Property

3.1

The Head of Property is delegated all the Council’s powers to acquire property,
subject to 1.2 and where expressly stated in these rules.

3.2

The service requiring the interest in property to be acquired must in accordance
with the Council’s budget framework ensure an adequate business case is
prepared with funding available for the full costs of acquisition (including any
necessary professional fees). All business cases will be referred to and reviewed
by the Head of Property.

3.3

The Head of Property must approve provisional terms for all acquisitions of
property interests.

3.4

The Head of Property must certify that the price and terms and conditions of all
acquisitions are fair and reasonable and represent the best that can be
negotiated.

4.

Tenanted Non-Operational Property

4.1

This section applies to tenanted property which is not used for the Council’s own
services, for example commercial property.

4.2

The Head of Property has delegated powers to undertake all necessary
management action in respect of interests in property leased from or to the
Council including:
4.2.1 Grant leases or licences up to a term value of £1milllion in respect of any
Council property or land holding;

4
Updated April 2021

Page 264

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Property Procedure Rules

4.2.2 Settle the terms for all rent reviews or lease renewals, arising under
existing leases, and to approve the appointment of an arbitrator,
independent expert or mediators where necessary;
4.2.3 Determine all applications for consents required under existing leases,
(e.g. assignments, sub-lettings, changes of use alterations) and settle any
terms arising;
4.2.4 Issue warrants of distress to certified bailiffs in respect of rent arrears or
other due debts on any non-residential property;
4.2.5 Settle the terms for compensation of dilapidations arising from the ending
of leases/licences in respect of all types of property;
4.2.6 Negotiate or accept surrenders of leases or tenancies or agree minor
variations or extensions to the terms thereof; and
4.2.7 Approve, in consultation with the Director of Finance, arrangements for the
acceptance of financial offers in relation to sums due and outstanding to
the Council in respect of non-residential rents and service charges, etc.

5

Property Compensation

5.1

The Head of Property has delegated powers to:
5.1.1 Determine home loss/disturbance payments under the Land
Compensation Act 1973 and the exercise of the Council’s discretionary
powers under Section 37 (5) of the Act;
5.1.2 Determine well-maintained payments under Schedule 23 of the Housing
Act 1985;
5.1.3 Settle the amount of a 90% advance payment of compensation authorised
by the Land Compensation Code in circumstances where such a payment
has been requested; and
5.1.4 To agree payments in full and final settlement with claimants or their
representatives, subject to ensuring adequate budget provision is available
and obtaining advice from the Director of Governance.
5.1.5 Determine the amount of the sealed offer to be made in compensation
claims to the Upper Tribunal (Lands Chamber) or First Tier Tribunal, as
appropriate.
5.1.6 To agree the making of a Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) up to the
land value of £499,999, including the submission of Statements of
Reasons, Statement of Case and all other necessary documentation but
where the value is between £100,000 - £499,999 the decision must be
made following consultation with the Portfolio Holder.

5
Updated April 2021

Page 265

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Property Procedure Rules

For Information: CPO’s where the land value is £500,000 and above are to be
made by the Executive unless expressly delegated by the Executive.

6

General Property Management

6.1

The Head of Property has delegated power to:
6.1.1 Settle the terms of compensation in connection with Discontinuance
Orders and Stop Notices;
6.1.2 Provide all property valuations for appropriations, stock transfer, balance
sheet, statutory, subsidy, internal rate of return and grant purposes and to
determine transfer, asset or inter service rents;
6.1.3 Agree rights of way, easement and way leave agreements with statutory
undertakers, public utility and telecommunications companies and
adjoining property owners;
6.1.4 Make planning applications for marketing or development purposes;
6.1.5 Arrange for the removal of persons/s or effects occupying or present on
Council premises without authorisation;
6.1.6 Lodge objections/proposals and pursue rating appeals in respect of
Council premises where an over assessment seems probable; and
6.1.7 Settle the terms for the modification or release of restrictive covenants in
freehold titles and leases in respect of matters considered to be
uncontroversial.

7

Appropriations

7.1

Subject to any statutory descriptions, the Head of Property is delegated powers to
appropriate land (i.e. transfer Council property from one use to another). Any
appropriations must be made in consultation with the Executive and/or Strategic
Director(s) whose services are affected.

8

Capital Receipts

8.1

All capital receipts generated from the disposal of Council property/properties will
be allocated to the Corporate Capital Budget.

9

Officers’ Responsibilities: Conduct, Conflicts of Interest & Corruption

6
Updated April 2021

Page 266

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Property Procedure Rules

These Rules are mandatory for all officers involved in the management of Council
property. Failure to follow these Rules may constitute misconduct leading to
disciplinary action. If any officer witnesses or identifies a failure to comply with
these Rules, they should raise it with their manager or report it confidentially
under the Council’s Whistleblowing Policy.
9.1

The Code of Conduct for employees applies to the procurement of all contracts
and, in particular, the following parts:
1.7.1. 4.3 – Relationships with Contractors
1.7.2. 7 – Personal interests
1.7.3. 8 – Equalities
1.7.4. 9 – Separation of roles in tendering
1.7.5. 10 – Corruption
1.7.6. 11 – Use of financial Resources
1.7.7. 12 – Gifts and Hospitality
1.7.8. 13 – Sponsorship – Giving and Receiving

7
Updated April 2021

Page 267

Page intentionally left blank

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Co-Option Scheme

Agenda Item 1bb

Co-option Scheme
Voting Members
1.

Introduction

1.1

The Localism Act 2011 introduced a requirement for councils to establish a scheme
of co-option for all non-elected Members with voting rights. Without a scheme, nonelected representatives cannot become co-opted Members and hold voting rights.
Additional arrangements for the co-option of independent non-voting co-opted
Members onto other Committees are set out below.

1.2

The purpose of this scheme of co-option is to:
• Formalise the appointment of co-opted Members
• Outline the role and expected contribution of co-opted Members
• Clarify the induction to be provided to co-opted Members and the
support and training to be made available
• Provide Scrutiny Committees with the opportunity to appoint further coopted Members

1.3

Co-opted Members can provide scrutiny committees with outside knowledge,
experience and skills that can inform the work of scrutiny and supplement the role of
councillors.

1.4

Nothing in this Scheme Rules alters Council’s power to change the number, size,
structure and membership, including co-opted members of its committees,
notwithstanding the statutory education roles outlined above.

2.

Statutory Co-opted Members

2.1

In Waltham Forest there are a minimum of four co-opted Members with full voting
rights required by statute, all on the Scrutiny Committee responsible for education,
currently the Children and Families Scrutiny Committee, as follows:



A minimum of two Parent Governor representatives (maximum: 3)
Two diocesan representatives, one each from the Church of England
Diocese of Chelmsford and the Roman Catholic Diocese of Brentwood.

2.2

The Parent Governor Representatives and the diocesan representatives on the
Scrutiny Committee exercising education functions are required by law (The School
Standards and Framework Act 1998 for Parent Governors and the Education Act
1996 for Diocesan Representatives). The legislation explains that these co-opted
members will have full speaking and voting rights for any decisions relating to
education and school matters. The quorum of three elected Members of the
Council is unaffected by this.

2.3

Parent Governor Representatives are elected by the Borough’s parent governors I
accordance with the Parent Governor Representative Procedure Rules, but once
co-opted their role is to be an apolitical voice for all parents in the area.

The Church of England and Roman Catholic representatives are nominated by the Bishop of
Chelmsford and Bishop of Brentwood respectively. Co-opted Members have the same rights
Co-Option Scheme
Approved October 2020

Page 269

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Co-Option Scheme

of access to information as councillors, and are required to comply with the same Code of
Conduct in respect of exempt information and other matters
3.

Terms of office

3.1

Unless made specific at the time, voting members are co-opted for four years, subject
to review by Annual Council. The term of four years may be renewed once by the
relevant Committee.

3.2

A Scrutiny Committee may rescind an appointment if it feels it is necessary.

3.3

A person shall cease be a co-opted member if they resign, become a member or
officer of Waltham Forest Council, or are otherwise disqualified. If a person is coopted by virtue of their membership or representation of an organisation from which
the Council has sought nominations, they will cease to be a co-opted member when
their membership or representation of that organisation ceases.

Additional Arrangements: Non-voting Members
4.

Non-Statutory Co-opted Members

4.1

As well as the statutory appointments of co-opted members that the Council must
make, there is also fairly broad discretion as to the appointment of non-voting coopted members of committees, from among people who are not elected Members of
the Council. Co-option is a means by which a committee can seek the views of a
more diverse group of people and broaden the base of its work. The Council must
also be satisfied there has been clear and transparent nomination process, where no
individual or group is unfairly disadvantaged or discriminated against.

4.2

Unless made specific at the time, non-voting members are co-opted, by the
committee or the Council, for four years. The appointment is reported to the next
available meeting of the Council and is reviewed at Annual Council. The term of four
years may be renewed once by the relevant committee or by the Council. Nothing in
this clause prevents a Scrutiny Committee from making time-limited appointments for
a specific purpose, and the practice of inviting witnesses.

4.3

There is an independent co-opted member of the Audit and Governance Committee
who receives an allowance and is required to comply with the Code of Conduct. This
appointment may be rescinded by Council alone.

4.4

A Scrutiny Committee may rescind an appointment if it feels it is necessary.

4.5

Other non-voting co-opted members do not receive an allowance unless provided for
in the Scheme of Members’ Allowances. They are expected to comply with the
Officer-Member Protocol generally, but particularly in their relationship with officers
and in respect of any confidential or exempt information. Their presence or otherwise
does not affect the quorum of three elected Members.

4.6

Non-statutory co-opted Members can be disqualified during their term of office if they
do not attend four consecutive meetings of the committee to which they have been
co-opted without giving an apology;

4.7

A person shall cease be a co-opted member if they resign, become a member or

Co-Option Scheme
Approved October 2020

Page 270

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Co-Option Scheme

officer of Waltham Forest Council, or are otherwise disqualified. If a person is coopted by virtue of their membership or representation of an organisation from which
the Council has sought nominations, they will cease to be a co-opted member when
their membership or representation of that organisation ceases, or the organisation
ceases to be.
4.8

Other Committees of the Council established under the Local Government Act 1972,
s.101, may not have voting members who are not Members of the Authority. There
are special provisions for observers and independent advisors of the Pension
Committee.

General Provisions
5.

Powers and responsibilities

5.1

Statutory and non-statutory co-opted members will:












Be entitled to speak on any matter that is discussed by the committee
to which they have been appointed
Be encouraged to contribute to the development of the scrutiny work
programme and propose agenda items for future meetings
Have full voting rights on all education matters (excluding any non-statutory
co-opted Members)
Be eligible to chair a scrutiny committee in the absence of the Chair or
Vice-Chair, sub-committee or working group. Non-voting co-opted
members may not exercise the Chair’s second or casting vote.
Be expected to attend all meetings of the committee to which they have been
appointed, having read the agenda papers
Bring an external perspective to the work of scrutiny using their
specialist knowledge and experience
Be expected to represent the whole community and not just one sector or
viewpoint
Act independently of party politics and lobbying interests
If appropriate, be responsible for keeping the organisation or interest they
were appointed to represent informed and engaged in scrutiny
Recognise that they may encounter sensitive information or situations, and
to act with discretion
Abide by the Code of Conduct (voting members and those in receipt of an
allowance) or otherwise the Officer-Member Protocol

6.

Support for Co-opted Members

6.1

Co-opted Members will be provided with the necessary level of support.
 All summons, agendas and committee reports will be sent to co-opted
members at the same time as elected Members and will comply with the
public access to information regulations.
 An induction will be provided for new co-opted Members that will outline their
expected contribution to scrutiny and familiarise them with the Members’
Code of Conduct and Officer-Member Protocol
 Co-opted members will be invited to attend Member training sessions that
relate to their role on Scrutiny.

Co-Option Scheme
Approved October 2020

Page 271

Page intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1cc
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Parent Governor Procedure Rules

Part 8 - Parent Governor Procedure Rules
References: Local Government Act 2000, section 21 and Schedule 1
(paragraph 9), Parent Governor Representatives (England) Regulation 2001

1.

SUMMARY OF RIGHTS OF PARENT GOVERNOR
REPRESENTATIVES WHO ARE MEMBERS OF THE
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
Speaking and voting rights
Parent and governor representatives, who are members of an
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, are entitled to vote only on
education matters, whether in respect of schools or wider
educational issues. They may speak on any other matters within
the remit of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.
Agenda setting rights
Parent and governor representatives have the right to ensure their
concerns are put on the agenda of their Overview and Scrutiny
Committee. Such concerns would follow the usual process for
agenda item clearance.
Chairing rights
Parent Governor representatives are eligible to Chair their
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (or its sub-committees). If they
are appointed as Chair and a non-education item is to be
discussed, then they may vacate the Chair for such items and
allow another voting member to take over. This would then allow
the replacement Chair to cast a Chair’s vote if necessary.
Minimum membership level
The minimum number of parent governor representatives that can
be appointed to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee dealing
with education matters is 2, the maximum number is 5.

Page 1
Part 8 - Parent Governor Procedure Rules
Last printed in December 2007

Page 273

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Parent Governor Procedure Rules

Term of office
The Council can determine the period as long as it is not less than
two years nor greater than four years, and has agreed a four year
term. The period will start not more than one month after the date
of the announcement of the result of the election in which s/he
has been elected. The Council has agreed that it will be on the
fourth day after the election.
Failure to attend meetings
A parent governor representative who has failed to attend the
meetings for a continuous period of 6 months beginning with the
date of a meeting, shall, on the expiry of that period, cease to be
qualified to hold that office. A parent governor representative shall
not be considered to have failed to attend a meeting if s/he has
tendered an apology for absence before the meeting has taken
place and the apology has been accepted by the meeting.

PARENT GOVERNOR PROCEDURE RULES
1

Election Procedures for Parent Governors
The Council can make arrangements for, and determine all other matters
relating to, the holding of an election of a parent governor representative.
The Council can also appoint another body to conduct or oversee such
elections.
A local education authority may make arrangements –
(a)

dividing parent governor representatives into different categories
representing –
(i)

particular types of school, or

(ii)

maintained schools in a particular area; and

Page 2
Part 8 - Parent Governor Procedure Rules
Last printed in December 2007

Page 274

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Parent Governor Procedure Rules

(b)

where they have done so, restricting the electorate for each such
category to parent governors of the same type of school or parent
governors of maintained schools in that area (but they need not do
so).

Where a vacancy for a parent governor representative is required to be filled
by election the local education authority shall announce that vacancy and at the
time of that announcement shall –
(a)

appoint a returning officer to ensure fair conduct of the election;

(b)

take such steps as are reasonably practicable to secure that every
person who is known to them to be eligible to vote in the election of
a parent governor representative is –
(i)

informed of the vacancy and that it is required to be filled by
election;

(ii)

informed that they are entitled to vote;

(iii)

informed of any arrangements made in respect of the
election under regulation 4(2);

(iv)

informed of the details of the electoral timetable and
procedures;

(v)

informed of the qualifications which a person requires in
order to be elected as a parent governor representative, and
of the term of office of a parent governor representative; and

(vi)

provided with a description of the role of a parent governor
representative.

Any election of a parent governor representative which is contested shall be
held by secret ballot.
No ballot paper in such an election shall contain any indication of an affiliation
with a political party.

Page 3
Part 8 - Parent Governor Procedure Rules
Last printed in December 2007

Page 275

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Parent Governor Procedure Rules

Where a vacancy for a parent governor representative arises, the local
education authority shall (a) determine, for the purposes of the election, any question as to a
person’s entitlement to vote or eligibility to stand for election;
(b) provide for every person who is eligible to vote in the election to have
an opportunity to do so by post;
(c) secure that the results of the election are announced not more than
one week after the date of the election, and not more than three
months after the announcement of the vacancy.
Where a vacancy remains unfilled because no, or not enough, candidates
seek election, the local education authority shall comply with the requirements of
this regulation again with one year of the original vacancy having arisen and at
six monthly intervals thereafter, calculated from the first anniversary of the
original vacancy having arisen, until the vacancy is filled.
Nothing in these Regulations shall require a ballot to be held if the number of
vacancies to be filled is equal to or exceeds the number of candidates for
election.
2.

Eligibility to vote in elections
A person shall be eligible to vote in the election of a parent
governor representative if at the date of the election s/he id a parent
governor at a maintained school maintained by the local education
authority holding the election, and either ‘
(a)

where voting for a particular category of parent governor
representative is restricted to parent governors of a particular type
of school, s/he is a parent governor of that type of school; or

(b)

where voting for a particular category of parent governor
representative is restricted to parent governors of schools in a
particular geographical area, s/he is a parent governor of a
maintained school in that area.

Page 4
Part 8 - Parent Governor Procedure Rules
Last printed in December 2007

Page 276

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Parent Governor Procedure Rules

3.

Qualification for election as a parent governor representative
Subject to paragraphs (2) to (4), a person shall, unless disqualified
under any enactment, be qualified to be elected as a parent governor
representative in an election held by a local education authority if on the
date of the election (a)

s/he is a parent governor at a maintained school which is
maintained by the local education authority;

(b)

s/he is the parent of a registered pupil who is educated at a
maintained school which is maintained by the local education
authority, or who is educated by the authority otherwise than at a
school;

(c)

where the vacancy is for a parent governor representative to
represent a particular type of school, s/he is a parent governor at
that type of school, and

(d)

where the vacancy is for a parent governor representative to
represent maintained schools in a particular area, s/he is a parent
governor of a school in that area.
A person who is already a member of the Council is disqualified

from being elected as a parent governor representative.
A person who is a teacher at, or is otherwise employed in, a school
maintained by the Council is disqualified from bring elected as a parent
governor representative.
A person who is employed by the Council, is disqualified from being
elected as parent governor representative.
4.

Disqualification from holding office as a parent governor
A parent governor representative shall cease to be qualified to hold
office if (a)

s/he resigns or is disqualified from the office of parent governor,

Page 5
Part 8 - Parent Governor Procedure Rules
Last printed in December 2007

Page 277

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Parent Governor Procedure Rules

(b)

s/he ceases to be a parent governor for any reason other than ‘
(i)

s/he completed their term of office, or

(ii)

s/he no longer holds office as a result of the discontinuance
of the school at which s/he was a parent governor, or

(iii)

s/he no longer holds office as a result of a change in the
constitution of the governing body of the school at which he
was a parent governor.

A parent governor representative shall cease to be qualified to hold
that office if s/he is elected as a member of a local authority.
A parent governor representative shall cease to be a qualified to
hold that office if s/he takes up employment –
(a)

whether as a teacher of otherwise, in a school maintained by the
local education authority, or

(b)

with the local authority.
A parent governor representative shall not hold the office of parent

governor representative on the Overview and Scrutiny Committee of more
than one local education authority at any one time.
A parent governor representative who has failed to attend the
meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee of which s/he is a
member for a continuous period of six months beginning with the date of a
meeting, shall, on the expiry of that period, cease to be qualified to hold
that office.
For the purpose of paragraph (5), a parent governor representative
shall not be taken to have failed to attend a meeting of the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee if s/he has tendered an apology for their absence and
that apology has been accepted by the Committee.

Page 6
Part 8 - Parent Governor Procedure Rules
Last printed in December 2007

Page 278

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Parent Governor Procedure Rules

5.

Term of Office
The Term of office of a parent governor representative on the Overview
and Scrutiny Committee–
(a)

Shall begin on such date as the local education authority shall
determine, being a date not more than one month after the date of
the announcement of the result of the election in which s/he has
been elected, and

(b)

Shall be of such duration as the authority shall determine, being a
period not less than two years not greater than four years.

6.

Vacation of Office
Where a parent governor representative completes their term of
office or that office becomes vacant for any other reason, the local
education authority must hold an election in sufficient time to fill the
vacancy no later than six months after the date on which the vacancy
occurred.
Where a parent governor representative does not complete their
term of office, the local education authority may decide whether the
successor should be appointed for a full term of office, for the unexpired
portion of the previous term of office, or for the aggregate of the unexpired
portion of that term and a further full term, provided that such aggregate
period does not exceed four years.

7.

Voting rights of parent governor representatives
A parent governor representative is entitled to vote at a meeting of
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee of which they are a member on any
question –
(a)

which relates to any education functions which are the responsibility
of the Cabinet, and

(b)

which falls to be considered at the meeting.

Page 7
Part 8 - Parent Governor Procedure Rules
Last printed in December 2007

Page 279

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Parent Governor Procedure Rules

8.

Who can vote for a parent governor
A person is eligible to vote in the election of a parent governor if on
the date of the election –
(a)

S/he is the parent of a registered pupil who is educated at a
maintained school which is maintained by the authority, or who is
educated by the authority otherwise than at school; or

(b)

S/he is resident in the area of the authority and is the parent of a
registered pupil who is educated at a maintained school which is
maintained by another local education authority, or who is educated
by another authority otherwise than at school.

9.

The role of a parent governor representative
The role of a parent governor representative is to:(a)

act as an apolitical voice for parents in the area; representing to the
local education authority the main education issues which concern
parents of pupils maintained by the authority

(b)

liaise with the other parent governor representatives on their own
local education authority

(c)

attend and contribute to the committees to which they have been
appointed

(d)

establish good relations with other members and officers

(e)

feed back the local education authority’s discussions of and
decisions on education to the parents

(f)

abide by the local education authority’s rules on committee
procedure (Standing Orders)

(g)

act with due propriety according to standards laid down for conduct
in local government

Page 8
Part 8 - Parent Governor Procedure Rules
Last printed in December 2007

Page 280

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Parent Governor Procedure Rules

Timetable for election and appointment of parent governor representatives
Action





Statutory Timescale

decide: committee places;
type of representation; election
method election date term of
office support/training delivery
appoint: returning officer
those who will run the election
publish: announce vacancy;
explain eligibility and election
procedures; invite nominations
by deadline
 check nominations
 issue ballot papers
 returning officer monitors
campaign
 hold polls, if not solely by
post
 count ballots
 announce result






term of office of previous
incumbent expires
appoint representatives

Week 1

Weeks 5-6
Week 6
Week 7-10
Week 10

Within one week of the
election; within three months
of the announcement of the
vacancy

Week 10
Week 10

Week 11
No more than one month after
the announcement of the
result

begin support of the
representatives
explain committee
rules/local government
legislation

Page 9
Part 8 - Parent Governor Procedure Rules
Last printed in December 2007

Timeline

Week 12

Week 12

Page 281

Page intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1dd
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules

Part 8 - Access to Information Procedure Rules
References: Sections 100A – H and Schedule 12A Local Government Act 1972
Section 22 of the Local Government Act 2000 and regulations made thereunder;
Chapter 7, New Council Constitutions: Guidance to English Authorities.

1.

Scope

1.1.

These rules apply to all meetings of the Council, Executive, Overview &
Scrutiny Committees, all regulatory committees and all other nonexecutive Committees and any Sub-Committees, which together are
referred to hereafter as meetings. The rules will also apply to any area
committees (known as “Community Councils”) that may be established.

2.

Additional Rights To Information

2.1.

These rules do not affect and are additional to any rights to information
contained elsewhere in the Constitution or the law.

3.

Rights To Attend Meetings

3.1.

Members of the public and media are welcome and encouraged to attend
all meetings, subject only to the exceptions in this Constitution.

3.2.

The taking of photographs or any other means of recording a meeting to
enable persons not present to see or hear proceedings (whether at the
same time or later) or the making of any oral report on any proceedings as
they take place is allowed only in accordance with Council Procedure
Rules paragraph 11.12 ‘Reporting on Proceedings by the Public’. Full
details of the Council’s Protocol on the Reporting on Proceedings by the
Press

and

Public

are

available

on

the

Council’s

website

at

http://bit.ly/11gxSfT.
3.3.

The rights at 3.1 and 3.2 are without prejudice to the Council’s power to
suppress or prevent disorderly conduct or other misbehaviour at any
meeting (see, for example, Rule 23 of the Council Procedure Rules).

Page 1
Part 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 283

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules

4.

Notices Of Meeting

4.1.

The Chief Executive will, on behalf of the Council give at least five clear
days’ notice of any meeting (unless called at a later time) by posting
details

of

the

meeting,

on

the

Council's

website,

www.walthamforest.gov.uk and at the Town Hall front desk

5.

Access To Agenda And Reports Before The Meeting

5.1.

The Chief Executive will, on behalf of the Council, make copies of the
agenda and reports open to the public and press on the Council's website,
www.walthamforest.gov.uk and available for inspection at the Town Hall
(Democratic Services) at least five clear days before the meeting (unless it
is not available until a later time).

5.2.

Where there are special circumstances requiring an item to be added to
the agenda after publication, as an item of urgent business at the direction
of the Chair, the Chief Executive will make each such report available to
the public and press and open for inspection as soon as the report is
available to Councillors attending the meeting. The special circumstances
requiring an item of urgent business to be added, and the Chair’s direction
to do so, will be recorded in the minutes of the meeting.

6.

Supply Of Copies

6.1.

The Council post on its website:
(a)

any agenda and reports which are open to public inspection;

(b)

any further statements or particulars necessary to indicate the
nature of the items in the agenda;

(c)

any written record of an executive decision;

(d)

any reports considered by an individual decision-maker which are
open to public inspection;

(e)

any background papers; and

Page 2
Part 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 284

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules

(f)

if the Chief Executive thinks fit, copies of any other documents
supplied to Councillors in connection with an item.

7.

Access To Minutes etc. After The Meeting

7.1.

The Council will make available the following for at least 6 years after a
meeting:
(a)

the minutes of the meeting, or records of decisions taken, together
with reasons, for all meetings of the Cabinet and Council, their
committees

and

sub-committees,

and

Executive

Decision

proceedings, excluding any part of the minutes of proceedings
when the meeting was not open to the public or which disclose
exempt or confidential information;
(b)

a summary of the proceedings not open to the public where the
minutes open to inspection would not provide a reasonably fair and
coherent record;

8.

(c)

the agenda for the meeting;

(d)

reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the public.

Background Papers
List of Background Papers

8.1.

The report author named at the head of every report will set out at the end
of every report a list of those documents (under the heading Background
Papers) relating to the subject matter of the report which in their opinion:
(a)

disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important
part of the report is based; and

(b)

which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the
report but does not include published works or those which disclose
exempt or confidential information as defined in Rule 10 below.

Public Inspection of Background Papers
Page 3
Part 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 285

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules

8.2.

Every Director and Executive Director will make arrangements to ensure
that documents referred to in any report written by them or by a member
of their staff are available for inspection for four years after the date of the
meeting concerned. An electronic version or one copy of each of the
background documents listed will be retained for this purpose.

9.

Summary of the Public's Rights of Access

9.1.

These Rules, as part of the Council’s Constitution summarise the public's
rights to attend meetings and to inspect and copy documents. These
Rules together with the whole Constitution are available for inspection with
Democratic

Services

and

maintained

on

the

Council's

website,

www.walthamforest.gov.uk.

10.

Meetings - Public Exclusion
Confidential Information - Requirement to Exclude Public

10.1. The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely, in view of
the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the
proceedings, that confidential information would be disclosed.
Meaning of Confidential Information
10.2. Confidential information means information given to the Council by a
Government Department on terms, which forbid its public disclosure, or
information, which cannot be publicly disclosed by Court Order or under
any enactment.
Exempt Information - Discretion to Exclude Public
10.3. The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of
the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the
proceedings that exempt information would be disclosed.
10.4. Where the meeting will determine any person's civil rights or obligations,
or adversely affect their possessions, Article 6 of the European
Convention of Human Rights (incorporated into domestic law by the
Page 4
Part 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 286

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules

Human Rights Act 1998) establishes a presumption that the meeting will
be held in public unless a private hearing is necessary for one of the
reasons specified in Article 6.

Meaning of Exempt Information
10.5. Exempt information means information falling within the 7 categories set
out in the table below and meeting the conditions set out in this section.
10.6. Information which:
(a)

falls within any of the falling into categories 1 to 7 in the table below;
and

(b)

is not excluded from being exempt information by virtue of the
qualification to category 3 in the table below nor does it relate to a
proposed development for which the Council as local planning
authority can grant itself planning permission (see below), is exempt
information if and so long as, in all the circumstances of the case,
the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the
public interest in disclosing the information.

10.7. Information falling within any of paragraphs 1-7 is not exempt by virtue of
that paragraph if it relates to a proposed development for which the
Council as local planning authority can grant itself planning permission
under Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General
Regulations 1992.
Category

Additional Qualifications & Interpretation

1. Information relating to any
individual.
2. Information which is likely to reveal
the identity of an individual.

Page 5
Part 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 287

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules

3. Information relating to the financial
or business affairs of any particular
person (including the authority
holding that information)

"Financial or business affairs" includes
contemplated, as well as past or current,
activities.
Information within paragraph 3 is not exempt
information by virtue of that paragraph if it is
required to be registered under the
Companies Act 1985; the Friendly Societies
Act 1974; c) the Friendly Societies Act 1992;
(d) the Industrial and Provident Societies
Acts 1965 to 1978; (e) the Building Societies
Act 1986; or (f) the Charities Act 1993. .
"registered" in relation to information
required to be registered under the Building
Societies Act 1986, means recorded in the
public file of any building society (within the
meaning of that Act).

4. Information relating to any
consultations or negotiations, or
contemplated consultations or
negotiations, in connection with any
labour relations matters arising
between the authority or a Minister
of the Crown and employees of, or
officer-holders under, the authority.

“Labour relations matters” includes any of
the matters specified in paragraphs (a) to (g)
of section 218(1) of the Trade Union and
Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act
1992[10] (matters which may be the subject
of a trade dispute, within the meaning of that
Act); or (b) any dispute about a matter falling
within paragraph (a) above.
"employee" means a person employed
under a contract of service;
"office-holder", in relation to the authority,
means the holder of any paid office
appointments to which are or may be made
or confirmed by the authority or by any joint
board on which the authority is represented
or by any person who holds any such office
or is an employee of the authority.

5. Information in respect of which a
claim to legal professional privilege
could be maintained in legal
proceedings.

6. Information which reveals that the
authority proposes –
(a)

to give under any enactment a
notice under or by virtue of
which requirements are
imposed on a person; or

Page 6
Part 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 288

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules

(b) to make an order or direction
under any enactment.
7. Information relating to any action
Informati
taken or to be taken in connection
with the prevention, investigation or
prosecution of crime.

11.

Reports: Exclusion Of Public Access

11.1. If the Proper Officer thinks fit, the Council may exclude access by the
public to reports which in their opinion relate to items during which, in
accordance with Rule 10, the meeting is likely not to be open to the public.
Such reports will be marked "Not for publication" together with the
category of information likely to be disclosed.

12.

Application Of Rules To The Cabinet

12.1. Rules 11 - 22 apply to meetings of the Executive and any committees it
creates, or any Executive joint committees or sub-committees.

If the

Cabinet or a Cabinet Committee meets to take a key decision as defined
in the Executive Procedure Rules (Part 5) then it must also comply with
Rules 1 - 11 unless Rule 15 (general exception) or Rule 16 (special
urgency) applies.
12.2. If the Cabinet or a Cabinet Committee meet to discuss a Key Decision to
be taken collectively with one or more officers present, within 28 clear
days of public notice being given of the decision to be taken, then it must
also comply with Rules 1 - 11 unless Rule 15 (general exception) or Rule
16 (special urgency) applies.
12.3. The requirement at 12.2 does not apply to meetings whose sole purpose
is for Council officers to brief the decision maker or members of a decision
making body on matters connected with the making of an executive
decision.

13.

Procedure Before Taking Key Decisions

Page 7
Part 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 289

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules

13.1. Subject to Rule 15 (general exception) and Rule 16 (special urgency), a
Key Decision may not be taken unless:
(a)

a notice in connection with the matter in question has been
published at least 28 clear days before the decision is to be taken,
setting out:


the matter in respect of which a decision is to be made;



where the decision taker is an individual, their name and title, if any,
and where the decision taker is a body, its name and details of its
membership;



the date on which, or period during which, the decision is to be
taken;



a list of documents submitted to the decision taker for consideration
in relation to the matter and details of how to inspect copies of
these documents; and



a note that other documents relevant to the decision may be
submitted to the decision-maker and details how to inspect copies
of these documents; and

(b)

where the decision is to be taken at a meeting of the Executive,
notice of the meeting has been given in accordance with Rule 4
(notice of meetings).

13.2. A forward plan may be prepared by the Leader to cover a period of one
month. It may be prepared on a monthly basis and may be used to give
non-statutory advance notice of future decisions.
13.3. A forward plan may contain matters which the Leader has reason to
believe will be subject of a Key Decision to be taken by the Cabinet, a
Cabinet Committee, individual members of the Cabinet, or a committee or
sub-committee operating under joint arrangements in the course of the
discharge of an executive function, or by an officer with delegated

Page 8
Part 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 290

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules

authority to make an executive decision 28 clear days following
publication of the plan. It will describe the same particulars as at 13.1(a).

14.

Private meetings of the Executive

14.1. If Cabinet, a Cabinet committee, individual members of the Cabinet, or a
committee or sub-committee operating under joint arrangements in the
course of the discharge of an executive function takes a decision to hold a
meeting, or part of a meeting, during which the public are excluded
subject to Rule 10 (Meetings – Public Exclusion) and/or Rule 11 (Reports:
Exclusion of Public Access), public notice will be made at least 28 clear
days before the meeting date of the intention to hold a private meeting,
including the reasons it is likely that the public will be excluded from all or
part of the meeting.
14.2. A further notice will be published five clear days before the meeting, which
will include details of any representations made to the decision-maker
about public access to the meetings, and the response of the decisionmaker to such representations.

15.

General Exception

15.1. If it is impracticable to make public notice of a matter which is likely to be a
Key Decision at least 28 clear days before the date on which the decision
is to be taken then, subject to Rule 16 (special urgency), the decision may
still be taken if:
(a)

the Proper Officer (Director of Governance and Law) has informed
the Chair of the relevant Overview & Scrutiny Committee in writing,
by notice, of the matter to which the decision is to be made - and if
the Chair is not available, has informed every member of the
relevant Overview & Scrutiny Committee in writing;

(b)

the Proper Officer (Director of Governance and Law) has made
copies of the notice available to the public at the Town Hall and on
the Council's website, www.walthamforest.gov.uk; and

Page 9
Part 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 291

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules

(c)

at least five clear days have elapsed since the Proper Officer
(Director of Governance and Law) complied with (a) and (b).

16.

Special Urgency

16.1. If by virtue of the date by which a decision must be taken, Rule 15
(general exception) cannot be followed, then the decision can only be
taken if the Leader or Chair of a Cabinet Committee or decision-maker (if
an individual) obtains the agreement of the Chair of the relevant Overview
and Scrutiny Committee that the taking of the decision is urgent and
cannot be reasonably deferred.
16.2. If there is no chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee or if
the chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee is unable to
act, then the agreement of the Mayor (i.e. Chair of the Council) or in their
absence, the Deputy Mayor (i.e. Vice-chair of Council) is sufficient.
16.3. As soon as reasonably practicable after the decision-maker has obtained
agreement under Rules 16.1 or 16.2, the Proper Officer (Director of
Governance and Law) will make available to the public at the town hall
and on the Council’s website, www.walthamforest.gov.uk, a notice setting
out the reasons why the decision is urgent and cannot reasonably be
deferred.

17.

Reports To Council
When an Overview & Scrutiny Committee can require a report

17.1. If an Overview & Scrutiny Committee thinks that a decision has been
taken which was not:
(a)

treated as a key decision; and

(b)

a relevant overview and scrutiny committee are of the opinion that
the decision should have been treated as a key decision,

the Committee may require the Cabinet or executive decision-maker
[through the Cabinet] to submit a report to the Council. The power to
Page 10
Part 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 292

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules

require a report rests with the Committee but is also delegated to the
Proper Officer who shall require such a report on behalf of the committee
when so requested by the Chair or any five members of the relevant
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Alternatively, the requirement may be
raised by resolution passed at a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee.
Cabinet's Report to Council
17.2. The Cabinet will submit a report required under paragraph 17.1 to the next
available Council meeting. However, if the next meeting of the Council is
within 7 days of the resolution of the Committee, then the report may be
submitted to the following meeting. The report to the Council will set out
particulars of the decision, the individual or body making the decision and
if the Leader is of the opinion that it was not a Key Decision, the reasons
for that opinion.
Regular Reports on Special Urgency Decisions
17.3. In any event the Leader will submit a report to every ordinary meeting of
the Council on the executive decisions taken in the circumstances set out
in Rule 16 (special urgency) since the previous ordinary meeting. The
report will include the number of decisions so taken, if any, and if so a
summary of matters in respect of which those decisions were taken.

18.

Record Of Decisions

18.1. As soon as practicable after any formal meeting of the Cabinet or a
Cabinet Committee, whether held in public or otherwise, the Proper
Officer or person presiding at the meeting will produce a written record of
all the decisions taken at that meeting, which will include:
(a)

a record of the decision including the date it was made;

(b)

a record of the reasons for the decision;

Page 11
Part 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 293

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules

(c)

details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the
decision-maker at the meeting at which the decision was made;

(d)

a record of any declarations of interest relating to the matter
decided made by any member of the decision-making body; and

(e)

in respect of any declarations of interest, details of any notes of
dispensation granted.

18.2. As soon as practicable after any individual member has made an
executive decision, that member must produce or instruct the proper
officer to produce a written statement of that decision which will include:
(a)

a record of the decision including the date it was made;

(b)

a record of the reasons for the decision;

(c)

details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the
member when making that decision;

(d)

a record of any declarations of interest relating to the decision
which have been made by any executive member who is consulted
by the decision-maker; and

(e)

in respect of any declarations of interest, details of any notes of
dispensation granted.

19.

Cabinet & Cabinet Committee Meetings Relating To Matters
Which Are Not Key Decisions

19.1. The Cabinet or a Cabinet Committee will take decisions in public on
matters which are not Key Decisions, unless a matter concerns exempt or
confidential information.

20.

Notice Of Cabinet Meetings

20.1. Members of the Cabinet or its committees will be entitled to receive 5 clear
working days’ notice of a meeting to which they are summoned unless the
meeting is convened at shorter notice as a matter of urgency.

21.

Overview And Scrutiny Committees Access To Documents

Page 12
Part 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 294

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules

Rights to copies
21.1. Subject to Rule 21.3 below, any Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be
entitled to copies of any document which is in the possession or control of
the Executive or its committees and which contains material relating to:
(a)

any business transacted at a public or private meeting of the
Executive or its committees;

(b)

any decision taken by an individual member of the Executive; or

(c)

any decision that has been made by an officer of the authority in
accordance with Executive arrangements.

21.2. The Executive must provide that document as soon as reasonably
practicable and in any case no later than 10 clear days after the request
has been received by the Executive.
Limit on rights
21.3. An Overview And Scrutiny committee will not be entitled to:
(a)

any part of a document that contains exempt or confidential
information, unless that information is relevant to an action or
decision they are reviewing or scrutinising or intend to scrutinise; or

(b)

any document or part of a document containing the advice of a
political adviser (NB no such posts are currently established).

22.

Additional Rights Of Access For Members

22.1. All Members will be entitled to inspect any document which is in the
possession or under the control of the Executive or its committees and
contains material relating to any business to be transacted at a public
meeting at least five clear days before that meeting, unless either (a) or
(b) below applies:

Page 13
Part 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 295

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules

(a)

where the meeting has been convened at shorter notice, such a
document must be available for inspection when the meeting is
convened; and

(b)

where an item is added to the agenda at shorter notice, such a
document must be available for inspection when the item is added
to the agenda.

Material relating to previous business
22.2. All Members will be entitled to inspect any document which is in the
possession or under the control of the Executive or its committees and
contains material relating to any business previously transacted at a
private meeting, or where an Executive decision has been made by an
individual Member or officer in accordance with Executive arrangements
unless either (a) or (b) below applies:
(a)

it contains exempt information falling within paragraphs 1, 2, 4, 5 or
7 of the categories of exempt information, save that in respect of
paragraph 3, only so far as it contains information which relates to
any terms proposed or to be proposed by or to the authority in the
course of negotiations for a contract; or

(b)

it contains the advice of a political adviser (NB no such post is
currently established)

22.3. Such document must be made available for inspection within 24 hours of
the conclusion of the meeting or of the decision being made.
Material relating to Key Decisions
22.4. Subject to a) and b) above, all Members of the Council will be entitled to
inspect any document in the possession, or under the control of the
executive which contains material relating to any key decision unless the
circumstances in 22.2 (a) or (b) apply.
Nature of rights

Page 14
Part 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 296

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules

22.5. These rights of a Member are additional to any other right s/he may have.
Details of Members’ common law and other statutory rights to Council
information are contained in the Appendix to the Council’s Protocol for
Member-Officer Relations in Part 9 of this Constitution.

Page 15
Part 8 Access to Information Procedure Rules
Last updated April 2019

Page 297

Page intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1ee

Constitution of the London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Code of Conduct for Members

Part 9
Code of Conduct
for Members

Page 1
Updated October 2022

Page 299

Constitution of the London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Code of Conduct for Members

Contents
General principles of councillor conduct .....................................................3
Application of the Code of Conduct..............................................................4
Standards of councillor conduct ...................................................................5
General Conduct .............................................................................................5
1.

Respect................................................................................................5

2.

Bullying, harassment and discrimination .............................................6

3.

Impartiality of officers of the council.....................................................6

4.

Confidentiality and access to information ............................................7

5.

Disrepute .............................................................................................8

6.

Use of position .....................................................................................8

7.

Use of local authority resources and facilities ...................................10

8.

Complying with the Code of Conduct ................................................10

Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the local authority ......11
9.

Interests .............................................................................................11

10.

Gifts and hospitality ...........................................................................12

Appendix A – The Seven Principles of Public Life ....................................13
Appendix B – Registering Interests ............................................................14
Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest .........................14
Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests .................................................15
Disclosure of Non-Registerable Interests ....................................................15
Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests ....................................................17
Table 2: Other Registrable Interests ...........................................................19
Appendix C – General Dispensation ...........................................................20
Appendix D – Monitoring Officer’s Guidance on Criminal Offences –
Section 34, Localism Act 2011 ....................................................................21
Failure to Register and Declare Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (s.34(1)) .21
Providing False or Misleading Information when Registering and Declaring
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (s.34(2))....................................................21
Prosecutions and Penalty ...........................................................................21

Page 2
Updated October 2022

Page 300

Constitution of the London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Code of Conduct for Members

General principles of councillor conduct
The Council must promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Everyone
in public office at all levels; all who serve the public or deliver public services,
including ministers, civil servants, councillors and local authority officers; should
uphold the Seven Principles of Public Life, also known as the Nolan Principles.
Building on these principles, the following general principles have been
developed specifically for the role of councillor.
In accordance with the public trust placed in me, on all occasions:
•

I act with integrity and honesty

•

I act lawfully

•

I treat all persons fairly and with respect; and

•

I lead by example and act in a way that secures public confidence in the
role of councillor.

In undertaking my role:
•

I impartially exercise my responsibilities in the interests of the local
community

•

I do not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or disadvantage, on
any person

•

I avoid conflicts of interest

•

I exercise reasonable care and diligence; and

•

I ensure that public resources are used prudently in accordance with my
local authority’s requirements and in the public interest.

Page 3
Updated October 2022

Page 301

Constitution of the London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Code of Conduct for Members

Application of the Code of Conduct
This Code of Conduct applies to you as soon as you sign your declaration of
acceptance of the office of councillor or attend your first meeting as a co-opted
member and continues to apply to you until you cease to be a councillor.
This Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting in your capacity as a
councillor which may include when:
•

you misuse your position as a councillor

•

Your actions would give the impression to a reasonable member of the
public with knowledge of all the facts that you are acting as a councillor;

The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including:
•

at face-to-face meetings

•

at online or telephone meetings

•

in written communication

•

in verbal communication

•

in non-verbal communication

•

in electronic and social media communication, posts, statements and
comments.

You are also expected to uphold high standards of conduct and show
leadership at all times when acting as a councillor.
Your Monitoring Officer has statutory responsibility for the implementation of
the Code of Conduct, and you are encouraged to seek advice from your
Monitoring Officer on any matters that may relate to the Code of Conduct.

Page 4
Updated October 2022

Page 302

Constitution of the London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Code of Conduct for Members

Standards of councillor conduct
This section sets out your obligations, which are the minimum standards of
conduct required of you as a councillor. Should your conduct fall short of these
standards, a complaint may be made against you, which may result in action
being taken.
Guidance is included to help explain the reasons for the obligations and how
they should be followed.

General Conduct
1.

Respect

As a councillor:
1.1.

I treat other councillors and members of the public with
respect.

1.2.

I treat local authority employees, employees and
representatives of partner organisations and those
volunteering for the local authority with respect and respect
the role they play.

1.3.

I promote the safeguarding of children and adults and
responsibilities towards children in care.

Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the
written word. Debate and having different views are all part of a healthy
democracy. As a councillor, you can express, challenge, criticise and disagree
with views, ideas, opinions and policies in a robust but civil manner. You
should not, however, subject individuals, groups of people or organisations to
personal attack.
In your contact with the public, you should treat them politely and courteously.
Rude and offensive behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and
confidence in councillors. In return, you have a right to expect respectful
behaviour from the public. If members of the public are being abusive,
intimidatory or threatening you are entitled to stop any conversation or
interaction in person or online and report them to the local authority, the
relevant social media provider or the police. This also applies to fellow
councillors, where action could then be taken under the Councillor Code of
Conduct, and local authority employees, where concerns should be raised in
line with the local authority’s council - officer protocol.

Page 5
Updated October 2022

Page 303

Constitution of the London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Code of Conduct for Members

2.

Bullying, harassment and discrimination

As a councillor:
2.1.

I do not bully any person.

2.2.

I do not harass any person.

2.3.

I promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully
against any person.

2.4.

I comply with the equalities and diversity policies adopted by
the council.

The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) characterises
bullying as offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse
or misuse of power through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or
injure the recipient. Bullying might be a regular pattern of behaviour or a oneoff incident, happen face-to-face, on social media, in emails or phone calls,
happen in the workplace or at work social events and may not always be
obvious or noticed by others.
The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as conduct
that causes alarm or distress or puts people in fear of violence and must
involve such conduct on at least two occasions. It can include repeated
attempts to impose unwanted communications and contact upon a person in a
manner that could be expected to cause distress or fear in any reasonable
person.
Unlawful discrimination is where someone is treated unfairly because of a
protected characteristic. Protected characteristics are specific aspects of a
person's identity defined by the Equality Act 2010. They are age, disability,
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.
The Equality Act 2010 places specific duties on local authorities. Councillors
have a central role to play in ensuring that equality issues are integral to the
local authority's performance and strategic aims, and that there is a strong
vision and public commitment to equality across public services.

3.

Impartiality of officers of the council

As a councillor:

Page 6
Updated October 2022

Page 304

Constitution of the London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Code of Conduct for Members

3.1.

I do not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the
impartiality of anyone who works for, or on behalf of, the
local authority

Officers work for the local authority as a whole and must be politically neutral
(unless they are political assistants). They should not be coerced or
persuaded to act in a way that would undermine their neutrality. You can
question officers in order to understand, for example, their reasons for
proposing to act in a particular way, or the content of a report that they have
written. However, you must not try and force them to act differently, change
their advice, or alter the content of that report, if doing so would prejudice their
professional integrity.

4.

Confidentiality and access to information

As a councillor:
4.1.

I do not disclose information:
a. Given to me in confidence by anyone
b. Acquired by me which I believe, or ought reasonably to
be aware, is of a confidential nature, unless
i.

I have received the consent of a person
authorised to give it;

ii.

I am required by law to do so;

iii.

The disclosure is made to a third party for the
purpose of obtaining professional legal advice
provided that the third party agrees not to
disclose the information to any other person; or

iv.

The disclosure is:
• Reasonable and in the public interest; and
• Made in good faith and in compliance with
the reasonable requirements of the local
authority; and
• I have consulted the Monitoring Officer
prior to its release.

4.2.

I do not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result
of my role as a councillor for the advancement of myself, my
friends, my family members, my employer or my business
interests.

Page 7
Updated October 2022

Page 305

Constitution of the London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Code of Conduct for Members

4.3.

I do not prevent anyone from getting information that they
are entitled to by law.

Local authorities must work openly and transparently, and their proceedings
and printed materials are open to the public, except in certain legally defined
circumstances. You should work on this basis, but there will be times when it
is required by law that discussions, documents and other information relating
to or held by the local authority must be treated in a confidential manner.
Examples include personal data relating to individuals or information relating
to ongoing negotiations.

5.

Disrepute

As a councillor:
5.1.

I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute.

As a Councillor, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of your
community and your actions and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny
than that of ordinary members of the public. You should be aware that your
actions might have an adverse impact on you, other councillors and/or your
local authority and may lower the public’s confidence in your or your local
authority’s ability to discharge your/its functions. For example, behaviour that
is considered dishonest and/or deceitful can bring your local authority into
disrepute.
You are able to hold the local authority and fellow councillors to account and
are able to constructively challenge and express concern about decisions and
processes undertaken by the council whilst continuing to adhere to other
aspects of this Code of Conduct.

6.

Use of position

As a councillor:
6.1.

I do not use, or attempt to use, my position improperly to the
advantage or disadvantage of myself or anyone else.

Your position as a member of the local authority provides you with certain
opportunities, responsibilities, and privileges, and you make choices all the
time that will impact others. However, you should not take advantage of these
opportunities to further your own or others’ private interests or to
disadvantage anyone unfairly.
Page 8
Updated October 2022

Page 306

Constitution of the London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Code of Conduct for Members

Page 9
Updated October 2022

Page 307

Constitution of the London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Code of Conduct for Members

7.

Use of local authority resources and facilities

As a councillor:
7.1.

I do not misuse council resources.

7.2.

I will, when using the resources of the local authority or
authorising their use by others:
a. Act in accordance with the local authority’s
requirements; and
b. Ensure that such resources are not used for political
purposes unless that could reasonably be regarded
as likely to facilitate, or be conducive to, the
discharge of the functions of the local authority or of
the office to which I have been elected or appointed.

You may be provided with resources and facilities by the local authority to
assist you in carrying out your duties as a councillor.
Examples include:
•

office support

•

stationery

•

equipment such as phones, and computers

•

transport

•

access and use of local authority buildings and rooms.

These are given to you to help you carry out your role as a councillor more
effectively and are not to be used for business or personal gain. They should
be used in accordance with the purpose for which they have been provided
and the local authority’s own policies regarding their use.

8.

Complying with the Code of Conduct

As a councillor:
8.1.

I do will undertake Code of Conduct training provided by my
local authority.

8.2.

I cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and/or
determination.

Page 10
Updated October 2022

Page 308

Constitution of the London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Code of Conduct for Members

8.3.

I do not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is
likely to be involved with the administration of any
investigation or proceedings.

8.4.

I comply with any sanction imposed on me following a
finding that I have breached the Code of Conduct.

It is extremely important for you as a councillor to demonstrate high
standards, for you to have your actions open to scrutiny and for you not to
undermine public trust in the local authority or its governance. If you do not
understand or are concerned about the local authority’s processes in handling
a complaint you should raise this with your Monitoring Officer.

Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the local
authority
9.

Interests

As a councillor:
9.1.

I register and disclose my interests.

Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring Officer to
establish and maintain a register of interests of members of the authority.
You need to register your interests so that the public, local authority
employees and fellow councillors know which of your interests might give rise
to a conflict of interest. The register is a public document that can be
consulted when (or before) an issue arises. The register also protects you by
allowing you to demonstrate openness and a willingness to be held
accountable. You are personally responsible for deciding whether or not you
should disclose an interest in a meeting, but it can be helpful for you to know
early on if others think that a potential conflict might arise. It is also important
that the public know about any interest that might have to be disclosed by you
or other councillors when making or taking part in decisions, so that decision
making is seen by the public as open and honest. This helps to ensure that
public confidence in the integrity of local governance is maintained.
You should note that failure to register or disclose a disclosable pecuniary
interest as set out in Table 1, is a criminal offence under the Localism Act
2011.
Appendix B sets out the detailed provisions on registering and disclosing
interests. If in doubt, you should always seek advice from your Monitoring
Officer.

Page 11
Updated October 2022

Page 309

Constitution of the London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Code of Conduct for Members

10. Gifts and hospitality
As a councillor:
10.1. I do not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated
value, which could give rise to real or substantive personal
gain or a reasonable suspicion of influence on my part to
show favour from persons seeking to acquire, develop or do
business with the local authority or from persons who may
apply to the local authority for any permission, licence or
other significant advantage.
10.2. I register with the Monitoring Officer any significant gift or
hospitality with an estimated value of at least £50 within 28
days of its receipt.
10.3. I register with the Monitoring Officer any significant gift or
hospitality that I have been offered but have refused to
accept.
In order to protect your position and the reputation of the local authority, you
should exercise caution in accepting any gifts or hospitality which are (or
which you reasonably believe to be) offered to you because you are a
councillor.
The presumption should always be not to accept significant gifts or hospitality.
However, there may be times when such a refusal may be difficult if it is seen
as rudeness in which case you could accept it but must ensure it is publicly
registered. However, you do not need to register gifts and hospitality which
are not related to your role as a councillor, such as Christmas gifts from your
friends and family.
It is also important to note that it is appropriate to accept normal expenses
and hospitality associated with your duties as a councillor. If you are unsure,
do contact your Monitoring Officer for guidance.
You may also have access to certain universal discounts offered by the
council to its employees and councillors, for example, reduced membership
rates for leisure centres. Such universal benefits offered by the council as an
employer are not considered a gift under the Code.

Page 12
Updated October 2022

Page 310

Constitution of the London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Code of Conduct for Members

Appendix A – The Seven Principles of Public Life
The principles are:
Selflessness
Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.
Integrity
Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to
people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their
work. They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other
material benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. They must
disclose and resolve any interests and relationships.
Objectivity
Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on
merit, using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.
Accountability
Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and
actions and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.
Openness
Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and
transparent manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless
there are clear and lawful reasons for so doing.
Honesty
Holders of public office should be truthful.
Leadership
Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour.
They should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be
willing to challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs.

Page 13
Updated October 2022

Page 311

Constitution of the London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Code of Conduct for Members

Appendix B – Registering Interests
Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment
to office you must register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall
within the categories set out in Table 1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests)
which are as described in “The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary
Interests) Regulations 2012”. You should also register details of your other
personal interests which fall within the categories set out in Table 2 (Other
Registerable Interests).
“Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means an interest of yourself, or of your
partner if you are aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set
out in Table 1 below.
"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are
living as husband or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are
civil partners.
1. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and
within 28 days of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change to
a registered interest, notify the Monitoring Officer.
2. A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the
councillor, or a person connected with the councillor, being subject to
violence or intimidation.
3. Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring
Officer with the reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the
Monitoring Officer agrees they will withhold the interest from the public
register.
Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest
4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose
the interest, not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and
must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a
dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the
nature of the interest, just that you have an interest. Dispensation may be
granted in limited circumstances, to enable you to participate and vote on
a matter in which you have a disclosable pecuniary interest.
5. [Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be
considered or is being considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise
of your executive function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the
interest and must not take any steps or further steps in the matter apart
from arranging for someone else to deal with it ]

Page 14
Updated October 2022

Page 312

Constitution of the London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Code of Conduct for Members

Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests
6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to the financial
interest or wellbeing of one of your Other Registerable Interests (as set out
in Table 2), you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter
only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but
otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and
must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a
dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the
nature of the interest.
Disclosure of Non-Registerable Interests
7. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial
interest or well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest set out in
Table 1) or a financial interest or well-being of a relative or close
associate, you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter
only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting.
Otherwise you must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter
and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a
dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the
nature of the interest.
8. Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects –
a. your own financial interest or well-being;
b. a financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate; or
c. a financial interest or wellbeing of a body included under Other
Registrable Interests as set out in Table 2
you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can
remain in the meeting after disclosing your interest the following test
should be applied
9. Where a matter (referred to in paragraph 8 above) affects the financial
interest or well-being:
a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority
of inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and;
b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe
that it would affect your view of the wider public interest
You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also
allowed to speak at the meeting. Otherwise you must not take part in any
discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless
you have been granted a dispensation.

Page 15
Updated October 2022

Page 313

Constitution of the London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Code of Conduct for Members

If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the
interest.
10. [Where you have an Other Registerable Interest or Non-Registerable
Interest on a matter to be considered or is being considered by you as a
Cabinet member in exercise of your executive function, you must notify the
Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take any steps or further
steps in the matter apart from arranging for someone else to deal with it]

Page 16
Updated October 2022

Page 314

Constitution of the London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Code of Conduct for Members

Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set
out in the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations
2012.
Subject
Employment, office,
trace, profession or
vocation
Sponsorship

Description
Any employment, office, trade, profession or
vocation carried on for profit or gain.
Any payment or provision of any other
financial benefit (other than from the council)
made to the councillor during the previous
12-month period for expenses incurred by
them in carrying out their duties as a
councillor, or towards their election
expenses.
This includes any payment from a political
party or group, or a trade union within the
meaning of the Trade Union and Labour
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.

Contracts

Any contract made between the councillor or
their spouse or civil partner or the person
with whom the councillor is living as if they
were spouses/civil partners (or a firm in
which such a person is a partner, or an
incorporated body of which such a person is
a director* or a body that such a person has
a beneficial interest in the securities of**)
and the council
A) under which goods or services are to be
provided or works are to be executed; and
B) which has not been fully discharged.

Land and Property

Any beneficial interest in land which is within
the area of the council. ‘Land’ excludes an
easement, servitude, interest or right in or
over land which does not give the councillor
or their spouse or civil partner or the person
with whom the councillor is living as if they
were spouses/civil partners (alone or jointly
with another) a right to occupy or to receive
income.

Licenses

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to
occupy land in the area of the council for a
month or longer.

Page 17
Updated October 2022

Page 315

Constitution of the London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Code of Conduct for Members

Page 18
Updated October 2022

Page 316

Constitution of the London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Code of Conduct for Members

Corporate tenancies

Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s
knowledge) –
A) the landlord is the council; and
B) the tenant is a body that the councillor, or
their spouse or civil partner or the person
with whom the councillor is living as if they
were spouses/civil partners is a partner or
director* of or has a beneficial interest in the
securities** of.

Securities

Any beneficial interest in securities** of a
body where –
A) that body (to the councillor’s knowledge)
has a place of business or land in the area of
the council; and
B) either
(i) the total nominal value of the securities**
exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the
total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more
than one class, the total nominal value of the
shares of any one class in which the
councillor, or their spouse or civil partner or
the person with whom the councillor is living
as if they were spouses/civil partners have a
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of
the total issued share capital of that class.

* ’director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an
industrial an provident society.
** ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds,
units of a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial
Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other
than money deposited with a building society.

Page 19
Updated October 2022

Page 317

Constitution of the London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Code of Conduct for Members

Table 2: Other Registrable Interests
You must register as an Other Registrable Interest:
a) Any unpaid directorships
b) Any body of which you are a member or are in a position of general
control or management and to which you are nominated or appointed
by your authority
c) Any body
(i) Exercising functions of a public nature
(ii) Directed to charitable purposes or
(iii) One of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public
opinion or policy (including any political party or trade union)
Of which you are a member or in a position of general control or
management

Page 20
Updated October 2022

Page 318

Constitution of the London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Code of Conduct for Members

Appendix C – General Dispensation
The authority grants a general dispensation to all councillors from the
requirement to disclose any pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest and to
withdraw from participation and voting on any business of the authority relating
to its functions in respect of decisions about:
(i)

housing, where the councillor is a tenant of the authority provided that
the decision does not relate particularly to his/her tenancy or lease;

(ii)

school meals and / or school transport and / or travelling expenses,
where the councillor is a parent or guardian of a child in full time
education, or is a parent governor of a school, unless it relates
particularly to the school which the child attends;

(iii)

statutory sick pay under Part XI of the Social Security Contributions and
Benefits Act 1992, where the councillor is in receipt of, or is entitled to
the receipt of, such pay;

(iv)

an allowance, payment or indemnity given to members;

(v)

any ceremonial honour given to members; and

(vi)

Setting council tax or a precept under the Local Government Finance
Act 1992.

The Party Whips will ensure that all councillors have applied for the general
dispensation and will submit the applications to the Monitoring Officer. These
dispensations will continue to the date of the annual Council Meeting following
the next local elections. The Council will then review dispensations at that
meeting.

Page 21
Updated October 2022

Page 319

Constitution of the London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Code of Conduct for Members

Appendix D – Monitoring Officer’s Guidance on Criminal
Offences – Section 34, Localism Act 2011
Section 34 of the Localism Act 2011 creates criminal offences relating to
councillors’ and co-opted members’ duties under the Code of Conduct. A
brief guide to the offences is set out below:
Failure to Register and Declare Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (s.34(1))
A member is guilty of a criminal offence if without reasonable excuse;
•

fails to register disclosable pecuniary interests in accordance with the
Code or

•

after declaring a disclosable pecuniary interest at a meeting or
individual executive decision meeting fails to notify the monitoring
officer to update the register or

•

fails to disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest and /or participates in
a discussion and/ or votes on an item where they have a disclosable
pecuniary interest.

Providing False or Misleading Information when Registering and
Declaring Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (s.34(2))
A member will be guilty of an offence if when registering and / or notifying the
monitoring officer of a disclosable pecuniary interest, declaring interests at
meetings (including individual executive decision making meetings), s/he
either:
•

provides false or misleading information and the member knows the
information is false or misleading or

•

is reckless as to whether the information is true and not misleading.

Prosecutions and Penalty
A prosecution will be investigated by the Police and brought by the Director of
Public Prosecutions, not the Council.
If a member is convicted they may be fined up to £5000 but also may be
disqualified from office for up to 5 years.
IMPORTANT NOTE
This is general guidance and should not be taken as specific legal
advice about a member’s individual liability in a specific set of
circumstances. Members who consider they may have committed an
offence should seek independent legal advice.
Page 22
Updated October 2022

Page 320

LONDON BOROUGH OF WALTHAM FOREST
CODE OF CONDUCT COMPLAINTS PROCEDURE
1.

INTRODUCTION

1.1

This Procedure provides for the receipt, initial assessment, investigation, and
determination of complaints made under the Code of Conduct for Members.
The Monitoring Officer has the discretion to vary the timescales where they
considers that it is expedient to do so in order to secure the effective, timely
and fair consideration of any matter.

1.2

The following terms used in this Procedure are defined as follows:
Complainant: the person making the complaint
Member: the elected councillor or co-opted member subject to the complaint
Investigator: either an officer of the Council and / or an independent
investigator whom the Monitoring Officer has asked to investigate a complaint
Monitoring Officer: The Council officer with statutory responsibilities under
section 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and as set out
below in this Code. In Waltham Forest, the Monitoring Officer is currently the
Director of Governance and Law
Independent Person: a person or persons appointed by the Council to
advise it, the Monitoring Officer, or the Member on the determination of
complaints.
Determination Hearing: the sub-committee of the Audit and Governance
Committee at which a complaint is heard.
Appellant: the person appealing a decision under this Procedure
Respondent: the person responding to an appeal.

2.

HOW TO MAKE A COMPLAINT

1.3

Any person may make a complaint under the Code of Conduct. Complaints
must:
1.3.1

Be made in writing, i.e., by email or letter addressed to the
Monitoring Officer, Legal Services, Town Hall, Forest Road,
London E17 4JF or to mark.hynes@walthamforest.gov.uk.

1.3.2

Include the full name and address of the Complainant;

1.3.3

Identify the Member complained of;

1.3.4

Set out the nature and substance of the alleged breach of the Code
of Conduct for Members. It is recommended that complaint
references specific paragraphs of the Code that the Complainant
allege have been breached and include or attach evidence to
support the allegation.

Page 321

1.3.5

Upon receipt of a complaint complying with 2.1 above, the
Monitoring Officer will send a copy of the Complaint to the Member,
the relevant Group Whip, and the Independent Person.

3.

INITIAL ASSESSMENT

1.4

The Council’s Monitoring Officer will receive and assess all complaints to
determine whether the complaint should be investigated. The Monitoring
Officer will consider whether they can resolve the complaint informally,
including mediation. The Monitoring Officer should strive to be proportionate
to the seriousness or complexity of the complaint. Where a matter is
straightforward or relatively simple, the Monitoring Officer may choose not to
follow all of the steps in this Procedure if the matter can be resolved more
proportionately.

1.5

The following complaints are normally not suitable for investigation, save
where the Monitoring Officer accepts there are exceptional circumstances:
1.5.1

Complaints that are really about Council services, its policies or
performance. Such complaints will be referred to the relevant
service area in accordance with the Council’s Complaints Policy.

1.5.2

Complaints that are really about the political policies or performance
of a councillor in their role. Such complaints will be referred to the
councillor and / or their political group for response.

1.5.3

Complaints that relate to another authority or an alleged breach of
another authority or body’s Code of Conduct.

1.5.4

Vexatious or frivolous complaints or complaints which are intended
to insult individuals.

1.5.5

Minor or “tit-for-tat” complaints that do not justify the time and
resources of an investigation.

1.5.6

Complaints which relate to matters or events more than 3 months
before the date of the complaint.

1.5.7

Complaints by a member against another member will not normally
be investigated until the Monitoring Officer considers that other
processes, e.g., informal mediation or political group processes,
have been exhausted.

1.5.8

Complaints by officers should be made under the Member / Officer
Protocol.

1.5.9

Complaints that are already subject to other internal or external
processes will not be investigated until those other processes have
completed to enable the complaint to be resolved by other means.
Determination of such complaints will be suspended until the other
process is finalised.

Page 322

1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9
•
•

•
•
•
•

In making decisions at 3.1 and 3.2, the Monitoring Officer will consult the
Council’s independent person (or where it has more than one independent
person, one of the independent persons).
The Monitoring Officer may request further evidence or information from the
Complainant. The Monitoring Officer may request an initial response from the
Councillor complained of (or any other person) or take any other steps they
considers reasonable to assist his determination. Informal resolution could
either be directed at the member who is the subject of the complaint, both the
subject member and the complainant, or at the Council more generally. For
example, it may be a request that a member apologise for remarks made in
the heat of the moment. Or the Monitoring Officer may decide that the
council’s resources are better used trying to ensure that the subject member
and complainant attempt some form of mediation or reconciliation. Or it may
be about wider issues for the council that are raised by the case. For
example, a relatively minor alleged infringement of the Code, by a member
who is accused of misusing their authority’s IT equipment, might identify
shortcomings in the authority’s policy about members using that equipment. In
such a case the Monitoring Officer might decide that the best way to deal with
the allegation is to ask the council to review the policy and make
recommendations for improvement.
If the Monitoring Officer decides to seek an informal resolution when
assessing a complaint, they should be clear that an investigation into that
complaint will not take place provided they are satisfied that the party at
whom the resolution is directed has acted in good faith in seeking to comply
with it. For example, if the Monitoring Officer asked the subject member to
apologise, and in the Monitoring Officer’s view the apology made is
appropriate, it would not be reasonable then to investigate the matter even if
the complainant refused to accept the apology. On the other hand, if the
subject member refused to apologise or made an apology in terms the
Monitoring Officer deemed unacceptable, then they may consider
commencing a formal investigation so that the matter could potentially be
dealt with by a more formal sanction.
3.6
Matters which the Monitoring Officer might consider appropriate
for informal resolution may include:
the same particular breach of the Code by many members, indicating poor
understanding of the Code and the council’s procedures
a general breakdown of relationships, including those between members and
officers, as evidenced by a pattern of allegations of minor disrespect,
harassment or bullying to such an extent that it becomes difficult to conduct
the business of the council
misunderstanding of procedures or protocols
misleading, unclear, or misunderstood advice from officers
lack of experience or training
interpersonal conflict

Page 323

•
•
•
1.10
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

allegations and retaliatory allegations from the same members
allegations about how formal meetings are conducted
allegations that may be symptomatic of governance problems within the
council, which are more significant than the allegations in themselves
3.7
Alternative resolution can identify an issue about lack of
understanding or training about such issues as:
the Code of Conduct
council procedures and protocols
chairing skills
working with external bodies
wider governance issues
planning and licensing
working with officers
use of council resources

Where the issue is more of an inter-personal dispute it may simply be asking the
subject member to apologise or to withdraw a remark.
Where the allegation highlights wider procedure or cultural issues within the
authority, the Monitoring Officer may wish to consider training of members as a
whole or mentoring of particular members or work as a council on conflict resolution.
The Monitoring Officer may also decide that the allegation highlights council
procedural failings rather than the specific fault of an individual so they may want to
develop or review particular council protocols and procedures.
Where the allegation is one of a series which in your view highlight that relationships
within a council as a whole have broken down to such an extent that it has become
very difficult to conduct the business of the council then some wider form of
reconciliation may be needed

3.8The Monitoring Officer will inform the complainant and member in writing of their
decision within 30 calendar days of receipt of the complaint. Where the Monitoring
Officer is not able to respond within this time, they will inform the complainant and
member of the date by which a decision will be made.

4.

INVESTIGATION

1.11

The Monitoring Officer can investigate the complaint or can arrange for the
complaint to be investigated by either an officer of the Council and / or an
independent investigator. The Monitoring Officer may provide terms of
reference for the investigation, which will focus on investigation of the factual
evidence in support or against the allegation.

Page 324

1.12

The Investigation will follow its terms of reference and will include but is not
limited to:
1.12.1

An opportunity for the Complainant to provide further evidence to
support their allegation and / or the names of witnesses that they
consider may provide relevant evidence.

1.12.2

An opportunity for the Member to provide further evidence to support
their allegation and / or the names of witnesses that they consider
may provide relevant evidence.

1.12.3

Taking evidence from any witnesses (or considering any documents)
the Investigator considers may be relevant to the investigation.

1.13

If the Investigator considers that the terms of reference of the investigation
may require amendment, e.g., there is evidence of an additional potential
breach of the Code of Conduct, they will raise this with the Monitoring Officer
who will determine the appropriate course of action.

1.14

The Investigation will take no longer than 2 months from the date of the
appointment of the investigator, unless the Monitoring Officer agrees that the
investigation period should be extended.

1.15

The Investigator will provide a written report to the Monitoring Officer in
respect of the allegations.

1.16

Once the investigation has been completed the Monitoring Officer is at liberty
to consider informal resolution as set out earlier within this procedure.
However, if the Monitoring Officer decides that an informal resolution is not
possible then the matter will proceed to a hearing

5.

THE DETERMINATION HEARING

1.17

In those cases where the Monitoring Officer has not been able to resolve the
matter a Sub-Committee (the “Determination Hearing Panel”) of the Audit &
Governance Committee will be held within 30 calendar days of receipt by the
Monitoring Officer of the investigation report to determine the complaint. The
Independent Person will be invited to the Determination Hearing and, if
present, may advise both the Panel and the Member.

1.18

The Determination Hearing will normally take the following order:
•

Investigation Report: The Investigator will present their report and
evidence (and may call witnesses). The Complainant and Member may
question the investigator and any witnesses.

•

The Complainant’s Case: The Complainant presents their evidence
and calls any witnesses. The Member may then question the
Complainant and any witnesses.

•

The Member’s Case: The Member presents their evidence and calls
any witnesses. The Complainant may then question the Member and
any witnesses.

Page 325

•

Final Submissions: The Complainant and Member will present their
final submissions in this order.

1.19

The Panel may ask questions of any person at any time.

1.20

After hearing final submissions, the Panel will withdraw to consider its
decision and may consult with the Independent Person when doing so.

1.21

After reaching its decision, the Panel will either announce its decision at the
hearing or inform the parties that the decision will be provided in writing to
them within 7 calendar days. Any verbal decision must be followed by written
confirmation of the decision and its reasons within 7 calendar days.

6.

SANCTION

1.22

Where a member is found in breach of the Code of Conduct, the Panel has no
statutory power to sanction the Member. They may decide:
1.22.1

That no further action is necessary.

1.22.2

To impose one or more of the following sanctions (or any other
lawful sanction as advised by the Monitoring Officer):
1.22.2.1 To recommend that a motion censuring the Member for
the breach of the Code of Conduct is put to Full Council (if
so, the Monitoring Officer will prepare a report for the next
ordinary Council meeting).
1.22.2.2 That the Monitoring Officer writes to the Member informing
them of the Panel’s decision and its recommendations as
to the Member’s future conduct.
1.22.2.3 To recommend to the Member’s political group that the
Member is either removed from any or all committees and
/ or is not nominated for appointment in the future. The
recommendation may be that this sanction should be for a
fixed period, e.g., removal for six months.
1.22.2.4 That a public statement about the Panel’s decision is
published on the Council’s website. The recommendation
may be that this sanction should be for a fixed period, e.g.,
that the statement remain on the Council’s website for six
months.

1.23

Before reaching its decision, the Complainant and Member have the right to
make submissions as to the appropriate sanction (if any). Where the decision
is communicated in writing, the Council will re-convene the Determination
Hearing Panel to consider the question of sanction and the above procedure
will apply. In such situations, either party may submit its representations in
writing to the Monitoring Officer in advance of the re-convened hearing.

7.

APPEALS AGAINST A DETERMINATION HEARING DECISION

Page 326

1.24

A Complainant and / or Member may appeal the Panel’s decision as to
whether there was a breach of the Code of Conduct and / or the sanction
imposed only.

1.25

An appeal must be made in writing to the Monitoring Officer within 7 calendar
days starting with the date on which the decision was made (or if only
communicated in writing, on the date of the letter and / or email).

1.26

An appeal must set out the grounds of the appeal, including why the Panel
decision was incorrect.

1.27

An appeal will be considered by a differently constituted Sub-Committee (the
“Appeal Panel”) of the Audit & Governance Committee within 30 calendar
days of the receipt of the appeal (“the Appeal Hearing”).

1.28

An appeal is a review of the Determination Hearing decision and not a rehearing. The Appeal Panel may only consider the grounds put forward in the
written appeal (see above).

1.29

The Appeal Hearing will normally take the following order of business:
1.29.1

The Appellant presents their appeal.

1.29.2

The Respondent presents their response.

1.30

Presentations may be made in writing and the Appeal Panel will also have the
documentation for the Determination Hearing before them.

1.31

No other evidence will be considered, and no oral evidence will be given,
save in exceptional circumstances agreed by the Panel.

1.32

The Appeal Panel may either uphold or dismiss the appeal on whether there
was either a breach of the Code and / or sanction.

1.33

The Appeal Panel will either announce its decision at the hearing or inform
the parties that the decision will be provided in writing within 7 calendar days.
Any verbal decision must be followed by written confirmation of the decision
and its reasons.

1.34

The written decision will be sent to the Complainant and Member by the
Monitoring Officer within 7 calendar days of the hearing.

1.35

There is no appeal against a decision of an Appeal Panel.

8.

GOVERNANCE

1.36

The Determination and Appeal Hearings are not subject to the Council’s
Procedure Rules as they apply to Committees, save as required by law or as
set out below.

1.37

The Council’s Access to Information Rules will apply to Determination
Hearings and so will normally be held in public. Meeting documents will be
published on the Council’s website unless they contain exempt or confidential
information (as defined in the Access to Information Rules).

Page 327

1.38

The quorum for a Panel shall be three voting members, appointed by the
Monitoring Officer on a politically proportionate basis on the nominations of
the group whips.

1.39

A Panel has power to postpone the hearing and / or adjourn a part-heard
hearing to a later date if, in either case, it considers this is necessary to allow
it to hold a fair hearing but taking into account the need to determine all
complaints in a prompt manner.

1.40

The Chair of a Panel shall have a second and casting vote.

1.41

A Panel may determine the length of the hearing and any individual stages,
e.g., the length of final submissions, taking into account the nature and
complexity of the Complaint and evidence and ensuring that both parties have
a reasonable opportunity to present their case. A Panel will inform the parties
of any time limits at the start of the meeting.

1.42

A Panel will take advice from the Monitoring Officer or any legal advisor
appointed by the Monitoring Officer to advise the Panel in his absence at any
time during the hearing or while they are considering the outcome.

1.43

Decisions will be made by simple majority and the standard of proof to be
applied is the balance of probabilities in any findings against the member.
Abstentions are not permitted.

1.44

This procedure will be kept under review by the Audit and Governance
Committee.

Page 328

Agenda Item 1ff
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations

Part 9 - Working Together for Local People:
Protocol for Member/Officer Relations
CONTENTS
INTRODUCTION

2

BASIC PRINCIPLES OF MEMBER-OFFICER RELATIONS

3

WORKING ARRANGEMENTS

4

SUPPORTING POLITICAL GROUPS AND INDIVIDUAL MEMBERS

6

THE MANAGEMENT OF OFFICERS

8

ACCESS TO INFORMATION

8

MEDIA RELATIONS AND PUBLICITY

10

WHEN THINGS GO WRONG: DISPUTE RESOLUTION

11

MONITORING AND REVIEW

12

FURTHER SOURCES OF INFORMATION

13

MEMBER OFFICER PROTOCOL - APPENDIX A: MEMBERS’ RIGHTS OF
ACCESS TO COUNCIL INFORMATION

Page 1
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations
Updated April 2019

Page 329

14

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations

1.

INTRODUCTION

1.1

What does the Protocol do?
Together, Members and officers combine the essential skills, experience
and knowledge to manage an effective public sector organisation.
Members provide a democratic mandate to the Council whereas officers
contribute the professional and technical expertise and experience to
deliver the relevant services underpinned by the policy framework agreed
by Council.

1.2

Whilst collaborative working is the accepted norm for member and officer
relations in Waltham Forest, it is important to recognise and take account
of their different roles. This is important for day-to-day interaction between
Members and officers and for the public perception of the Council; by
ensuring transparency between the political role of members and the
professional, impartial role of officers.

1.3

The Protocol’s purpose is to provide guidance on member-officer relations
and to address some key areas of interaction. Members and officers may
seek advice from the Monitoring Officer on any matter not covered by this
Protocol. The Protocol should be read alongside other documents relevant
to the interaction between Members and officers. For further details of
these documents, please go to Page 14 of this document.

1.4

Who does it apply to?

The Protocol is adopted by full Council and applies to all elected and co-opted
members and all officers employed or engaged by the Council.
consultants, contractors or agency staff who work for the Council.
Page 2
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations
Updated April 2019

Page 330

This includes

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations

2.

Basic Principles of Member-Officer Relations

2.1

Member-officer relations are based on the following principles:

2.2

Mutual trust and respect

2.3

A common purpose; providing the best possible services to the residents
and other stakeholders of Waltham Forest;

2.4

A commitment to non-adversarial resolution of disputes.

2.5

Mutual trust and respect is based upon an understanding of the distinct
contribution Members and officers make and respect for the boundaries
between those roles.

A key principle for officers is their political

impartiality; they serve the whole Council and not particular groups or
members.

This is particularly important for senior officers, who hold

politically restricted posts and are prevented in law from engaging in
political activities
2.6

Further, some officers hold posts with mandatory statutory responsibilities
including the Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive), the Monitoring
Officer, and the Chief Finance Officer (S 151), Members must respect
these duties and that they may be required to give advice or make
decisions which members may not agree with or support.

2.7

The remainder of this Protocol will address specific areas of memberofficer interaction

3.

Quick Guide to Member and Officer Roles

Members

Officers

Democratically elected accountable to the

Employees accountable to the Council

electorate
Page 3
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations
Updated April 2019

Page 331

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations

Community leader for their ward

Serve the whole council.

Add a political dimension

Impartial

Set policy and strategy

Ensure operational delivery and provide
advice

Bound by a statutory Code of Conduct

Bound by their contract of employment and
the current Code of Conduct for officers.

Involved in senior appointments only.

Day to day management of staff

4.

Working Arrangements

4.1

Members and officers work together on a regular basis in meetings,
committees and less formal settings. It is inevitable that relationships will
form and to ensure the principles of member-officer relations are upheld,
the following guidance applies.

4.2

Forms of Address and Conduct

4.2.1

Formal Meetings
In formal Council, Cabinet, committee or sub-committee meetings:



Members and officers will dress appropriately.



Members should normally be referred to by their office: e.g., Leader, Chair
or Councillor and, otherwise, normal courtesies shall be observed.



Relations can be friendly and cordial but not over familiar, as the public or
other members and officers could perceive this as inappropriate or
favouritism.

Page 4
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations
Updated April 2019

Page 332

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations



Criticism should be constructive and not personal, particularly with regard
to the actions of junior officers.



Officers will not allow themselves to be drawn into a party political debate.

4.2.2 Informal Meetings and Settings
This guidance also applies to informal meetings but with more latitude for
forms of dress and address. However, both members and officers should
ensure that their interaction does not embarrass others, suggest
favouritism or personal dislike or otherwise damage working relationships.
5.

Personal Relationships

5.1

If a friendship or closer relationship (including relatives) exists or forms
between a member and an officer, this needs to be addressed openly.
Friendship is likely to be something closer than an acquaintance or work
colleague and include some social interaction. In such situations:



Members must seek advice from the Monitoring Officer Officers must raise
the matter with their Head of Service or Executive Director to discuss
appropriate action.

Page 5
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations
Updated April 2019

Page 333

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations

6.

Supporting Political Groups and Individual Members

6.1

Support for Political Groups

Political groups may ask the Chief Executive (or, the relevant Executive Director)
for a briefing on Council business. If the Chief Executive agrees, the following
principles will apply:


Only senior officers will give briefings (although they may be accompanied
by junior officers with specialist knowledge).



Briefings will cover Council business only and officers will not be asked or
allow themselves to be involved in a political discussion or discussion of
any other matter than the subject of the briefing.



Briefings given to one group will be available to any political group, upon
request.



Officers will respect the confidentiality of political group meetings.



Only members and officers will attend political group briefings. Officers
may refuse to brief meetings attended by a non-member (except for other
council officers), as they are not bound by the Code of Conduct’s
obligations of confidentiality and also, other than the above, officers must
not attend political party meetings, as this may jeopardise their
impartiality.



Briefings are not a substitute for the provision of information and advice in
formal Council meetings.

For clarity, briefings are restricted to the political groups within the Council and
do not include any meeting arranged by a political party itself.

Page 6
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations
Updated April 2019

Page 334

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations

6.2

Individual Members and the Use of Council Resources

6.2.1 The Council provides members with a range of resources to support their
work as community leaders and in their appointed offices. The Business
Support Team provide all members with secretarial and other support.
Other teams provide specialist support to the Executive and Scrutiny. All
other Council officers will assist members as and when required.
Members are also provided with IT and other equipment.

6.2.3 The following will apply to the use of these resources:


Members must comply with the Council’s protocols for the use of IT
and other equipment.



Correspondence or other communications about Council business,
including constituency matters, must be on Council letter headed
paper or council email.



Officer support or other resources cannot be used for party political
work.



Officers will respect the confidentiality of members’ correspondence
and not disclose it to any other member without authorisation.



Members must not use Council resources to improperly benefit
themselves or for the improper benefit or detriment of another
person.

6.2.4 Corporate standards for responding to members’ correspondence are
dealt with in Section 9

Page 7
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations
Updated April 2019

Page 335

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations

7.

The Management of Officers

7.1

Although officers will support, advise and respond to members’ requests,
the law is clear that only other officers can manage officers. This means
that:



Day to day management of officers is the responsibility of managers and
ultimately the Chief Executive.



Officers will comply with all reasonable requests from members but
members cannot instruct officers to do any piece of work or take any
course of action.



Officers will not seek any member’s support in any employment or other
dispute or a Council appointment or promotion.



Members are legally responsible for the recruitment of officers at Heads of
Service level and above.



Officers are responsible for recruitment of all other officers.



Members’ role in any formal action against an officer or grievance
involving an officer is limited to reporting an officer’s actions to their
manager and/or as a witness (except for certain statutory posts).
When discussing or making decisions about employment relations
matters, members must remember that they represent the Council as an
employer and are not a representative of the employees.

8.

Access to information

8.1

To carry out their duties effectively, members must have broad access to
Council information. The following principles apply here:

Page 8
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations
Updated April 2019

Page 336

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations

o Members’ enquiries will be dealt with promptly and effectively and
within corporate time scales (see Members’ Enquiries below).
o Members’ access to information will be compliant with their
statutory and common law rights (see Appendix A for details)
o Officers will not withhold information from a member who is entitled
to receive it.
o Where confidential, personal or otherwise sensitive information is
provided to a member, they will not disclose it to any other person,
without authorisation.
o Members’ enquiries which are in fact constituent complaints will be
handled under the Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure.
o Members’ enquiries should be addressed to the relevant Head of
Service or above or to specific member liaison officers.
o Any disputes relating to access to information will be referred to the
Monitoring Officer for determination.
9.

Members’ Enquiries



Members’ enquiries may be made by mail or in writing. They may also be
made in person or by telephone, although it may be difficult to establish an
audit trail in case of dissatisfaction.



A substantive response to a member enquiry should be sent within 10
calendar days of receipt.



If it is not possible to respond within 10 calendar days, officers must
explain in writing:
o

the reason for the delay,

Page 9
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations
Updated April 2019

Page 337

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations

o what action is being taken to pursue the enquiry and
o a deadline in which a substantive response will be sent.


Strategic Directors are responsible for ensuring that member enquiries are
dealt with promptly and accurately in his or her Directorate.



Where an enquiry imposes a disproportionate burden on officers’ work,
this should be explained and discussed with the member concerned and
senior management to agree an alternative deadline and/or response.



The members’ enquiry procedure supplements and does not replace
members’ statutory and common law rights to information.



Co-opted and independent members’ rights of access to information will
be limited to those areas that fall within the remit of the body to which they
are appointed and their statutory rights.

Further information on access to information is available at Appendix A.

10.

Media Relations and Publicity

10.1

The Council agreed a Media and Publicity Protocol in 2003, which is
binding on all members and officers.

The Corporate Communications

team lead on all media and publicity events. The following principles are
relevant to member-officer relations and the media:


members and officers will comply with the Council’s Policy when speaking
for or on behalf of the Council.



Members are free to speak to the media on any matter on behalf of a
political party but should make this clear in any statement made.



Officers must also act in accordance with the Employees’ Code of
Conduct when speaking about the Council in public.

Page 10
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations
Updated April 2019

Page 338

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations

11.

When Things go Wrong: Dispute resolution

11.1

Both Members and officers are committed to informal, non-adversarial
solutions to resolve disputes. Where a dispute arises, the first step should
be for both parties to seek to resolve any differences informally between
themselves or, where necessary, with the assistance of a manager.

11.2

When an informal resolution is not possible, the following processes will
apply.

Formal complaints about officers
11.3

Members should make any formal complaints about officers to their
Strategic Director or the Chief Executive, copied to the Monitoring Officer.
The matter will be investigated and the member will be informed of its
progress and outcome.

11.4

In appropriate cases, breaches of this Protocol may also constitute
offences under the Employees’ Code of Conduct and in such cases,
disciplinary action may be taken.

11.5

Members must remember that the decision to take formal action against
an officer and the action taken is the sole responsibility of management. A
Member’s evidence will be considered but Members must:
o respect the confidentiality of the investigation and disciplinary
process;
o not seek to improperly influence the action taken against an
employee;
o accept the management decision.

Page 11
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations
Updated April 2019

Page 339

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations

11.6

Formal complaints about Members
An officer’s complaint about a Member should be reported to the Chief
Executive and copied to the Monitoring Officer and the officer’s Head of
Service.

The Monitoring Officer will, where necessary, investigate the

complaint and report the outcome to the officer and Member.

In

appropriate cases, the Monitoring Officer will notify the relevant political
group leader of the complaint and his findings.
11.7

Interaction

with

the

Members’

Code

of

Conduct

and

the

Whistleblowing Policy
A complaint against a Member may disclose evidence of a breach of the
Code of Conduct. The Protocol’s aim is, in part, to provide guidance and
resolve disputes informally and thereby prevent Code of Conduct
complaints. However, an officer’s use of the dispute resolution procedure
in this Protocol does not prohibit them from making a complaint under the
Code of Conduct about the same matter.
11.8

Equally, officers and Members are not prevented by this Protocol from
using the Council’s Whistleblowing Procedure, particularly for matters
involving potential fraud, deception or other criminality.

12.

Monitoring and review

12.1

The Protocol will be monitored and reviewed by the Council’s Audit and
Governance Committee on an annual basis.

Page 12
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations
Updated April 2019

Page 340

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations

Further Sources of Information
Topic

Source

Employment and appointment of

Employment Procedure Rules – Part 8 of the

officers

Constitution.

Member conduct

The Code of Conduct – Part 9 of the
Constitution.

Officer conduct

Code of Conduct for Officers
Framework for Managing People

Media and Publicity

Media Protocols and Code of Guidance
Code of Recommended Practice on Local
Authority Publicity

Complaints

Corporate Complaints homepage

Whistleblowing

Whistleblowing Policy and anti-fraud

Members’ Access to Information

Appendix A.
Access to Information Procedure Rules – Part
8 of the Constitution

Freedom of Information and Data

Council’s Freedom of Information homepage

Protection

Council’s Data Protection homepage
www.ico.gov.uk (external)

The electronic version of this Protocol contains, where possible, hyperlinks to the
relevant documents.

Page 13
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations
Updated April 2019

Page 341

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations

MEMBER OFFICER PROTOCOL –
APPENDIX A: MEMBERS’ RIGHTS OF ACCESS TO COUNCIL
INFORMATION
This is a summary of the legal rights of access to Council information available to
Councillors.

These are in addition to the Council’s policy on responding to

members’ enquiries: see section 9 above and help give effect to the Access to
Information Rules in Part 8 of the Constitution. To make a complex area simpler
to understand, this guidance is a summary document and not a complete
statement of the law. If in doubt, members are recommended to seek further
advice from the Monitoring Officer. In short, a member’s rights of access to
information depend on their role within the Council. The key rights of access to
council information are summarised in the table below and refers to the relevant
section below.
Person seeking access

Public and Press

Independent Person
(ethical standards
functions)

All elected members

Right of access
Access to all Council reports, agendas and minutes, except
those reports which are exempt from public access – see
section 2.1
Access to Notices of Executive decisions – see section
2.2.3 (including in the Forward Plan)
Rights under Freedom of Information Act 2000,
Environmental Information Regulations 2004 and Data
Protection Act 1998. – see section 3 below
Public and press rights:
Reports for local determination hearings under the Code of
Conduct (including exempt information).
Public and press rights plus:
“Need to know” – see section 1.
Right to inspect “business to be transacted” by the Council
– see section 2.4.1

Page 14
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations
Updated April 2019

Page 342

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations

Scrutiny committee
members
Executive members

All the rights above and additional rights to Executive
reports – see section 2.5.5
All rights above and also full access to Executive reports

Page 15
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations
Updated April 2019

Page 343

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations

1.

Common law – the “need to know”

1.1.

The primary rights are in common law, i.e., case law built up over the
years. Members have rights of access to information so far as access is
reasonably necessary for them to perform their duties. The case law says
this is not a “roving commission” to access any documents and the
member needs to prove they have a right to know. A committee member
generally has a need to know about matters in relation to that committee
or its sub-committee. This right is not limited to formal committee papers.

1.2.

Refusals can take into account the effects on disclosure on third parties
and the need to know must be in “good faith”.

1.3.

It should be noted that this is a right of access to the member only and for
carrying out their official duties. It does not allow a member to further
disclose the information and indeed the unauthorised disclosure of
confidential information is a breach of the Code of Conduct.

2.

Members’ statutory rights of access

2.1.

Access to Council and Committee documents – Local Government
Act 1972
Public Access

2.2.

Members have generally the same rights of access as members of the
public in respect of the formal council meetings.

2.3.

The default position is that there is access to all agendas, reports and
minutes of council, committee and scrutiny meetings. Schedule 12A of
the LGA 1972, however, sets out a list of categories of information which
may be excluded from public access before the meeting and by a vote of

Page 16
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations
Updated April 2019

Page 344

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations

the committee itself at the meeting. Schedule 12A also includes some
categories of information which must not be disclosed to the public. The
categories within Schedule 12A are set out at the end of this document.
2.4.

It should also be noted that the application of an exemption is now subject
to a public interest test. The Council will now have to show that the public
interest is against public access.
Additional Rights of Members

2.4.1. Members have additional rights of access to the public. The additional
rights are to inspect any document in the possession or under the control
of the Council and containing material relating to any business to be
transacted at a council, committee or sub-committee meeting.
2.4.2. It is important to note that the right is limited in the following ways;


It is a right to inspect not receive a copy.



It applies to access before a public meeting, or to access after a
private meeting or where an executive decision has been made by
an individual member or officer in accordance with executive
arrangements



It only applies to documents held at that time.

2.4.3. Most importantly, if the report is designated as containing exempt
information, the right to inspect at 2.1.4 does not apply. However, this
restriction does not apply to:


Paragraph 3 – information about the financial or business affairs of
any person (including the Council) where the information is not
about terms proposed during contract negotiations.

Page 17
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations
Updated April 2019

Page 345

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations



Paragraph 6 – proposals to issue statutory notices, directions or
other orders.

2.5.

Access to Executive documents
All Members

2.5.1. The members’ rights of access to executive (i.e., Cabinet and Portfolio
Holders) documents are very similar to the regime described above but
there are some key differences due to the nature of executive
arrangements.
2.5.2. The access regime described above applies equally to executive
documents so that:


Executive agendas are publicly available, unless the information
falls within Schedule 12A.



Members have the additional right to inspect information about
business to be transacted at executive meetings, subject to the
same restrictions outlined above.

2.5.3. Notice of key decisions must be published 28 clear days before the
decision is taken. In addition, the Leader may publish a forward plan of all
key decisions to be made in the next month, and this may include
advance information about future decisions. The forward plan provides
specific details of the decisions to be made and is publicly available. Key
decisions are defined in the Council’s Constitution at Part 5, page 6.
2.5.4. Cabinet meetings where key decisions are made must be held in public
and there is public and member access to the agenda, reports and
minutes of such meetings. At Waltham Forest, all Cabinet meetings are in
public.
Page 18
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations
Updated April 2019

Page 346

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations

Members of Scrutiny Committees
2.5.5. Members of Overview and Scrutiny Committees have additional rights.
Scrutiny members are entitled to a copy of any document which is in the
possession or under the control of the executive of that authority, and that
contains material relating to one of the following:


Any business transacted at a private or public meeting of a
decision-making body of that authority.



Any decision made by an individual Cabinet member.



Any key decision made by an officer of the authority in accordance
with executive arrangements.

2.5.6. No Scrutiny member is entitled to:


A copy of such document or part of a document as contains exempt
or confidential information under Schedule 12A, unless that
information is relevant to an action or decision that they are
reviewing or scrutinising, or which is relevant to any review
contained in any programme of work of the committee or one of its
sub-committees.



A copy of a document or part of a document containing advice
provided by a political adviser or assistant.

2.6.

Scrutiny’s right is a broader entitlement to copies of documents but is still
limited when exempt information is being considered.

2.7.

The Executive must provide such information as soon as practicable and
in any case no later than 10 clear days after receipt of a request from
Scrutiny.

Page 19
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations
Updated April 2019

Page 347

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations

3.

Freedom of information and other statutory rights.

3.1.

The Freedom of Information Act 2000 gives anyone the right to request
information held by the Council. The Council is under a duty to confirm or
deny that it holds the information and, if it does, to supply the information.
The Council has 20 working days to supply the information, although in
certain cases, this time limit can be extended. This right of access is
subject a number of exempt categories of information. Fees are payable
for requests that take over 18 ½ hours to provide a response.

3.2.

Environmental
Information

information

Regulations

is

2005,

available
again

under

with

20

the

Environmental

working

days

for

straightforward requests, although a fee may be charged immediately for
all responses.
3.3.

The Data Protection Act 1998 gives members rights of access to personal
information about themselves held by the Council. It also provides for
members to seek personal information about constituents they are
representing within specified limits.
accessing

personal

information

There may still be restrictions on
about

people

members

are

not

representing.
3.4.

Members may also request information using Councillor Services where
the corporate response timetable is 10 days.

4.

THE CODE OF CONDUCT

4.1.

Members have wide rights of access to information held by the Council
but this does not mean that they may share all this information with other
people or the public. Much of the information disclosed under the “need to
know” or the additional rights of access to Council and Executive

Page 20
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations
Updated April 2019

Page 348

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations

documents will include access to confidential information, either about
individuals, the Council or other persons/organisations.
4.2.

The Code of Conduct requires councillors to comply with the Access to
Information Rules and the law in respect of the disclosure of confidential
information,

4.3.

Members are strongly advised to seek legal advice before considering the
disclosure of information given to them in confidential or otherwise
restricted circumstances.
SCHEDULE 12A OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 – SUMMARY

1.

Information relating to any individual.

2.

Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.

3.

Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person
(including the authority holding that information).

4.

Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated
consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter
arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or
office holders under, the authority.

5.

Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be
maintained in legal proceedings.

6.

Information which reveals that the authority proposes—
• to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which
requirements are imposed on a person; or
• to make an order or direction under any enactment.

7.

Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the
prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime.

Exempt Information in Local Determination Hearings of the Council’s Audit and
Governance Committee Only
7A.

Information which is subject to any obligation of confidentiality.

Page 21
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations
Updated April 2019

Page 349

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations

7B.

Information which relates in any way to matters concerning national security.

7C.

The deliberations of a standards committee or a subcommittee
Qualifications
All information within paragraphs 1-7C is exempt information if and so long, as in all the
circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs
the public interest in disclosing the information (the “public interest test”).
Information within paragraph 3 is not exempt information if it is required to be registered
under(a) the Companies Act 1985;
(b) the Friendly Societies Act 1974;
(c) the Friendly Societies Act 1992;
(d) the Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 1965 to 1978;
(e) the Building Societies Act 1986;or
(f) the Charities Act 1993.

Page 22
Part 9 Protocol for Member/employee relations
Updated April 2019

Page 350

Agenda Item 1gg
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 10 – Councillor’s Allowances Scheme

Part 10 - Councillors Allowance Scheme
1.

INTRODUCTION

1.1

This Scheme is governed by the Local Government & Housing Act
1989 as amended and the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances)
(England) Regulations 2003. The Regulations require local authorities:
(a)

to review their Councillors’ Allowances Schemes every four
years as a minimum; and

(b)

to have regard to the recommendations of an independent
remuneration panel when making or amending their allowance
scheme.

1.2

The Council carries out a full review of its Councillors’ Allowances
Scheme, having regard to the London Councils’ Independent Panel
report, at the start of each 4-year electoral term, and confirms it
annually. The Council agreed on 3 March 2016 that Basic, Special
Responsibility and Co-Optee Allowances will increase annually in line
with the NJC pay award for employees with effect from the beginning of
the 2015/16 financial year. The current rates of allowances were
agreed by the Council on 22 April 2021 and are set out in Appendix A.

1.3

No councillor shall claim or receive any allowance from more than one
authority of which (s)he is a Member in respect of the same duties.

1.4

In this Scheme, unless otherwise provided:
1.4.1 “Councillor” or “Member” means an elected Council member of
the London Borough of Waltham Forest
1.4.2 “Year” means 12 months to 31 March.
1.4.3 “Monitoring Officer” means the officer designated in Article 12 of
the Council’s Constitution to undertake specified functions.

1.5

Any disputes which cannot be resolved by the Monitoring Officer or
abuses will be referred for adjudication to, and be determined by the
Audit & Governance Committee.

PART 10 Councilors’ Allowances Scheme1
Last updated April 2021

Page 351

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 10 – Councillor’s Allowances Scheme

2.

BASIC ALLOWANCE

2.1

A Basic Annual Allowance will be paid to each councillor in monthly
instalments at a standard rate per month.

2.2

If the Basic Allowance is varied, the old or new rates will be paid for the
proportions of the year they apply, calculated on a daily basis.

2.3

If a councillor’s term of office begins or ends other than at the
beginning or end of a year, s/he will receive a pro rata entitlement to
Basic Allowance based on the actual number of days of membership.

3.

SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCES

3.1

The Council will pay Special Responsibility Allowances to the
councillors undertaking the roles set out in the table at paragraph 2.1 of
Appendix A and at the rates set out in that table. Payments will be
made in monthly instalments at a standard rate per month.

3.2

Councillors holding more than one of the above posts, will only receive
the Special Responsibility Allowance with the greater value.

4.

DEPENDENT’S CARER’S ALLOWANCE
Babysitting allowance

4.1

Councillors are entitled to the re-imbursement of the actual costs on
proof of receipts for babysitting (up to a maximum rate) where:
4.1.1 the costs are necessarily incurred in the supervision of their own
children under 15, and
4.1.2 the supervision is not undertaken by a member of their family or
household resident at the same address as the councillor, and
4.1.3 the councillor is undertaking a duty listed at Appendix B.
Carer’s allowance

4.2

Councillors are entitled to the re-imbursement of the actual costs on
proof of receipts for caring for dependents 15 and over in their personal
care (up to a maximum rate), or in respect of other dependents where
medical or social work care is required and where the costs are
necessarily incurred:

PART 10 Councilors’ Allowances Scheme2
Last updated April 2021

Page 352

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 10 – Councillor’s Allowances Scheme

4.2.1 while undertaking one of the duties listed at Appendix B and
4.2.2 the care is not undertaken by a member of their family or
household resident at the same address as the councillor.

5.

TRAVELLING AND SUBSISTENCE ALLOWANCES

5.1

Subject to the provisions below, councillors may claim travelling and
subsistence allowances where expenditure is undertaken in connection
with or relates to any of the duties listed in Appendix B.

5.2

Travelling and subsistence allowances are only payable for travel and
subsistence costs incurred in relation to duties outside the borough
(except

for

Co-opted

Members

who

cannot

claim

co-optees’

allowances under paragraph 6.1 of this Scheme or where travel by taxi
is allowed in accordance with 5.11 below).
5.3

No allowance is payable for travel outside of the UK except with
Council approval.

5.4

If a Member performs a duty in Appendix B on behalf of more than one
body, expenses will only be reimbursed up to the maximum allowable
for one of those bodies. Any claim for travel or subsistence expenses
must be reduced by any sums reimbursed by an authority or body in
respect of the same duties.

5.5

The Council does not provide any travel insurance cover under this
Scheme. Members must arrange their own insurance, including
Business Use cover for vehicles where applicable.
Public transport (including rail travel)

5.6

The amount payable for travel by public transport may not exceed the
standard class or any available cheaper fare, except that a first class
rail fare may be claimed when no standard class seats are available.

5.7

The above rate may be increased by supplementary allowances not
exceeding expenditure actually incurred:
5.7.1 In the reservation of seats and the deposit or porterage of
luggage; and

PART 10 Councilors’ Allowances Scheme3
Last updated April 2021

Page 353

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 10 – Councillor’s Allowances Scheme

5.7.2 on sleeping accommodation engaged for an overnight journey,
subject to reduction by one-third of any subsistence allowance
payable to the councillor for that night.
Private motor vehicles
5.8

Councillors may claim mileage allowance for the use of a motor vehicle
in connection with or relating to the duties in Appendix B.

5.9

The mileage allowance rates are set out in Appendix A.

5.10

Where a councillor travels to a conference by motor vehicle, any
travelling allowance payable will be increased by the appropriate
supplementary rate per mile set out in Appendix A for each official
delegate carried.
Taxi cabs

5.11

The actual fare may be claimed where:
5.11.1 a councillor has a disability or mobility difficulties that make use
of public transport difficult, or
5.11.2 after a formal evening meeting or approved duty in the borough
where the councillor concerned considers it appropriate having
regard to their safety, the lateness of the hour or some relevant
factor.
Hired motor vehicles

5.12

The rate of travel allowance payable for the hire of a motor vehicle,
other than taxi cabs, shall not exceed the mileage allowance payable
under paragraphs 5.8 to 5.10 above.
Air travel

5.13

Except where provided for in paragraph 5.14 below, an allowance for
air travel is only payable where there is no reasonable alternative form
of transport available and/or the councillor can show that it is cheaper
than other forms of public transport allowed under this Scheme for the
same journey.

5.14

Where the travel by plane for a particular journey would result in a
substantial time saving justifying the payment of air travel, the

PART 10 Councilors’ Allowances Scheme4
Last updated April 2021

Page 354

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 10 – Councillor’s Allowances Scheme

Monitoring Officer may further approve the payment of an allowance of
either:
5.14.1 the ordinary fare or other available cheap fare for travel by
regular air service; or
5.14.2 where no such service is available, or in case of urgency, the
actual fare paid by the councillor.
5.15

With the exception of the circumstances in paragraph 5.14, all
allowances will be paid either:
5.15.1 at the rate applicable by appropriate alternative means of
transport payable under this scheme or
5.15.2 if cheaper, the actual cost of travel.
Bicycles and non-motorised transport

5.16

Councillors who travel by bicycle or other non-motorised forms of
transport for the duties listed in Appendix B, may claim an allowance at
the rate set out in Appendix A.

Subsistence allowance
Daytime Absence
5.17

A subsistence allowance may be claimed for all absence from home for
the duties listed in Appendix B.

For all current rates, please see

Appendix A.
5.18

Overnight Absence

5.19

Any overnight absence (i.e. a continuous absence of 24 hours) is paid
up to a maximum set out in Appendix A.

5.20

Where the absence is overnight in London and the Member is unable
to get home, or during attendance at an annual conference of the Local
Government Association or other associations of authorities of which
the Council is a member, the rate shall be increased by up to the higher
maximum rate in Appendix A. London means the City of London and
boroughs whose officers receive

an Inner London Weighting

Allowance.

6.

CO-OPTEES’ ALLOWANCE

PART 10 Councilors’ Allowances Scheme5
Last updated April 2021

Page 355

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 10 – Councillor’s Allowances Scheme

6.1

An annual allowance is payable in equal monthly instalments to the
independent members appointed to the Council to serve on the Audit &
Governance Committee. Persons who have been co-opted by the
Council to serve on Scrutiny Committees or panels appointed by those
committees including the statutory Education co-optees may claim
Dependants Carer’s Allowance and Travelling and Subsistence
Allowances (including for intra-borough travel) in respect of their
attendance at meetings of the body concerned.

7.

PENSION SCHEME

7.1

Following Council’s decision to make budgetary provision, Cabinet
agreed on 8 November 2017 to the provision of a Defined Contribution
Pension Scheme for Members with the option to pay in at 3 per cent or
6 per cent.

8.

MATERNITY, PATERNITY AND SICKNESS ABSENCE

8.1

Council on 19 April 2018 adopted a protocol Maternity, Paternity and
Sickness Absence for Councillors.

While not forming part of the

Scheme, it is attached as Appendix D to this document.

9.
9.1

FOREGOING EXPENSES
Any councillor or co-opted member entitled to allowances under this
scheme may elect to forego any or all of their entitlement to allowances
under this Scheme by notice in writing to the Director of Governance;
this will have effect from the date that written notice is received.
Councillors should note that foregoing allowances may have tax and
other financial implications. They are recommended to seek advice
from the Director of Finance or the relevant government agency before
foregoing their allowances.

10.

CLAIMING ALLOWANCES/PAYMENTS
Basic, special responsibility and co-optees’ allowances

10.1

Basic, Special Responsibility and Co-optees’ Allowances will be paid
automatically through the payroll. Payments will be made by direct
credit into bank accounts.

PART 10 Councilors’ Allowances Scheme6
Last updated April 2021

Page 356

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 10 – Councillor’s Allowances Scheme

Other allowances
10.2

Claims under this scheme must be submitted no later than six months
after the date of the duty to which the expenses relate.

Claims

submitted after this time will not be paid.
10.3

Councillors must submit a claim each month for any travelling,
subsistence, babysitting or carer’s allowances to which they are entitled
on the forms provided together with receipts for expenditure.

10.4

Councillors can only claim one payment each week in respect of
babysitting or carer’s allowance except in special circumstances to be
judged by the Audit & Governance Committee.

10.5

Councillors must submit allowance claims by the first Friday of each
month to receive payment on 21st of the same month.

10.6

After completion, the form should be returned to the Councillor
Services Team Leader.

10.7

When satisfied that a claim, other than the basic and special
responsibility allowances, falls within the Scheme, Business Support
will arrange payment through the payroll system.

10.8

Payment will be through Bank Automatic Clearing System (BACS)
direct to a bank account.

10.9

Please see Appendix C for information relating to income tax and other
deductions.

11.

RECOVERY OF OVERPAYMENTS

11.1

A councillor or co-opted member must repay any payment received
under this Scheme where, in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer s/he
has received a payment in respect of any period when s/he either:
11.1.1 Has ceased to be a councillor or a co-optee, or
11.1.2 Is in any other way not entitled to receive the allowance in
respect of any period.

11.2

Repayments must be made within 28 days of the date of any demand
for payment and may, where possible, be deducted from future lawful
payments of allowances under this Scheme.

PART 10 Councilors’ Allowances Scheme7
Last updated April 2021

Page 357

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 10 – Councillor’s Allowances Scheme

APPENDIX A
RATES OF ALLOWANCES
All provisions relating to councillors’ entitlement to allowances are set out in
the main body of the Scheme. The following rates were agreed at the Annual
Council Meeting on 22 April 2021 and are the current rate of allowance:
The following rates will apply:

1.

BASIC ALLOWANCE

1.1

The Basic Allowance is £11,576 per annum.

2.

SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITY (SRAs) AND CO-OPTEE
ALLOWANCES

2.1

Special Responsibility and Co-Optee Allowances will be paid for the
duties indicated as follows SRA

SRA
£ pa

Council Leader

52,403

Deputy Leader

33,538

Cabinet Members

26,201

Leader of the Opposition

18,531

Mayor
Junior Cabinet Member
Chief Whip
Chair: Audit and Governance Committee
Chair: Pension Fund Committee
Chair: Regulatory Committee (Planning and Licensing)
Chair: Scrutiny Committee Chair
Opposition Chief Whip
Chair: Transport Liaison Consultative Group
Vice Chair: Regulatory Committee (Planning and Licensing)
Co-optee: Audit and Governance Committee
Independent Person appointed under Section 28 of the
Localism Act 2011 (Standards)

2.2

10,481

5,508
762
1,002

The Chief Whip of each political group shall inform the Monitoring
Officer in writing of all appointments relating to their party for which an
SRA is payable.

PART 10 Councilors’ Allowances Scheme8
Last updated April 2021

Page 358

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 10 – Councillor’s Allowances Scheme

2.3

Resignations from SRA posts shall take effect upon the receipt by the
Monitoring Officer of a notice of resignation signed by the post holder.

3.

DEPENDENT’S CARERS’ ALLOWANCE

3.1

The Council will reimburse actual payments made by councillors at an
hourly rate equivalent to the London Living Wage for adults. This
allowance is capped at 6 hours maximum.

4.

RATES OF TRAVELLING ALLOWANCE
Private motor vehicles

4.1

The rate for travel by private motor vehicle is 45 pence per mile for any
qualifying car journey.

4.2

The above rate may be increased:
4.2.1 For each passenger by 3.3p per mile for the first passenger and
2.0p per mile for second to fourth passengers. Each passenger
must themselves be entitled to claim a travelling allowance
under this scheme for the journey.
4.2.2 For any expenditure incurred on tolls, ferries or parking fees,
including overnight garaging, except where such expenditure is
incurred under the Council’s parking scheme for its premises in
force at that time.

4.3

Motorcycle allowance
Motorcycle capacity
Up to 50cc
51 - 125cc
126 - 250cc
251 - 500cc
501cc and over

4.4

Per mile
10.0p
13.6p
16.7p
20.0p
23.3p

Bicycles and non-motorised transport
Councillors who use these forms of transport shall receive a rate of 40
pence per mile.

PART 10 Councilors’ Allowances Scheme9
Last updated April 2021

Page 359

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 10 – Councillor’s Allowances Scheme

5.

SUBSISTENCE ALLOWANCE
Day subsistence

5.1

Breakfast allowance (more than 4 hours away from normal place of
residence before 11 am) up to £5.15;

5.2

Lunch allowance (more than 4 hours away from normal place of
residence, including the lunchtime between 12 noon and 2 pm) up to
£7.11;

5.3

Tea allowance (more than 4 hours away from normal place of
residence, including the period 3 pm to 6 pm) up to £2.81;

5.4

Evening meal allowance (more than 4 hours away from normal place
of residence, ending after 7 pm) up to £8.80.

5.5

If actual expenditure is below the maximum allowance, only this sum
may be claimed. Subsistence allowance claims must identity the times
of departure, return and duration of any meetings.
Overnight subsistence

5.6

Overnight absence under paragraph 5.18 of the scheme above £83.80.

5.7

Overnight absence under paragraph 5.19 of the scheme above £95.63.

PART 10 Councilors’ Allowances Scheme10
Last updated April 2021

Page 360

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 10 – Councillor’s Allowances Scheme

APPENDIX B
APPROVED DUTIES FOR DEPENDENT’S CARER'S, TRAVEL &
SUBSISTENCE ALLOWANCES
Councillors may claim Dependants Carer’s & Travel and Subsistence
Allowances in respect of the following duties only:
1. Council meetings: Attendance at any Council, committee & subcommittee meetings.
2. Executive Meetings: the attendance at a meeting of the executive or a
meeting of any of its committees.
3. Outside Appointments: Attendance at Meetings of other bodies (and
their sub-committees) to which the Council has formally appointed or
nominated the councillor.
4. Other Authorised Meetings: Attendance by a formally appointed
Council representative at any other meeting authorised by the Council
or a Council committee, sub-committee, or a Council joint committee
with at least one other local authority or a sub-committee of such a joint
committee, but only
4.1
Where the Council is divided into two or more political groups, it
is a meeting to which members of at least two such groups have
been invited; or
4.2
If the Council is not so divided, it is a meeting to which at least
two Council members have been invited;
5. Local Authority Association Meetings: The attendance at a meeting
of any association of authorities of which the Council is a member, by a
formally appointed representative;
6. Opening of Tenders: The performance of any duty in pursuance of
any standing order made under section 135 of the Local Government
Act 1972 requiring a councillor or councillors to be present while tender
documents are opened;
7. Inspection of Premises: The performance of any duty in connection
with the discharge of any function of the Council conferred by or under
any enactment and empowering or requiring the Council to inspect or
authorise the inspection of premises;
8. Attendance of Pupils at Non-Maintained Special Schools: The
performance of any duty in connection with arrangements made by the
Council for the attendance of pupils at any school approved for the
purposes of section 342 of the Education Act 1996 (approval of nonmaintained special schools);
9. Other Approved Duties: The carrying out of any other duty approved
by the Council, or any duty of a class so approved, for the purpose of,
or in connection with, the discharge of the functions of the Council or
any of its committees or sub-committees.
For the purposes of this Appendix, “Council” and “authority” mean an authority
of any description specified in Regulation 3(1)(a) to (c) of the 2003
Regulations, which includes (but is not limited to) all London borough, district
and county councils.
*NOTE: Travel and Subsistence allowances are payable for approved duties
outside the Borough only, except, where otherwise provided in the scheme.
PART 10 Councilors’ Allowances Scheme11
Last updated April 2021

Page 361

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 10 – Councillor’s Allowances Scheme

APPENDIX C
COUNCILLORS’ LIABILITY TO TAX & NATIONAL INSURANCE FOR
ALLOWANCES UNDER THE COUNCILLORS’ ALLOWANCES SCHEME
(This Appendix is provided for councillors’ information only and does not form
part of the Constitution)

1.
1.1

1.2

2.
2.1

2.2

2.3

3.
3.1

3.2

LIABILITY FOR TAX
Councillors' Allowances are subject to taxation and are paid through
the Council's payroll system. Every Councillor will have the option to
choose between:
1.1.1 Having tax deductions made under the PAYE system; or
1.1.2 Having tax deducted at the basic rate from all allowance
payments;
Under either option it may be possible for the Councillor to obtain the
agreement of the Inspector of Taxes to expenses incurred by him/her
and not otherwise reimbursed being offset against other allowances
before it is taxed. In this connection, it should be remembered that
travelling and subsistence expenses are paid by the Council. They
cannot therefore be included as an expense for this purpose. Similarly,
expenditure of a social or political nature does not qualify for relief.
ARRANGEMENTS WITH INSPECTOR OF TAXES
HMRC is notified of the names and addresses of all Members of the
Council and will generally send a form P280 to them. This asks for
details of:2.1.1 The name of the Tax Office dealing with the councillor’s
personal tax affairs;
2.1.2 Employment status;
2.1.3 The name and address of the councillor’s employer, where
applicable;
2.1.4 Details of any pension received;
2.1.5 The nature of business in the case of a self-employed councillor.
When returning the form to the Inspector of Taxes, the councillor
should indicate whether he/she wishes to opt for the PAYE system of
tax deduction or have tax deducted at the basic rate. The Inspector of
Taxes will then, in due course, notify the Council (Payroll Section) of
the councillor’s decision. In the case of councillors opting for PAYE
deduction a tax code number will be provided, which reflects the
amount of expenses agreed between the Inspector and the councillor
for the purpose of paragraph 1.2 above.
For tax purposes Form P60 (certificate of allowances paid and
deductions for each financial year) will be issued to all councillors
shortly after the end of the tax year.
SOCIAL SECURITY CONTRIBUTIONS AND BENEFITS
Councillors and the Council are each liable for Class 1 National
Insurance contributions in respect of the payment of Councillors'
Allowances where the total paid reaches the current lower earnings
limit in any one month. Primary Class 1 contributions are then generally
payable by the councillor at the current standard rate.
Some councillors are entitled to pay less than the standard rate in
specific circumstances:-

PART 10 Councilors’ Allowances Scheme12
Last updated April 2021

Page 362

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 10 – Councillor’s Allowances Scheme

3.3
3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

4.
4.1

5.
5.1

3.2.1 Married Women and Widows under 60 who have exercised and
retained their right not to pay the full rate will be liable for Class
1 contributions at the "reduced rate".
3.2.2 Councillors who have already attained, or on attaining, National
Insurance retirement age are not liable to pay contributions.
3.2.3 Councillors who expect to pay the maximum National Insurance
contributions for the current financial year in any other
employment will be exempt from National Insurance
contributions on production of form RD950, which is issued on
request by the local DWP office. This procedure must be
followed for each financial year.
A certificate of reduced liability or an earner's non-liability certificate will
be issued by the local DWP office on application by the councillor.
The lower earnings limit and the rates of contributions are generally
altered annually as part of the Chancellor of the Exchequer's Budget.
Further information may be obtained from Payroll Section at the Town
Hall, extension 4230.
Each "employment" is considered separately for National Insurance
contribution purposes and there is separate liability for contributions on
the pay from each "employment". The fact that a councillor may be
employed or is the holder of an office under another employer, or is
self-employed, does not affect the amount of the contributions payable
on Councillors’ Allowances.
Councillors' Allowances payments may affect entitlement to and receipt
of benefits. If a councillor is claiming or receiving benefits, including
unemployment or supplementary benefit, s/he should notify their local
Social Security office of any allowance payments received. S/he should
also notify separately, if claiming Housing or Council Tax Benefit.
National Insurance contributions paid by councillors in respect of
Councillors' Allowances will generally count towards social security
benefits, although entitlement will depend on the amount and rate of
contributions paid.
FOREGOING ALLOWANCES
All councillors and Co-opted Members should be aware that a decision
to forego allowances may have tax and benefit implications. It is
recommended that before making this decision they seek advice from
the Strategic Director of Finance and Governance and/or the relevant
government agency.
FURTHER ADVICE AND CLARIFICATION
Councillors are responsible for their tax and other liabilities in respect of
their allowances. Further advice can be sought either from the Director
of Financial Services or HMRC:see paragraph 2 above for details.

PART 10 Councilors’ Allowances Scheme13
Last updated April 2021

Page 363

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 10 – Councillor’s Allowances Scheme

APPENDIX D
PROTOCOL ON MEMBERS’ SICKNESS AND MATERNITY/PATERNITY
LEAVE
1. Employment protection
1.1 Councillors do not enjoy the same employment protection rights that
are afforded to officers of the Council because councillors are not
employees but are elected officials holding public office.
2. Sickness absence
2.1 If a councillor becomes incapacitated through illness or injury and has
to take sick leave from undertaking all or part of their role as a
councillor they are not entitled to sick pay in the way that an employee
would receive sick pay
2.2 The Council shall ensure that in such circumstances the councillor will
continue to receive their existing councillor allowances under the
Members’ Allowance Scheme notwithstanding they are unable to fulfil
all or part of that role for a period of time due to incapacity.
2.3 The duties of the councillor, including any specific special
responsibilities will need to be assigned within the relevant group by the
whip. If the councillor represents a split ward then this may necessitate
agreement between the relevant whips in relation to ward matters.
2.4 Arrangements to recompense members who take on such additional
duties from a fellow councillor who is absent through illness or injury
will be agreed by the Monitoring Officer in consultation with the relevant
group Leader, or if the absence is being taken by a group leader,
consultation with a councillor appointed by the relevant group, and
must be in accordance with the Members Allowances Scheme.
2.5 If the illness is prolonged and likely to result in an absence of more than
six months then consideration must be given to Council resolving to
permit any absence over six months which otherwise would result in
automatic disqualification of the councillor from holding office.
3. Maternity/Adoption and Paternity Leave
3.1 Should a female councillor need to take maternity or adoption leave the
Council shall ensure that the councillor will be entitled to take a leave of
absence from all or part of their official duties for up to 12 months
subject to the councillor giving notice of their intended maternity leave
start and end date.
3.2 Should a male councillor wish to take paternity or adoption leave the
Council shall ensure that the councillor will be entitled to take a leave of
PART 10 Councilors’ Allowances Scheme14
Last updated April 2021

Page 364

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 10 – Councillor’s Allowances Scheme

absence from all or part of their official duties for up to 3months subject
to the councillor giving notice of their intended paternity leave start and
end date.
3.3 The Council shall ensure that in such circumstances the councillor will
continue to receive their normal councillor allowances under the
Members Allowance Scheme notwithstanding they are not undertaking
all or part of their role as a councillor during this period of absence.
3.4 The duties of the councillor including any specific special
responsibilities will need to be assigned within the relevant group by the
whip. If the councillor represents a split ward then this may necessitate
agreement between the relevant whips in relation to ward matters.
3.5 Arrangements to recompense members who take on such additional
duties from a fellow councillor who is on maternity or paternity leave will
be agreed by the Monitoring Officer in consultation with the relevant
group Leader, and must be in accordance with the Members
Allowances Scheme.
3.6 Since maternity, adoption and paternity leave may be prolonged and
likely to result in an absence of more than six months then
consideration must be given to Council resolving to permit any
absence over six months which otherwise would result in automatic
disqualification from holding office.
3.7 The criteria set out in the Council’s Policies and Procedures for its
employees regarding who qualifies for maternity, adoption or paternity
will also apply to councillors.

PART 10 Councilors’ Allowances Scheme15
Last updated April 2021

Page 365

Page intentionally left blank

Management Structure as at 01 June 2022
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR OF
FINANCE & GOVERNANCE

DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE

CORPORATE
DIRECTOR OF
PEOPLE,
ORGANISATIONAL
DEVELOPMENT &
BUSINESS
SUPPORT

Page 367

CORPORATE
DIRECTOR OF
FINANCIAL
SERVICES

CORPORATE
DIRECTOR OF
REVENUES &
BENEFITS

CORPORATE
DIRECTOR OF
COMMUNICATIONS
& STRATEGY

CORPORATE
DIRECTOR OF
GOVERNANCE &
LAW

CORPORATE
DIRECTOR OF
RETURN ON
INVESTMENT

CORPORATE
DIRECTOR OF
STRATEGY,
INSIGHT &
COMMUNITIES

CORPORATE
DIRECTOR OF
CHANGE

CORPORATE
DIRECTOR –
INTERNAL AUDIT
& ANTI-FRAUD
SHARED SERVICE

HEAD OF
TREASURY &
PENSIONS

CORPORATE
DIRECTOR OF
CUSTOMER
STRATEGY &
DIGITAL CHANNELS

CORPORATE
DIRECTOR OF
CLIMATE &
BEHAVIOUR
CHANGE

(CORPORATE)
DIRECTOR OF
PUBLIC HEALTH

CORPORATE
DIRECTOR OF
INTEGRATED
COMMISSIONING

CORPORATE
DIRECTOR OF
REGULATION

CORPORATE
DIRECTOR OF
CHILDREN’S
SOCIAL CARE

CORPORATE
DIRECTOR OF
EDUCATION

CORPORATE
DIRECTOR OF
DESTINATIONS

CORPORATE
DIRECTOR OF
ADULT CARE &
QUALITY
STANDARDS

CORPORATE
DIRECTOR OF
REGEN, PLANNING
& DELIVERY

CORPORATE
DIRECTOR OF
PROPERTY &
DELIVERY

CORPORATE
DIRECTOR OF
NEIGHBOURHOODS

CORPORATE
DIRECTOR OF
HOUSING

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR OF PEOPLE

CORPORATE
DIRECTOR OF
COMMUNITY
SAFETY &
RESILIENCE

Agenda Item 1hh

CHIEF INFORMATION
OFFICER

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR OF PLACE

Page intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1ii
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 12 Councillors’ Roles

MEMBERS’ ROLES
This document aims to describe the potential range of activities, which Members
may find themselves undertaking in their various roles, it does not seek to prescribe
what Members must do.
This document should provide a direct and useful reference for anyone taking on, or
considering taking on, the roles described. It should also therefore assist with
identifying suitable training and development opportunities.

COUNCILLOR - CORE ROLE
To represent electors and the local communities of the Ward to which they have
been elected by acting as representatives, advocates, champions and create
opportunities for communication with different sectors including vulnerable and hard
to reach groups
To attend and contribute to meetings of the Full Council Committees as required
To undertake any role allocated in respect of either Executive, non-Executive,
Overview & Scrutiny, Audit & Governance or quasi-judicial / appeal functions of the
Council
To undertake other official duties or act as representatives of the Council on outside
bodies / external organisations where appointed and feedback where required
To actively participate in budget setting, forming the Council’s policies and scrutiny of
practices and service delivery
To attend Committees, Panels, Working Groups, Task and Finish Groups and other
meetings as required
To understand and translate to residents the role of public services
To effectively represent constituents by actively seeking their views, taking these into
account when considering policy and taking decisions and feeding back to
constituents Council decisions that impact on them
To undertake advice surgeries and diligently follow up casework on behalf of
constituents

Page 369

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 12 Councillors’ Roles

To address and present to the Council, using the appropriate process, issues of
concern to them or their constituents
To mitigate impact of austerity on residents by developing policies and approaches
to helping residents find support
To liaise with other levels of government, agencies or bodies with influence over the
well-being of the borough and local area
To maintain and promote high standards of conduct and ethics
To promote equality, diversity and fairness
To participate in any training and development initiatives that are either a
constitutional or legal requirement or which have been identified as a development
opportunity and undertake appropriate personal Development necessary to carry out
their role(s) or designated responsibilities

Page 370

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 12 Councillors’ Roles

MEMBERS’ ROLES
MAYOR
The following activities are in addition to the responsibilities set out in the
Core Councillor Role Description and any other Role Description, if held, by
the Mayor concerned

Key Civic /Ceremonial duties
To chair meetings of the Full Council so that its business can be carried out fairly
and efficiently and with regard to the rights of Councillors and the interests of the
community
To uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution
To determine any matter referred to him /her in relation to matters requiring an
urgent decision pursuant to the Constitution
To maintain the historical and ceremonial traditions of the Office of Mayor
To promote as widely as possible the interest and reputation of the London Borough
of Waltham Forest locally, nationally and internationally
To promote, liaise and link with private and voluntary sector organisations in the
borough
To participate in and help initiate activities which enhance the economic, social,
cultural and environmental well-being of the borough and its residents
To act as patron / president to local organisations
To act as host to official visitors to the borough
To attend civic events and local community activities
To represent the borough at ceremonial events
To act as the borough’s representative on other occasions determined by Council
To carry out all duties in a manner appropriate to the status and tradition of the
Office

Page 371

Page intentionally left blank

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 12 Councillors’ Roles

MEMBERS’ ROLES
LEADER OF THE COUNCIL
The following activities are in addition to the responsibilities set out in the
Core Councillor, Group Leader and Portfolio Holder Role Descriptions
Key duties
To represent the London Borough of Waltham Forest at local, regional and national
levels, acting as an ambassador and leading the development of key strategic
partnerships with local communities, outside agencies and key stakeholders to
deliver the Council's corporate objectives and provide high quality services to
residents.
To provide clear / strong, fair and visible political leadership for the Council, relating
to all Members, citizens, staff and stakeholders.
To lead the development of local, and regional policies which fulfil the Council's
corporate policy objectives
To lead on the Council's effective decision-making processes and supporting
administration
To lead the budget-making processes of the Council
To lead the Council's public participation activities, encouraging local people to take
part in the Council's decision-making processes
To appoint Members to the Cabinet
To Chair all meetings of Cabinet and manage its business / work programme / the
Forward Plan
To take Executive decisions in Cabinet and as an Individual Cabinet Member with
delegated authority, in accordance with the Council’s Constitution
To lead in ensuring that the Council’s strategies, plans, objectives and targets are
monitored, implemented and achieved
To ensure that the Council is open and responsive to the community, so that
accountability is seen to operate

Page 373

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 12 Councillors’ Roles

To ensure that decisions are taken properly, openly and, where appropriate, publicly
and that key decisions are properly programmed and subject to effective public
consultation.
To develop and maintain a good relationship with the Chief Executive of the Council
and other Officers, providing a contact point between the political and Officer groups
and setting an example to the whole organisation
To nominate Council Members from his/her political group to serve on all appropriate
member bodies, including, as appropriate, other outside bodies
To provide effective liaison between all political groups

Page 374

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 12 Councillors’ Roles

MEMBERS’ ROLES
DEPUTY LEADER OF THE COUNCIL
The following activities are in addition to the responsibilities set out in the Core
Councillor, Cabinet Member and Portfolio Holder Role Descriptions
Key duties
To deputise for the Leader of the Council in his/her absence, undertaking those
duties expected of the Leader and encompassed in the role description for that
position
To chair Cabinet meetings in the absence of the Leader of the Council
To act as the Council's spokesperson on all key corporate issues, consistent with the
Council's overall policy and budgetary framework, in the absence of the Leader
To hold and lead on any Portfolio Holder position which the Council may allocate
To undertake specified delegated / designated Leader duties
To share and support in general the full workload of the Leader

Page 375

Page intentionally left blank

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 12 Councillors’ Roles

MEMBERS’ ROLES
CABINET MEMBER
The following activities are in addition to the responsibilities set out in the Core
Councillor Role Description

Key duties
To work at meeting the Council’s corporate objectives
To take Executive decisions in Cabinet and as an Individual Cabinet Member with
delegated authority, in accordance with the Council’s Constitution
To encourage performance improvement in all services, consistent with Value for
Money principles and within the policy and budgetary framework agreed by the
Council. This includes responding appropriately to statutory reports on external
inspections and service reviews
To facilitate and encourage public participation in the Council's activities by engaging
key stakeholders in the Council's decision-making processes
To oversee the publication of consultation papers on key issues and ensure that
there is appropriate public consultation
To consider budget priorities and actions on the delivery of Council services within
the overall policy and budgetary framework agreed by the Council.
To consult with the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on matters relating to the
development and formulation of policy
To consult with local Ward Members about policy developments or service initiatives
which have a specific relevance to their areas
To support positive relationships and practices through co-operative working with
Officers and Trade Unions
To commission research, studies or the collection of information relating to policy
issues or service delivery

Page 377

Page intentionally left blank

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 12 Councillors’ Roles

MEMBERS’ ROLES
JUNIOR CABINET MEMBER
The following activities are in addition to the responsibilities set out in the Core
Councillor Role Description
In addition to the Members of the Cabinet, Councillors May Be appointed as Junior
Cabinet Members by the Leader to assist Cabinet in proposing, formulating and
advising upon Council policy under the guidance of the appropriate Portfolio Holder.
These Councillors are not Members of the Cabinet and do not have any voting rights
nor decision-making powers. Junior Cabinet Members may not be members or
substitute members of Overview and Scrutiny Committees or the Audit and
Governance Committee.

Key duties
To develop a full understanding of the functions and services in the allocated
Portfolio.
To keep abreast of national best practice / new initiatives in the areas covered by the
Portfolio to help ensure high local service standards and provision.
To support the Portfolio Holder in their political leadership for the designated function
/ service of the Council set out in the allocated Portfolio to assist the Executive with
the preparation of reports to Cabinet or to Individual Cabinet Member with delegated
authority.
Where invited by the Leader of relevant Portfolio Lead Member, to engage actively
and represent the Council in appropriate local, regional and national groupings
involved with the service areas set out in the allocated Portfolio.
To facilitate and encourage public participation in the Council's activities by engaging
key stakeholders in the Council's decision-making processes.
To have consideration towards budget priorities and actions on the delivery of
Council services within the overall policy and budgetary framework agreed by the
Council.

Page 379

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 12 Councillors’ Roles

As envisaged in the Council Procedure Rules, support the Portfolio Holder to report
to the Council on activities progress achieved within the relevant policy area. To work
closely with relevant Senior Officers of the Council to support the efficient
management of the Council and to uphold high standards of performance and
conduct and in enabling Officers to exercise any powers delegated to them.
To attend meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee where required and
consult with the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee on matters relating to the
development and formulation of policy.
To consult with local Ward Members about policy developments or service initiatives
which have a specific relevance to their areas.
Support the Portfolio Lead Member commissioning and considering reports from
appropriate Officers as required for the efficient discharge of the Portfolio Holder's
duties and responsibilities.

Page 380

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 12 Councillors’ Roles

MEMBERS’ ROLES
PORTFOLIO HOLDERS
The following activities are in addition to the responsibilities set out in the
Core Councillor and Cabinet Member Role Descriptions

Key duties
To develop a full understanding of the functions and services in the allocated
Portfolio
To provide pro-active political leadership and to be the principal political
spokesperson for the designated function / service of the Council set out in the
allocated Portfolio
To initiate (subject to any necessary Cabinet/ Council approvals) and/or promote
policies and programmes in the allocated Portfolio within the Council and externally
To provide political leadership in ensuring that service strategies, plans, objectives
and targets within his/her area of responsibility are monitored, implemented and
achieved
To present and consult on the Council's policies in the allocated Portfolio with the
public, directly and through appropriate media
To engage actively and represent the Council in appropriate local, regional and
national groupings involved with the service areas set out in the allocated Portfolio
To make recommendations about the implementation of policies within the allocated
Portfolio
To report to the Council on decisions made, actions taken and progress achieved
within the allocated Portfolio
To consult with and report as required to the Cabinet and the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee
To commission and consider reports from appropriate Officers as required for the
efficient discharge of the Portfolio Holder's duties and responsibilities

Page 381

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 12 Councillors’ Roles

To keep abreast of national best practice / new initiatives in the areas covered by the
Portfolio to help ensure high local service standards and provision
To consider and act on performance data and reports from the Cabinet and the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee
To contribute to the corporate development of the Council's policies and objectives
through active engagement of Cabinet
To work closely with relevant Senior Officers of the Council to support the efficient
management of the Council and to uphold high standards of performance and
conduct and in enabling Officers to exercise any powers delegated to them
To attend meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee as and when required
At meetings of Cabinet, normally to present / speak to and to move any necessary
motions in relation to his/her areas of responsibility
To advise Cabinet on how to respond to a scrutiny report relating to his/her area of
responsibility

Page 382

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 12 Councillors’ Roles

MEMBERS’ ROLES
CHAIR ROLE
This document aims to describe the potential range of activities and skills that must
be demonstrated by Members when appointed as Chair of Committees and
Meetings. The role of Chair of any meeting convened by the Council is accountable
to the Committee being served, Full Council and the Public.
The following activities are in addition to the responsibilities set out in the Core
Councillor and any other Role Descriptions, if held, by the Chair concerned
Key Duties:
To provide confident and effective management of the committee
To liaise effectively with officers, executive members, and colleagues on the
committee
To manage the work programme undertaken by the committee
To ensure that the work programme is manageable and the workload delegated and
prioritised to focus on the areas of most benefit or greatest risk to the organisation
To ensure that the work programme is delivered
To plan and set agendas containing clear objectives and outcomes for the meeting
To work with officers to make all necessary preparation for meetings through
research and briefings and holding pre-meetings with officers and members to
discuss matters relating to an agenda and agreeing appropriate lines of enquiry as
necessary
To demonstrate as Chair commitment to the values of the Council and the following
values in public office: Openness and transparency; Honesty and integrity;
Tolerance and respect; Equality and fairness; and Appreciation of cultural difference
To manage the progress of business at meetings, ensuring that meeting objectives
are met, and that the code of conduct, standing orders and any other legal and
constitutional requirements are adhered to
To ensure that any members of the public present understand the protocols for the
meeting and rules regarding public speaking if relevant
To encourage effective contributions from all committee members
To report on progress against the work programme to Council, and others as
appropriate
To actively seek opportunities to develop own knowledge and skills as well as those
of committee members

Page 383

Page intentionally left blank

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 12 Councillors’ Roles

MEMBERS’ ROLES
This document aims to describe the potential range of activities and skills that must
be demonstrated by Members when appointed as Chairs of Planning; Licensing and
Audit and Governance Committee.
The following activities are in addition to the responsibilities set out in the
Core Chair Role Descriptions

CHAIR OF PLANNING COMMITTEE
Key Duties:
To chair the Planning Committee in accordance with its terms of reference
To be aware of legislation and ongoing local and national developments on planning
matters and their implications
To plan and prioritise the business of the planning committee having regard to its
terms of reference and key challenges facing the planning function
To represent the council in all dealings with the public, media and other bodies in
respect of the work of the Committee

CHAIR OF LICENSING COMMITTEE
Key Duties:
To chair the Licensing Committee in accordance with its terms of reference
To be aware of legislation and ongoing local and national developments on licensing
matters and their implications
To plan and prioritise the business of the licensing committee having regard to its
terms of reference and key challenges facing the Licensing function
To represent the council in all dealings with the public, media and other bodies in
respect of the work of the Committee

Page 385

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 12 Councillors’ Roles

CHAIR OF AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
Key Duties:
To chair the Corporate Governance and Audit Committee meetings in accordance
with its terms of reference
To demonstrate a detailed understanding of the council’s constitution; the Code of
Conduct; budget and audit processes; key internal policies; the Councillors
Allowances Scheme and of the relationship between the Council and charitable
Trusts.
To ensure that the workplan of the Committee delivers the following outcomes (this
is not an exhaustive list):


Monitoring the operation of the Council’s Constitution and keeping its terms
under review, including all procedure rules



Making recommendations to the Council for any change or additions to the
procedure rules or Articles of the Constitution or executive arrangements



Oversee all matters relating to the adoption and operation of the Members’
Allowances Scheme including recommendation to the Council of the adoption
of or amendment to any such Scheme



Keep under review the portfolios of the Cabinet and the terms of reference
and delegations of Council functions to committees and formally appointed
bodies and officer



Consider the Council’s arrangement relating to accounts



Consider the Council’s arrangements relating to internal and external audit
requirements



Review the adequacy of the Council’s Corporate Governance arrangements
(including matters such as internal control and risk management) and
including to review and approve the annual statement of Corporate
Governance

Page 386

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 12 Councillors’ Roles

MEMBERS’ ROLES
Overview and Scrutiny Chair Role Description

1. ACCOUNTABILITIES


Full Council



The Public



The Committee

2. ROLE PURPOSE AND ACTIVITY
Providing leadership and direction


To provide confident and effective management of the committee.



To promote the role of overview and scrutiny within the council, liaising effectively
with officers, executive members and colleague chairs.



To promote the integral role and contribution of scrutiny within the authority’s
wider improvement planning and reporting arrangements.



To lead joint scrutiny activities with other authorities or organisations when
required.



To champion and promote the role of Overview and Scrutiny to the public,
helping the public better understand and, crucially, contribute to and engage with
the scrutiny process.



To promote the role of Overview and Scrutiny to partner bodies, helping them to
understand and engage with the Scrutiny function.



To demonstrate an objective and evidence based approach to overview and
scrutiny ensuring that scrutiny inquiries are methodologically sound and
incorporate a wide range of evidence and perspectives.



To establish and lead in-depth themed reviews in pursuit of the purposes of the
Committee as appropriate.



To make recommendations to the Council Meeting and/or Cabinet arising from
work undertaken by a Scrutiny Committee.



To follow-up scrutiny recommendations, evaluate the impact and added value of
overview and scrutiny activity and identify areas for improvement.

Page 387

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 12 Councillors’ Roles



Work closely with scrutiny support staff to drive continual improvements in
scrutiny.



Assist in publicising the work of the scrutiny committee.



Actively seek opportunities to develop own knowledge and skills as well as those
of committee members.

Managing the work programme


To develop a balanced work programme for the committee which includes pre
decision scrutiny, policy development and review, investigative scrutiny, holding
the executive to account, and performance monitoring.



To ensure the programme takes account of relevant factors such as: the work
programmes of the executive and other committees, strategic priorities and risks,
audit and regulatory reports and recommendations, partners’ strategic priorities
and relevant community issues.



To ensure that the public are engaged in scrutiny activities by informing them
about the work programme and encouraging participation.



To ensure that the work programme is delivered.



To report on progress against the work programme to Council, and others as
appropriate.



To ensure that the work programme is manageable and the workload delegated
and prioritised to focus on the areas of most benefit or greatest risk to the
organisation.

Effective meeting management


To plan and set agendas containing clear objectives and outcomes for the
meeting.



To work with officers to make all necessary preparation for meetings through
research and briefings and holding pre-meetings with officers and members to
discuss matters relating to an agenda and agreeing appropriate lines of
questioning as necessary.



To work with officers to involve fully external stakeholders for example, service
users, expert witnesses and partners in scrutiny activity.

Page 388

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 12 Councillors’ Roles



To ensure that the approach to overview and scrutiny is impartial and that the
committee meeting is conducted without political whipping.



To manage the progress of business at meetings, ensuring that meeting
objectives are met, and the code of conduct, standing orders and other
constitutional requirements are adhered to.



To ensure that all participants have an opportunity to make an appropriate
contribution.



To ensure that members of the public are able to contribute to meetings and
understand the protocols for public speaking.

Involvement and development of committee members


To encourage effective contributions from all committee members.



To assess individual and collective performance within the committee and work to
improve scrutiny outcomes.



To ensure that committee members have the appropriate knowledge and skills to
undertake their roles and work with lead members and officers to secure
appropriate development.

3. VALUES
To be committed to the values of the Council and the following values in public
office:


Openness and transparency



Honesty and integrity



Tolerance and respect



Equality and fairness



Appreciation of cultural difference



Sustainability

Page 389

Page intentionally left blank

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 12 Councillors’ Roles

MEMBERS’ ROLES
INDEPENDENT MEMBER AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
This document aims to describe the potential range of activities which an
Independent Member undertakes.
This document should provide a direct and useful reference for anyone taking on, or
considering taking on, the roles described. It should also therefore assist with
identifying suitable training and development opportunities.
The role of the Lay Member of the Audit and Governance Committee will be to
independently assist the Committee to effectively discharge its role by providing
advice and scrutiny on matters relating to the Council’s arrangements for audit, risk
management, governance and control.

Key duties:
To attend and participate in meetings of the Council’s Audit Committee
To assist the Council to discharge their powers and functions as set out in the remit
of the Audit Committee
To understand and appreciate the importance of good corporate governance and of
the key elements of audit, risk management, best value and external scrutiny
To take an independent, unbiased and objective view
To examine evidence and complex documentation and ask searching questions
To challenge and hold to account Council Officers and representatives of Internal
and External Audit
To promote high ethical standards and participate in sub-committees drawn for the
purposes of considering complaints under the Council’s Member Code of Conduct
To participate in any training and development initiatives that are either a
constitutional or legal requirement or which have been identified as a development
opportunity and undertake appropriate personal Development necessary to carry out
their role(s) or designated responsibilities.

Page 391

Page intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1jj
Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 13 - - Protocolor Freedom of the Borough

PROTOCOL FOR FREEDOM OF THE BOROUGH
1. Making an award of the Freedom of the Borough is the highest honour that the
Council can bestow in recognition of excellence and achievement. This protocol
sets out the nomination process and assessment criteria for the way in which the
Freedom of the Borough is awarded and the associated ceremony.

Freedom of The Borough
2. To be granted the title of Honorary Freewoman or Freeman - which are the
statutory titles under s.289 of the Local Government Act 1972 - is a mark of
distinction upon the person whom the Council wishes to honour. The Freedom itself
carries no privilege and is purely an honour, reflecting the eminence of the person
on whom it is conferred or as recognition of significant and valuable services
rendered to the borough by that person.
3. It is normally an honour or award to persons of note who have lived or worked in
the borough, and who are proud to be a part of the borough's history by becoming
freewomen and freemen (see also paragraph 11). It may also be conferred on
organisations including HM Services Units. It should not be awarded to serving
councillors. The overriding principle is that these awards should be made on merit,
defined as achievement or exceptional service.
4. The honour may only be conferred on living persons or existing organisations.
Criteria
5. Honours should be awarded because an individual has gone the extra mile in the
contribution they have made, or stand out above others in what has been achieved.
To be considered, other authorities have determined that a nominee should meet at
least one of the following criteria:


delivered in a way that has brought distinction to borough life and enhanced
the borough’s reputation in the area or activity concerned



provided inspiration by their achievements



contributed in a way to improve the lives or life chances of those less able to
help themselves



demonstrated innovation and entrepreneurship which are delivering results
in the borough

6. Nominations for persons or organisations to be granted Freedom of the Borough,
may be made by any serving Councillor to the Chief Executive in writing. The
Councillor should first raise the matter for discussion within their political group.
Each nomination must contain the support of at least one political group. The
nomination form is attached to this Protocol.
Page 1
Part 13 - Protocol for Freedom of the Borough
Agreed by Council: October 2019

Page 393

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 13 - - Protocolor Freedom of the Borough

7. The Chief Executive will check that sufficient information has been provided on the
form (with particular regard to the criteria at 5 above and the factors at 8 below),
and as part of this process will consult the Deputy Lieutenant.
8. The Chief Executive, the Group Leaders and the Mayor will meet to consider the
nomination against the criteria. Although there is no scoring system, the following
may be taken into account in weighing a nomination for this honour:


The extent to which the information provided on the nomination form can be
checked.



The extent of the recognition of the individual: international, national or local.



In the case of voluntary service, the length of time devoted.



The views of the Deputy Lieutenant, if any.

9. Following unanimous agreement, and subject to 10 below, soundings should be
taken to ensure that if nominated, the candidate will accept the nomination, and if
so, when they would be available to attend in person to accept it. This group will
then make a recommendation to Council that the honour is bestowed.
10. Alternatively the group may decide that the nomination is not suitable as it does not
meet the criteria, the information provided cannot be adequately checked; or there
is no unanimous agreement.
11. The Leader will report to Council and, should Council accept the nomination, a
Special Meeting of Council would then be called to pass the resolution pursuant to
Section 249 of the Local Government Act 1972, for the admission as Honorary
Freemen/Freewomen of the Borough of the relevant persons. Should the recipient
be non-binary, they have the option of receiving Honorary Freedom of the Borough
and the style of Free Person of the Borough.
12. Where a nomination is not agreed, the reasons for not progressing may, depending
on the circumstances, be provided by the Chief Executive in confidence to the
nominating councillors. In such circumstances, further nominations for an individual
will not be considered for a period of at least twelve months.
Ceremonial Process
13. The ceremony for the granting Freedom of the Borough is well established at
Waltham Forest.
It meets the requirements of Section 249 of the Local
Government Act 1972 (ss.5) and has proved in the past to be a suitably dignified,
formal but happy occasion. It is set out here for completeness.
14. The Act provides that a special meeting of the Council (made public at least five
days prior to the meeting) must be convened with the specific object of passing the
resolution to Honorary Freedom. Generally speaking this will be half an hour
before a scheduled meeting but this is not hard and fast. The Mayor’s Office and
Page 2
Part 13 - Protocol for Freedom of the Borough
Agreed by Council: October 2019

Page 394

Constitution of London Borough of Waltham Forest
PART 13 - - Protocolor Freedom of the Borough

Democratic Services will make the usual arrangements.
15. The resolution should recite the grounds upon which the recommendation is being
made, and the service or achievement of the recipient should be included. The
resolution must be passed by not less than two thirds of the Members present.
16. The procedure should be carried out with formality and the Honorary Freeman or
Freewoman Elect should be invited to and should attend the Council Meeting. After
the passing of the resolution, the newly admitted Freewoman or Freeman (or
representative of the organisation being admitted) should be presented with an
illuminated certificate of the grant of Honorary Freedom in the form of a scroll.
17. Following the meeting, the name of the Honorary Freeman, Freewoman or Person
granted Honorary Freedom of the Borough will be inscribed on the Roll of Honour in
the Council Chamber.
Revocation of Freedom of the Borough
18. The Council retains the authority to revoke any award of the Freedom of the
Borough at any stage following the conferment of the honour. Any such proposal
should be by any serving Councillor or group of Councillors to the Chief Executive
in writing. The Councillor should first raise the matter for discussion within their
political group. The proposal must have the support of at least one political group.
19. The Chief Executive, the Group Leaders and the Mayor will meet to consider the
matter. Following unanimous agreement, this group will then make a
recommendation to Council that the honour is revoked.
20. The Council may pass a resolution by simple majority to revoke the status of the
individual as Freeman or Freewoman of the Borough. In this instance their name
will be removed from the Roll of Honour.

Page 3
Part 13 - Protocol for Freedom of the Borough
Agreed by Council: October 2019

Page 395

Page intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1kk

London Borough of Waltham Forest

(updated July 2017)

Planning Code of Practice
FOREWORD
This Code applies to all members when they are involved in the planning process.
Planning decisions affect the homes and livelihoods of residents, businesses and other
stakeholders, as well as impacting on the environment itself. They can be important and
controversial and those affected by a planning decision can and should expect high
standards of probity from the Council and a fair and accountable decision-making process.
This Code provides guidance to assist Members and officers on how to ensure these
standards are met. In doing so, it supplements the Members’ Code of Conduct. The
Code is divided into 2 parts:
• Guidance on conduct and decision-making issues in planning matters; and
• Guidance on Planning Committee procedure.
The Council adopted this Code on 13 July 2017. Advice on this Code is always available
from the Council’s Monitoring Officer or his/her nominee and the officer responsible for
development management and their representatives.
This Code will be subject to regular review by the Audit and Governance Committee.

Lucy Shomali
Director, Regeneration and Growth
Mark Hynes
Director of Governance and Law

Page 397

Conduct and Decision Making
1

THE CODE OF CONDUCT FOR MEMBERS

1.1

The Code of Conduct for Members in Part 9 of the Council’s Constitution imposes
standards of conduct upon all Councillors. A failure to follow the Code of Conduct
can result in a sanction, including possible prosecution, fine of up to £5,000 and
disqualification for up to five years. Members are strongly advised to familiarise
themselves with the whole of the Code of Conduct.

1.2

The key provisions that arise in the planning field are:
• To act solely in the public interest and never improperly to confer an advantage
or disadvantage on any person or improperly act to gain financial or other
material benefits for themselves, their family, friends or close associates
(paragraph 3.1);
• Declaring and registering interests (paragraphs 4 and 5);
• Making decisions free from bias and where the outcome is not pre-determined
(Appendix 1);
• Declaring gifts and hospitality.

1.3

Brief guidance on each of these provisions is set out below and examples are
provided in the case studies.
Declaring Interests

1.4

Members must declare any interests in a planning decision to ensure the Member’s
private interests do not interfere, and are not perceived as interfering, with their
public duties. The nature of the interest must also be declared save where it is a
‘sensitive interest’ as defined in section 32 of the Localism Act 2011.
Pecuniary Interests
What is a pecuniary interest?

1.5

A disclosable pecuniary interest is any interest prescribed as such by regulations
issued by the Secretary of State (currently the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable
Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012, the “Regulations”):
and
a) it is either the interest of the Member;
or
b) is the interest of their spouse or civil partner; a person with whom the
Member lives as husband or wife; or a person with whom the Member lives
with as if they were a civil partner
and
c) the Member is aware that the other person in (b) has the interest .

2

Page 398

Other Pecuniary Interests
1.6

The Council has power to agree that other pecuniary interests not prescribed in the
Regulations must be registered by Members in accordance with this Code. Where
the Council agrees other pecuniary interests must be registered, the provisions of
paragraph 1.7 regarding the declaration of interests and participation and voting in
meetings apply.
Some interests which are likely to arise in planning include:



A Member’s home or other property that they or their spouse / partner own, lease or
licence;
A Member’s job or employer’s interests, or those of his/her spouse/partner.

When must pecuniary interests be declared?
1.7

Where a planning application affects one or more of the interests at 1.5, the
affected Member should:
 Disclose the interest at the start of the meeting when asked by the Chair or, at
the latest, when the Member becomes aware that an item relates to the interest;
and
 Withdraw from the meeting room for the relevant item, and
 Not participate or participate further in any discussion and / or vote on the matter
at the meeting.
Non-pecuniary Interests
What is a non-pecuniary interest?

1.8

The Council has power to agree that non-pecuniary interests must be registered by
Members in accordance with this Code. Details of non-pecuniary interests agreed
by the Council are set out in the Code of Conduct and are:


Appointments made by the authority to any outside bodies (excluding joint
committees with other local authorities);



Membership of charities;



Membership of trade unions recognised by the authority;



Membership of lobbying or campaign groups;



Governorships at any educational institution in the borough; and



Membership of voluntary organisations operating in the borough.

Note to Members: don’t forget that you must declare the interests of your spouse or civil
partner, or person with whom you are living as if a spouse or civil partner. However, if you are
unaware of another person’s interest or it is reasonable for you not to be aware of the interest,
you will not be in breach of the Code by failing to declare it.

When must non-pecuniary interests be declared?
1.9

A member with a non-pecuniary interest must declare the interest at the start of the
meeting or when it becomes apparent.

1.10

The non-pecuniary interests set out in paragraph 1.8 must be registered and the
provisions of paragraph 1.7 regarding the declaration of interests and participation
3

Page 399

and voting in meetings apply, otherwise the member may remain in the meeting and
may participate in the matter and vote upon it.
1.11

However, the member should take into account the guidance note at Appendix 1 to
the Code of Conduct on bias and pre-determination with regard to participation in
meetings and seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or his/her nominee where
appropriate.
Abuse of Position

1.12

Paragraph 3.1(a) of the Code of Conduct prohibits Members from using their
position to benefit or harm any person: When carrying out official duties, a Member
must “act solely in the public interest and never improperly confer an advantage or
disadvantage on any person or improperly act to gain financial or material benefits
for themselves, their family, friends or close associates.”

1.13

Planning decisions often have a significant effect on residents and other
stakeholders. Members must serve the whole community when making planning
decisions; they must consciously not use their vote to advantage or disadvantage
an individual or business. This includes using a vote to favour themselves, a
relative, friend or constituent; or to be overly influenced by a lobbying group. It also
includes doing something that adversely affects somebody or a group that a
Member dislikes or opposes.
Examples:
• Advancing your own or a friend’s or relative’s planning application.
• Requesting that planning committee consider an application that you, a relative or friend
opposes.
• Using visiting speaking rights to advance your interests or those of a friend or relative or
oppose the interests of an adversary.
Note to members: There is considerable crossover with the duty to declare interests and
seeking to obtain an improper advantage – in each of the cases above the Member risks
apparent bias, which could leave the decision open to challenge.

1.14

This rule only affects improper actions. It is perfectly proper for Members to
consider legitimate constituency and lobbying interests, so long as the final decision
in a meeting is based on an open consideration of all issues and proper planning
reasons. There is more guidance on these issues below.
Declaring Gifts and Hospitality

1.15

Members should also be very cautious about accepting gifts and hospitality,
particularly from developers. Members should bear in mind the public perception of
the receipt of any gifts, although at times some limited hospitality is unavoidable.

1.16

Members are required to register the receipt of gifts and hospitality over the value of
£25 and the identity of the donor, and to declare these details at the meeting where
they relate to the business to be conducted. This relates only to gifts/hospitality
received by Members in their capacity as councillors within the three years prior to
the meeting. The gifts and hospitality must be registered with the Council’s
Monitoring Officer within 28 days and are published online.

1.17

Members will find a form on the Members’ Portal on the Intranet site. Members
may, of course, refuse gifts or donate them to charity. The latter would still require
a declaration that the gift was received.

4

Page 400

2

DECISION MAKING

2.1

Planning applications must be determined in accordance with the development plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

2.2

The Development Plan is the Core Strategy (March 2012), Development
Management Policies (Oct 2013) and The London Plan (2011) (as amended), and
in some locations the Lee Valley Park Development Framework. Where there is a
Neighbourhood Plan in place, this is also part of the Development Plan.

2.3

Any issue relating to the use and development of land is capable of being a material
consideration. Specific issues which are always material considerations are
2.3.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012)
2.3.2 Local Finance Considerations

2.4

When considering development proposals the Council will take a positive approach
that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the
National Planning Policy Framework. It will always work proactively with applicants
jointly to find solutions which mean that proposals can be approved wherever
possible, and to secure development that improves the economic, social and
environmental conditions in the area.

2.5

Planning applications that accord with the policies in the Development Plan (and,
where relevant, with polices in neighbourhood plans) will be approved without
delay, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

2.6

Where there are no policies relevant to the application or relevant policies are out of
date at the time of making the decision then the Council will grant permission unless
material considerations indicate otherwise – taking into account whether:
2.6.1 Any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in
the National Planning Policy Framework taken as a whole; or
2.6.2 Specific policies in that Framework indicate that development should be
restricted.

2.7

Reasons must be given for either the grant or a refusal of a planning permission
(Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England)
Order 2015 (SI 2015/595), art.35).

2.8

The reasons to be given, where permission is refused or conditions imposed must:
(1) be stated clearly and precisely; (2) be full; (3) specify all policies and proposals
in the development plan which are relevant to the decision; and (4) give details of
any direction given, or opposing view expressed, by the Secretary of State or a
Government Department.

2.9

If Members intend to make a decision contrary to the officer’s recommendation, it is
particularly important to ensure that Members are clear about the reasons for their
decision before voting. Members are strongly advised to seek officers’ advice in
these cases.
Predetermination and Bias

2.10

Those applying for planning permission, or objecting to a development, can expect
that Planning Committee members will be unbiased and will not pre-determine the
application. The appearance of predetermination or bias on behalf of any Member

5

Page 401

who takes part in the discussion and/or votes may result in the validity of any
decision taken on the matter being challenged through the courts.
2.11

The declaration of interests under the Code of Conduct addresses pecuniary and
other interests but not the state of mind and/or prejudices of Members. The courts,
however, have repeatedly quashed planning decisions where Members are held to
have pre-determined the decision, irrespective of the fact they did not stand to gain
financially or otherwise from the decision.

2.12

Pre-determination is a form of bias. Put simply, it means that a Member has made
up their mind on a planning application before hearing the evidence. It is common
and perfectly lawful for a Member to have strong views on an application; this is
known as predisposition. Predisposition is lawful. The key issue is that the
member ensures that their predisposition does not prevent them from consideration
of all the other factors that are relevant to a decision, such as committee reports,
supporting documents and the views of objectors. In other words, the member
retains an “open mind”.

2.13

Section 25 of the Localism Act 2011 confirms this position by providing that a
decision will not be unlawful because of an allegation of bias or pre-determination
“just because” a Member has done anything that would indicate what view they may
take in relation to a matter relevant to a decision. However, if a Member has done
something more than indicate a view on a decision, this may be unlawful bias or
predetermination so it is important that advice is sought where this may be the
case.

2.14

Members who also sit on other Council bodies, such as conservation panels or
scrutiny committees that have discussed and formed a view on a planning matter
should also seek advice on whether they may have pre-determined the matter.

2.15

Members who consider they may have predetermined an application should seek
advice from the Monitoring Officer or his/her nominee before participating in the
meeting. They should declare any predetermination in the meeting and not take
part in the relevant item(s).

2.16

Members who are lobbied are at risk of pre-determining a planning application and
are referred to section 3 of this guidance. If a court finds that a Member of a
committee pre-determined an issue, they can quash the Council’s decision. The
Member is also at risk of a complaint under the Code of Conduct by allowing
themselves to be placed under a financial or other obligation to outside individuals
or organisations that might seek to influence them in the performance of their official
duties.

2.17

Bias is also unlawful and can arise from a member’s relationships or interests, as
well as their state of mind. The legal test is: “whether the fair minded and informed
observer, having considered the facts, would conclude that there was a real
possibility that the tribunal was biased’. A fair minded observer takes an objective
and balanced view of the situation but Members who think that they have a
relationship or interest that may raise a possibility of bias, should seek legal advice.
Members should declare such an interest in the meeting and not take part in the
relevant item(s).

2.18

Members must listen to the advice of the Monitoring Officer or his/her nominee if
they may be perceived as having made up their minds in advance or having closed
their minds to opposing viewpoints.

6

Page 402

2.19

Members must be minded of the above advice at all times which includes when
attending briefings by Developers pursuant to section 5 below. When attending
such presentations it is vital that Members restrict themselves to factual questions
and do not indicate a view on the development.

3

LOBBYING

3.1

Those who may be affected by a decision on a planning application – applicants,
developers, objectors, other councillors and pressure groups - will often seek to
influence its outcome through the lobbying of their elected ward councillors or
Planning Committee members. Lobbying is a normal and legitimate part of the
political process but, unless all the parties concerned exercise care and common
sense, it can lead to Members’ impartiality and integrity being called into question.
How to Deal with Lobbying

3.2

Members must keep their minds open when considering a planning application.
The intention of lobbying is to try to make a Member vote in a particular way on a
decision. In dealing with lobbying, Members can listen to the views of their
constituents and other stakeholders but must retain their independent judgement
and serve the community as a whole when sitting on the Planning Committee.

3.3

This is not an easy task but the following guidance will assist:
• Members should tell lobbyists politely that, as they sit on the Planning
Committee, they cannot express any views on an application’s merits before the
meeting or agree to vote in a particular way.
• Members can listen to what lobbyists have to say but then should direct them to
the relevant planning officers and provide advice on how to contact officers.
• Written representations and petitions should be directed to, or forwarded to, the
relevant planning officers.
• Members should not enter into a debate on the merits of the application, as this
may lead to comments being misinterpreted.
• Lobbied Members should seek advice if they consider it may affect their ability to
determine an application fairly.
• Members should declare any lobbying at the relevant planning meeting.
These requirements also apply to Ward Forums, when the merits of specific
developments are discussed. Planning Committee members should explain that
they cannot participate in the discussion if they intend to sit on the Planning
Committee when any subsequent application is to be determined.
Membership of Lobby Groups

3.4

Members involved in planning decisions should take care when joining and being
active in lobby groups. When considering whether membership of a lobby group
could create the perception of bias or pre-determination of the matter, Members
should consider the following factors:
• The nature of the matter being discussed;
• The nature of your involvement in the group;
• The publicly expressed views of the lobbying group;
• What the Member has said or done in relation to the particular issue.
7

Page 403

3.5

Membership and involvement in a lobby group – particularly a leading role in a
campaign – can give rise to the risk of predetermination. Members are encouraged
to seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer or his/her nominee before participating
in planning decisions where membership of a lobby group is relevant.
The Party Whip & Lobbying by Councillors

3.6

Political party whipping can be seen as a form of lobbying and is inappropriate in
Planning Committee meetings. Lobbying by councillors should be dealt with in the
same way as other lobbying.
Pre-application Discussions

3.7

Pre-application discussions are a normal part of the planning process and can be of
considerable benefit to both parties.

3.8

However, if Members are involved, such discussions can become, or be seen
(especially by objectors) to become, part of a lobbying process. Pre-application
discussions should normally be left to officers. If Planning Committee members are
involved in pre-application discussions, the following principles should apply:


Involvement must only be in meetings arranged by officers and an officer must
be present at all times;



Officers will inform the developer in writing that the purpose of the meeting and
the principles set out in this section and will confirm the outcome of the meeting
in writing afterwards;



Members should avoid any contact, whether in person or not, with the applicants
or the agents outside these meetings;



Members must not express an opinion on the application or involve themselves
in any negotiations on the development that could suggest they have predetermined the application;



Members must not attend meetings after an application is lodged, save as
provided for in section 5;



Members must declare their attendance at any such pre-application meeting at
the subsequent consideration of the application.

4

PLANNING APPLICATIONS BY THE COUNCIL, COUNCILLORS & OFFICERS

4.1

It is perfectly legitimate and inevitable that the Council will have to determine its
own planning applications, and those of Members and officers. The Council needs
to take additional care with such applications and the public perception of how such
applications are handled is crucial to the Planning Committee’s credibility as an
impartial decision-making body. The following principles will be followed:


Proposals for the Council's own development that include the erection of any
building or a material change of use will be determined by the Planning
Committee;



Members or officers who submit an application in respect of a planning matter
will take no part in its processing or determination and shall not seek to influence
it improperly;



Members or officers who act as agents for people pursuing a planning matter will
take no part in its processing or the decision-making process and shall not seek
to influence it improperly;
8

Page 404



All applications made by Members and officers or on their behalf (including
Lawful Development Certificate applications) will be determined at Planning
Committee as will applications that are submitted by Members or officers acting
as agents for people pursuing a planning matter;



Cabinet members should take care when participating in decisions relating to
their portfolio as they may be viewed as having pre-determined the application in
their Cabinet role;



Members who are friends or relatives of other councillors making planning
applications are likely to have the potential for apparent bias and/or predetermination and should seek advice before participating in the decisionmaking process;



There is no bar on Members determining applications of councillors who are in
the same political group so long as they are not friends, business associates
and/or relatives, or have not pre-determined the application.

5

MEMBER BRIEFINGS

5.1

For large applications it might be appropriate to hold a briefing for Members either
before the application is submitted or before it is determined by the Planning
Committee. Members’ briefings will be open to all Members (not just those on the
Planning Committee) and the public and will be used by the applicant to provide
information.

5.2

Any discussion at a Members’ briefing has no more standing than any other predecision discussion. Such briefings are not part of and do not substitute for any part
of the decision making exercise to be undertaken by the Planning Committee.

5.3

At a briefing Members must not express an opinion on the merits of a proposal or
involve themselves in any negotiations on the development and can ask factual
questions only.

6

SITE VISITS

6.1

Site visits are a useful means of putting an application into its physical and
environmental context. There are two main circumstances where Members may
undertake site visits:

6.2



A formal visit of the Committee organised by officers;



Informal visits before a Committee meeting by individual Members who cannot
attend the formal visit.

The Members’ Code of Conduct applies to all site visits.
Formal Site Visits

6.3

Officers may recommend, or the Committee may request, a formal site visit. Any
recommendations for site visits put forward by officers will be sent to the Chair for
approval. The Chair may also put forward recommendations for site visits. Site visits
to larger, complex or controversial sites will be arranged for Members shortly before
the Committee meeting. At these site visits, officers will accompany Members to
selected sites, explain the nature of the development proposed and point out any
features that Members should consider when determining the application.

6.4

The purpose of the site visit is to enable Members to inspect the site and to better
understand the impact of the development. The following procedure should be
followed:
9

Page 405



Visits will not be publicised save to obtain permission to enter private land;



The applicants, objectors or any other parties interested in the application will
not be allowed to accompany Members and officers, except where attendance is
necessary to allow entry, or for health and safety or other necessary purposes;



No representations should be heard and no decision should be made;



Photographs and videos may be taken only with consent of the owner.

Informal Site Visits
6.5

If a Member cannot attend the formal site visit and wishes to view the site, s/he may
undertake an informal site visit. The Member should follow the principles below:


Visits should be discreet and unaccompanied;



If approached, Members should explain who they are but politely refuse to
engage in any discussion of the application;



Members should not go onto the application site itself if private land, to avoid
risks of lobbying or trespass;



Visits should be declared at the meeting;



Photographs and videos may be taken only with consent of the owner.

6.6

Attendance is not compulsory, but Members who did not attend a formal or informal
site visit should consider whether they have sufficient knowledge of the proposals to
take part in the subsequent debate and vote.

7

MEMBER DEVELOPMENT

7.1

The planning system is complex and subject to frequent change.
It is
recommended as a matter of good practice that Members deciding planning
applications and Members acting as substitutes on Planning Committee have an
accurate and up-to-date understanding of planning law and procedure. To facilitate
this, the officer responsible for development management arranges an on-going
Members’ planning training programme, which covers issues such as:


Determining planning applications



New Planning law and policy;



Probity and committee Procedure;



Section 106 and other legal agreements, and Community Infrastructure Levy;
and



Planning enforcement.

Members are expected to attend as many sessions as possible and especially
those covering the key issues or held after a major change in planning policy or law.
7.2

The Group Whips should maintain a list of Members who have received training and
only put forward substitutes from this list. A Member cannot sit on Planning
Committee unless they have received such training. In addition, officers are always
willing to provide informal advice and assistance to Members on planning and legal
matters.

8.

MEMBERS ACTING IN THEIR PRIVATE CAPACITY
10

Page 406

8.1

Members acting in their private capacity are not entitled to call planning applications
in and have only the same rights as any other member of the public or planning
professional in terms of meeting with Council officers and being able to access
information about planning applications.

11

Page 407

Guidance on Committee Procedure
1

INTRODUCTION

1.1

This guidance supplements the Council Procedure Rules that apply to Planning
Committee (with the exceptions in Rule 25), providing advice on specific issues that
arise before and in Planning Committee meetings.

2

REPORTS

2.1

Reports on planning applications form the key evidence base for Committee
decisions and must therefore be accurate, comprehensive and fair. Reports must
include


all relevant development plan policies and material considerations;



a clear recommendation with a supporting technical appraisal;



A summary of the reasons in support of the recommendation; and



Details of the conditions and obligations required to be imposed.

2.2

There is a risk that when significant material is submitted at a late stage, insufficient
time is allowed for the Committee to read or digest it, and the public are not
sufficiently informed.

2.3

Update reports should be submitted only in exceptional circumstances and may
include only information that was not available to officers before the publication
deadline for the main report and which the Committee requires to make a fair
decision, information requested by Members during a Committee site visit, or
additional conditions or informatives.

2.4

At the Committee meeting, the Committee Chair must accept that there are “special
circumstances” that allow for the admission of an update report for a particular
agenda item as a matter of urgency, otherwise a decision on the item should be
deferred to the next meeting in order that the additional information be made
available to the press and public for inspection at least five clear working days
before the meeting. These reasons must be recorded in the minutes.

3

APPLICATIONS OF COMMUNITY INTEREST

3.1

Upon receipt of an application, the officer responsible for development management
must consider whether it is of such community interest that changes need to be
made to the usual meeting arrangements. If so, s/he must arrange a pre-meeting
with planning officers, Legal Services, Democratic Services, Facilities Management
and the Chair to consider:


The meeting venue;



Modifications to the usual rules on public speaking;



The provision of additional staff to support visitors, members and officers;



Audio or video recording of proceedings;



Risk assessment.

12

Page 408

3.2

Any variations agreed to the Committee procedure must be included in the Agenda
front sheet and reasonable steps must be taken by the report writer to inform the
public and members.

4

CHAIR’S BRIEFING

4.1

The Chair may hold a briefing session with planning officers to review the agenda
and go through the procedures for the meeting, to ensure effective management of
the meeting.

5

ORDER OF BUSINESS

5.1

Meetings will have the following order of business:


Apologies for absence;



Declarations of interests under the Code of Conduct – (those with pecuniary
interests will leave the room at the start of the appropriate item);

• Minutes of the previous meeting;
• Chair’s consideration of whether to accept update reports (see 2.2-2.4) and any
other additional material submitted;
• Items where prior notice of public speakers has been given (see section 8
below);
• All other items in the order on which they appear on the agenda.
5.2

The following order will be used for each agenda item. Individual items may not
need to follow all these stages, e.g. if there are no public speakers:
• Introduction by planning officer;
• Up to three registered objectors may speak (see section 8 below);
• Registered supporters may speak (including applicants or their agents) (see
section 8 below);
• Visiting Members’ comments (see 8.4). Visiting Members must also consider if
they have an interest to declare under the Code of Conduct before participating;
• Members’ questions and debate;
• Voting.

6

MEETINGS GUIDANCE

6.1

To ensure probity and transparency, the following guidance should be followed
when considering an application:
• There must be no informal communication between Committee members and
any other person (including other Members). This includes during any
adjournments. Any questions or comments should be made openly and through
the Chair;
• Members must be present for the whole of an item in order to be able to vote on
that item. If a Member arrives late, s/he must not vote on any item already in
progress at the time of his/her arrival. If a Member requires a comfort break, the
Chair should grant a short adjournment;
13

Page 409

• Where an application is part heard, i.e., it is determined over more than one
Committee hearing, the only Members who may vote on the application are
those Members who are present at all meetings when the application is
considered;
• Reasons must be given for any decision reached – this is a legal requirement
and should be clear before any vote.
7

VOTING

7.1

The Committee’s voting procedure must be clear, transparent and easy to follow. It
is important that the public, the applicants and all other persons present understand
what the Committee is voting upon. This can be difficult where the Committee has
to vote more than once on an application to deal, for example, with motions to
include planning conditions and obligations.

7.2

All applications will usually be voted upon as follows:
• No motions will be proposed during the debate of the matter, without the Chair’s
permission, to ensure a full debate of all applications;
• The Chair will determine when the debate is finished, clarify any changes made
to the officer recommendation and the details of what is being moved, including
any additional planning conditions, informatives or obligations proposed;
• If Members wish the item to be deferred for any reason (e.g. further negotiations
or a site visit), this should be considered first and before any other formal
decision making takes place;
• The Chair will invite any Committee member to move the adoption of the officer’s
recommendation either to grant or refuse planning permission (as set out in the
report). At this point, any changes to the officer’s recommendation must be
moved by Members and determined by the Committee;
• Any such motion proposed will be voted upon;
• If a motion to grant planning permission is not carried, or no Member proposes
the officer’s recommendation, the Chair will invite Members to move any other
motion, which will then be voted upon. Reasons must be given for either the
grant or a refusal of a planning permission (Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (SI 2015/595),
art.35).
• The reasons to be given, where permission is refused or conditions imposed
must: (1) be stated clearly and precisely; (2) be full; (3) specify all policies and
proposals in the development plan which are relevant to the decision; and (4)
give details of any direction given, or opposing view expressed, by the Secretary
of State or a Government Department.

8

PUBLIC SPEAKING

8.1

Although members of the public have no legal right to speak at Planning Committee
meetings, the Council recognises the value of representations made at the meeting
and has adopted a protocol which governs public participation. No other speaking
rights apply.

14

Page 410

Interested Residents & Objectors
8.2
Up to three speakers may make oral representations, with 3 minutes allowed per
speaker. The following procedure will apply:
• Planning officers will give, to the applicant and those that have lodged a
consultation response, at least 5 clear working days’ notice in writing of the date
of the Committee meeting;
• The agenda and reports for the meeting and relevant plans are published on the
Council's website at least five clear working days before the meeting:
http://walthamforest.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=297
• Speakers must register their wish to speak with Democratic Services by noon on
the day of Committee and provide any additional documentary evidence by this
time (the details of how to do this will be in the notification letter); contact details
are:
Tel: 020 8496 4537
democratic.services@walthamforest.gov.uk
These also appear on the agenda frontsheet
• Only one speaker per household or organisation will be allowed;
• The three speaking slots will be filled on a first come, first serve basis (large
groups may be required to nominate a lead speaker or need to be represented
by a visiting Member to ensure a fair balance of speakers – see 8.4 below);
• If no advance notice is given, there is no right to address the Committee;
• The Chair has discretion to allow additional documentary evidence to be
submitted by interested residents and objectors where he/she considers there
are special circumstances to do so. Such evidence must be provided to the
Democratic Services by noon the day before the meeting. Written
representations on the committee report will be published on the Council’s
website and must not contain offensive or defamatory material.
• The Chair has discretion to extend public speaking time on any item where s/he
considers that there are special circumstances to do so and provided that equal
time is given to both sides;
• Public speakers have no right of reply, save to answer questions from the
Committee.
The Applicant or Agent
8.3

The applicant or agent (as stated on the application form) will have three minutes to
speak. The rules at 8.2 apply, except they need not register in advance but should
make themselves known before the start of the meeting.
Visiting Members

8.4

Visiting members will be allowed to speak for three minutes only. They have no
right of reply or to ask questions.
Part Heard Applications & Speaking Rights

8.5

In exceptional circumstances where an application is part-heard (i.e. determined
over more than one Committee hearing), the Chair may consider whether to allow
any or all parties additional speaking rights in the following circumstances:
15

Page 411

• A party has requested a further right to speak and the Chair is satisfied:


There is a significant gap or delay between the first and second
Committee hearings; and/or



There has been material amendment in the nature of the application (but
not requiring a fresh planning application).

8.6

The Chair will seek advice from officers before exercising his discretion to allow
further speaking rights under this section.

9

MEETING ETIQUETTE

9.1

All representations should be heard in silence and without interruption. The Chair
will not permit disruptive behaviour. Members of the public are reminded that if the
meeting is not allowed to proceed in an orderly manner then the Chair will withdraw
the opportunity to address the Committee. The Committee is a meeting held in
public, not a public meeting.

10

VARIATION

10.1 The Chair may, in exceptional circumstances, vary the procedure set out above
where it is appropriate to do so to ensure a fair hearing and on the advice of
officers.

16

Page 412

Interpreting and Translation Assistance
The Council has prepared this document to assist users of its Development Control
Service. If you have any difficulty reading or understanding it because English is not your
first language, we will try to help you. Please tick the box, which shows which language
you speak, write your name, address and telephone number and return this form, together
with the document, to the address given below.
Kansilli e ka pregaditur këtë dokument për tiu ndihmuar
përdorësve të Shërbimeve të Kontrollit të Zhvillimit. Po
patët vështirësi për ta lexuar apo kuptuar sepse Anglishtja
nuk është gjuha juaj e parë, ne do të mundohemi t’ju
ndihmojmë. Ju lusim shenoni katrorin që tregon se cilën
gjuhë e folni, shkruani emrin, adresën dhe numrin e
telefonit dhe ktheni këtë formë, së bashku me dokumentin,
në adresën e dhënë më poshtë.
Albanian 

Arabic 

Bengali



Chinese 
La Municipalité a publié ce document afin d’aider les
utilisateurs de son service de contrôle de développement.
Si vous avez des difficultés à le lire ou à le comprendre
parce que l’anglais n’est pas votre langue maternelle, nous
nous efforcerons de vous aider. Veuillez cocher la case
correspondant à la langue que vous parlez, indiquer votre
nom, votre adresse et votre numéro de téléphone et
renvoyer ce formulaire ainsi que le document à l’adresse
figurant ci-après.
French 

Name
Address

A Junta de Freguesia preparou este documento para
assistir os utentes do seu Serviço de Controlo de
Desenvolvimento. Se tiver dificuldades em ler ou
compreender este documento devido ao inglês não ser o
seu idioma principal, nós tentaremos ajudá-lo(a). Assinale
o quadrado junto ao idioma que fala, escreva o seu nome,
morada e número de telefone e devolva esta folha,
juntamente com o documento, para a morada em baixo.
Portuguese 
Dagmada ayaa diyaarisay dukumantigaan si ay ugu
caawiso dadka ubbaahan Adeegga Koontaroolka
Qorshaynta Dhismaha Magaalada. Haddii aad wax dhib ah
kala kulanto in aad fahamto qoraalkaan waayo Ingiriisku
maahan luuqaddaada koowaad, waxaan isku dayaynaa in
an ku fahamno. Fadlan calaamadi sanduuqa muujinaya
luuqadda aad ku hadasho, qor magacaaga, ciwaankaaga,
taleefoonkaaga, dabadeedna ku soo celi foomka, oo uu
lasocdo qoraalkan, ciwaanka hoos ku qoran.
Somali 
El Ayuntamiento ha redactado este documento para
ayudar a los usuarios del "Development Control Service
[Servicio de Control del Desarrollo]. Si le resulta difícil leer
o entenderlo porque el inglés no es su idioma materno,
intentaremos ayudarle. Marque la casilla que indica el
idioma que habla, rellene el formulario con su nombre,
dirección y número de teléfono y devuélvalo, junto con el
documento, a la dirección abajo reseñada.
Spanish 
Belediyemiz bu belgeyi Iÿmar Kontrol Hizmetlerinden
yararlanan
kimselere
yardýmcý
olmak
amacýyla
hazýrlamýs¸týr. Asýl diliniz Iÿngilizce olmadýg¢ ý için bunu
okumakta veya anlamakta güçlük çekiyorsanýz, size
yardýmcý olmak isteriz. Lütfen hangi dili konus¸tug¢ unuzu
belirten kutuyu is¸aretleyip adýnýzý-soyadýnýzý, adresinizi
ve telefon numaranýzý yazdýktan sonra, bu formu belgeyle
birlikte as¸ag¢ ýdaki adrese gönderin.
Turkish 

Urdu

Return to:
Development Control
London Borough of Waltham Forest
Sycamore House
Waltham Forest Town Hall Complex
London E17 4JF

Telephone number

Translated by the London Borough of Waltham Forest Interpreting and Translation Service
17

Page 413

T34902



Page intentionally left blank

